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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On January 25, 2022, we (meaning Gatos Silver, Inc., which is also referred to herein as “our”, “us”, “Gatos Silver” or the
“Company”) announced that, during our mineral resource and mineral reserve update process for the Los Gatos Joint Venture
(“LGJIV"), we concluded that there were errors in the technical report for the Cerro Los Gatos Mine (“CLG”) with an effective date of
July 1, 2020, as well as indications that there may be an overestimation in the resource model. At that time, we announced that we
were focused on producing a new LOM plan (capitalized terms not otherwise defined are defined in the Glossary of Technical Terms)
and that we were working with independent engineering consultants to prepare new mineral resource and reserve estimates, including
a new resource model, that would form the basis of a new technical report which was expected to be delivered in the second half of
2022. We also announced that the Company'’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 may be affected by the
ongoing analysis of the aforementioned mineral resource and mineral reserve matters and that we would be unable to timely file our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 because we required additional time to prepare a new LOM plan,
mineral reserve estimate and financial statements, and to assess the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting to
ensure adequate recognition and disclosure of the information required to be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On March 18, 2022, we confirmed that we would delay the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2021 and the CEO and CFO certifications contained in therein (collectively, the “Required Documents”), beyond the
prescribed deadline of March 31, 2022. In the interim, we applied to the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities for a
management cease trade order, which provides a mechanism restricting the CEO and CFO from trading in the Company’s securities
while allowing the stock to continue trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX"). The management cease trade order was
granted on April 1, 2022, and subsequently further management cease trade orders were granted (together, the “MCTQ"). We have
satisfied the provisions of the alternative information guidelines in accordance with Canadian securities regulatory instrument, National
Policy 12-203 — Management Cease Trade Orders, by issuing bi-weekly status reports in the form of news releases and we intend to
continue to do so until the situation is rectified.

On October 3, 2022, we announced an updated mineral reserve estimate, mineral resource estimate and LOM plan including
the details relating thereto.

On October 13, 2022, we received a notice that the New York Stock Exchange’s Listings Operations Committee had agreed to
provide the Company with an additional trading period through April 15, 2023, subject to reassessment on an ongoing basis, to
complete and file the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and subsequent Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. We were advised that NYSE Regulation would closely
monitor the Company’s progress with the milestones and timing submitted to NYSE Regulation, and failure to achieve these interim
milestones could result in accelerated trading suspension prior to the end of the April 15, 2023, trading period and, in addition, if the
Company did not file its required SEC filings by April 15, 2023, the NYSE would initiate suspension and delisting procedures. On
October 14, 2022, we received notice from the TSX approving an extension to file our annual financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2021, until January 31, 2023, an extension to file our interim financial statements for the periods ended March 31, 2022,
and June 30, 2022, until February 28, 2023 and an extension for holding the Company’s annual shareholders’ meeting until March 31,
2023. On January 23, 2023, the TSX approved our request to extend the timeline to file our annual financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2021, as well as its interim financial statements for the periods March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022, and September
30, 2022, to March 31, 2023.

On November 14, 2022, we announced that we had filed an independent technical report summary prepared in accordance
with subpart 1300 of Regulation S-K on the EDGAR section of the Securities and Exchange Commission website and a corresponding
independent technical report prepared in accordance National Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects in
Canada under the Company'’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com (collectively, the “2022 Technical Reports”).

On November 14, 2022 we also announced the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP (“EY”) as the Company'’s independent
registered public accounting firm, effective immediately. On that date, we announced that EY will be auditing and reporting on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2022, including
review of the Company’s quarterly unaudited interim financial information for 2022 and that all delayed filings, including the 2021 audit
and the reviews of the first three quarters of 2022, were expected be completed before the end of the first quarter of 2023.
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The appointment of EY followed the resignation of KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm on September 28, 2022. See “Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure.”

Notice Regarding Mineral Disclosure
Mineral Reserves and Resources

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and
applicable Canadian securities laws, and as a result, we have separately reported our mineral reserves and mineral resources
according to the standards applicable to those requirements. U.S. reporting requirements are governed by subpart 1300 of Regulation
S-K (“S-K 1300"), as issued by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Canadian reporting requirements for disclosure
of mineral properties are governed by National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101"), as
adopted from the definitions provided by the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum. Both sets of reporting standards
have similar goals in terms of conveying an appropriate level of consistency and confidence in the disclosures being reported, but the
standards embody slightly different approaches and definitions. All disclosure of mineral resources and mineral reserves in this report is
reported in accordance with S-K 1300. See Item 1A. Risk Factors; Risks Related to Our Operations Mineral reserve and mineral
resource calculations at the CLG and at other deposits in the LGD are only estimates and actual production results and future estimates
may vary significantly from the current estimates.”

The estimation of measured resources and indicated resources involve greater uncertainty as to their existence and economic
feasibility than the estimation of proven and probable reserves, and therefore investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part
of measured or indicated resources will ever be converted into reserves reported pursuant to S-K 1300. The estimation of inferred
resources involves far greater uncertainty as to their existence and economic viability than the estimation of other categories of
resources, and therefore it cannot be assumed that all or any part of inferred resources will ever be upgraded to a higher category.
Therefore, investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of inferred resources exist, or that they can be mined legally or
economically. Definitions of technical terms are included below for reference.

Technical Report Summaries and Qualified Persons

The technical information concerning our mineral projects in this Form 10-K have been reviewed and approved by Tony Scott
P. Geo, Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Technical Services. The technical information herein that relates to the
CLG and Esther 2022 Mineral Resource was based upon information set out in the Los Gatos Technical Report prepared by or under
the supervision of Ronald Turner, MAusIMM(CP), an employee of Golder Associates. The technical information that relates to the 2022
Mineral Reserve, the 2022 LOM plan and other economic analyses was based upon information set out in the Los Gatos Technical
Report was based upon information prepared by or under the supervision of Paul Gauthier, P.Eng. an employee of Golder Associates.
Mr. Scott, Mr. Turner and Mr. Gauthier are each a “qualified person” under S-K 1300 and have reviewed the contents of this Form 10-K.
For a description of the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate mineral reserves and mineral resources included
in this Form 10-K, as well as data verification procedures and a general discussion of the extent to which the estimates may be affected
by any known environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, sociopolitical, marketing or other relevant factors, please review the Los
Gatos Technical Report which is included as an exhibit to this Report.
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Glossary of Technical Terms
Certain terms and abbreviations used in this Report are defined below:
“Ag” means the chemical symbol for the element silver.
“AISC” means all-in sustaining cost.
“Au” means the chemical symbol for the element gold.

“By-Product” is a secondary metal or mineral product recovered in the milling process. For the CLG operation, silver is the
primary metal product by value and zinc, lead and gold are by-products.

“Concentrate” is the product of physical concentration processes, such as flotation or gravity concentration, which involves
separating ore minerals from unwanted waste rock. Concentrates require subsequent processing (such as smelting or leaching) to
break down or dissolve the ore minerals and obtain the desired elements, usually metals.

“Dilution” is an estimate of the amount of waste or low-grade mineralized rock which will be mined with the ore as part of
normal mining practices in extracting an orebody.

“Feasibility Study” is a comprehensive study of a mineral deposit in which all geological, engineering, legal, operating,
economic, social, environmental and other relevant factors are considered in sufficient detail that it could reasonably serve as the basis
for a final decision by a financial institution to finance the development of the deposit for mineral production.

“Grade” means the concentration of each ore metal in a rock sample, usually given as weight percent. Where extremely low
concentrations are involved, the concentration may be given in grams per tonne (g/t), the grade of an ore deposit is calculated, often
using sophisticated statistical procedures, as an average of the grades of a very large number of samples collected from the deposit.

“glt” means grams per tonne.
“Hectare” is a metric unit of area equal to 10,000 square meters (2.471 acres).

“indicated mineral resources” or “indicated resources” is that part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade or
quality are estimated on the basis of adequate geological evidence and sampling. The level of geological certainty associated with an
indicated mineral resource is sufficient to allow a qualified person to apply modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning
and evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. Because an indicated mineral resource has a lower level of confidence than the
level of confidence of a measured mineral resource, an indicated mineral resource may only be converted to a probable mineral
reserve.

“inferred mineral resources” or “inferred resources” is that part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade or
quality are estimated on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. The level of geological uncertainty associated with an
inferred mineral resource is too high to apply relevant technical and economic factors likely to influence the prospects of economic
extraction in a manner useful for evaluation of economic viability. Because an inferred mineral resource has the lowest level of
geological confidence of all mineral resources, which prevents the application of the modifying factors in a manner useful for evaluation
of economic viability, an inferred mineral resource may not be considered when assessing the economic viability of a mining project,
and may not be converted to a mineral reserve.

“LOM” means life of mine.

“Los Gatos Technical Report” means the Technical Report titled “Mineral Resource and Reserve Update, Los Gatos Joint
Venture, Chihuahua, Mexico,” prepared by Golder Associates, dated November 10, 2022 with an effective date of July 1, 2022, which
was prepared in accordance with the requirements of S-K 1300 and NI 43-101.

“masl” is meters above sea level.
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“mineral reserves” or “reserves” the estimate of tonnage and grade or quality of indicated and measured mineral resources
that, in the opinion of the qualified person, can be the basis of an economically viable project. More specifically, it is the economically
mineable part of a measured or indicated mineral resource, which includes diluting materials and allowances for losses that may occur
when the material is mined or extracted. Mineral reserves quantified herein are on a 100% basis unless otherwise stated.

“mineral resources” or “resources” a concentration or occurrence of material of economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust
in such form, grade or quality, and quantity that there are reasonable prospects for economic extraction. A mineral resource is a
reasonable estimate of mineralization, taking into account relevant factors such as cut-off grade, likely mining dimensions, location or
continuity, that, with the assumed and justifiable technical and economic conditions, is likely to, in whole or in part, become
economically extractable. It is not merely an inventory of all mineralization drilled or sampled.

“measured mineral resources” is that part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade or quality are estimated on the
basis of conclusive geological evidence and sampling. The level of geological certainty associated with a measured mineral resource is
sufficient to allow a qualified person to apply modifying factors, as defined in this section, in sufficient detail to support detailed mine
planning and final evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. Because a measured mineral resource has a higher level of
confidence than the level of confidence of either an indicated mineral resource or an inferred mineral resource, a measured mineral
resource may be converted to a proven mineral reserve or to a probable mineral reserve.

“M&I” means Measured Mineral Resources and Indicated Mineral Resources.

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 — Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects adopted by the Canadian
Securities Administrators.

“NSR” means Net Smelter Return: the proceeds returned from the smelter and/or refinery to the mine owner less certain
costs.

“0z” means a troy ounce.
“Pb” means the chemical symbol for the element lead.

“probable mineral reserve” means the economically mineable part of an indicated and, in some cases, a measured mineral
resource.

“proven mineral reserve” means the economically mineable part of a measured mineral resource and can only result from
conversion of a measured mineral resource.

“S-K 1300” means 17.C.F.R § 229.1300 through § 229.1305.

“tailings” is the material that remains after all economically and technically recovered metals have been removed from the ore
during processing.

“tonne,” means a metric tonne, equivalent to 1,000 kg or 2,204.6 pounds. “tonne” is referenced under the “Grade” definition.

“Zn” means the chemical symbol for the element zinc.
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Cautionary Information about Forward-Looking Statements

This Report contains statements that constitute “forward looking information” and “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of U.S. and Canadian securities laws, including the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements are often identified by words such as “may,” “might,” “could,” “would,” “achieve,” “budget,” “scheduled,” “forecasts,” “should,”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue,” the negative of these terms and other
comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, the following:

" " " ”ow " o«

e estimates of future mineral production and sales;
e estimates of future production costs, other expenses and taxes for specific operations and on a consolidated basis;
e estimates of future cash flows and the sensitivity of cash flows to gold, copper, silver, lead, zinc and other metal prices;

e estimates of future capital expenditures, construction, production or closure activities and other cash needs, for specific
operations and on a consolidated basis, and expectations as to the funding or timing thereof;

e estimates as to the projected development of certain ore deposits, including the timing of such development, the costs of
such development and other capital costs, financing plans for these deposits and expected production commencement
dates;

e estimates of mineral reserves and mineral resources statements regarding future exploration results and mineral reserve
and mineral resource replacement and the sensitivity of mineral reserves to metal price changes;

e statements regarding the availability of, and terms and costs related to, future borrowing or financing and expectations
regarding future debt repayments;

e statements regarding future dividends and returns to shareholders;

e estimates regarding future exploration expenditures, programs and discoveries;

e statements regarding fluctuations in financial and currency markets;

e estimates regarding potential cost savings, productivity, operating performance and ownership and cost structures;

e expectations regarding statements regarding future transactions, including, without limitation, statements related to future
acquisitions and projected benefits, synergies and costs associated with acquisitions and related matters;

e expectations of future equity and enterprise value;

e expectations regarding the start-up time, design, mine life, production and costs applicable to sales and exploration
potential of our projects;

e statements regarding future hedge and derivative positions or modifications thereto;
e statements regarding local, community, political, economic or governmental conditions and environments;

e statements and expectations regarding the impacts of COVID-19 and variants thereof and other health and safety
conditions;
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e statements regarding the impacts of changes in the legal and regulatory environment in which we operate, including,
without limitation, relating to regional, national, domestic and foreign laws;

e statements regarding climate strategy and expectations regarding greenhouse gas emission targets and related operating
costs and capital expenditures;

e statements regarding expected changes in the tax regimes in which we operate, including, without limitation, estimates of
future tax rates and estimates of the impacts to income tax expense, valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and
other financial impacts;

e estimates of income taxes and expectations relating to tax contingencies or tax audits;

e estimates of future costs, accruals for reclamation costs and other liabilities for certain environmental matters, including
without limitation, in connection with water treatment and tailings management;

e statements relating to potential impairments, revisions or write-offs, including without limitation, the result of fluctuation in
metal prices, unexpected production or capital costs, or unrealized mineral reserve potential;

e estimates of pension and other post-retirement costs;

e statements regarding estimates of timing of adoption of recent accounting pronouncements and expectations regarding
future impacts to the financial statements resulting from accounting pronouncements;

e estimates of future cost reductions, synergies, savings and efficiencies in connection with full potential programs and
initiatives; and

e expectations regarding future exploration and the development, growth and potential of operations, projects and
investments, including in respect of the Cerro Los Gatos Mine (“CLG") and the Los Gatos District (“LGD").

Where we express an expectation or belief as to future events or results, such expectation or belief is expressed in
good faith and believed to have a reasonable basis. However, our forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors, which could cause actual results to differ materially from future results expressed, projected or implied by
those forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made. These statements are not a guarantee of
future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions concerning future events that are difficult to predict.
Therefore, actual future events or results may differ materially from these statements. Important factors that could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the risks set
forth under “Risk Factors Summary” below, which are discussed in further detail in “Item 1A—Risk Factors.” Such factors should not be
construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements included in this Report and those
described from time to time in our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These risks and uncertainties, as
well as other risks of which we are not aware or which we currently do not believe to be material, may cause our actual future results to
be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-
looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to make any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this filing or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. Certain
forward-looking statements are based on assumptions, qualifications and procedures which are set out only in the Los Gatos Technical
Report. For a complete description of assumptions, qualifications and procedures associated with such information, reference should
be made to the full text of the Los Gatos Technical Report.
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Risk Factors Summary

We are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, including risks related to our business and industry; risks related to
government regulations and international operations; risks related to the ownership of our common stock; and certain general risks,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. These risks
include, but are not limited to, the following principal risks:

we have a history of negative operating cash flows and net losses and we may not sustain profitability;

we are currently dependent on the CLG and the LGD for our future operations. The LGD (other than the CLG) does not
currently have proven or probable mineral reserves; we may not be able to extend the current CLG life of mine by adding
proven or probable mineral reserves;

we and/or the LGJV may incur further debt in the future, which could adversely affect the LGJV's and our financial health
and ability to obtain financing in the future and pursue certain business opportunities;

mineral reserve and mineral resource calculations at the CLG and other deposits in the CLG are only estimates and actual
production results or future estimates may vary significantly from the current estimates;

our and the LGJV's mineral exploration efforts are highly speculative in nature and may be unsuccessful;

actual operating costs, capital costs, production and economic returns may differ significantly from those we have
anticipated and there are no assurances that any future development activities will result in profitable mining operations;

our operations involve significant risks and hazards inherent to the mining industry;

the ability to mine and process ore at the CLG and other future operations may be adversely impacted in certain
circumstances, some of which may be unexpected and not in our control;

land reclamation and mine closure may be burdensome and costly and such costs may exceed our estimates;
we may be materially and adversely affected by challenges relating to stability of underground openings;

the title to some of the mineral properties may be uncertain or defective and we may be unable to obtain necessary surface
and other rights to explore and exploit some mineral properties;

we are subject to the risk of labor disputes, which could adversely affect our business, and which risk may be increased
due to the unionization in the LGJV workforce;

our success depends on developing and maintaining relationships with local communities and stakeholders;

the prices of silver, zinc and lead are subject to change and a substantial or extended decline in the prices of silver, zinc or
lead could materially and adversely affect our revenues of the LGJV and the value of our mineral properties;

the Mexican federal and state governments, as well as local governments, extensively regulate mining operations, which
impose significant actual and potential costs on us, and future regulation could increase those costs, delay receipt of
regulatory refunds or limit our ability to produce silver and other metals;
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e our operations are subject to additional political, economic and other uncertainties not generally associated with U.S.
operations;

e we are required to obtain, maintain and renew environmental, construction and mining permits, which is often a costly and
time-consuming process and may ultimately not be possible;

e Electrum and its affiliates and MERS have a substantial degree of influence over us, which could delay or prevent a
change of corporate control or result in the entrenchment of our management and/or Board of Directors;

e we are currently, and may in the future be, subject to claims and legal proceedings that could materially and adversely
impact our financial position, financial performance and results of operations; and

e we have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to remediate these
deficiencies (or fail to identify and/or remediate other possible material weaknesses), we may be unable to accurately
report our results of operations, meet our reporting obligations or prevent fraud, which may adversely affect investor
confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

For a more complete discussion of the material risk factors applicable to us, see “ltem 1A—Risk Factors.”
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PART |
Item 1. Business
Our Company

We are a Canadian headquartered, Delaware incorporated precious metals exploration, development and production company
with the objective of becoming a leading silver producer. We were formed on February 2, 2011, when our predecessor Precious Metals
Opportunities LLC, which was formed in December 2009, converted to a Delaware corporation. On March 1, 2011, Los Gatos Ltd.
Merged with and into us to form Sunshine Silver Mines Corporation. In 2014, we changed our name to Sunshine Silver Mining &
Refining Corporation.

In conjunction with the initial public offering (“IPO”) completed on October 30, 2020, the Company effected a reorganization
(the “Reorganization”) in which (i) the Company changed its name from Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation to Gatos Silver,
Inc., (i) Silver Opportunity Partners LLC, which held the Company’s interest in the Sunshine Complex in Idaho, comprised of the
Sunshine Mine and the Sunshine Big Creek Refinery, became a wholly owned subsidiary of a newly created Delaware corporation
named Silver Opportunity Partners Corporation (“SOP”), (iii) all equity interest in SOP was distributed to the Company’s shareholders,
and (iv) each share of the Company’s common stock was split at a ratio of two-for-one (the “Reverse Split”). The Reverse Split did not
have any effect on the stated par value of the Company’s common stock and the rights and privileges of the holders of shares of
Common Stock were unaffected. All common stock and options outstanding immediately prior to the Reverse Split were appropriately
adjusted by dividing the number of shares of common stock into which the options are exercisable or convertible by two and multiplying
the exercise or conversion price thereof by two.

Our primary efforts are focused on the operation of the LGJV in Chihuahua, Mexico. The LGJV was formed on January 1, 2015
when we entered into the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement with Dowa Metals and Mining Co., Ltd. (“Dowa”) to further explore,
and potentially develop and operate mining properties within the LGD. The entities comprising the LGJV are Minera Plata Real S. de
R.L. de C.V. (“MPR"), Operaciones San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V (“OSJ"). (collectively, the “LGJV Entities™), following the
merger of Servicios San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Servicios”) into MPR effective July 15, 2021. The LGJV Entities own mineral
rights and certain surface associated with the LGD. The LGJV ownership is currently 70% Gatos Silver and 30% Dowa. On September
1, 2019, the LGJV commenced commercial production at CLG, which produces silver containing lead concentrate and zinc concentrate.
The LGJV's lead and zinc concentrates are sold to third-party customers. Pursuant to the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement,
Dowa has the right to purchase 100% of the zinc concentrate produced from the CLG, at rates negotiated in good faith based on
industry pricing benchmarks, and agreed between Dowa and MPR. The Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement currently requires
unanimous partner approval of all major operating decisions (such as annual budgets, the creation of security interests on property, and
certain major expenditures).

In addition to our 70% interest in the LGD, we have 100% ownership of the Santa Valeria property, located in Chihuahua,
Mexico, which comprises 1,543 hectares and could provide additional opportunities for resource growth.
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Our Principal Projects

We are currently focused on the production and continued development of the CLG and the further exploration and
development of the LGD:

e The CLG, located within the LGD, described below, consists of a polymetallic mine and processing facility that commenced
commercial production on September 1, 2019 and currently processes over 2,800 tonnes per day (“tpd”) of ore. The Los
Gatos Technical Report estimates that, as of July 1, 2022, the deposit contains approximately 6.07 million diluted tonnes of
proven and probable mineral reserves (mineral reserves and mineral resources stated herein are on a 100% basis unless
otherwise stated and mineral resources are stated exclusive of mineral reserves) with approximately 2.32 million diluted
tonnes of proven mineral reserves and approximately 3.75 million tonnes of probable mineral reserves. Average proven
and probable mineral reserve grades are 244 g/t silver, 4.48% zinc, 2.14% lead and 0.27 g/t gold. As of July 1, 2022, the
measured and indicated mineral resource (exclusive of reserves) was 1.94 million tonnes grading 96 g/t silver, 3.01% zinc,
1.56% lead and 0.19 g/t gold with 0.38 million tonnes of measured resource and 1.55 million tonnes of indicated resource
and the inferred mineral resource (exclusive of reserves) was 2.09 million tonnes grading 113 g/t silver, 4.30% zinc, 2.45%
lead and 0.20 g/t gold at the CLG. The mineral reserve estimates contained in the Los Gatos Technical Report have an
effective date of July 1, 2022 and exclude material that was mined before that effective date. From July 1, 2022 to
December 31, 2022, approximately 525,000 tonnes of material was processed by the CLG mill. This processed material
included mineral reserve tonnes, and to a lesser extent mineral resource tonnes as well as mineralized material not
included in the mineral resource. The mineral resource estimates for the CLG have an effective date of July 1, 2022 and
have not been updated since that time. The mineral resource estimates contained in the Los Gatos Technical Report are
presented on an undiluted basis without adjustment for mining recovery.

e The LGD, located in Chihuahua, Mexico, is approximately 120 kilometers south of Chihuahua City and is comprised of a
103,087 hectare land position, constituting a new mining district. The LGD consists of multiple mineralized zones. Two of
the identified mineralized zones, Cerro Los Gatos and Esther have reported mineral resources. The Los Gatos Technical
Report estimates that the Esther deposit contains 0.28 million tonnes of indicated mineral resources at average grades of
122 git silver, 4.30% zinc, 2.17% lead and 0.14 g/t gold, and 1.20 million tonnes of inferred mineral resources at average
grades of 133 g/t silver, 3.69% zinc, 1.53% lead and 0.09 g/t gold. The mineral resource estimates for the Esther deposit
have an effective date of July 1, 2022 and have not been updated since that time. The mineral resource estimates
contained in the Los Gatos Technical Report are presented on an undiluted basis without adjustment for mining recovery.
The deposits in the LGD are characterized by predominantly silver-lead-zinc epithermal mineralization. A core component
of the LGJV'’s business plan is to explore the highly prospective, underexplored LGD with the objective of identifying
additional mineral deposits that can be developed, mined and processed, possibly utilizing the CLG plant infrastructure.
The history in relation to the LGD is described below.

Prior to our initial acquisition of exploration concession rights in April 2006, very limited historical prospecting and exploration
activities had been conducted in the LGD. We were able to acquire mineral concessions covering 103,087 hectares and, through our
exploration, discovered a virgin silver region containing potential high-grade epithermal vein-style mineralization throughout the LGD
concession package. In 2008, we negotiated surface access rights with local ranch owners and obtained the environmental permits for
drilling and road construction necessary for the development of the CLG. Through 2015, we purchased all the surface lands required
for the CLG development. Environmental baseline data collection began in May 2010 and was completed in 2016 and approved in
2017 to prepare for the development of future environmental studies required for the CLG. In 2014, we partnered with Dowa to finance
and develop the CLG and pursue exploration in the LGD and, as noted above, entered into the Unanimous Omnibus Partner
Agreement in early 2015.

We believe that we have strong support from the local community, with about 195 employees from the local community working

across multiple areas involving the continued underground development, construction of the surface facilities and operation of the CLG.
Over 99% of the approximate 845 employees at the CLG are from Mexico, highlighting our commitment to the local workforce.
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Our primary areas of focus have been operating and developing the CLG, defining and expanding the mineral reserves and
mineral resources associated with the CLG and exploring and delineating resources within the LGD. As of December 31, 2022, 1,879
exploration and definition drill holes have been completed in both CLG and the LGD, totaling 449,474 meters. In 2022, LGD exploration
drilling was completed at Esther, Cascabel, Wall-e and El Valle targets and detailed mapping occurred and Wall-e and Cascabel.
Definition and expansion drilling was completed around CLG both from surface and underground.

Our objectives at the CLG are to, among other things:

e continue strong operating and cost performance;

e maximize margins and extend the LOM;

e complete key capital projects and other initiatives to enhance mining efficiencies and reduce operating costs; and

e perform additional in-fill and step-out drilling to convert mineral resources to reserves and delineate mineral resources and
reserves from the recently discovered mineralization below the South-East zone of the CLG (“South-East Deeps”).

Our objectives at the LGD are to realize the district potential through, among other things:
e detailed mapping and drill testing at the Esther, Amapola and El Lince Area deposits;

e district mapping and geophysics in the Rio Conchos basin and additional exposed and underlying andesite in the region to
identify additional drill targets; and

e continued expansion of the LGJV's interest in prospective mineral and surface rights.

For the years ended December 31,2022, 2021 and 2020, the LGJV achieved the following production from CLG:

CLG Production (100% Basis) 2022 2021 2020
Tonnes milled (dmt - reconciled) 971,595 909,586 667,422
Tonnes milled per day (dmt) 2,662 2,492 1,829
Average Feed Grades
Silver grade (g/t) 368 295 229
Zinc grade (%) 4.37 3.94 3.64
Lead grade (%) 2.31 2.27 2.27
Gold grade (g/t) 0.33 0.32 0.42
Contained Metal
Silver ounces (millions) 10.3 7.6 4.2
Zinc pounds - in zinc conc. (millions) 60.7 49.6 34.2
Lead pounds - in lead conc. (millions) 43.9 39.8 27.4
Gold ounces - in lead conc. (thousands) 5.3 5.2 4.9
Recoveries*
Silver - in both lead and zinc concentrates 89.8 % 88.3 % 84.1 %
Zinc - in zinc concentrate 64.8 % 62.9 % 63.9 %
Lead - in lead concentrate 88.7 % 87.6 % 82.3 %
Gold - in lead concentrate 52.0 % 56.3 % 55.4 %
Average realized price per silver ounce $ 2181 $ 2451 $ 19.97
Average realized price per zinc pound $ 158 $ 136 $ 1.03
Average realized price per lead pound $ 098 % 099 ¢ 0.83
Average realized price per gold ounce $ 1818 $ 1,802 $ 1,709

*Recoveries are reported for payable metals in the identified concentrate. Recoveries reported previously were based on
total metal in both concentrates.
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Strategic Developments

Our business strategy is focused on creating value for stakeholders through the ownership and advancement of the CLG and
the LGD and through the pursuit and the development of other attractive silver-focused projects. The following outlines key strategic
developments since January 1, 2021:

Extinguished the Los Gatos Working Capital Facility (“WCF”): On March 11, 2021, the $60 million WCF provided to
the LGJV by Dowa was extinguished. The WCF carried an annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 3%. In addition, we were
required to pay an arrangement fee on the borrowing, calculated as 15.0% per annum of 70.0% of the average daily
principal amount outstanding during the relevant fiscal quarter. By extinguishing the WCF, we reduced the borrowing costs
of the LGJV.

Repurchased an 18.5% interest in the LGJV to increase our ownership to 70.0%: On March 11, 2021, we
repurchased an approximate 18.5% interest in the LGJV from Dowa, increasing our ownership to 70.0%. With increased
ownership, we have and expect to further benefit from the production at the CLG, supported by the expected cash flow
generation profile of the operation. In addition to increasing our economic interest in the CLG, this repurchase also
provides us with greater exposure to potential upside from additional exploration within the LGD.

Extinguished the Dowa Term Loan: On July 26, 2021, the Term Loan provided to the LGJV by Dowa was extinguished.
The Term Loan carried an annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.35%. In addition, we were required to pay an arrangement
fee on the borrowing, calculated as 2.0% per annum of 70.0% of the outstanding principal balance.

Secured a Revolving Credit Facility (the “Credit Facility”): On July 12, 2021, we entered into the Credit Facility with
Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) that provides for a $50 million revolving line of credit with an accordion feature. On March 7,
2022, we amended the Credit Facility with BMO, to address potential loan covenant deficiencies, which resulted, inter alia,
in the credit limit being reduced to $30 million until the Company delivered a new LOM CLG financial model with updated
mineral reserves and waivers of certain defaults, events of default, representations and warranties and covenants arising
out of the facts that led to the potential reduction in metal content of the Company’s previously stated mineral reserve
figures.

On December 19, 2022, we entered into an amended and restated Credit Facility with BMO extending the maturity date
and re-establishing a credit limit of $50 million, with an accordion feature.

Demonstrated Excellent Operational Performance. For 2022, we reported record silver production at the CLG,
exceeding our 2022 guidance. Silver production was 10.3 million ounces in 2022, up 36% from 7.6 million ounces in 2021,
and above the high-end of the most recent 2022 guidance range of 9.35 million to 9.65 million ounces. Zinc, lead and gold
production also increased during 2022, with zinc and gold near the high-end of guidance, and lead near the guidance
midpoint. Compared with 2021, zinc production increased by 22%, lead production by 10%, and gold production by 2%.
The higher silver production for the year ended 2022 was primarily due to higher silver ore grades and higher mill
throughput rates. Production sequencing in 2022 was from the highest-grade sections of the orebody, as considered in the
LOM plan included in the Los Gatos Technical Report. We expect to produce 7.4 to 8.2 million ounces of silver, 57 to 63
million pounds of zinc, 36 to 40 million pounds of lead and 5.4 thousand to 6.2 thousand ounces of gold in 2023.
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Optimization of Assets and Capital Improvements. Mill throughput averaged 2,847 tpd during the fourth quarter of
2022, an increase of 9% compared to the fourth quarter of 2021 and significantly exceeding the mill design rate of 2,500
tpd. During 2022 the mill achieved a record 2,662 tpd, which was 7% higher than in 2021. Silver, zinc and lead recoveries
for the year ended 2022 were also higher than in 2021. During the fourth quarter of 2022, we completed the construction
and commissioning of the CLG paste plant and three production stopes were successfully filled with paste backfill by
December 31, 2022. The paste plant is expected to increase operational flexibility and productivity as well as help to lower
operating costs going forward. Construction of the CLG zinc concentrate leach plant is progressing well and is expected to
be commissioned in the second quarter of 2023. The concentrate leach plant is expected to reduce the amount of
deleterious content in zinc concentrates being sent to Dowa. As agreed with Dowa, the initial payment towards the priority
payment due to them was reduced to reflect a portion of both the construction and future estimated operating costs of the
new leaching plant, subject to the successful construction and operation of the plant. The LGJV expects to spend $45
million on sustaining capital during 2023 of which $25 million is expected to be incurred on underground development to
access the lower levels of the Northwest and central zones and to further develop to the Southeast zone. The remainder of
capital expenditures for 2023 is expected to be primarily associated with equipment replacements and rebuilds, dewatering
infrastructure, and for completion of the fluorine leach plant for zinc concentrates which we expect to commission during
the second quarter of 2023.

Discovery of South-East Deeps zone at CLG. In 2022, through the LGJV, we discovered mineralization below the
South-East zone of the CLG. This newly identified zone extends approximately 415 meters below the reported mineral
reserve.

Additional Strategic Developments in 2022. In the fourth quarter of 2022, we completed a full re-estimation of the
Company’s mineral resource and mineral reserve with published 2022 Technical Reports. The mineral resources and
mineral reserves were completely rebuilt from base data, including data compilation of surface drilling, underground
drilling, underground mapping and production data, comprehensive data validation, structural and geological interpretation,
resource estimation, reconciliation to actual production, and a new mine design including updates to operating and capital
costs.

We also relocated our corporate office from Denver, Colorado to VVancouver, British Columbia providing improved access to
experienced mining managerial talent and strengthened the executive management team including appointments of a
Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel, and Senior Vice President, Corporate Development and Technical Services, all
with extensive experience working for larger multinational companies. In 2022, the LGJV paid three dividends to its
partners during 2022, totaling $55 million, of which the Company’s share was $29.3 million, net of withholding taxes and
after initial priority dividend payments to Dowa.

believe the following provide us with significant competitive advantages:

Our Assets are High Quality: As noted above, the CLG achieved strong operational performance in 2021 with further
improvements in 2022. Per the Los Gatos Technical Report, the CLG is expected to produce an average of 7.4 million
ounces of silver per annum at low LOM all-in-sustaining-costs over the LOM.

Our Assets are Located in Established Mining Region: The CLG and the LGD are located in one of the world’s premier
silver mining regions: the Mexican Silver Belt, which was the world’s largest silver producing region in 2021. Mexico is
highly ranked among silver mining jurisdictions worldwide and has a long history of successful mineral development and
operations. We have access to experienced and capable mining employees in Mexico.

Further optimization potential at CLG: At the CLG, we apply continuous improvement practices designed to reduce
costs, and improve throughput and recoveries. For example, during 2023 we are completing a scoping study on the
possible expansion of the grinding circuit to 3,500 tpd to better utilize the capacity in the existing flotation circuit.

Growth Potential in our Mineral Reserves and Resources from Further Exploration of the CLG and the LGD:
Through the LGJV, we have continued our in-mine and near-mine exploration program in the CLG and our exploration
activities in the LGD. In the CLG, we expect to convert inferred resources from higher-grade areas located adjacent to
planned mine development. We expect there to be further LOM extension opportunity in the South-East Deeps area of the
CLG. We also believe the LGD is a highly-prospective area with 103,087 contiguous hectares of mineral rights. The LGD is
located in the Mexican Silver Belt, a geologic zone that hosts numerous significant silver producing operations.
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The LGD represents an underexplored property within this productive belt, where there has been little historical workings
or previous exploration. On November 22, 2022 we disclosed our exploration strategy for the LGD which entails a focus on
two key areas: an exposed section of andesite running from the northwest boundary of the district to Esther and the CLG,
and a large basin southeast of the CLG underlain by andesite and which we anticipate may contain other large district-
scale fault structures conducive to large deposits. We are currently prioritizing exploration efforts on areas closer to the
CLG and areas with the highest potential to leverage existing surface and underground infrastructure. We expect to incur
drilling and exploration expenditures of approximately $13 million in 2023.At the CLG there is currently five active drill rigs
on surface and three underground, with the primary focus being on CLG life extension including drilling of the South-East
Deeps zone and gradually shifting focus towards exploration drilling of the LGD in the second half of 2023. We also plan to
conduct detailed mapping of the district and undertake a geophysics program aiming to define structures and future drilling
targets across the property.

Management Team and Board of Directors are Highly Experienced: We have an experienced management team with
a track record of successfully identifying, financing and developing mineral discoveries. Our Chief Executive Officer, Dale
Andres; Chief Financial Officer, André van Niekerk; Senior Vice President of Evaluations and Technical Services, Tony
Scott; and General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer, Stephen Bodley, each has significant experience in
effectuating, operating and improving successful mining projects. Our Board of Directors is comprised of senior mining,
financial and business executives who have broad domestic and international experience in mineral exploration,
development and mining operations. Our Board of Directors has been established with individuals who have career
backgrounds at notable mining companies. We believe that the specialized skills and knowledge of the management team
and of the Board of Directors will significantly enhance our ability to cost-effectively operate the CLG and extend its LOM,
to explore and develop the LGD and to pursue other growth opportunities.

Summary of Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources

Below is a summary table of estimated mineral resources and reserves. Further information can be found in “ltem 2.
Properties.” The mineral resource estimates contained in the Los Gatos Technical Report have an effective date of July 1, 2022 and
have not been updated since that time. The mineral reserve estimates contained in the Los Gatos Technical Report have an effective
date of July 1, 2022 and exclude mineral reserves that have previously been mined prior to this date. From July 1, 2022 to December
31, 2022, approximately 525,000 tonnes of material were mined. This processed material included mineral reserve tonnes, and to a
lesser extent mineral resource tonnes as well as mineralized material not included in the mineral resource.

Summary Mineral Reserves as of July 1, 2022

CLG Mineral Reserves Statement

Reserve Ag Zn Pb Au Ag Zn Pb Au
Classification Mt (glt) (%) (%) (glt) (Moz) (Mlbs) (Mlbs) (koz)
Proven 2.32 309 4.33 2.20 0.31 23.1 221.6 112.3 23.0
Probable 3.75 204 4.57 2.11 0.24 24.6 3774 174.4 28.7
Proven and
Probable Reserve 6.07 244 4.48 2.14 0.27 47.7 599.1 286.7 51.8
1. Mineral Reserves are reported on a 100% basis and exclude all Mineral Reserve material mined prior to July 1, 2022.
2. Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.
3. Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and numbers may not sum exactly.
4. Values are inclusive of mining recovery and dilution. Values are determined as of delivery to the mill and therefore not inclusive of
milling recoveries.
5. Mineral Reserves are reported within stope shapes using a variable cut-off basis with a Ag price of US$22/0z, Zn price of

US$1.20/Ib, Pb price of US$0.90/Ib and Au price of US$1,700/0z. The metal prices used for the Mineral Reserves are based on the
three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term analyst consensus estimates for the LOM.
6. The Mineral Reserve is reported on a fully diluted basis defined by mining method, stope geometry and ground conditions.
7. Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:
e Znand Pb, CM (MIb) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6
e Agand Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035 ; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)
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10.

11.

The SEC definitions for Mineral Reserves in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Reserve classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

Mineral Reserves are those parts of Mineral Resources which, after the application of all mining factors, result in an estimated
tonnage and grade which, in the opinion of the Qualified Person(s) making the estimates, is the basis of an economically viable
project after taking account of all relevant Modifying Factors. Mineral Reserves are inclusive of diluting material that will be mined in
conjunction with the Mineral Reserves and delivered to the treatment plant or equivalent facility.

Proven Reserves include a 15.4-kt stockpile at June 30, 2022. The in-situ Reserve is 6,052 kt. Rounding and significant figures may
result in apparent summation differences between tonnes and grade.

The Mineral Reserve estimates were prepared by Mr. Paul Gauthier, P.Eng. an employee of Golder Associates who is the
independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Reserve estimates.
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Summary Mineral Resources (Exclusive of Mineral Reserves) as of July 1, 2022

CLG Mineral Resource Estimate

Zn Pb
Resource Classification Mt Ag (glt) (%) (%) Au (glt) Ag (Moz) Zn (Mibs) Pb (Mibs) Au (koz)
Measured 0.38 151 2.63 1.49 0.26 1.9 22.1 12.6 3.2
Indicated 1.55 82 3.11 1.57 0.17 4.1 106.4 53.8 8.6
Measured and
Indicated 1.94 96 3.01 1.56 0.19 6.0 128.5 66.4 11.8
Inferred 2.09 113 4.30 2.45 0.20 7.6 198.4 113.1 13.3

1. Mineral Resources are reported on a 100% basis and are exclusive of Mineral Reserves.

2. Mineral Resources, which are not Mineral Reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability. The estimate of Mineral
Resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, marketing, or other relevant issues.

3. The SEC definitions for Mineral Resources in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Resource classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

4. The quantity and grade of reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this estimation are uncertain in nature and there has been

insufficient exploration to define these Inferred Mineral Resources as an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource. It is uncertain if

further exploration will result in upgrading Inferred Mineral Resources to an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource category.

Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.

Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and nhumbers may not sum exactly.

Mineral Resources exclude all Mineral Resource material mined prior to July 1, 2022.

Mineral Resources are reported within stope shapes using a $42/tonne or $52/tonne NSR cut-off basis depending on mining

method with an Ag price of $22/0z, Zn price of $1.20/Ib, Pb price of $0.90/Ib and Au price of $1,700/0z. The metal prices used for

the Mineral Resource are based on the three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term analyst consensus
estimates for the LOM.

9. No dilution was applied to the Mineral Resource.

10. Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:

e Znand Pb, CM (Mib) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6
e Agand Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)

11. The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by Ronald Turner, MAusIMM(CP) an employee of Golder Associates who is the

independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Resource estimates.

© No g

Esther Mineral Resource Estimate

Ag Zn (%) Pb (%) Au Ag Zn Pb Au
Resource Classification Mt (glt) (%) (%) (glt) (Moz) (Mlbs) (Mlbs) (koz)
Indicated 0.28 122 4.30 2.17 0.14 1.1 26.8 13.6 1.2
Inferred 1.20 133 3.69 1.53 0.09 5.1 98.0 40.6 3.3

1. Mineral Resources are reported on a 100% basis.

2. Mineral Resources, which are not Mineral Reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability. The estimate of Mineral
Resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, marketing, or other relevant issues.

3. The SEC definitions for Mineral Resources in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Resource classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

4. The quantity and grade of reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this estimation are uncertain in nature and there has been

insufficient exploration to define these Inferred Mineral Resources as an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource. It is uncertain if

further exploration will result in upgrading Inferred Mineral Resources to an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource category.

Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.

Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and numbers may not sum exactly.

Mineral Resources are reported within stope shapes using a $52/tonne NSR cut-off basis assuming processing recoveries

equivalent to CLG with an Ag price of $22/o0z, Zn price of $1.20/Ib, Pb price of $0.90/Ib and Au price of $1,700/0z. The metal

No o
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prices used for the Mineral Resource are based on the three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term
analyst consensus estimates for the LOM. There is a portion of the Esther deposit that is oxidized and metallurgical test work is
required to define processing recoveries.

8. No dilution was applied to the Mineral Resource.

9. Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:
e Znand Pb, CM (MIb) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6
e Agand Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035 ; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)

10. The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by Ronald Turner, MAusIMM(CP) an employee of Golder Associates who is the
independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Resource estimates.

Competition

There is aggressive competition within the mining and precious metals industry. We compete with other precious metals mining
companies, as well as other mineral miners, in efforts to obtain financing to explore and develop projects. Many of these mining
companies currently have greater resources than we do. In the future, we may compete with such companies to acquire additional
properties.

In addition, we also encounter competition for the hiring of key personnel. The mining industry is currently facing a shortage of
experienced mining professionals, particularly experienced mine construction and mine management personnel. This competition
affects our operations. Larger regional companies can offer better employment terms than smaller companies such as us.

We also compete for the services of mine service companies, such as project coordinators and drilling companies. Potential
suppliers may choose to provide better terms and scheduling to larger companies in the industry due to the scale and scope of their
operations.

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

We are subject to stringent and complex environmental laws, regulations and permits in the jurisdiction in which we operate.
These requirements are a significant consideration for us as our operations involve, or may in the future involve, among other things,
the removal, extraction and processing of natural resources, emission and discharge of materials into the environment, remediation of
soil and groundwater contamination, workplace health and safety, reclamation and closure of waste impoundments and other
properties, and handling, storage, transport and disposal of wastes and hazardous materials. Compliance with these laws, regulations
and permits can require substantial capital or operating costs or otherwise delay, limit or prohibit our development or future operation of
our properties. These laws, regulations and permits, and the enforcement and interpretation thereof, change frequently and generally
have become more stringent over time. If we violate these environmental requirements, we may be subject to litigation, fines or other
sanctions, including the revocation of permits and suspension of operations. Pursuant to such requirements, we also may be subject to
inspections or reviews by governmental authorities.

Permits and Approvals

We were issued the major government approvals required to construct and operate the CLG facilities during 2017. While there
are multiple approvals from multiple levels of government, the key government approval for the project is the MIA (Environmental
Impact Assessment), issued in July 2017 and valid until 2041. As the mine plan changes, it may be necessary to conduct environmental
studies and collect and present to governmental authorities data pertaining to the potential impact that our current or future operations
may have upon the environment. Since the original MIA approval was granted in 2017, we have successfully achieved three
amendments to the MIA approval to reflect changes to the mine plan and facilities.

We have the approvals necessary to extract the mineral reserve as described in the Los Gatos Technical Report with the
exception of the operation of the fluorine leach project which was submitted for assessment during 2022. While there is no certainty on
when or if the amendment will be successful, the rejection of this project would not be expected to materially impact economics of the
CLG operation.
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Hazardous Substances and Waste Management

We could be liable for environmental contamination at or from our or our predecessors’ currently or formerly owned or operated
properties or third-party waste disposal sites. Certain environmental laws impose joint and several strict liability for releases of
hazardous substances at such properties or sites, without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct. A generator of waste can
be held responsible for contamination resulting from the treatment or disposal of such waste at any off-site location (such as a landfill),
regardless of whether the generator arranged for the treatment or disposal of the waste in compliance with applicable laws. Costs
associated with liability for removal or remediation of contamination or damage to natural resources could be substantial and liability
under these laws may attach without regard to whether the responsible party knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of the
contaminants. In addition to potentially significant investigation and remediation costs, such matters can give rise to claims from
governmental authorities and other third parties for fines or penalties, natural resource damages, personal injury and property damage.

Mine Health and Safety Laws

All of our current properties are located in Mexico and are subject to regulation by the Political Constitution of the United
Mexican States, and are subject to various legislation in Mexico, including the Mining Law, the Federal Law of Waters, the Federal
Labor Law, the Federal Law of Firearms and Explosives, the General Law on Ecological Balance and Environmental Protection and the
Federal Law on Metrology Standards, as well as the accompanying regulations and regulatory authorities. Mining, environmental and
labor authorities may inspect our operations on a regular basis and issue various citations and orders when they believe a violation has
occurred under the relevant statute. Regulations and the results of inspections may have a significant effect on our operating costs.

At this time, it is not possible to predict the full effect that the new or proposed statutes, regulations and policies will have on
our operating costs, but it may increase our costs and those of our competitors.

Other Environmental Laws

We are required to comply with numerous other environmental laws, regulations and permits in addition to those previously
discussed. These additional requirements include, for example, various permits regulating road construction and drilling at the Mexican
properties.

We endeavor to conduct our mining operations in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. However, because of
extensive and comprehensive regulatory requirements, violations during mining operations occur from time to time in the industry.

Facilities and Employees

We own and lease land at our other exploration properties in Mexico and at the LGD through our ownership interest in the
LGJV.

As of January 31, 2023, we had two full-time employees in the United States, twelve full time employees in Canada and eight
full-time employees in Mexico, and the LGJV had approximately 839 employees in Mexico. The LGJV had approximately 597 unionized
employees in December 2022. We believe that our employee relations are good and plan to continue to hire employees as our
operations expand at the LGJV. The health and safety of our employees and the employees of the LGJV is our highest priority,
consistent with our business culture and values. In addition to tracking common lagging indicators, such as injury performance, we
focus on leading indicators such as high potential incidents and safety observations, as well as other proactive actions taken at site to
ensure worker safety. We are committed to operating in accordance with high ethical standards and believe this is a key motivational
factor for our employees. In 2022, we updated our Code of Conduct as well as other core compliance policies and conducted training
and compliance certification with all our employees and the employees of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. We continue to emphasize
employee development and training to empower employees both at the corporate level and at the LGJV level to enhance employees’
potential and benefit the business. We leverage both formal and informal programs to identify, foster, and retain top talent at both the
corporate and the LGJV level.
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Available Information

Our internet address is www.gatossilver.com. We make available free of charge through our investor relations website,
https://investor.gatossilver.com, copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are electronically filed with, or furnished to,
the SEC. The information contained on our website is not included as a part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations,
and the trading price of our common stock could decline. These risk factors do not identify all risks that we face; our operations could
also be affected by factors that are not presently known to us or that we currently consider to be immaterial to our operations. Due to
risks and uncertainties, known and unknown, our past financial results may not be a reliable indicator of future performance, and
historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. Refer also to the other information set forth in this
this Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and “Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition
We have a history of negative operating cash flows and net losses and we may not sustain profitability.

We have a history of negative operating cash flows and cumulative net losses. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, we reported a net loss of $43.4 million and $40.4 million, respectively, and negative operating cash flow of $21.5 million and
$18.4 million, respectively.

We may not become profitable or sustain profitability. To remain profitable, we must succeed in generating significant revenues
at the CLG, which will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities and is subject to numerous risks, including the risk
factors set forth in this “Risk Factors” section. In addition, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays,
inflation and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our revenues, expenses and profitability. Our failure to achieve or sustain
profitability would depress our market value, could impair our ability to execute our business plan, raise capital or continue our
operations and could cause our shareholders to lose all or part of their investment.

We are currently dependent on the CLG and the LGD for our future operations. The LGD (other than the CLG) does not
currently have proven or probable mineral reserves. We may not be able to extend the current CLG life of mine by adding
proven or probable mineral reserves.

The LGD (other than the CLG) does not have identified proven and probable mineral reserves. Mineral exploration and
development involve a high degree of risk that even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge cannot eliminate,
and few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. There is no assurance that our mineral exploration
programs at the LGD will establish the presence of any additional proven or probable mineral reserves. The failure to establish
additional proven or probable mineral reserves would severely restrict our ability to implement our strategies for long-term growth.

Deliveries under concentrate sales agreements may be suspended or cancelled by our customers in certain cases.

Under concentrate sales agreements, our customers may suspend or cancel delivery of our products in some cases, such as
force majeure. Events of force majeure under these agreements generally include, among others, acts of God, strikes, fires, floods,
wars, government actions or other events that are beyond the control of the parties involved. Any suspension or cancellation by our
customers of deliveries under our sales contracts that are not replaced by deliveries under new contracts would reduce our cash flow
and could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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We do not currently intend to enter into hedging arrangements with respect to silver and other minerals and our hedging
activities, or our decision not to hedge, with respect to our expenses could expose us to losses. We are also subject to risks
relating to exchange rate fluctuations.

We do not currently intend to enter into hedging arrangements with respect to silver and other minerals. As such, we will not be
protected from a decline in the price of silver and other minerals. This strategy may have a material adverse effect upon our financial
performance, financial position and results of operations.

We report our financial statements in U.S. dollars. A portion of our costs and expenses are incurred in Mexican pesos and, to a
lesser extent, Canadian dollars. As a result, any significant and sustained appreciation of these currencies against the U.S. dollar may
materially increase our costs and expenses. Additionally, we are, and will be, exposed to the potentially adverse effects of fluctuations
in input costs, and interest rates. We currently, however, do not have any hedging arrangements, and have not made a decision to do
so in the future, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we seek and are able
to enter into hedging contracts, there is no assurance that such hedging program will be effective, and any hedging program would also
prevent us from benefitting fully from applicable input cost or rate decreases. In addition, we may in the future experience losses if a
counterparty fails to perform under a hedge arrangement.

We and/or the LGJV have historically had significant debt and may incur further debt in the future, which could adversely
affect our and the LGJV’s financial health and limit our ability to obtain financing in the future and pursue certain business
opportunities.

We have a Credit Facility providing for a revolving line of credit in the principal amount of $50 million and has an accordion
feature, which allows for an increase in the total line of credit up to $75 million, subject to certain conditions. As of December 31, 2021,
we had $13 million of outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facility. The current balance outstanding under the Credit Facility is
$9 million following a $4 million principal repayment in December 2022. The Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants.
If we are unable to comply with the requirements of the Credit Facility, the facility may be terminated or the credit available thereunder
may be materially reduced, and we may not be able to obtain additional or alternate funding on satisfactory terms, if at all. In 2022, for
example, we were required to revise our Credit Facility following our announcement on January 25, 2022 that there were reserve
calculation errors and indications of an overestimation in the existing resource model for the CLG. See Note 11 — Debt in our
consolidated financial statements included in “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information
regarding our Credit Facility.

While the LGJV currently has no significant debt service obligations, the LGJV may in the future incur debt obligations and the
above factors would apply to such debt. For more information, see “ltem 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Dowa Debt Agreements.”

The Company'’s effective tax rate could be volatile and materially change as a result of changes in tax laws, mix of earnings
and other factors.

We are subject to tax laws in the United States and foreign jurisdictions including Mexico and Canada. U.S. President Biden's
administration (the “Administration”) has called for changes to fiscal and tax policies, which may include comprehensive tax reform.

The Administration has previously proposed an increase in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 21% to 28%, doubling the
rate of tax on certain earnings of foreign subsidiaries, a 15% minimum tax on worldwide book income, and other various tax law
changes. If any or all of these (or similar) proposals are enacted into law, in whole or in part, they could have a negative impact on the
Company'’s effective tax rate The Company operates in countries which have different statutory rates. Consequently, changes in the
mix and source of earnings between countries could have a material impact on the Company’s overall effective tax rate.

The LGJV is subject to Mexican income and other taxes, and distributions from the LGJV are subject to Mexican withholding

taxes. Any change in such taxes could materially adversely affect our effective tax rate and the quantum of cash available to be
distributed to us.
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Risks Related to Our Operations

Mineral reserve and mineral resource calculations at the CLG and at other deposits in the LGD are only estimates and actual
production results and future estimates may vary significantly from the current estimates.

Calculations of mineral reserves and mineral resources at the CLG and of mineral resources at other deposits in the LGD are
only estimates and depend on geological interpretation and statistical inferences or assumptions drawn from drilling and sampling
analysis, which might prove to be materially inaccurate. There is a degree of uncertainty attributable to the calculation of mineral
reserves and mineral resources. Until mineral reserves and mineral resources are actually mined and processed, the quantity of metal
and grades must be considered as estimates only and no assurance can be given that the indicated levels of metals will be produced.
In making determinations about whether to advance any of our projects to development, we must rely upon estimated calculations for
the mineral reserves and mineral resources and grades of mineralization on our properties.

The estimation of mineral reserves and mineral resources is a subjective process that is partially dependent upon the judgment
of the persons preparing the estimates. The process relies on the quantity and quality of available data and is based on knowledge,
mining experience, statistical analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Valid estimates made at a given time may significantly
change when new information becomes available.

Estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources may have to be recalculated based on changes in metal prices, further
exploration or development activity or actual production experience. This could materially and adversely affect estimates of the volume
or grade of mineralization, estimated recovery rates or other important factors that influence mineral reserves and mineral resources
estimates. The extent to which mineral resources may ultimately be reclassified as mineral reserves is dependent upon the
demonstration of their profitable recovery. Any material changes in volume and grades of mineralization will affect the economic viability
of placing a property into production and a property’s return on capital. We cannot provide assurance that mineralization can be mined
or processed profitably.
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Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates have been determined and valued based on assumed future metal prices, cut-
off grades and operating costs that may prove to be inaccurate. The mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates may be adversely
affected by:

e declines in the market price of silver, lead or zinc;

e increased production or capital costs;

e decreased throughput;

e reduction in grade;

e increase in the dilution of ore;

e inflation rates, future foreign exchange rates and applicable tax rates;
e changes in environmental, permitting and regulatory requirements; and
e reduced metal recovery.

Extended declines in the market price for silver, lead and zinc may render portions of our mineralization uneconomic and result
in reduced reported volume and grades, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial
position and results of operations.

In addition, inferred mineral resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and their economic and legal
feasibility. There should be no assumption that any part of an inferred mineral resource will be upgraded to a higher category or that
any of the mineral resources not already classified as mineral reserves will be reclassified as mineral reserves.

Our and the LGJV’s mineral exploration efforts are highly speculative in nature and may be unsuccessful.

Mineral exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many uncertainties and risks and is frequently unsuccessful. It is
performed to demonstrate the dimensions, position and mineral characteristics of mineral deposits, estimate mineral resources, assess
amenability of the deposit to mining and processing scenarios and estimate potential deposit value. Once mineralization is discovered,
it may take a number of years from the initial exploration phases before production is possible, during which time the potential feasibility
of the project may change adversely. Substantial expenditures are required to establish additional proven and probable mineral
reserves, to determine processes to extract the metals and, if required, to permit and construct mining and processing facilities and
obtain the rights to the land and resources required to develop the mining activities.

Development projects and newly constructed mines have no or little operating history upon which to base estimates of proven
and probable mineral reserves and estimates of future operating costs. Estimates are, to a large extent, based upon the interpretation
of geological data and modeling obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques, feasibility studies that derive estimates of
operating costs based upon anticipated tonnage and grades of material to be mined and processed, the configuration of the deposit,
expected recovery rates of metal from the mill feed material, facility and equipment capital and operating costs, anticipated climatic
conditions and other factors. As a result, actual operating costs and economic returns based upon development of proven and probable
mineral reserves may differ significantly from those originally estimated. Moreover, significant decreases in actual or expected
commodity prices may mean mineralization, once found, will be uneconomical to mine.

The ability to mine and process materials at the CLG or other future operations may be adversely impacted in certain
circumstances, some of which may be unexpected and not in our control.

A number of factors could affect our ability to mine materials, and process the quantities of mined materials that we recover.
Our ability to efficiently mine materials and to handle certain quantities of processed materials, including, but not limited to, the
presence of oversized material at the crushing stage; material showing breakage characteristics different than those planned; material
with grades outside of planned grade range; the presence of deleterious materials in ratios different than expected; material drier or
wetter than expected, due to natural or environmental effects; and materials having viscosity or density different than expected.
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The occurrence of one or more of the circumstances described above could affect our ability to process the number of tonnes
planned, recover valuable materials, remove deleterious materials, and produce planned quantities of concentrates. In turn, this may
result in lower throughput, lower recoveries, increased downtime or some combination of all of the foregoing. While issues of this nature
are part of normal operations, there is no assurance that unexpected conditions may not materially and adversely affect our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

Our ability to efficiently mine materials at the CLG is also affected by the hydrogeology of areas within the mine, which requires
the installation of dewatering infrastructure to manage underground water. As the mine expands, additional infrastructure will be
required. Existing dewatering infrastructure may be ineffective at managing underground water, and although additional capital for
dewatering infrastructure is contemplated in the LOM plan included in the Los Gatos Technical Report, further dewatering infrastructure
may be more costly than planned or may otherwise be ineffective.

Actual capital costs, operating costs, production and economic returns may differ significantly from those we have
anticipated and there are no assurances that any future development activities will result in profitable mining operations.

The actual capital and operating costs at the CLG will depend upon changes in the availability and prices of labor, equipment
and infrastructure, variances in ore recovery and mining rates from those assumed in the mining plan, operational risks, changes in
governmental regulation, including taxation, environmental, permitting and other regulations and other factors, many of which are
beyond our control. Due to any of these or other factors, the capital and operating costs at the CLG may be significantly higher than
those set forth in the Los Gatos Technical Report. As a result of higher capital and operating costs, production and economic returns
may differ significantly from those set forth in the Los Gatos Technical Report and there are no assurances that any future development
activities will result in profitable mining operations.

Land reclamation and mine closure may be burdensome and costly and such costs may exceed our estimates.

Land reclamation and mine closure requirements are generally imposed on mining and exploration companies, such as ours,
which require us, among other things, to minimize the effects of land disturbance. Such requirements may include controlling the
discharge of potentially dangerous effluents from a site and restoring a site’s landscape to its pre-exploration form. The actual costs of
reclamation and mine closure are uncertain and planned expenditures may differ from the actual expenditures required. Therefore, the
amount that we are required to spend could be materially higher than current estimates. Any additional amounts required to be spent on
reclamation and mine closure may have a material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of
operations and may cause us to alter our operations. In addition, we are required to maintain financial assurances, such as letters of
credit, to secure reclamation obligations under certain laws and regulations. The failure to acquire, maintain or renew such financial
assurances could subject us to fines and penalties or suspension of our operations. Letters of credit or other forms of financial
assurance represent only a portion of the total amount of money that will be spent on reclamation over the life of a mine’s operation.
Although we include liabilities for estimated reclamation and mine closure costs in our financial statements, it may be necessary to
spend more than what is projected to fund required reclamation and mine closure activities.

The development of one or more of our mineral projects that have been, or may in the future be, found to be economically
feasible will be subject to all of the risks associated with establishing new mining operations.

The Los Gatos Technical Report indicates that the CLG is a profitable silver-zinc-lead project with an estimated 5-year mine life
currently, at modeled metals prices. If the development of one of our other mineral properties is found to be economically feasible, the
development of such projects will require obtaining permits and financing, and the construction and operation of mines, processing
plants and related infrastructure. As a result, we will be subject to certain risks associated with establishing new mining operations,
including:

e the timing and cost, which can be considerable, of the construction of mining and processing facilities and related
infrastructure;

e the availability and cost of skilled labor, mining equipment and principal supplies needed for operations, including
explosives, fuels, chemical reagents, water, power, equipment parts and lubricants;

e the availability and cost of appropriate smelting and refining arrangements;
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e the need to obtain necessary environmental and other governmental approvals and permits and the timing of the receipt of
those approvals and permits;

e the availability of funds to finance construction and development activities;

e industrial accidents;

e mine failures, shaft failures or equipment failures;

e natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock slides and seismic activity;

e unusual or unexpected geological and metallurgical conditions, including excess water in underground mining;
e exchange rate and commodity price fluctuations;

e high rates of inflation;

e health pandemics;

e potential opposition from non-governmental organizations, environmental groups or local groups, which may delay or
prevent development activities; and

e restrictions or regulations imposed by governmental or regulatory authorities, including with respect to environmental
matters.

The costs, timing and complexities of developing the projects may be greater than anticipated. Cost estimates may increase
significantly as more detailed engineering work is completed on a project. It is common in mining operations to experience unexpected
costs, problems and delays during construction, development and mine startup. In addition, the cost of producing silver bearing
concentrates that are of acceptable quality to smelters may be significantly higher than expected. We may encounter higher than
acceptable contaminants in our concentrates such as arsenic, antimony, mercury, copper, iron, selenium, fluorine or other
contaminants that, when present in high concentrations, can result in penalties or outright rejection of the metals concentrates by the
smelters or traders. For example, due to the high fluorine content at the CLG, a leaching plant is under construction to reduce fluorine
levels in zinc concentrates produced. Additional investments to further reduce fluorine content of the concentrates produced may be
required. Accordingly, we cannot provide assurance that our activities will result in profitable mining operations at the mineral
properties.

Our operations involve significant risks and hazards inherent to the mining industry.

Our operations involve the operation of large machines, heavy mobile equipment and drilling equipment. Hazards such as
adverse environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labor disputes, unusual or unexpected geological conditions, ground control
problems, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment, metallurgical and other processing problems, mechanical equipment failure,
facility performance problems, fire and natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes are inherent
risks in our operations. Certain of these hazards may be more severe or frequent as a result of climate change. Hazards inherent to the
mining industry have in the past caused and may in the future cause injuries or death to employees, contractors or other persons at our
mineral properties, severe damage to and destruction of our property, plant and equipment, and contamination of, or damage to, the
environment, and can result in the suspension of our exploration activities and future development and production activities. While we
aim to maintain best safety practices as part of its culture, safety measures implemented by us may not be successful in preventing or
mitigating future accidents.
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In addition, from time to time we may be subject to governmental investigations and claims and litigation filed on behalf of
persons who are harmed while at our properties or otherwise in connection with our operations. To the extent that we are subject to
personal injury or other claims or lawsuits in the future, it may not be possible to predict the ultimate outcome of these claims and
lawsuits due to the nature of personal injury litigation. Similarly, if we are subject to governmental investigations or proceedings, we may
incur significant penalties and fines, and enforcement actions against us could result in the closing of certain of our mining operations. If
claims and lawsuits or governmental investigations or proceedings are ultimately resolved against us, it could have a material adverse
effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of operations. Also, if we mine on property without the appropriate
licenses and approvals, we could incur liability, or our operations could be suspended.

We may be materially and adversely affected by challenges relating to slope and stability of underground openings.

Our underground mines get deeper and our waste and tailings deposits increase in size as we continue with and expand our
mining activities, presenting certain geotechnical challenges, including the possibility of failure of underground openings. If we are
required to reinforce such openings or take additional actions to prevent such a failure, we could incur additional expenses, and our
operations and stated mineral reserves could be negatively affected. We have taken the actions we determined to be proper in order to
maintain the stability of underground openings, but additional action may be required in the future. Unexpected failures or additional
requirements to prevent such failures may adversely affect our costs and expose us to health and safety and other liabilities in the event
of an accident, and in turn materially and adversely affect the results of our operations and financial condition, as well as potentially
have the effect of diminishing our stated mineral reserves.

The title to some of the mineral properties may be uncertain or defective, and we may be unable to obtain necessary surface
and other rights to explore and develop some mineral properties, thus risking our investment in such properties.

Under the laws of Mexico, mineral resources belong to the state, and government concessions are required to explore for or
exploit mineral reserves. Mineral rights derive from concessions granted, on a discretionary basis, by the Ministry of Economy, pursuant
to the Mexican mining law and the regulations thereunder. While we and the LGJV hold title to the mineral properties in Mexico
described in this Report, including the CLG, through these government concessions, there is no assurance that title to the concessions
comprising the CLG or our or the LGJV's other properties will not be challenged or impaired. One of our concessions, comprising over
19,000 hectares, the Los Gatos concession, is held by us subject to the terms of an agreement with the original holder of that
concession. The CLG and our or the LGJV's other properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements, interests or native land
claims, and title may be affected by such undetected defects. A title defect on any of our mineral properties (or any portion thereof)
could adversely affect our ability to mine the property and/or process the minerals that we mine.

The mineral properties’ mining concessions in Mexico may be terminated if the obligations to maintain the concessions in good
standing are not satisfied or are not considered to be satisfied, including obligations to explore or exploit the relevant concession, to pay
any relevant fees, to comply with all environmental and safety standards, to provide information to the Mexican Ministry of Economy
and to allow inspections by the Mexican Ministry of Economy. In addition to termination, failure to make timely concession maintenance
payments and otherwise comply, or be considered to comply with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral
right applications and tenure could result in reduction or expropriation of entitlements.

Title insurance is generally not available for mineral properties and our ability to ensure that we have obtained secure claim to
individual mineral properties or mining concessions may be severely constrained. We rely on title information and/or representations
and warranties provided by our grantors. Any challenge to our title could result in litigation, insurance claims and potential losses, delay
the exploration and development of a property and ultimately result in the loss of some or all of our interest in the property. In addition, if
we mine on property without the appropriate title, we could incur liability for such activities. While we have received a title opinion in
relation to the LGD dated as of November 5, 2019, which opinion was updated as of August 18, 2021, such opinion is not a guarantee
of title and such title may be challenged.

In addition, surface rights are required to explore and to potentially develop the mineral properties. Currently, of the 103,087

hectares of mineral rights owned in the LGD, MPR owns surface rights covering the known extents of the CLG, and Esther Resource
areas, totaling 5,479 hectares. We negotiate surface access rights for exploration in other areas.
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Suitable infrastructure may not be available or damage to existing infrastructure may occur.

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, port
and/or rail transportation, power sources, water supply and access to key consumables are important determinants for capital and
operating costs. The lack of availability on acceptable terms or the delay in the availability of any one or more of these items could
prevent or delay exploration, development or exploitation of our projects. If adequate infrastructure is not available in a timely manner,
there can be no assurance that the exploitation or development of our projects will be commenced or completed on a timely basis, or at
all, or that the resulting operations will achieve the anticipated production volume, or that the construction costs and operating costs
associated with the exploitation and/or development of our projects will not be higher than anticipated. In addition, extreme weather
phenomena, sabotage, vandalism, government, non-governmental organization and community or other interference in the
maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect our operations and profitability.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The prices of silver, zinc and lead are subject to change and a substantial or extended decline in the prices of silver, zinc or
lead could materially and adversely affect revenues of the LGJV and the value of our mineral properties.

Our business and financial performance will be significantly affected by fluctuations in the prices of silver, zinc and lead. The
prices of silver, zinc and lead are volatile, can fluctuate substantially and are affected by numerous factors that are beyond our control.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, the London Bullion Market Association (“LBMA”) silver price ranged from a low of $21.53 per
ounce on September 30, 2021 to a high of $29.59 per ounce on February 1, 2021; the London Metals Exchange (“LME") Official
Settlement zinc price ranged from a low of $2,539 per tonne ($1.15 per pound) on February 2, 2021 to a high of $3,815 per tonne ($1.73
per pound) on October 18, 2021; the LME Official Settlement lead price ranged from a low of $1,896 per tonne ($0.86 per pound) on
March 18, 2021 to a high of $2,504 per tonne ($1.14 per pound) on August 18, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the
LBMA silver price ranged from a low of $17.77 per ounce on September 1, 2022 to a high of $26.18 per ounce on March 9, 2022; the
LME Official Settlement zinc price ranged from a low of $2,682 per tonne ($1.22 per pound) on November 3, 2022 to a high of $4,530
per tonne ($2.05 per pound) on April 19, 2022; the LME Official Settlement lead price ranged from a low of $1,754 per tonne ($0.80 per
pound) on September 27, 2022 to a high of $2,513 per tonne ($1.14 per pound) on March 7, 2022. Prices are affected by numerous
factors beyond our control, including:

e prevailing interest rates and returns on other asset classes;

e expectations regarding inflation, monetary policy and currency values;

e speculation;

e governmental and exchange decisions regarding the disposal of precious metals stockpiles, including the decision by the
CME Group, the owner and operator of the futures exchange, to raise silver’s initial margin requirements on futures
contracts;

e political and economic conditions;

e available supplies of silver, zinc and lead from mine production, inventories and recycled metal;

e sales by holders and producers of silver, zinc and lead; and

e demand for products containing silver, zinc and lead.

Because the LGJV expects to derive the substantial majority of our revenues from sales of silver, zinc and lead, its results of

operations and cash flows will fluctuate as the prices for these metals increase or decrease. A sustained period of declining prices
would materially and adversely affect our financial performance, financial position and results of operations.
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Changes in the future demand for the silver, zinc and lead we produce could adversely affect future sales volume and
revenues of the LGJV and our earnings.

The LGJV's future revenues and our earnings will depend, in substantial part, on the volume of silver, zinc and lead we sell and
the prices at which we sell, which in turn will depend on the level of industrial and consumer demand. Based on 2021 data from the
Silver Institute, demand for silver is driven by industrial demand (including photovoltaic, electrical and electronics) (c. 48%), bar and
coin demand (c. 27%) jewelry and silverware (c. 21%) and other demand, especially photography (c 4%). An increase in the production
of silver worldwide or changes in technology, industrial processes or consumer habits, including increased demand for substitute
materials, may decrease the demand for silver. Increased demand for substitute materials may be either technologically induced, when
technological improvements render alternative products more attractive for first use or end use than silver or allow for reduced
application of silver, or price induced, when a sustained increase in the price of silver leads to partial substitution for silver by a less
expensive product or reduced application of silver. Demand for zinc is primarily driven by the demand for galvanized steel, used in
construction, automobile and other industrial applications. Demand for lead is primarily driven by the demand for batteries, used in
vehicles, emergency systems and other industrial battery applications. Any substitution of these materials may decrease the demand
for the silver, zinc and lead we produce. A fall in demand, resulting from economic slowdowns or recessions or other factors, could also
decrease the price and volume of silver, zinc and lead we sell and therefore materially and adversely impact our results of operations
and financial condition. Increases in the supply of silver, zinc and lead, including from new mining sources or increased recycling
(driven by technological changes, pricing incentives or otherwise) may act to suppress the market prices for these commodities.

We are subject to the risk of labor disputes, which could adversely affect our business, and which risk may be increased due
to the unionization in the LGJV workforce.

Although we have not experienced any significant labor disputes in recent years, there can be no assurances that we will not
experience labor disputes in the future, including protests, blockades and strikes, which could disrupt our business operations and have
an adverse effect on our business and results of operation. Although we consider our relations with our employees to be good, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain a satisfactory working relationship with our employees in the future. The LGJV’s
hourly work force is unionized, which may increase the risk of such disruptions. In addition, the unionized workforce, or further
unionization of the workforce, may, among other things, require more extensive human resources staff, increase legal costs, increase
involvement with regulatory agencies, result in lost workforce flexibility, and increase labor costs due to rules, grievances and arbitration
proceedings.

Our success depends on developing and maintaining relationships with local communities and stakeholders.

Our ongoing and future success depends on developing and maintaining productive relationships with the communities
surrounding our operations, including local indigenous people who may have rights or may assert rights to certain of our properties, and
other stakeholders in our operating locations. We believe our operations can provide valuable benefits to surrounding communities in
terms of direct employment, training and skills development and other benefits associated with ongoing payment of taxes. In addition,
we seek to maintain partnerships and relationships with local communities. Notwithstanding our ongoing efforts, local communities and
stakeholders can become dissatisfied with our activities or the level of benefits provided, which may result in legal or administrative
proceedings, civil unrest, protests, direct action or campaigns against us. Any such occurrence could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected our business and operations. The widespread outbreak of any other health
pandemics, epidemics, communicable diseases or public health crises could also adversely affect us, particularly in regions
where we conduct our business operations.

Our business could be adversely affected by the widespread outbreak of a health epidemic, communicable disease or any
other public health crisis.
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For example, the COVID-19 pandemic temporarily affected our financial condition in 2020, in part due to the loss of revenue
resulting from the 45-day temporary suspension of all nonessential activities at the LGJV's CLG site and the expenses associated with
the development and implementation of COVID-19 protocols. In addition, as the LGJV reactivated mine development and mining, it
implemented a scalable optimized plan with a lower employee complement and with reduced average monthly production rate at 1,750
tpd until September 2020, targeting higher ore grades. This resulted in higher per tonne mining, processing and sustaining capital costs
than previously anticipated. The LGJV began ramping up to the 2,500 tpd design capacity beginning in September 2020 and achieved
this goal in late December 2020.

Any prolonged disruption of our or the LGJV'’s operations and closures of facilities resulting from health pandemic, epidemics
communicable diseases or public health crises would delay our current exploration and production timelines and negatively impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations and may heighten the other risk factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section.

The mining industry is very competitive.

The mining industry is very competitive. Much of our competition is from larger, established mining companies with greater
liquidity, greater access to credit and other financial resources, newer or more efficient equipment, lower cost structures, more effective
risk management policies and procedures and/or a greater ability than us to withstand losses. Our competitors may be able to respond
more quickly to new laws or regulations or emerging technologies or devote greater resources to the expansion or efficiency of their
operations than we can. In addition, current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties. Accordingly, it is possible that new competitors or alliances among current and
new competitors may emerge and gain significant market share to our detriment. We may not be able to compete successfully against
current and future competitors, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

We are subject to class action lawsuits.

We are currently subject to class actions lawsuits. See Note 10—Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees in our
consolidated financial statements included in “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information
regarding our assessment of contingencies related to legal matters. See also “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.” Such actions subject us to
significant costs, which may not be adequately covered by insurance, divert management'’s time and attention from our operations and
reduce our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. Our inability to successfully defend against such actions could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Our insurance may not provide adequate coverage.

Our business and operations are subject to a number of risks and hazards, including, but not limited to, adverse environmental
conditions, industrial accidents, labor disputes, unusual or unexpected geological conditions, ground control problems, cave-ins,
changes in the regulatory environment, metallurgical and other processing problems, mechanical equipment failure, facility
performance problems, fires and natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes. These risks could
result in damage to, or destruction of, our mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage,
delays in exploration, mining or processing, increased production costs, asset write downs, monetary losses and legal liability.

Our property and liability insurance may not provide sufficient coverage for losses related to these or other hazards. Insurance
against certain risks, including those related to environmental matters or other hazards resulting from exploration and production, is
generally not available to us or to other companies within the mining industry. Our current insurance coverage may not continue to be
available at economically feasible premiums, or at all. In addition, our business interruption insurance relating to our properties has long
waiting periods before coverage begins. Accordingly, delays in returning to any future production could produce near-term severe
impact to our business. Our director and officer liability insurance may be insufficient to cover losses from claims relating to matters for
which directors and officers are indemnified by us or for which we are determined to be directly responsible, and regardless may be
subject to significant retentions or deductibles, including current class action lawsuits. See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.” Any losses from
these events may cause us to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial
position and results of operations.
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Our business is sensitive to nature and climate conditions.

A number of governments have introduced or are moving to introduce climate change legislation and treaties at the
international, national, state/provincial and local levels. Regulations relating to emission levels (such as carbon taxes) and energy
efficiency are becoming more stringent. If the current regulatory trend continues, this may result in increased costs at some or all of our
business locations. In addition, the physical risks of climate change may also have an adverse effect on our operations. Extreme
weather events have the potential to disrupt our power supply, surface operations and exploration at our mines and may require us to
make additional expenditures to mitigate the impact of such events.

If we are unable to retain key members of management, our business might be harmed.

Our exploration activities and any future development and construction or mining and processing activities depend to a
significant extent on the continued service and performance of our senior management team, including our Chief Executive Officer. We
depend on a relatively small number of key officers, and we currently do not, and do not intend to, have key-person insurance for these
individuals. Departures by members of our senior management could have a negative impact on our business, as we may not be able
to find suitable personnel to replace departing management on a timely basis, or at all. The loss of any member of our senior
management team could impair our ability to execute our business plan and could, therefore, have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the international mining industry is very active and we are facing
increased competition for personnel in all disciplines and areas of operation. There is no assurance that we will be able to attract and
retain personnel to sufficiently staff our development and operating teams.

We may fail to identify attractive acquisition candidates or joint ventures with strategic partners or may fail to successfully
integrate acquired mineral properties or successfully manage joint ventures.

As part of our development strategy, we may acquire additional mineral properties or enter into joint ventures with strategic
partners. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify attractive acquisition or joint venture candidates in the
future or that we will succeed at effectively managing their integration or operation. In particular, significant and increasing competition
exists for mineral acquisition opportunities throughout the world. We face strong competition from other mining companies in
connection with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, metals as well as in entering into joint ventures with
other parties. If the expected synergies from such transactions do not materialize or if we fail to integrate them successfully into our
existing business or operate them successfully with our joint venture partners, or if there are unexpected liabilities, our results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Pursuant to the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement, which governs our and Dowa’s respective rights over the LGJV, we
and Dowa must jointly approve certain major decisions involving the LGJV, including decisions relating to the merger, amalgamation or
restructuring of the LGJV and key strategic decisions, including with respect to expansion, among others. If we are unable to obtain the
consent of Dowa, we may be unable to make decisions relating to the LGJV that we believe are beneficial for its operations, which may
materially and adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

In connection with any future acquisitions or joint ventures, we may incur indebtedness or issue equity securities, resulting in
increased interest expense or dilution of the percentage ownership of existing shareholders. Unprofitable acquisitions or joint ventures,
or additional indebtedness or issuances of securities in connection with such acquisitions or joint ventures, may adversely affect the
price of our common stock and negatively affect our results of operations.
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Our information technology systems may be vulnerable to disruption, which could place our systems at risk from data loss,
operational failure or compromise of confidential information.

We rely on various information technology systems. These systems remain vulnerable to disruption, damage or failure from a
variety of sources, including, but not limited to, errors by employees or contractors, computer viruses, cyberattacks, including phishing,
ransomware, and similar malware, misappropriation of data by outside parties, and various other threats. Techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access to or sabotage our systems are under continuous and rapid evolution, and we may be unable to detect efforts to
disrupt our data and systems in advance. Breaches and unauthorized access carry the potential to cause losses of assets or
production, operational delays, equipment failure that could cause other risks to be realized, inaccurate recordkeeping, or disclosure of
confidential information, any of which could result in financial losses and regulatory or legal exposure, and could have a material
adverse effect on our cash flows, financial condition or results of operations. Although to date we have not experienced any material
losses relating to cyberattacks or other information security breaches, there can be no assurance that we will not incur such losses in
the future. Our risk and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of
these threats. As such threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to modify or enhance any
protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities.

Our directors may have conflicts of interest as a result of their relationships with other mining companies.

Our directors are also directors, officers and shareholders of other companies that are similarly engaged in the business of
developing and exploiting natural resource properties. Consequently, there is a possibility that our directors may be in a position of
conflict in the future.

We are required to establish and maintain proper and effective internal controls over financial reporting. We have identified
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to remediate these deficiencies (or fail to
identify and/or remediate other possible material weaknesses), we may be unable to accurately report our results of
operations, meet our reporting obligations or prevent fraud, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a
result, the value of our common stock.

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Under
standards established by the United States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, a material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other
things, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for fiscal year 2021. This assessment includes disclosure of any
material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal controls over financial reporting. Additionally, we are required to
disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis.

However, for as long as we are an emerging growth company, or a smaller reporting company that is a non-accelerated filer,
our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting pursuant to Section 404(b). At such time, this attestation will be required, our independent registered public accounting firm
may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or
operating. Our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a material weakness in the future. We may need to undertake various
actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff.
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We have disclosed that, in connection with our ongoing review of the mineral reserve reporting errors and our preparation of
our 2021 annual financial statements and our 2022 interim financial statements, we have identified material weaknesses in our internal
controls over financial reporting. We determined that the material weaknesses relate to our failure to design and maintain (i) an effective
control environment commensurate with the financial reporting requirements of a public company in the United States and Canada, and
(ii) effective controls over the assessment of certain key assumptions, inputs and outputs contained in our 2020 Technical Report. We
are continuing to assess the impact of these material weaknesses and whether any other material weaknesses exist. We expect to
provide additional information in our upcoming public reports. On January 9, 2023, we engaged a third-party expert to assist
management in documenting key processes related to our internal control environment, designing and implementing an effective risk
assessment and monitoring program to identify risks of material misstatements and ensuring that the internal controls have been
appropriately designed to address and effectively monitor identified risks.

In connection with our review of the internal control structure related to the preparation of the financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021, we identified the following material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting:

e We did not demonstrate the appropriate tone at the top including failing to design or maintain an effective control
environment commensurate with the financial reporting requirements of a public company in the United States and
Canada. In particular, we did not design control activities to adequately address identified risks or operate at a sufficient
level of precision that would identify material misstatements to our financial statements and did not design and maintain
sufficient formal documentation of accounting policies and procedures to support the operation of key control procedures.

e We failed to design and maintain effective controls relating to our risk assessment process as it pertained to the
assessment of key assumptions, inputs and outputs contained in our 2020 Technical Report.

These control deficiencies did not result in errors that were material to our historical financial statements. However, these
control deficiencies could result in a misstatement in our accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to our
financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, we determined that these control deficiencies constitute
material weaknesses.

We are in the process of implementing measures designed to improve our internal control over financial reporting and
remediate the control deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses described above. To date, we have:

e hired a new executive leadership team, including hiring a new CEO, CFO and senior executive responsible for technical
services, each of which has appropriate experience and has demonstrated a commitment to improving the Company’s
control environment;

e hired additional personnel with accounting and technical expertise, including hiring new accounting staff in connection with
the relocation of the Company’s headquarters to Vancouver;

e enhanced the procedures and functioning of our disclosure committee relating to the appropriate reporting of information
and review and approval of the Company’s public disclosures;

e engaged a new independent third-party subject matter specialist to perform a technical review of the 2022 mineral resource
and mineral reserve estimates; and

e enhanced our procedures, including implementing appropriate controls, relating to management verification of the key
assumptions, inputs and outputs for our Technical Reports.

As noted above we have engaged a third-party expert to assist management in documenting key processes related to our
internal control environment, designing and implementing an effective risk assessment and monitoring program to identify risks of
material misstatements and ensuring that our internal controls have been appropriately designed to address and effectively monitor
identified risks.
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We have incurred costs in connection with our efforts to remediate these material weaknesses, and we may incur additional
costs in the future. Neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm have tested the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully remediate the material weaknesses described
above. Even if we successfully remediate such material weaknesses, we cannot provide any assurance that we will not suffer from
these or other material weaknesses in the future.

Our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a material weakness in the future. We may need to undertake various
actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff. If we
continue to be unable to assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls to the extent required, we could lose
investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could cause the price of our common stock to
decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC.

Risks Related to Government Regulations

The Mexican government, as well as local governments, extensively regulate mining operations, which impose significant
actual and potential costs on us, and future regulation could increase those costs, delay receipt of regulatory refunds or limit
our ability to produce silver and other metals.

The mining industry is subject to increasingly strict regulation by federal, state and local authorities in Mexico, and other
jurisdictions in which we may operate, including in relation to:

e limitations on land use;

e mine permitting and licensing requirements;

e reclamation and restoration of properties after mining is completed;
e management of materials generated by mining operations; and

e storage, treatment and disposal of wastes and hazardous materials.

The liabilities and requirements associated with the laws and regulations related to these and other matters, including with
respect to air emissions, water discharges and other environmental matters, may be costly and time consuming and may restrict, delay
or prevent commencement or continuation of exploration or production operations. There can be no assurance that we have been or
will be at all times in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Failure to comply with, or the assertion that we have failed to
comply with, applicable laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition
of cleanup and site restoration costs and liens, the issuance of injunctions to limit or cease operations, the suspension or revocation of
permits or authorizations and other enforcement measures that could have the effect of limiting or preventing production from our
operations. We may incur material costs and liabilities resulting from claims for damages to property or injury to persons arising from
our operations. If we are pursued for sanctions, costs and liabilities in respect of these matters, our mining operations and, as a result,
our financial performance, financial position and results of operations, could be materially and adversely affected.

Any new legislation or administrative regulations or new judicial interpretations or administrative enforcement of existing laws
and regulations that would further regulate and tax the mining industry may also require us to change operations significantly or incur
increased costs. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of
operations.

Our Mexican properties are subject to regulation by the Political Constitution of the United Mexican States, and are subject to
various legislation in Mexico, including the Mining Law, the Federal Law of Waters, the Federal Labor Law, the Federal Law of Firearms
and Explosives, the General Law on Ecological Balance and Environmental Protection and the Federal Law on Metrology Standards.
Our operations at our Mexican properties also require us to obtain local authorizations and, under the Agrarian Law, to comply with the
uses and customs of communities located within the properties. Mining, environmental and labor authorities may inspect our Mexican
operations on a regular basis and issue various citations and orders when they believe a violation has occurred under the relevant
statute.
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If inspections in Mexico result in an actual or alleged violation, we may be subject to fines, penalties or sanctions, our mining
operations could be subject to temporary or extended closures, and we may be required to incur capital expenditures to recommence
our operations. Any of these actions could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of
operations.

Our operations are subject to additional political, economic and other uncertainties not generally associated with U.S.
operations.

We currently have two properties in Mexico: the LGD, which the LGJV controls, and the Santa Valeria property, which is
owned 100% by us. Our operations are subject to significant risks inherent in exploration and resource extraction by foreign companies
in Mexico. Exploration, development, production and closure activities in Mexico are potentially subject to heightened political,
economic, regulatory and social risks that are beyond our control. These risks include:

e the possible unilateral cancellation or forced re-negotiation of contracts and licenses;

e unfavorable changes in laws and regulations;

e royalty and tax increases;

e claims by governmental entities or indigenous communities;

e expropriation or nationalization of property;

e political instability;

e fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

e social and labor unrest, organized crime, hostage taking, terrorism and violent crime;

e uncertainty regarding the availability of reasonable electric power costs;

e uncertainty regarding the enforceability of contractual rights and judgments; and

e other risks arising out of foreign governmental sovereignty over areas in which our mineral properties are located.

Local economic conditions also can increase costs and adversely affect the security of our operations and the availability of
skilled workers and supplies. Higher incidences of criminal activity and violence in the area of some of our properties could adversely
affect the LGJV's ability to operate in an optimal fashion or at all, and may impose greater risks of theft and higher costs, which would
adversely affect results of operations and cash flows.

Acts of civil disobedience are common in Mexico. In recent years, many mining companies have been targets of actions to
restrict their legally entitled access to mining concessions or property. Such acts of civil disobedience often occur with no warning and
can result in significant direct and indirect costs. We cannot provide assurance that there will be no disruptions to site access in the
future, which could adversely affect our business.

Local and regional meteorological conditions can increase our operating costs and adversely affect our ability to mine and
process ore. Such inclement conditions, including severe precipitation events, extremely high winds or wildfires could directly impact
our surface operations. Northern Mexico is highly dependent upon natural gas from Texas to generate power. Regional inclement
weather conditions in the state of Chihuahua, Mexico, or Texas, could adversely impact our ability to maintain sufficient power from the
national Mexico power grid. The CLG project was designed to allow the mine and processing plant to operate independently. The
project has diesel-powered generators with sufficient capacity to maintain power to the residential camp, surface administrative

facilities and the underground mine but not the processing plant. During such events, our ability to mine and process at design
capacities could become constrained.

33




Table of Contents

The right to export silver-bearing concentrates and other metals may depend on obtaining certain licenses, which could be
delayed or denied at the discretion of the relevant regulatory authorities, or meeting certain quotas. The United States and Mexico
began implementation of the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA) in 2020. The United States and Mexico, and any
other country in which we may operate in the future, could alter their trade agreements, including terminating trade agreements,
instituting economic sanctions on individuals, corporations or countries, and introducing other government regulations affecting trade
between the United States and other countries. It may be time-consuming and expensive for us to alter our operations in order to adapt
to or comply with any such changes. If the United States were to withdraw from or materially modify international trade agreements to
which it is a party, or if other countries imposed or increased tariffs on the minerals we may extract in the future, the costs of such
products could increase significantly. Any of these conditions could lead to lower productivity and higher costs, which would adversely
affect our financial performance, financial position and results of operations. Generally, our operations may be affected in varying
degrees by changing government regulations in the United States and/or Mexico with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on
production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, importation of products and supplies, income and other taxes, royalties,
the repatriation of profits, expropriation of mineral property, foreign investment, maintenance of concessions, licenses, approvals and
permit, environmental matters, land use, land claims of local indigenous people and workplace safety.

Such developments could require us to curtail or terminate operations at our mineral properties in Mexico, incur significant
costs to meet newly imposed environmental or other standards, pay greater royalties or higher prices for labor or services and
recognize higher taxes, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
Furthermore, failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices could result in loss, reduction or expropriation
of licenses, or the imposition of additional local or foreign parties as joint venture partners with carried or other interests.

We continue to monitor developments and policies in Mexico and assess the impact thereof on our operations; however, such
developments cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are required to obtain, maintain and renew environmental, construction and mining permits, which is often a costly and
time-consuming process and may ultimately not be possible.

Mining companies, including ours, need many environmental, construction and mining permits, each of which can be time
consuming and costly to obtain, maintain and renew. In connection with our current and future operations, we must obtain and maintain
a number of permits that impose strict conditions, requirements and obligations, including those relating to various environmental and
health and safety matters. To obtain, maintain and renew certain permits, we have been and may in the future be required to conduct
environmental studies, and make associated presentations to governmental authorities, pertaining to the potential impact of our current
and future operations upon the environment and to take steps to avoid or mitigate those impacts. Permit terms and conditions can
impose restrictions on how we conduct our operations and limit our flexibility in developing our mineral properties. Many of our permits
are subject to renewal from time to time, and applications for renewal may be denied or the renewed permits may contain more
restrictive conditions than our existing permits, including those governing impacts on the environment. We may be required to obtain
new permits to expand our operations, and the grant of such permits may be subject to an expansive governmental review of our
operations. We may not be successful in obtaining such permits, which could prevent us from commencing, continuing or expanding
operations or otherwise adversely affect our business. Renewal of existing permits or obtaining new permits may be more difficult if we
are not able to comply with our existing permits. Applications for permits, permit area expansions and permit renewals can also be
subject to challenge by interested parties, which can delay or prevent receipt of needed permits. The permitting process can vary by
jurisdiction in terms of its complexity and likely outcomes. The applicable laws and regulations, and the related judicial interpretations
and enforcement policies, change frequently, which can make it difficult for us to obtain and renew permits and to comply with
applicable requirements. Accordingly, permits required for our operations may not be issued, maintained or renewed in a timely fashion
or at all, may be issued or renewed upon conditions that restrict our ability to conduct our operations economically, or may be
subsequently revoked. Any such failure to obtain, maintain or renew permits, or other permitting delays or conditions, including in
connection with any environmental impact analyses, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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In regard to the CLG, the LGD and other Mexican projects, Mexico has adopted laws and guidelines for environmental
permitting that are similar to those in effect in the United States and South American countries. We are currently operating under
permits regulating mining, processing, use of explosives, water use and discharge and surface disturbance in relation to the LGD and
the Santa Valeria property. We will be required to apply for corresponding authorizations prior to any production at our other Mexican
properties and there can be no certainty as to whether, or the terms under which, such authorizations will be granted or renewed. Any
failure to obtain authorizations and permits, or other authorization or permitting delays or conditions, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to environmental and health and safety laws, regulations and permits that may subject us to material costs,
liabilities and obligations.

We are subject to environmental laws, regulations and permits in the various jurisdictions in which we operate, including those
relating to, among other things, the removal and extraction of natural resources, the emission and discharge of materials into the
environment, including plant and wildlife protection, remediation of soil and groundwater contamination, reclamation and closure of
properties, including tailings and waste storage facilities, groundwater quality and availability, and the handling, storage, transport and
disposal of wastes and hazardous materials. Pursuant to such requirements, we may be subject to inspections or reviews by
governmental authorities. Failure to comply with these environmental requirements may expose us to litigation, fines or other sanctions,
including the revocation of permits and suspension of operations. We expect to continue to incur significant capital and other
compliance costs related to such requirements. These laws, regulations and permits, and the enforcement and interpretation thereof,
change frequently and generally have become more stringent over time. If our noncompliance with such regulations were to result in a
release of hazardous materials into the environment, such as soil or groundwater, we could be required to remediate such
contamination, which could be costly. Moreover, noncompliance could subject us to private claims for property damage or personal
injury based on exposure to hazardous materials or unsafe working conditions. In addition, changes in applicable requirements or
stricter interpretation of existing requirements may result in costly compliance requirements or otherwise subject us to future liabilities.
The occurrence of any of the foregoing, as well as any new environmental, health and safety laws and regulations applicable to our
business or stricter interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and regulations, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We could be liable for any environmental contamination at, under or released from our or our predecessors’ currently or
formerly owned or operated properties or third-party waste disposal sites. Certain environmental laws impose joint and several strict
liability for releases of hazardous substances at such properties or sites, without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct. A
generator of waste can be held responsible for contamination resulting from the treatment or disposal of such waste at any offsite
location (such as a landfill), regardless of whether the generator arranged for the treatment or disposal of the waste in compliance with
applicable laws. Costs associated with liability for removal or remediation of contamination or damage to natural resources could be
substantial and liability under these laws may attach without regard to whether the responsible party knew of, or was responsible for,
the presence of the contaminants. Accordingly, we may be held responsible for more than our share of the contamination or other
damages, up to and including the entire amount of such damages. In addition to potentially significant investigation and remediation
costs, such matters can give rise to claims from governmental authorities and other third parties, including for orders, inspections, fines
or penalties, natural resource damages, personal injury, property damage, toxic torts and other damages.

Our costs, liabilities and obligations relating to environmental matters could have a material adverse effect on our financial
performance, financial position and results of operations.

We may be responsible for anti-corruption and anti-bribery law violations.

Our operations are governed by, and involve interactions with, various levels of government in foreign countries. We are
required to comply with anticorruption and antibribery laws, including the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada) and the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (together, the “Corruption Legislation ") and similar laws in Mexico. These laws generally prohibit
companies and company employees from engaging in bribery or other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business. The Corruption Legislation also requires companies to maintain accurate books and records and
internal controls. Because our interests are located in Mexico, there is a risk of potential Corruption Legislation violations.

35




Table of Contents

In recent years, there has been a general increase in both the frequency of enforcement and the severity of penalties under
such laws, resulting in greater scrutiny and punishment to companies convicted of violating anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws. A
company may be found liable for violations by not only its employees, but also by its contractors and third-party agents. Our internal
procedures and programs may not always be effective in ensuring that we, our employees, contractors or third-party agents will comply
strictly with all such applicable laws. If we become subject to an enforcement action or we are found to be in violation of such laws, this
may have a material adverse effect on our reputation and may possibly result in significant penalties or sanctions, and may have a
material adverse effect on our cash flows, financial condition or results of operations.
We may be required by human rights laws to take actions that delay our operations or the advancement of our projects.

Various international and national laws, codes, resolutions, conventions, guidelines and other materials relate to human rights
(including rights with respect to health and safety and the environment surrounding our operations). Many of these materials impose
obligations on government and companies to respect human rights. Some mandate that governments consult with communities
surrounding our projects regarding government actions that may affect local stakeholders, including actions to approve or grant mining
rights or permits. The obligations of government and private parties under the various international and national materials pertaining to
human rights continue to evolve and be defined. One or more groups of people may oppose our current and future operations or further
development or new development of our projects or operations. Such opposition may be directed through legal or administrative
proceedings or expressed in manifestations such as protests, roadblocks or other forms of public expression against our activities, and
may have a negative impact on our reputation. Opposition by such groups to our operations may require modification of, or preclude the
operation or development of, our projects or may require us to enter into agreements with such groups or local governments with
respect to our projects, in some cases causing considerable delays to the advancement of our projects.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile. Some of the factors that may cause the
market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

e failure to identify mineral reserves at our properties;
e failure to achieve or continue production at our mineral properties;
e actual or anticipated changes in the price of silver and base metal by-products;

e fluctuations in our quarterly and annual financial results or the quarterly and annual financial results of companies
perceived to be similar to us;

e changes in market valuations of similar companies;

e success or failure of competitor mining companies;

e changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of debt;

e sales of large blocks of our common stock;

e announcements by us or our competitors of significant developments, contracts, acquisitions or strategic alliances;
e changes in regulatory requirements and the political climate in the United States, Mexico, Canada or all;

e litigation and/or investigations involving our Company, our general industry or both;

e additions or departures of key personnel;

e investors’ general perception of us, including any perception of misuse of sensitive information;
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e changes in general economic, industry and market conditions;

e accidents at mining properties, whether owned by us or otherwise;
e natural disasters, terrorist attacks and acts of war; and

e our ability to control our costs.

If the market for stocks in our industry, or the stock market in general, experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading
price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition or results of operations. These and
other factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which may limit or prevent
investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. In the
past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the
company that issued the stock.

If any of the foregoing occurs it could cause our stock price to fall and may expose us to lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful,
could be both costly to defend against and a distraction to management.

Our anti-takeover defense provisions may cause our common stock to trade at market prices lower than it might absent such
provisions.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue blank check preferred stock. Additionally, our Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws contain several provisions that may make it more difficult or expensive
for a third party to acquire control of us without the approval of our Board of Directors. These include provisions setting forth advance
notice procedures for shareholders’ nominations of directors and proposals of topics for consideration at meetings of shareholders,
provisions restricting shareholders from calling a special meeting of shareholders or requiring one to be called, provisions limiting the
ability of shareholders to act by written consent and provisions requiring a 66.67% shareholder vote to amend our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws. These provisions may delay, prevent or deter a merger,
acquisition, tender offer, proxy contest or other transaction that might otherwise result in our shareholders receiving a premium over the
market price for their common stock. In addition, these provisions may cause our common stock to trade at a market price lower than it
might absent such provisions.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could cause the market price of our common stock to drop
significantly.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

Certain stockholders have rights, subject to specified conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their
shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We have also registered
all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans, which can be freely sold in the public market upon
issuance, subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the
public market, or the perception in the market that holder of a large number of shares intends to sell shares, could cause the market
price of our common stock to drop significantly and make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of our
common stock or other securities.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, shareholders’ ability to achieve a
return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock. We do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our
common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future earnings, if any, to finance our business. The payment
of any future dividends, if any, will be determined by our Board of Directors in light of conditions then existing, including our earnings,
financial condition and capital requirements, business conditions, growth opportunities, corporate law requirements and other factors. In
addition, our Credit Facility contains, and any of our future contractual arrangements may contain, restrictions on our ability to pay cash
dividends on our capital stock.
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Electrum and its affiliates and MERS have a substantial degree of influence over us, which could delay or prevent a change of
corporate control or result in the entrenchment of our management and/or Board of Directors.

As of February 23, 2023, the Electrum Group, LLC and its affiliates (collectively, “Electrum”) and the Municipal Employees’
Retirement System of Michigan (“MERS”) beneficially own approximately 32% and 9% of our outstanding common stock, respectively.
We have entered into a shareholder’s agreement with Electrum and MERS pursuant to which Electrum and MERS have certain
director nomination rights. The shareholders agreement also provides that Electrum approval must be obtained prior to us engaging in
certain corporate actions. As a result, Electrum has significant influence over our management and affairs and, if Electrum owns at least
35% of our outstanding common stock, will have approval rights over certain corporate actions, including, among others, any merger,
consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, the incurrence of more than $100 million of indebtedness and the issuance
of more than $100 million of equity securities.

The concentration of ownership and our shareholders agreement may harm the market price of our common stock by, among
other things:

e delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control, even at a per share price that is in excess of the then current price of
our common stock;

e impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us, even at a per share price that is in
excess of the then current price of our common stock; or

e discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, even at a per
share price that is in excess of the then-current price of our common stock.

We are an “emerging growth company” and a smaller reporting company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to us will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions
from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including,
but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (“the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less
attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” which
would allow us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements including reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We would also be exempt from the
requirement to obtain an external audit on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting provided in Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act. These exemptions and reduced disclosures in our SEC filings due to our status as a smaller reporting company
mean our auditors do not review our internal control over financial reporting and may make it harder for investors to analyze our results
of operations and financial prospects. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on
these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock prices may be more volatile.
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Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and shareholders agreement contain a provision renouncing our
interest and expectancy in certain corporate opportunities.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and shareholders agreement provide for the allocation of certain
corporate opportunities between us and Electrum and MERS. Under these provisions, neither Electrum nor MERS, their affiliates and
subsidiaries, nor any of their officers, directors, agents, stockholders, members or partners will have any duty to refrain from engaging,
directly or indirectly, in the same business activities or similar business activities or lines of business in which we operate. For instance,
a director of our Company who is not also our employee and also serves as a director, officer or employee of Electrum or MERS or any
of their subsidiaries or affiliates may pursue certain acquisition or other opportunities that may be complementary to our business and,
as a result, such acquisition or other opportunities may not be available to us. These potential conflicts of interest could have a material
adverse effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of operations if attractive corporate opportunities are allocated
by Electrum or MERS to themselves or their subsidiaries or affiliates instead of to us.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the
federal district courts of the United States are the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or employees.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the
exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law:

e any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

e any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

e any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law; and
e any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

The foregoing provision does not apply to claims under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any claim for which the U.S.
federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation further provides that the federal
district courts of the United States will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation also provides that any person or entity purchasing or otherwise
acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock will be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to these choice
of forum provisions. These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors,
officers, and other employees, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws
and the rules and regulations thereunder.

While Delaware courts have determined that choice of forum provisions are facially valid, it is possible that a court of law in
another jurisdiction could rule that the choice of forum provisions contained in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
are inapplicable or unenforceable if they are challenged in a proceeding or otherwise. If a court were to find the choice of forum
provision in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.
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General Risk Factors

We will continue to incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time as a result of operating as a
public company.

As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a
private company. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and are required to comply with the applicable
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and
regulations of the SEC, NYSE and TSX, including the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls,
changes in corporate governance practices and required filing of annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and
results of operations. Compliance with these requirements has increased and will continue to increase our legal and financial
compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. In addition, we expect that our management and other
personnel will need to divert attention from operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to these public company
requirements. In particular, we expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring
compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will increase when we are no longer an emerging
growth company. We have hired additional accounting personnel and we may need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with
appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge and may need to incur additional costs to ensure we meet
the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

If securities or industry analysts do not continue to publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an
adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish
about us or our business. If analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business model or our stock performance, or if our results of operations fail to meet the expectations of analysts, the price of our
common stock would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn might cause the price of our common stock and trading volume to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

The technical information appearing below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K was derived from the Los Gatos Technical Report
dated November 10, 2022 and updated with additional information up to the date of this Form 10-K where required.

The CLG

The CLG, located in Chihuahua, Mexico is within the LGD, described below. The CLG mineral deposit contains silver, zinc,
lead, gold and copper. The deposit that is being mined, and the other deposits known in the area, are considered to be examples of
epithermal vein deposits. The economic mineralization at CLG is characterized by silver, lead, zinc and copper sulfides with small
amounts of gold. The quartz and calcite veins also contain fluorite, manganese and barite.

Site infrastructure consists of a polymetallic mine and processing facility that currently processes over 2,800 tpd of mined
material. The processing methodology used for the CLG's silver-lead-zinc deposit is conventional sequential silver-lead-zinc flotation
processing, which includes a grinding circuit, flotation circuit, concentrate and tailing thickeners, concentrate loadout and tailings
detoxification. Historically, all tailings were disposed of in the tailings storage facility. With the construction and commissioning of a
paste backfill plant completed in December 2022, it is expected that approximately 40% of the final tailings will now be pumped to the
paste backfill plant and be used to back fill previously mined stopes and the remaining 60% will be deposited in the tailings storage
facility. In addition, a new leaching plant is under construction which is designed to further reduce fluorine levels in zinc concentrates.
The underground mine and associated life of mine production plans support a steady-state production rate of 2,900 tpd of mined
material. MPR has arranged permissions to enter and perform exploration and mining activities on several land properties in the project
area, including all surface rights necessary to access the operating mine and processing and tailings facilities.
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In addition to the CLG processing plant and other facilities, the LGJV has a community office located in nearby San José del
Sitio, a community of approximately 600 persons, with electrical and water services, an elementary school and basic health services.
Water resources in the region are mostly related to the Conchos River Basin, which includes the San Pedro, San Francisco de Borja
and Satevo River Sub-Basins. Locally, there are significant amounts of water, with shallow groundwater recorded from most exploration
drilling. Other infrastructure at CLG includes administration offices, mine dry, fuel storage, mine maintenance workshop, jaw crushing
station, dome-covered crushed ore stockpile, process plant tailing storage facility, electrical substation, 66 kilometers of power line
connecting high voltage to the grid substation at San Francisco de Borja, assay lab, mill maintenance workshop, dewatering wells and
water cooling and distribution system, and residential camps and associated infrastructure. Power to the site is supplied via a 115 kV
utility transmission line. This originates from the San Francisco de Borja substation in Satevé (Chihuahua), where a 115 kV connection
has recently been installed. In early 2022, the LGJV reached an agreement with a local energy supplier to provide 100% of CLG's
electrical power requirements from renewable energy sources, enabling the CLG to significantly reduce its dependency on fossil fuels
and materially reducing the mine’s carbon footprint. All raw water to meet potable and non-potable water demand is supplied by
groundwater pumped from dewatering wells. The well water is cooled to below 40°C prior to use. Sewage water treatment systems
were included to handle waste as required on the project.

We are committed to safety at the CLG. The CLG is built to higher environmental standards than required by Mexican law, with
a fully lined tailings impoundment facility, enclosure of the conveyors and an ore storage dome. The CLG also has state-of-the-art
rescue capsules to hoist personnel to surface.

Effective as of the date of the Los Gatos Technical Report, the CLG is expected to produce, on average, 7.4 million ounces of
silver annually at a low all-in sustaining cost through the LOM. In 2022, the CLG had record silver production of 10.3 million ounces, up
36% from 7.6 million ounces in 2021 and 4.2 million ounces in 2020. Zinc, lead and gold production were 60.7 million pounds, 43.9
million pounds, and 5.3 thousand ounces, respectively. Compared to 2021 zinc production increased by 22% from 49.6 million pounds,
lead production by 10% from 39.8 million pounds, and gold production by 2% from 5.2 thousand ounces. In 2020, zinc production was
34.2 million pounds, lead production was 27.4 million pounds and gold 4.9 thousand ounces.

The LGD

The LGD covers approximately 103,087 hectares in the south-central part of the State of Chihuahua in northern Mexico, within
the municipality of Satevé. The LGD is roughly centered on Latitude 27° 34’ 17" N, Longitude 106° 21’ 33" W, near the town of San
José del Sitio. The LGD is located approximately 120 kilometers south of the state capital of Chihuahua City and approximately 100
kilometers northwest of the mining city of Hidalgo del Parral. The LGD is made up of a series of 17 claim titles. These concessions are
held by MPR. The concessions have a period of validity that ranges between the years 2054 and 2062. MPR holds the rights to two
concessions (comprising approximately 20,000 hectares) subject to the terms of an agreement with the original holder of the
concession. MPR has purchased surface lands covering the known extents of the CLG, and Esther Resource areas, totaling 5,479
hectares.
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Location of LGD
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Royalty Agreement - La Cuesta International S.A. de C.V. (La Cuesta)

The LGJV is subject to the terms of an exploration, exploitation and unilateral promise of assignment of rights agreement
between La Cuesta International S.A. de C.V. and MPR dated May 4, 2006. The LGJV is required to pay a production royalty of a) 2%
net smelter return on production from the concession until all payments reach $10 million and b) 0.5% net smelter return on production
from the concession after total payments have reached $10 million and c) 0.5% net smelter return on production from other property
within a one-kilometer boundary of the Los Gatos concession. After total payments reach $15 million, the Los Gatos concession
ownership will be transferred to the LGJV. The agreement has no expiration date; however, the LGJV may terminate the agreement
upon a 30-day notice. The agreement was revised in 2019 to allow a portion of production royalty payments to be deferred. Under the
terms of the revised agreement, the LGJV was to pay $500,000 quarterly through 2021, while incurring interest at 4.5% annually on the
outstanding balance, with the balance of the production royalty due in the first quarter of 2022. The agreement was revised further in
September 2021, which allowed for payment of the production royalty due and elimination of the interest on the unpaid portion of the
production royalty. Following the payment of the balance due in September 2021, the LGJV made its first quarterly payment of the
production royalty in October 2021. In May 2022 the production royalty was reduced to 0.5% after total payments reached $10 million.
The LGJV paid $10.8 million through January 31, 2023.

Partner Agreement with Dowa

The LGD and the CLG are owned and operated through the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement. Pursuant to this
agreement, “Major Decisions” require Dowa’s consent. “Major Decisions” include decisions in respect of annual budgets, project
financing, capital projects, expansions, major expenditures and other matters. Therefore, despite holding majority equity interest in the
LGJV, we do not exercise control over the LGJV. On March 11, 2021, we repurchased an approximate 18.5% interest in the LGJV from
Dowa, increasing our ownership to 70.0%.

On May 30, 2019, in connection with the memorandum of understanding dated April 16, 2019, we entered into a priority
distribution agreement with MPR, OSJ and Dowa, pursuant to which we directed the LGJV to contribute dividend payments to an
escrow account until an aggregate amount equal to $20 million has been deposited into the account, which was payable to Dowa as a
priority dividend. No dividends were declared as of December 31, 2021.

On March 17, 2022, we entered into a definitive agreement with Dowa to build and operate a leaching plant to reduce fluorine
levels in zinc concentrates produced at an expected construction cost of $6 million. As part of the agreement, the initial payment
towards the $20 million priority payment due to Dowa under the partner’s priority distribution agreement was reduced to $10.3 million,
after which each partner will retain its pro rata share of any dividends. The reduced priority dividend amount reflects a portion of both
the construction and future estimated operating costs of the leaching plant and is dependent on the successful construction and
operation of the leaching plant, which is expected to be commissioned in the first half of 2023. Should the leaching plant construction
not be completed, or the leaching plant not operate according to certain parameters during the first five years, portions of the $9.7
million priority dividend reduction could be reinstated.

In April 2022, the LGJV paid its first dividend of $20 million to its partners. After withholding taxes and payment of the initial
$10.3 million priority dividend to Dowa, we received $6 million. In July 2022 and November 2022, the LGJV paid additional dividends in
the amount of $15 million and $20 million, respectively, to its partners. The Company’s share, after withholding taxes, was $10 million
and $13.3 million, respectively, for the July 2022 and November 2022 dividend payments.

Under the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement Dowa has the right to purchase 100% of the zinc concentrate produced
from the CLG, at rates negotiated in good faith and agreed between Dowa and us taking into consideration the then prevailing market
price based on benchmark terms as reported in industry publications such as Brook Hunt, CRU or Metal Bulletin of London, and to
consume or resell or deliver such concentrates for processing by any Dowa affiliate or third party.

Exploration
Exploration on the LGD property has included geophysical analysis, surface mapping, rock and soil sampling and drilling. As of
January 1, 2023, 1,879 drill holes relevant to the LGJV property had been completed by MPR, for a total of 449,474 meters drilled.

Drilling has been dominantly by conventional diamond drilling techniques. Surface drillholes are commonly HQ or NQ in diameter.
Underground drilling is NQ or LTK48 (35mm) diameter.
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As noted above, our exploration strategy for the CLG and the LGD which entails a focus on two key areas: an exposed section

of andesite running from the northwest boundary of the district to Esther and the CLG, and a large basin southeast of the CLG
underlain by andesite which we anticipate may contain other large district-scale fault structures conducive to large deposits. We are
currently prioritizing exploration efforts on areas most proximate to the CLG; areas with the highest potential to leverage existing
surface and underground infrastructure.

Mineral Reserves and Resources

The table below summarizes the mineral reserve estimates at the CLG as of July 1, 2022, which includes dilution and recovery

factors.
CLG Mineral Reserve Estimates as of July 1, 2022
Reserve Ag Zn Pb Au Au
Classification Mt (glt) (%) (%) (git) Ag (Moz) Zn (Mibs) Pb (Mibs) (koz)

Proven 2.32 309 4.33 2.20 0.31 23.1 221.6 112.3 23.0
Probable 3.75 204 4.57 211 0.24 24.6 377.4 174.4 28.7
Proven and

Probable Reserve 6.07 244 4.48 2.14 0.27 47.7 599.1 286.7 51.8
1. Mineral Reserves are reported on a 100% basis and exclude all Mineral Reserve material mined prior to July 1, 2022.
2. Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.
3. Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and numbers may not sum exactly.
4. Values are inclusive of mining recovery and dilution. Values are determined as of delivery to the mill and therefore not inclusive of

10.

11.

milling recoveries.

Mineral Reserves are reported within stope shapes using a variable cut-off basis with a Ag price of US$22/0z, Zn price of
US$1.20/Ib, Pb price of US$0.90/Ib and Au price of US$1,700/0z. The metal prices used for the Mineral Reserves are based on the
three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term analyst consensus estimates for the LOM.

The Mineral Reserve is reported on a fully diluted basis defined by mining method, stope geometry and ground conditions.
Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:

0 Znand Pb, CM (MIb) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6

o Agand Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035 ; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)

The SEC definitions for Mineral Reserves in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Reserve classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

Mineral Reserves are those parts of Mineral Resources which, after the application of all mining factors, result in an estimated
tonnage and grade which, in the opinion of the Qualified Person(s) making the estimates, is the basis of an economically viable
project after taking account of all relevant Modifying Factors. Mineral Reserves are inclusive of diluting material that will be mined in
conjunction with the Mineral Reserves and delivered to the treatment plant or equivalent facility.

Proven Reserves include a 15.4-kt stockpile at June 30, 2022. The in-situ Reserve is 6,052 kt. Rounding and significant figures may
result in apparent summation differences between tonnes and grade.

The Mineral Reserve estimates were prepared by Mr. Paul Gauthier, P.Eng. an employee of Golder Associates who is the
independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Reserve estimates.
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The table below summarizes the mineral resource estimates at the CLG and the Esther deposits as of July 1, 2022.
Los Gatos District Mineral Resource Estimates Exclusive of Mineral Reserves as of July 1, 2022

CLG Mineral Resource Estimate

Zn Pb
Resource Classification Mt Ag (glt) (%) (%) Au (glt) Ag (Moz) Zn (Mibs) Pb (Mibs) Au (koz)
Measured 0.38 151 2.63 1.49 0.26 1.9 221 12.6 3.2
Indicated 1.55 82 3.11 1.57 0.17 4.1 106.4 53.8 8.6
Measured and
Indicated 1.94 96 3.01 1.56 0.19 6.0 128.5 66.4 11.8
Inferred 2.09 113 4.30 2.45 0.20 7.6 198.4 113.1 13.3

1. Mineral Resources are reported on a 100% basis and are exclusive of Mineral Reserves.

2. Mineral Resources, which are not Mineral Reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability. The estimate of Mineral
Resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, marketing, or other relevant issues.

3. The SEC definitions for Mineral Resources in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Resource classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

4. The quantity and grade of reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this estimation are uncertain in nature and there has been

insufficient exploration to define these Inferred Mineral Resources as an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource. It is uncertain if

further exploration will result in upgrading Inferred Mineral Resources to an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource category.

Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.

Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and numbers may not sum exactly.

Mineral Resources exclude all Mineral Resource material mined prior to July 1, 2022.

Mineral Resources are reported within stope shapes using a $42/tonne or $52/tonne NSR cut-off basis depending on mining

method with an Ag price of $22/0z, Zn price of $1.20/Ib, Pb price of $0.90/Ib and Au price of $1,700/0z. The metal prices used for

the Mineral Resource are based on the three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term analyst consensus
estimates for the LOM.

9. No dilution was applied to the Mineral Resource.

10. Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:

0 Znand Pb, CM (Mlb) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6
0 Agand Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)

11. The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by Ronald Turner, MAusIMM(CP) an employee of Golder Associates who is the

independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Resource estimates.

©No GO

Esther Mineral Resource Estimate

Zn Pb
Resource Classification Mt Ag (glt) (%) (%) Au (glt) Ag (Moz) Zn (Mlbs) Pb (Mlbs) Au (koz)
Indicated 0.28 122 4.30 2.17 0.14 1.1 26.8 13.6 1.2
Inferred 1.20 133 3.69 1.53 0.09 5.1 98.0 40.6 3.3

1. Mineral Resources are reported on a 100% basis.

2. Mineral Resources, which are not Mineral Reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability. The estimate of Mineral
Resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, marketing, or other relevant issues.

3. The SEC definitions for Mineral Resources in S-K 1300 were used for Mineral Resource classification which are consistent with
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(CIM (2014) definitions).

4. The quantity and grade of reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this estimation are uncertain in nature and there has been
insufficient exploration to define these Inferred Mineral Resources as an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource. It is uncertain if
further exploration will result in upgrading Inferred Mineral Resources to an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource category.

5. Specific gravity has been assumed on a dry basis.

6. Tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate and numbers may not sum exactly.
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7. Mineral Resources are reported within stope shapes using a $52/tonne NSR cut-off basis assuming processing recoveries
equivalent to CLG with an Ag price of $22/0z, Zn price of $1.20/Ib, Pb price of $0.90/Ib and Au price of $1,700/0z. The metal prices
used for the Mineral Resource are based on the three-year trailing prices from June 2019 to June 2020 and long-term analyst
consensus estimates for the LOM. There is a portion of the Esther deposit that is oxidized and metallurgical test work is required to
define processing recoveries.

8. No dilution was applied to the Mineral Resource.

9. Contained Metal (CM) is calculated as follows:

0 Znand Pb, CM (MIb) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (%) / 100 * 2204.6
0 Ag and Au, CM (Moz) = Tonnage (Mt) * Grade (g/t) / 31.1035 ; multiply Au CM (Moz) by 1000 to obtain Au CM (koz)

10. The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by Ronald Turner, MAusIMM(CP) an employee of Golder Associates who is the

independent Qualified Person for these Mineral Resource estimates.

Internal Controls

Exploration and development drilling programs are performed using Industry Standard quality control methods for drilling,
sampling, and analytical procedures. Standard operating procedure manuals for geology logging, sampling, and assaying are kept at
the operations and updated as required. A secure sample chain-of-custody is established to promote the security of samples during
transport from the projects to the analytical facilities. Sample preparation and analytical procedures are Industry Standard methods for
the metals of interest.

Sample batches sent for analysis are controlled by a system of reference samples of known grade inserted into the sample
stream and other control samples. Coarse and fine ‘blank,’ sterile, sample materials are used to monitor contamination at the sample
preparation and analytical stages; Standard Reference Materials (“SRM”) of known grades are used to measure accuracy of the
analytical results; and pulp duplicate samples and field duplicate samples are used to monitor precision of the analytical results. Blanks
and SRM are inserted according to the analytical batch size and overall number of samples but normally result in a 1:10 to 1:20
insertion rate.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are, from time to time, involved in legal proceedings of a nature considered normal to our business. We believe that other
than as set out below in this Item none of the litigation in which we are currently involved, or have been involved since the beginning of
our most recently completed financial year, individually or in the aggregate, is material to or potentially material to our consolidated
financial condition, cash flows or results of operations.

On February 22, 2022, a purported Company stockholder filed a putative class action lawsuit in the United States District Court
for the District of Colorado against the Company, certain of our former officers, and several directors. An amended complaint was filed
on August 15, 2022. The amended complaint, allegedly brought on behalf of certain purchasers of the Company’s common stock and
certain traders of call and put options on the Company’s common stock from December 9, 2020 through January 25, 2022, seeks,
among other things, damages, costs, and expenses, and asserts claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 as well as Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. The amended complaint alleges that certain individual defendants
and the Company, pursuant to the control and authority of the individual defendants, made false and misleading statements and/or
omitted certain material information regarding the mineral resources and reserves at the Cerro Los Gatos mine. The Company and all
defendants filed a motion to dismiss this action on October 14, 2022. That motion was fully briefed as of December 23, 2022.

By Notice of Action issued February 9, 2022 and subsequent Statement of Claim dated March 11, 2022 |zabela Przybylska
commenced a putative class action against the Company, certain of its former officers and directors, and others in the Ontario Superior
Court of Justice on behalf of a purported class of all persons or entities, wherever they may reside or be domiciled, who acquired
securities of the Company in both the primary and secondary markets during the period from October 28, 2020 until January 25, 2022.
The action asserts claims under Canadian securities legislation and at common law and seeks unspecified monetary damages and
other relief in respect of allegations the defendants made false and misleading statements and omitted material information regarding
the mineral resources and reserves of the Company. The plaintiff filed motion materials for leave to proceed in respect of her statutory
claims and for class certification on March 3, 2023. The court has tentatively set dates in late March of 2024 for the hearing of the
plaintiff's motions.
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There can be no assurance that any of the foregoing matters individually or in aggregate will not result in outcomes that are
materially adverse for us.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

The provisions related to Item 4 are currently inapplicable to the Company as we have no operating properties in the United
States.
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PARTII
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange under the ticker
symbol “GATO".

Holders

On February 23, 2023, there were 69,162,223 outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock which were held by
approximately 39 stockholders of record. The actual number of holders of the Company’s common stock is greater than the number of
record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers or other
nominees. The number of holders of record present here also do not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other
entities.

Dividends

The Company has not declared any dividends since incorporation and does not anticipate that it will do so in the foreseeable
future. The present policy of the Company is to retain earnings for use in its operations and expansion of its business. Payment of any
dividends will depend upon the Company’s future earnings, if any, the Company’s financial condition, and other factors as deemed
relevant by the Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, our Credit Facility contains, and any of our future contractual arrangements
may contain, restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The Company has an equity compensation plan under which options and shares of the Company’s common stock are
authorized for grant or issuance as compensation to eligible employees, consultants, and members of the Board of Directors. The
Company'’s stockholders have approved these plans. Please refer to Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further information about the material terms
of the Company'’s equity compensation plans. The following table is a summary of the shares of common stock authorized for issuance
under equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2022:

(@) (b) (c)
Number of securities
remaining available for future

Number of securities to Weighted-average issuance under equity
be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plans
of outstanding options outstanding options (excluding securities
Plan Category and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders: — — —
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders:
Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (1)
Deferred stock units(2 146,796 N/A
Stock options(3) 1,733,923 $ 12.57
Performance share units) 42,893 N/A
Total for Equity Incentive Compensation Plan 1,923,612 $ — 12,314,203

(1) In October 2020, the Board of Directors approved the Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) to authorize the
issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, deferred stock units, cash awards and performance awards to
NEOs, other employees, consultants and non-employee directors.

(2) DSUs do not have exercise prices associated with them, but rather a fair value that equaled the Company’s common stock fair
value on grant date. The weighted-average per unit fair value for the outstanding DSUs is $10.88.

(3) The Company’s stock options have a contractual term of 10 years and entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Company’s
common stock.
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(4) Assumes vesting at 100% of PSU grant amount that we may elect to issue in the form of common shares upon settlement of PSUs
granted under the LTIP. The PSUs are based on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to a peer group over a
three-year performance period. The number of PSUs vested can range from 0% to 200% of the initial award granted, depending on
the TSR percentile rank of the Company relative to the peer group.

Dividends

The Company has not declared any dividends since incorporation and does not anticipate that it will do so in the foreseeable
future. The present policy of the Company is to retain earnings for use in its operations and expansion of its business. Payment of any
dividends will depend upon the Company’s future earnings, if any, the Company’s financial condition, and other factors as deemed
relevant by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not issue any shares of its common stock or other equity
securities that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Use of Proceeds

On October 27, 2020, the SEC declared effective the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333- 249224). The
managing underwriters for this offering were BMO Capital Markets Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC.
Pursuant to this registration statement, we offered and sold 24,644,500 shares of common stock, including 3,214,500 shares of
common stock pursuant to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a public offering price of
$7.00 per share. The net proceeds from this offering to us, after deducting underwriting discount and total offering expenses, were
$155.8 million. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has used all of the net proceeds from this offering, including (i) $71.6 million
for the repurchase of the 18.5% interest in the LGJV from Dowa; (ii) $42 million for the capital contribution to the LGJV to extinguish the
Company’s 70% share of the WCF; (iii) $19.8 million for working capital and general corporate purposes and $22.4 million to fund its
portion to settle the amounts outstanding of the Term Loan.

On July 15, 2021, the SEC declared effective the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-257843). The
managing underwriters for this offering were BMO Capital Markets Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC.
Pursuant to this registration statement, we offered and sold 9,216,962 shares of common stock and the selling stockholders offered and
sold 2,580,337 shares of common stock, including 286,962 shares of common stock by us and 80,337 shares of common stock by the
selling stockholders pursuant to the partial exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a public offering price
of $14.00 per share. The net proceeds from this offering to us, after deducting underwriting discount and total offering expenses, was
$123 million. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has used all of the net proceeds from this offering to fund its 70% portion to
repay the Term Loan.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no purchases made by or on behalf of the Company or any affiliated
purchaser of the Company’s common stock.

Item 6. [Reserved]
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and related notes included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and the other
information included elsewhere in this Report.
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Overview

We are a Canadian headquartered, Delaware incorporated precious metals exploration, development and production company
with the objective of becoming a leading silver producer. Our primary efforts are focused on the operation of the LGJV in Chihuahua,
Mexico. The LGJV was formed on January 1, 2015 when we entered into the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement with Dowa to
further explore, and potentially develop and operate mining properties within the LGD. The LGJV Entities own certain surface and
mineral rights associated with the LGD. The LGJV ownership is currently 70% Gatos Silver and 30% Dowa. On September 1, 2019, the
LGJV commenced commercial production at CLG, which produces a silver containing lead concentrate and zinc concentrate. We are
currently focused on the production and continued development of the CLG and the further exploration and development of the LGD.
2021 Key Highlights (100% Basis)

e L GJV revenues totaled $249.2 million for 2021, a 105% increase over 2020 as a result of higher throughput, higher
average realized metal prices, higher silver grades and metal recovery;

e Achieved strong metal recoveries at CLG with silver recovery averaging 88.3%, zinc recovery averaging 62.9% and lead
recovery averaging 87.6%;

e Achieved processing throughput of 909,586 tonnes, averaging 2,492 tpd and exceeding the 2,500 tpd design capacity at
the CLG for the last three quarters of 2021;

e Silver ounces produced increased by 81% to 7.6 million ounces; however, cost sales only increased 50% as a result of the
increase in production during 2021. By-product cash operating cost per ounce of payable silver was $5.26 in 2021
compared to $14.48 in 2020. CLG co-product AISC per ounce of payable silver equivalent reduced 24% to $19.23 and by-
product AISC per ounce of payable silver reduced 45% to $16.00. The changes were primarily due to increased metal
production as a result of higher-grade ore mined and higher mill throughput. See “Non GAAP Financial Measures” below;

e Repurchased an additional 18.5% interest in the LGJV, increasing the Company’s LGJV interest to 70%;

e Extinguished the $60 million LGJV WCF of which Gatos Silver’s pro-rata portion was $42 million;

e Retired the LGJV's Term Loan of which Gatos Silver's 70% portion and related costs was $155.9 million;

e Raised net proceeds of $118.9 million in a follow-on public offering and secured a $50 million Credit Facility;

e Managed COVID-19 prevention effectively at CLG;

e Implemented physical and mental health initiatives in the community and continued community infrastructure support to
secure our current strong foundation for solid operating performance and community engagement;

e Advanced definition drilling at CLG with six drills in operation as of December 31, 2021; and
e Recorded an other-than-temporary impairment totaling $51.6 million of its investment in affiliates.
Components of Results of Operations
Operating Expenses
Exploration Expenses
We conduct exploration activities under mining concessions in Mexico. We expect exploration expenses to increase
significantly as we continue to expand our exploration activities at the LGD and our other exploration properties. Exploration expenses

primarily consist of drilling costs, lease concession payments, assay costs and geological and support costs at our exploration
properties.
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General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and benefits, stock compensation, professional and consultant
fees, insurance and other general administration costs. Our general and administrative expenses are expected to increase significantly
as we operate as a public company. We expect higher costs related to salaries, benefits, stock compensation, legal fees, compliance
and corporate governance, accounting and audit expenses, stock exchange listing fees, transfer agent and other stockholder-related
fees, directors’ and officers’ and other insurance costs, and other administrative costs. We were party to a Management Services
Agreement with Silver Opportunity Partners Corporation (“SOP”) which was renamed to Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation
(“SSMRC"), pursuant to which we provided certain executive and managerial advisory services to SSMRC. SSMRC reimbursed us for
costs of providing such services. This agreement was terminated effective December 31, 2021.

Equity Income (Loss) in Affiliates

Our equity income (loss) in affiliates relates to our proportional share of net income (loss) incurred from the LGJV and the
amortization of the basis difference between our investment in the LGJV and the net assets of the LGJV.

Impairment of Investment in Affiliates

A loss in value of an investment that is other than a temporary decline shall be recognized. On November 10, 2022, the
Company issued an updated technical report for the LGJV, the Los Gatos Technical Report. The Los Gatos Technical Report indicated
a significant decrease in the mineral reserves and mineral resources from the previously issued technical report in 2020. The Company
considered this reduction in the mineral reserve and mineral resources as an indicator of a possible other-than-temporary decline in
value and as a result compared the carrying value of the LGJV on December 31, 2021 to the fair value of the LGJV. The fair value of
the LGJV was estimated based on the net present value of the expected cash flows to be generated by the LGJV on 70% basis. The
discount rate used was 5.00%.

LGJV Arrangement Fee

Our LGJV arrangement fee consisted of arrangement fees related to the WCF and the Term Loan with Dowa prior to their
extinguishment on March 11, 2021, and July 26, 2021, respectively. The arrangement fees were based on a fixed 1% and 15% rate for
the Term Loan and the WCF, respectively, and 70% of the outstanding principal of the respective facility. These arrangement fees were
solely our responsibility. We did not incur LGJV arrangement fees beyond July 26, 2021, on the WCF or Term Loan.

Income Taxes

As we have incurred substantial losses from our exploration and pre-development activities, we may receive future benefits in
the form of deferred tax assets that can reduce our future income tax liabilities, if it is more likely than not that the benefit will be realized
before expiration. Historically, we have not recognized these potential benefits in our financial statements and have fully reserved for
such net deferred tax assets, as we believe it is more likely than not that the full benefit of these net deferred tax assets will not be
realized before expiration. As at December 31, 2021, a deferred tax asset of $9.2 million was recognized at the LGJV.

Royalties
Exploration activities are conducted on the mining concessions in Mexico. Mineral and concession lease payments are

required to be paid to various entities to secure the appropriate claims or surface rights. Certain of these agreements also have royalty
payments that were triggered when we began producing and selling lead and zinc concentrates.
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Results of Operations
Results of operations Gatos Silver
The following table presents certain information relating to our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2021 and

2020. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”), these financial results represent
the consolidated results of operations of our Company and its subsidiaries (in thousands).

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Expenses
Exploration $ 1,657 $ 785
General and administrative 20,893 7,765
Amortization 89 30
Total expenses 22,639 8,580
Other income (expense)
Equity income (loss) in affiliates 35,883 (17,585)
Impairment of investment in affiliates (51,564) —
Arrangement fees (195) (4,843)
Interest expense (185) (4,047)
Other income (expense) (4,738) 28
Total other expense (20,799) (26,447)
Net loss from continuing operations $ (43,438) % (35,027)
Net loss from discontinued operations — (5,414)
Net loss $ (43,438) $ (40,441)

Gatos Silver

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020

Exploration

Exploration costs incurred during 2021 increased approximately $0.9 million from 2020 mainly due to additional exploration
drilling and sampling costs incurred.

General and administrative expenses

During 2021, we incurred general and administration expense of $20.9 million compared to $7.8 million in 2020. The $13.1
million increase is due to higher corporate expenditures related to public company governance and reporting requirements and
increased stock-based compensation expense incurred during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Equity income (loss) in affiliates

The improvement in equity income (loss), for the year ended December 31, 2021, resulted primarily from the increase in our
ownership in the LGJV from 51.5% to 70.0% on March 11, 2021, resulting in a larger component of the net income of the investment in
affiliates being recognized by the Company. In addition, during 2021 the LGJV recorded net income of $64.1 million compared to a net
loss of $27.7 million in 2020, as a result the equity income in affiliates recorded during 2021 increased. The increase in net income at
the LGJV was primarily due to the increase in concentrate sold and higher realized metals prices for the year ended December 31,
2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Concentrate production increased in 2021 due to mining and processing
activities operating near design throughput for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the ramp-up to design throughput
during the year ended December 31, 2020. Production during 2020 was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic whereas the LGJV
incurred certain fixed costs during the April through May 2020 temporary suspension and the related ramp-up periods, which
contributed to the LGJV operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Impairment of investment in affiliate

On November 10, 2022, we provided an updated technical report for the LGJV, the Los Gatos Technical Report. The Los
Gatos Technical Report indicated a significant decrease in the mineral reserve and mineral resource from the previously issued
technical report in 2020. We considered this reduction in the mineral reserve and mineral resources as an indicator of a possible other-
than-temporary impairment and as a result compared the carrying value of the LGJV on December 31, 2021 to the fair value of the
LGJIV.

The fair value of the LGJV was estimated based on the net present value of the expected cash flows to be generated by the
LGJV on 70% basis. The discount rate used was 5.00%. The fair value of the investment in the LGJV was estimated to be $355.3
million and the carrying value at December 31, 2021 was $406.9 million. Since the carrying value exceeded the fair value a non-cash
impairment charge of $51.6 million was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2021. There was no impairment recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Net loss

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded a net loss from continuing operations of $43.4 million compared to a net
loss from continuing operations of $35.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. In addition to the items listed above the net
loss for 2021 was also impacted by a $10.0 million fee paid to Dowa, the $4.6 million decrease in LGJV arrangement fees due to lower
outstanding balances on the WCF and Term Loan extinguished in 2021, and the $4.0 million non-recurring interest expense in 2020
associated with the convertible note that was converted to capital stock as part of the IPO.
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Results of operations LGJV

The following table presents operational information and select financial information of the LGJV for years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020. The financial information is extracted from the Combined Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020. The financial and operational information of the LGJV and CLG is shown on a 100% basis. As of

December 31, 2021, our ownership of the LGJV was 70.0%.

Financial
Amounts in thousands
Revenue
Cost of sales
Royalties
Exploration
General and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Other
Other expense
Mining tax expense
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Operating Results
Tonnes milled (dmt - reconciled)
Tonnes milled per day (dmt)
Average Grades
Silver grade (g/t)
Gold grade (g/t)
Lead grade (%)
Zinc grade (%)
Contained Metal
Silver ounces (millions)
Zinc pounds - in zinc conc. (millions)
Lead pounds - in lead conc. (millions)
Gold ounces - in lead conc. (thousands)
Recoveries 1
Silver - in both lead and zinc concentrates
Zinc - in zinc concentrate
Lead - in lead concentrate
Gold - in lead concentrate
Average realized price per silver ounce
Average realized price per gold ounce
Average realized price per lead pound
Average realized price per zinc pound

Co-product AISC per ounce of payable silver equivalent?

By-product AISC per ounce of payable silver2

© +H BB BB

Year Ended
December 31,
2021 2020
249,194 $ 121,470
97,710 65,005
4,781 2,148
5,383 841
13,345 9,718
52,402 44,904
— 3,416
(13,442) (23,154)
(954) —
2,911 —
64,088 $ (27,716)
909,586 667,422
2,492 1,829
295 229
0.32 0.42
2.27 2.27
3.94 3.64
7.6 4.2
49.6 34.2
39.8 27.4
5.2 4.9
88.3 % 84.1 %
62.9 % 63.0 %
87.6 % 82.3 %
56.3 % 55.4 %
24.51 $ 19.97
1,802 $ 1,709
099 $ 0.83
1.36 $ 1.03
19.23 $ 25.34
16.00 $ 29.82

(1) Recoveries are reported for payable metals in the identified concentrate. Recoveries reported previously were based on total metal

in both concentrates.

(2) See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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LGJV
Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020
Revenue

Revenue increased by 105% in 2021 compared to 2020, as a result of the continued ramp-up in production during 2021 and an
increase in realized metal prices. Lead and zinc concentrate production increased 59% and 45% respectively, and realized silver, zinc
and lead prices increased 23%, 32% and 19%, respectively. Silver and zinc ore grades increased 29% and 8%, respectively.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales increased by 50% primarily as a result of the increase in production and higher input costs due to cost inflation.
Production during 2020 was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic whereas the LGJV incurred certain fixed costs during the April
through May 2020 temporary suspension and the related ramp-up periods. Co- product AISC per ounce of payable silver equivalent
and by-product AISC per ounce of decreased by 24% and 46% respectively, to $19.23 and 16.00, respectively, for the year ended
2021.

Royalties

Royalty expense increased by $2.6 million in 2021 due to the increase in metal prices and increase in metal production during
the year ended December 31, 2021.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense for 2021 were 37% higher than in 2020, During 2020 the LGJV reduced the headcount of
general and administrative personnel to limit the spread of COVID-19 resulting in lower general and administrative expenditures. During
2021 headcount was increased to normal levels. In addition, general and administrative costs were higher in 2021 due to higher
insurance costs, and increased COVID-19 preventative costs.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense increased by approximately 17% year over year primarily as a result of an
increase in tonnes mined and also due to the decrease in the mineral reserve and the shorter mine life based on the Los Gatos
Technical Report. The lower mineral reserve tonnes and shorter LOM reduced the basis for the depreciation and as a result increased
the depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense incurred in 2021.

Other expense

Other expense decreased primarily due to a 56% decrease in interest expense due to lower interest rates, lower borrowings
and lower arrangement fees incurred during 2021 compared to 2020 as a result of the retirement of the WCF and the Term Loan.

Income Tax

In 2021, the LGJV recognized an income tax benefit due to the release of the full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets
which was partially offset by the current income tax expense recorded in 2021.

Net Income (loss)

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the LGJV had net income of $64.1 million compared to a net loss of $27.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020. The change in net income (loss) was primarily due to the significant increase in revenue driven by
the strong improvement in production during 2021, partially offset by an increase in cost of sales, royalties, depreciation depletion and
amortization, royalty expense, and general and administrative expense. In addition, interest expense decreased 56% due to lower
interest rates, lower borrowings and lower arrangement fees resulting from the retirement of the WCF and Term Loan and the LGJV
recognized an income tax benefit due to the release of the full valuation allowance which was patrtially offset by current year income tax
expense.
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Cash Flows
Gatos Silver
The following table presents our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used by)
Operating activities $ (21,485) $ (18,388)
Investing activities (261,439) (12,129)
Financing activities 139,394 172,464
Total change in cash $ (143,530) $ 141,947

Cash used by operating activities was $21.5 million and $18.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The $3.1 million increase in cash usage was primarily due to a $10.0 million fee paid to Dowa and higher general and
administrative costs, partially offset by favorable working capital changes from operations and discontinued operations spun off in
October 2020.

Cash used by investing activities was $261.4 million and $12.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The $249.3 million increase was primarily due to the $144.8 million capital contribution to the LGJV used to extinguish our
70% share of the Term Loan repayment in July 2021, the $71.6 million acquisition of the 18.5% interest in the LGJV from Dowa in
March 2021 and the $42 million pro-rata capital contribution to the LGJV for the extinguishment of the WCF in March 2021.

Cash provided by financing activities was $139.4 million and $172.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021, cash provided by financing activities primarily reflected the $121.0 million in net
proceeds from the issuance of common stock in a follow-on public offering and the $13.0 million in borrowings under the Credit Facility.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, cash provided by financing activities primarily reflected the $160.4 million in net proceeds from
the issuance of common stock in the IPO and the $15.0 million in proceeds from related party borrowings.

LGJV

The following table presents summarized information relating to the LGJV'’s cash flows for years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020.

LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used by)
Operating activities $ 119,787 $ 47,872
Investing activities (79,045) (64,436)
Financing activities (22,138) 16,938
Total change in cash $ 18604 $ 374

Cash provided by operating activities was $119.8 million and $47.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The $71.9 million increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to the increase in revenue due to
higher metals prices, higher processed ore tonnes and higher ore grades for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the prior
year period, partially offset by increased receivables from customers.

Cash used by investing activities was $79.0 million and $64.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,

respectively. The $14.6 million increase in cash used was primarily due to higher expenditures for property, plant and equipment and
mine development.
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Cash used by financing activities was $22.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and cash provided by financing
activities was $16.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The $39.1 million change in financing cash flows was primarily due
to the $144.8 million retirement of the Term Loan in July 2021, the $60 million extinguishment of the WCF in March 2021, and the $15.9
million Term Loan payment in June 2021, partially offset by the $207.2 million of capital contributions in 2021 and the proceeds from the
$18.9 million related party loans to the LGJV during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $6.6 million and $150.1 million,
respectively. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was primarily due to our $71.6 million repurchase of the 18.5% interest in the
LGJV from Dowa, the $42.0 million capital contribution to the LGJV used to extinguish our 70% share of the WCF, the $144.8 million
capital contribution to the LGJV used to extinguish our 70% share of the Term Loan repayment, and a $10.0 million fee paid to Dowa;
partially offset by net proceeds of $118.9 million from the July 2021 follow-on public offering and $13.0 million borrowing under the
Credit Facility. As a result of the 18.5% repurchase, our ownership in the LGJV increased to 70% and Dowa'’s ownership reduced to
30% on March 11, 2021.

Sources and Uses of Capital Resources

On March 11, 2021, using proceeds from our initial public offering on October 30, 2020, we repurchased an approximate
18.5% interest in the LGJV, increasing our ownership to 70.0%, for a total consideration of $71.6 million, including a premium and all
costs incurred by Dowa in connection with its ownership of such equity interest, including, but not limited to, legal and accounting fees,
capital contributions and taxes. Additionally, we contributed $42.0 million, our 70% share to extinguish the $60.0 million WCF.

On July 19, 2021, we completed a public offering of 8,930,000 shares of common stock at a price of $14.00 per share, resulting
in net proceeds of $118.9 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. On August 18, 2021, the Company issued
an additional 286,962 shares of common stock at a price of $14.00 per share, through the exercise of the over-allotment option, with
net proceeds from the additional issuance of $3.8 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. Additionally, the
Company incurred $1.7 million in other costs related to the offering.

On July 12, 2021, the Company entered into the Credit Facility that provides for a $50 million revolving line of credit and has an
accordion feature, which allows for an increase in the total line of credit up to $100.0 million (reduced to $75 million per the December
19, 2022 amendment), subject to certain conditions. As of December 31, 2021, $13.0 million was outstanding under the Credit Facility.
The current balance outstanding on the Credit Facility is $9.0 million following a $4.0 million principal repayment in December 2022. For
additional information, see “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Indebtedness and Lines of Credit” below.

On July 26, 2021, the LGJV repaid all amounts owed to Dowa under the Term Loan. To fund its 70% portion of the Term Loan
repayment, the Company loaned $144.8 million to the LGJV. This loan was converted into a capital contribution to the LGJV on July
26, 2021.

On February 28, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents are $15.6 million and we have $41 million available to be drawn under
the Credit Facility; and the LGJV has cash and cash equivalents of $55.5 million. We believe we have sufficient cash and access to
borrowings and other resources to carry out our business plans for at least the next 12 months. We may decide to increase our current
financial resources with external financings if our long-term business needs require us to do so however there can be no assurance that
the financing will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. We manage liquidity risk through our credit facility and the
management of our capital structure.

We may be required to provide funds to the LGJV to support operations at the CLG which, depending upon the circumstances,
may be in the form of equity, various forms of debt, joint venture funding or some combination thereof. There can be no assurance that
additional funds will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or convertible debt
securities, substantial dilution to existing stockholders may result. Additionally, if we raise additional funds by incurring new debt
obligations, the terms of the debt may require significant cash payment obligations, as well as covenants and specific financial ratios
that may restrict our ability to operate our business.
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Indebtedness and Lines of Credit

We guaranteed 70.0% of the Term Loan and the WCF (prior to the repayment on July 26, 2021, and March 11, 2021,
respectively, as discussed further below). We guarantee the payment of all obligations, including accrued interest, under the LGJV
equipment loan agreements. As of December 31, 2021, the LGJV had $6.0 million outstanding under the LGJV equipment loan
agreements, net of unamortized debt discount of $14 thousand, with varying maturity dates through August 2023. We had certain
arrangement fee obligations related to the CLG as detailed in the “LGJV Arrangement Fee” above.

On July 12, 2021, the Company entered into the Credit Facility that provides for a $50.0 million revolving line of credit with an
accordion feature, which allowed at the time, for an increase in the total line of credit up to $100.0 million, subject to certain conditions.
The Credit Facility maturity date was on July 31, 2024. The Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants that are
customary for credit agreements of this nature. The affirmative covenants consist of a leverage ratio, a liquidity covenant and an interest
coverage ratio. The negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on asset sales, mergers, acquisitions, indebtedness,
liens, dividends and distributions, investments and transactions with affiliates. Obligations under the Credit Facility may be accelerated
upon the occurrence of certain customary events of default. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to either the
LIBOR rate plus a margin ranging from 3.00% to 4.00% or the U.S. Base Rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00% to 3.00%, as selected
by the Company, in each case, with such margin determined in accordance with a pricing grid based upon the Company’s
consolidated net leverage ratio as of the end of the applicable period.

On July 19, 2021, we borrowed $13.0 million under the Credit Facility at a rate of LIBOR plus 3%. As of December 31, 2021,
$13.0 million remained outstanding under the Credit Facility. On December 19, 2022, we made a $4.0 million repayment. The current
balance outstanding on the Credit Facility is $9.0 million, as of March 20, 2023.

On March 7, 2022, we amended the Credit Facility with the lender, BMO, to address potential loan covenant deficiencies. The
amendment included the following revisions:

e the credit limit was be reduced to $30.0 million, until we deliver a new LOM CLG financial model with updated mineral
reserves;

e upon assessment of the new CLG financial model, BMO, in its sole discretion, may increase the credit limit up to the
original $50.0 million;

e requirement to provide updated financial projections for the CLG by September 30, 2022. The financial projections were
provided by the required date, and it was used as the basis for the amendment entered into on December 19, 2022
discussed below; and

e waivers of certain defaults, events of default, representations and warranties and covenants arising out of the facts that led
to the potential reduction in metal content of the previously stated mineral reserve figures.

On December 19, 2022, we entered an amended and restated Credit Facility with BMO extending the maturity date and re-
establishing a credit limit of $50.0 million, with an accordion feature providing up to an additional $25.0 million. Key terms of the
amended Credit Facility include:

e  $50.0 million revolving line of credit with an accordion feature, which allows for an increase in the total line of credit up to
$75.0 million, subject to certain conditions;

e The maturity date was extended from July 31, 2024 to December 31, 2025;
e A change in the benchmark interest rate from LIBOR to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”); and

e Loans under the Revolver bear interest at a rate equal to either a term SOFR rate plus a margin ranging from 3.00% to
4.00% or a U.S. base rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00% to 3.00%, at our option.
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The Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants that are customary for agreements of this nature. The
affirmative covenants require the Company to comply, at all times, with, among other things, a Leverage Ratio not greater than 3.00 to
1.00, with EBITDA calculated upon a trailing four fiscal quarter period, a liquidity covenant not less than $20.0 million and an interest
coverage ratio not less than 4.00 to 1.00 calculated based on a trailing four fiscal quarter period. The negative covenants include,
among other things, limitations on certain specified asset sales, mergers, acquisitions, indebtedness, liens, dividends and distributions,
investments and transactions with affiliates.

Dowa Debt Agreements
Dowa Term Loan

On July 11, 2017, we entered into the Term Loan with the LGJV and Dowa, whereby the LGJV could borrow up to
$210.0 million to finance the development of the Los Gatos project, with a maturity date of December 29, 2027. Interest accrued daily at
LIBOR plus 2.35% per annum, and the interest was added to the amount borrowed until production commenced at the Los Gatos
project. The LGJV was obligated to pay 14 consecutive semi-annual payments totaling the aggregate principal amount and capitalized
interest beginning June 30, 2021, with payments made two business days prior to the end of each June and December. We guaranteed
70.0% of the Term Loan and were required to pay an arrangement fee on the borrowing, calculated as 2% per annum on 70% of the
outstanding principal balance, payable in semi-annual installments.

On July 26, 2021, the LGJV repaid all amounts owed to Dowa under the Term Loan. To fund its 70% portion of the Term Loan
repayment, the Company loaned $144.8 million to the LGJV. This loan was converted into a capital contribution to the LGJV on July
26, 2021. Dowa’s 30% portion of the Term Loan was also converted into a capital contribution on July 26, 2021. The LGJV paid $0.4
million of outstanding accrued interest and a $1.6 million closing fee related to the Term Loan repayment.

Los Gatos Working Capital Facility

On May 30, 2019, we entered into the WCF with the LGJV and Dowa, under which Dowa agreed to provide a maximum of
$60.0 million for the benefit of the LGJV, with a maturity date of June 28, 2021. The interest under the WCF was LIBOR plus 3% per
annum and was payable by the LGJV. We guaranteed 70% of this facility and were required to pay an arrangement fee on the
borrowing, calculated as 15.0% per annum on 70.0% of the average daily principal amount outstanding during the relevant fiscal
quarter. The full principal amount of the WCF was drawn down by the LGJV as of September 2019. On March 11, 2021, we and Dowa
contributed $42.0 million and $18.0 million, respectively, in capital to the LGJV; the funds were used to extinguish the WCF.

Contractual Obligations

We and the LGJV entered into commitments with federal and state agencies to lease surface and mineral rights in Mexico
related to our exploration activities. These leases are renewable annually.

Critical Accounting Policies
Listed below are the accounting policies that we believe are critical to our financial statements due to the degree of uncertainty
regarding the estimates or assumptions involved and the magnitude of the asset, liability or expense that is being reported. For a

discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Equity Method Investment

We account for our investment in affiliates using the equity method of accounting whereby, after valuing the initial investment,
we recognize our proportional share of results of operations of the affiliate in its consolidated financial statements. The value of equity
method investments are adjusted if it is determined that there is an other-than-temporary decline in value. The Company reviews equity
method investments for an other-than-temporary decline in value when events or circumstances indicate that a decline in the fair value
of the investment below its carrying value is other-than-temporary. Our investment in the LGJV is presented as investment in affiliates
in the consolidated balance sheet. The difference between the carrying amount of the investment in affiliates and our equity in the
LGJV’s net assets is due to value of mineral resources at MPR. We have historically incurred certain costs on behalf of the LGJV,
primarily related to a project development loan arrangement fee, and may incur such fees from time to time in the future. Our
proportional share of such costs are reported as an investment in affiliate and the residual costs, related to Dowa’s proportional
ownership, are reported in the statement of loss.

Mineral Properties and Carrying Value of Long-Lived Assets (LGJV)

Mineral property acquisition costs are recorded at cost and are deferred until the viability of the property is determined.
Exploration, mineral property evaluation, option payments, related acquisition costs for mineral properties acquired under option
agreements, general overhead, administrative and holding costs to maintain a property on a care and maintenance basis are expensed
in the period they are incurred. When proven and probable mineral reserves are determined for a property, subsequent development
costs on the property are capitalized. If a project were to be put into production, capitalized development costs would be depleted on
the units of production basis determined by the proven and probable mineral reserves for that project.

Existing proven and probable mineral reserves and value beyond proven and probable mineral reserves, including
mineralization other than proven and probable mineral reserves and other material that is not part of the measured, indicated or inferred
resource base, are included when determining the fair value of mine site reporting units at acquisition and, subsequently, in determining
whether the assets are impaired. The term “recoverable minerals” refers to the estimated amount of silver and other commodities that
will be obtained after taking into account losses during mining, mineral resources processing and treatment and ultimate sale. Estimates
of recoverable minerals from such exploration-stage mineral interests are risk-adjusted based on management’s relative confidence in
such materials. In estimating future cash flows, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that
are largely independent of future cash flows from other asset groups. We review and evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Asset impairment is
considered to exist if the total estimated future cash flows on an undiscounted basis are less than the carrying amount of the asset. An
impairment loss is measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future cash flows. Future cash flows are estimated based on
estimated quantities of recoverable minerals, expected silver and other commaodity prices (considering current and historical prices,
trends and related factors), production levels, operating costs, capital requirements and reclamation costs, all based on LOM plans. No
impairment tests have been required during the periods presented.

Various factors could impact our ability to achieve our forecasted production schedules from proven and probable mineral
reserves. Additionally, production, capital and reclamation costs could differ from the assumptions used in the cash flow models used
to assess impairment. The ability to achieve the estimated quantities of recoverable minerals from exploration-stage mineral interests
involves further risks in addition to those factors applicable to mineral interests where proven and probable mineral reserves have been
identified, due to the lower level of confidence that the identified mineral resources could ultimately be mined economically. Assets
classified as exploration potential have the highest level of risk that the carrying value of the asset can be ultimately realized, due to the
still lower level of geological confidence and economic modeling.

Income and Mining Taxes

We recognize the expected future tax benefit from deferred tax assets when the tax benefit is considered to be more likely than
not of being realized. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires management to make significant estimates related to
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows and the application of
existing tax laws in the United States and Mexico. Refer to“-Critical Accounting Policies - Mineral Properties and Carrying Value of
Long-Lived Assets” above for a discussion of the factors that could cause future cash flows to differ from estimates. To the extent that
future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, our ability to realize deferred tax assets recorded at the balance
sheet date could be impacted. Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate could limit our ability to
obtain the future tax benefits represented by our deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date.
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Our properties involve dealing with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions
and resolution of disputes arising from federal, state and Mexico tax audits. We recognize potential liabilities and record tax liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues, if any, in the United States and other tax jurisdictions based on our estimate of whether, and the extent
to which, additional taxes will be due. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the
complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current
estimate of the tax liabilities. If our estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, an additional charge to
expense would result. If an estimate of tax liabilities proves to be greater than the ultimate assessment, a tax benefit would result. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Common Stock Valuation

Prior to October 2020 we estimated the fair value of our common stock based on resource multiples, discounted cash flows,
comparable property values, comparable public company equity values, changes in comparable public company equity values, and a
discount for a lack of marketability. Prior to the IPO, based on this market data, the corresponding fair value of our common stock was
used in valuing the options and DSUs granted in 2019 and 2020. At and subsequent to the IPO, the fair value of our common stock
was based on the market price of our common stock on the grant date.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for
recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this
Report.

Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012

The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) permits us, as an “emerging growth company,” to, among
other things, take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public
companies. We have elected to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards on
the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for public companies that are not emerging growth companies. The
decision to opt out of the extended transition period under the JOBS Act is irrevocable.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use certain measures that are not defined by GAAP to evaluate various aspects of our business. These non-GAAP
financial measures are intended to provide additional information only and do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP
and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
measures are not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under GAAP.

Cash Costs and All-In Sustaining Costs

Cash costs and all-in sustaining costs (“AISC”) are non-GAAP measures. AISC was calculated based on guidance provided by
the World Gold Council (“WGC”). WGC is not a regulatory industry organization and does not have the authority to develop accounting
standards for disclosure requirements. Other mining companies may calculate AISC differently as a result of differences in underlying
accounting principles and policies applied, as well as definitional differences of sustaining versus expansionary (i.e. non-sustaining)
capital expenditures based upon each company’s internal policies. Current GAAP measures used in the mining industry, such as cost
of sales, do not capture all of the expenditures incurred to discover, develop and sustain production. Therefore, we believe that cash
costs and AISC are non-GAAP measures that provide additional information to management, investors and analysts that aid in the
understanding of the economics of the Company’s operations and performance and provides investors visibility by better defining the
total costs associated with production.

Cash costs include all direct and indirect operating cash costs related directly to the physical activities of producing metals,
including mining, processing and other plant costs, treatment and refining costs, general and administrative costs, royalties and mining
production taxes. AISC includes total production cash costs incurred at the LGJV’s mining operations plus sustaining capital
expenditures. The Company believes this measure represents the total sustainable costs of producing silver from current operations
and provides additional information of the LGJV's operational performance and ability to generate cash flows. As the measure seeks to
reflect the full cost of silver production from current operations, new project and expansionary capital at current operations are not
included. Certain cash expenditures such as new project spending, tax payments, dividends, and financing costs are not included.
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Reconciliation of expenses (GAAP) to non-GAAP measures

The table below presents a reconciliation between the most comparable GAAP measure of the LGJV's expenses to the non-
GAAP measures of (i) cash costs, (ii) cash costs, net of by-product credits, (iii) co-product all-in sustaining costs and (iv) by-product all-
in sustaining costs for our operations.

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except unit costs) 2021 2020

Cost of sales $ 97,710 $ 65,005
Royalties 4,781 2,148
Exploration 5,383 841
General and administrative 13,345 9,718
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 52,402 44,904
Other — 3,416
Total expenses $ 173,621 % 126,032
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (52,402) (44,904)
Explorationl (5,383) (841)
Treatment and refining costs? 21,601 23,305
Cash costs (A) $ 137,437 $ 103,592
Sustaining capital 72,979 51,093
All-in sustaining costs (B) $ 210,416 $ 154,685
By-product credits3 (101,745) (55,370)
All-in sustaining costs, net of by-product credits (C) $ 108,671 $ 99,315
Cash costs, net of by-product credits (D) $ 35692 % 48,222
Payable ounces of silver equivalent4 (E) 10,942 6,104
Co-product cash cost per ounce of payable silver equivalent (A/E) $ 1256 $ 16.97
Co-product all-in sustaining cost per ounce of payable silver equivalent (B/E) $ 1923 $ 25.34
Payable ounces of silver (F) 6,791 3,331
By-product cash cost per ounce of payable silver (D/F) $ 526 $ 14.48
By-product all-in sustaining cost per ounce of payable silver (C/F) $ 16.00 $ 29.82

1 Exploration costs are not related to current mining operations.

2 Represent reductions on customer invoices and included in Revenue of the LGJV combined statement of income (loss).

3 By-product credits reflect realized metal prices of zinc, lead and gold for the applicable period.

4 Silver equivalents utilize the average realized prices during the year ended December 31, 2021 of $24.51/0z silver, $1.36/Ib zinc,
$0.99/Ib lead and $1,802/0z gold and the average realized prices during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $19.97/0z silver,
$1.03/Ib zinc, $0.83/Ib lead and $1,709/0z gold.

“LOM AISC” means the life of mine all-in sustaining cost as defined in the Los Gatos Technical Report. It includes cash costs
include all direct and indirect operating cash costs related to the physical activities of producing metals, including mining, processing
and other plant costs, treatment and refining costs, freight and handling, general and administrative costs and royalties. All-in-sustaining
cost or all-in-sustaining cost before by-product credits includes total production cash costs incurred at the LGJV’s mining operations
plus sustaining capital expenditures and reclamation accretion expense and excludes Gatos Silver and Dowa corporate costs and
allocations paid by the LGJV. All-in-sustaining after by-product credits includes the all-in-sustaining costs minus revenues from the sale
of zinc, lead and gold (“by-product credits”).

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Not Applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Gatos Silver, Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Gatos Silver, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl Ernst and Young LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2022.

Toronto, Canada
March 20, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Gatos Silver, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Gatos Silver, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of

December 31, 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders ’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company ’'s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl KPMG LLP
We served as the Company’s auditor from 2011 to 2022.

Denver, Colorado
March 29, 2021
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GATOS SILVER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share amounts)

Notes 2021 2020
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,616 $ 150,146
Related party receivables 1,592 1,727
Other current assets 3 3,558 3,879
Total current assets 11,766 155,752
Non-Current Assets
Investment in affiliates 15 355,310 109,597
Other non-current assets 35 61
Total Assets $ 367,111 $ 265,410
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 5 $ 1,406 $ 4,024
Non-Current Liabilities
Credit Facility, net of debt issuance costs 11 12,620 —
Shareholders' Equity
Common Stock, $ 0.001 par value; 700,000,000 shares authorized; 69,162,223 and
59,183,076 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively 117 108
Paid-in capital 543,829 409,728
Accumulated deficit (190,861 ) (147,423)
Treasury stock, at cost, nil and 144,589 shares as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively — (1,027)
Total shareholders' equity 353,085 261,386
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 367,111 $ 265,410

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

66




Table of Contents

GATOS SILVER, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share amounts)

Expenses
Exploration
General and administrative
Amortization
Total expenses
Other income (expense)
Equity income (loss) in affiliates
Impairment of investment in affiliates
Arrangement fees
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Total other expense
Net loss from continuing operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted @)
Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted @)

Notes 2021 2020
$ 1,657 $ 785
20,893 7,765
89 30
22,639 8,580
15 35,883 (17,585)
15 (51,564) —
(195) (4,843)
(185) (4,047)
7,10 (4,738) 28
(20,799) (26,447)
$ (43/438) $ (35,027)
13 — (5,414)
$ (43/438) $ (40,441)
$ (0.68) $ (0.80)
$ — 3 (0.13)
$ (0.68) $ (0.93)
63,994,693 43,655,601

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one reverse split in October 2020. See Note 1, Description of

Business for details.
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GATOS SILVER, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2019

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock, net

Convertible note conversion
Deferred salary conversion
DSU compensation

Distribution from Reorganization

Other
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2020

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock, net

DSU compensation

DSUs converted to common stock

Other
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2021

Number () Amount
Common Treasury Common Treasury Paid-in Accumulated
Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Deficit Total

40,323,430 144589 $ 80 $ (1,027) $ 375,921 $(225583) $ 149,391
— — — — 4,563 — 4,563
24,644,500 — 25 — 155,612 — 155,637
2,712,003 — 3 — 18,981 — 18,984
47,061 — — — 329 — 329
— — — — 61 — 61
(8,543,918) — — — (145,780) 118,601 (27,179)
— — — — 41 — 41
— — — — — (40,441) (40,441)
59,183,076 144,589 $ 108 $ (1,027) $ 409,728 $(147,423) $ 261,386
— — - — 7,140 — 7,140
9,830,426 (144,589) 9 1,027 126,071 — 127,107
— — — — 1,163 — 1,163
148,721 — — — — — —
— — — — (273) — (273)
— — — — — (43,438) (43,438)
69,162,223 — 3 117 $ — $ 543,829 $(190,861) 353,085

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one reverse split in October 2020. See Note 1, Description of

Business for details.
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GATOS SILVER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share amounts)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Plus net loss from discontinued operations
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:
Amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Equity (income) loss in affiliates
Interest expense on convertible notes beneficial conversion terms
Impairment of investment in affiliates
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables from related-parties
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Other current assets
Operating cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash used by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Transfers of restricted cash to cash
Investment in affiliates
Investing cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash used by investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Related-party convertible debt
Credit Facility
Financing costs
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of treasury stock
Other
Financing cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Less cash of discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents form continuing operations, end of period
Interest paid
Supplemental disclosure of noncash transactions:
Deferred financing costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Director fees in accrued liabilities converted to deferred share units
Conversion of related party accounts receivable into LGJV capital contributions
Conversion of convertible notes to equity
Underwriting fees recorded to deferred financing costs
Deferred financing costs charged to equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes 2021 2020
$ (43,438) $ (40441)
— 5,414
89 30
8 7,184 4,368
15 (35,883) 17,585
6 — 3,984
15 51,564 —
(260) 329
134 (4,752)
(1,196) 2,027
321 (3,479)
o (3,453)
(21,485) (18,388)
— 151
15 (261,439) (12,298)
— 18
(261,439) (12,129)
— 15,000
11 13,000 —
(7,277) (4,039)
8 133,085 160,436
1,027 —
(441) 260
o 807
139,394 172,464
(143,530) 141,947
150,146 9,085
o 886
$ 6,616 $ 150,146
$ 168 $ —
$ — 8 1,118
$ 306 $ 61
$ — 8 9,448
$ — 3 15,000
$ — $ (12,076)
$ — 3 16,874
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GATOS SILVER, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands of United States dollars, except share, per share, option, and stock unit amounts)

1. Description of Business
Organization and Nature of Business

Gatos Silver, Inc. (“Gatos Silver” or “the Company”) is a silver dominant exploration, development and production company that
discovered a new silver, lead and zinc-rich mineral district in southern Chihuahua State, Mexico.

The Company'’s primary efforts are focused on the operation of the Los Gatos Joint Venture (“LGJV”) in Chihuahua, Mexico.
On January 1, 2015, the Company entered into the LGJV to develop the Los Gatos District (“LGD") with Dowa Metals and Mining Co.,
Ltd. (“Dowa”). The LGJV Operating entities consisted of Minera Plata Real S. de R.L. de C.V (“MPR”), Operaciones San Jose del Plata
S. de R.L. de C.V. and Servicios San Jose del Plata S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Servicios”) (collectively, the “LGJV Entities”). Effective July 15,
2021, Servicios was merged into MPR.

Dowa acquired a 30 % interest in the LGJV and the right to purchase future zinc-concentrate production at market rates by
completing its $ 50,000 funding requirement on April 1, 2016. The LGJV completed a feasibility study in January 2017 and a technical
update to the feasibility study in July 2020. On January 25, 2022, the Company announced that the July 2020 technical report should
not be relied upon. In May 2019, Dowa increased its ownership interest by 18.5 % to 48.5 % through the conversion of the Dowa MPR
Loan to equity. On March 11, 2021, the Company repurchased the 18.5 % interest from Dowa for a total consideration of $ 71,550,
including Dowa holding costs of this incremental interest, increasing the Company’s ownership in the LGJV Entities to 70.0 %. These
transactions resulted in a $ 47,400 higher basis than the underlying net assets of the LGJV Entities. This basis difference is being
amortized over the LGJV Entities proven and probable reserves. See Note 10 - Commitment, Contingencies and Guarantees for further
discussion. The LGJV ownership is currently 70 % Gatos Silver and 30 % Dowa. Despite owning the majority interest in the LGJV, the
Company does not exercise control over the LGJV due to certain provisions contained in the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement
that currently require unanimous partner approval of all major operating decisions.

On September 1, 2019, the LGJV commenced commercial production of its two concentrate products: a lead concentrate and
a zinc concentrate. The LGJV's lead and zinc concentrates are currently sold to third-party customers.

The Company’s other regional Mexico exploration efforts outside of the LGJV district are conducted through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Minera Luz del Sol S. de R.L. de C.V. (“MLS"). In 2021, MLS completed a 5,400 -meter exploration program on its wholly-
owned Santa Valeria project, located approximately 15 kilometers from the Cerro Los Gatos deposit.

In December 2021, Gatos Silver Canada Corporation (“GSC") was formed to house certain corporate employees based in
Canada. No employees existed and no transactions occurred in GSC until 2022.

Reorganization

In conjunction with the initial public offering (“IPO”) completed on October 30, 2020, the Company effected a reorganization
(the “Reorganization”) in which (i) the Company changed its name from Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation to Gatos Silver,
Inc., (i) Silver Opportunity Partners LLC, which held the Company’s interest in the Sunshine Complex in Idaho, comprised of the
Sunshine Mine and the Sunshine Big Creek Refinery, became a wholly owned subsidiary of a newly created Delaware corporation
named Silver Opportunity Partners Corporation (“SOP”), (iii) all equity interest in SOP was distributed to the Company’s shareholders,
and (iv) each share of the Company’s common stock was split at a ratio of two-for-one (the “Reverse Split”). The Reverse Split did not
have any effect on the stated par value of the Company’s common stock and the rights and privileges of the holders of shares of
Common Stock were unaffected. All common stock and options outstanding immediately prior to the Reverse Split were appropriately
adjusted by dividing the number of shares of common stock into which the options are exercisable or convertible by two and multiplying
the exercise or conversion price thereof by two.

Pursuant to the distribution of SOP, the accounts for SOP are presented as discontinued operations in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. See Note 13 — Discontinued Operations for additional detail.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of Gatos Silver and its subsidiaries, GSC and MLS. All
Company subsidiaries are consolidated. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. All equity interest
in the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, SOP, was distributed to its stockholders in October 2020. The accounts for SOP have
been presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Prior year amounts have also been
modified in these financial statements to properly report amounts under current operations and discontinued operations. See Note 13 —
Discontinued Operations for further discussion.

All common stock shares, options and deferred stock units amounts and prices in the consolidated financial statements have
been adjusted for the Reverse Split.

Equity method investment

The Company accounts for its investment in affiliates using the equity method of accounting whereby, after valuing the initial
investment, the Company recognizes its proportional share of results of operations of the affiliate in its consolidated financial
statements. The value of equity method investments are adjusted if it is determined that there is an other-than-temporary decline in
value. The Company’s investment in the LGJV Entities is presented as Investment in affiliates in the consolidated balance sheet. The
basis difference between the carrying amount of the investment in affiliates and the Company’s equity in the LGJV Entities’ net assets
is due to value of the LGJV mineral resources. This basis difference is amortized on a units of production basis as the mineral resource
is mined.

The Company incurred certain costs on behalf of the LGJV, primarily related to a project development loan arrangement fee.
The Company’s proportional share of such costs are reported as an investment in affiliate and the residual costs, related to Dowa’s
proportional ownership, are reported in the statement of loss as arrangement fees.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant items subject to such estimates are valuation of stock and stock options; valuation allowances for deferred tax assets; and
the fair value of financial instruments and investment in affiliates. At the LGJV, significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include mineral properties, life of mine revenue and cost assumptions, mineral resource conversion rates to mineral
reserves; environmental reclamation and closure obligations and valuation allowances for deferred tax assets.

Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, with the resulting gains or losses
reported in foreign exchange (gain) loss in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at historical exchange rates. Expenses and income items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars
at historical exchange rates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents.
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Other than temporary impairment - investment

A loss in value of an investment that is other than a temporary decline shall be recognized. Evidence of such losses might
include, but are not limited to, absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount of the investment or inability of the investee to
sustain an earnings capacity that would justify the carrying amount of the investment. A current fair value of an investment that is less
than its carrying amount may indicate a loss in value of the investment. If circumstances require an investment is tested for an other
than temporary decline in value, the Company will first estimate the fair value of the investment based on discounted cash flows then
compare it to the carrying value of the investment. Fair value is determined through various valuation technigues including discounted
cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. We recognized an
impairment on our Investment in Affiliate in 2021. See Note 15 — Investment in Affiliates for further discussion.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes all employee stock-based compensation as a cost in the consolidated financial statements. Equity-
classified awards are measured at the grant date fair value of the award. Stock-based compensation expense is included as a
component of general and administrative expense over the requisite service period of the award.

The fair value of stock options are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of performance
share units (“PSUs"), which are subject to vesting based on the Company’s attainment of a pre-established market performance goals,
are estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model. The Company’s estimates may be impacted by certain variables
including, but not limited to, stock price volatility, estimates of forfeitures, the risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yields, and the
Company’s performance. The Company estimates forfeitures of stock-based awards based on historical data and periodically adjusts
the forfeiture rate. The adjustment of the forfeiture rate is recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period the forfeiture estimate is
changed.

Net loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share are presented for net loss attributable to common shareholders. Basic net loss per share is
computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common stock shares
outstanding, including deferred stock units (“DSUs"), for the respective period presented. Diluted net loss per share is computed
similarly, except that weighted-average common shares is increased to reflect the potential dilution that would occur if stock options
were exercised, or PSUs were converted into common stock. The effects of the Company’s dilutive securities are excluded from the
calculation of diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding if their effect would be anti-dilutive based on the treasury stock
method or due to a net loss.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes
the enactment date. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being
sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized.
Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Recently issued and adopted accounting standards

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.
2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) to simplify and enhance accounting for income taxes. This update is effective in fiscal years,
including interim periods, beginning after December 15, 2020, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard in 2021 did
not have a material impact on our financial statements.

72




Table of Contents

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04") followed by ASU No. 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848):
Scope (“ASU 2021-01"), issued in January 2021, to provide clarifying guidance regarding the scope of Topic 848. ASU 2020-04 was
issued to provide optional guidance for a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects
of) reference rate reform. Generally, the guidance is to be applied as of any date from the beginning of an interim period that includes or
is subsequent to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12,
2020, up to the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2021-01 are effective for all entities
through December 31, 2022. The Company has not elected to use the optional guidance and continues to evaluate the options
provided by ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2021-01. The Company is still assessing the impact of the standards but does not expect the
standards to have a material impact on its financial statements.

As of December 31, 2021, there are no additional recently issued or adopted accounting standard that could have a material
impact on our financial statements.

3. Other Current Assets
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
Value added tax receivable $ 575 $ 318
Prepaid expenses 2,976 3,560
Other 7 1
Total other current assets $ 3,558 $ 3,879
4, Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Mineral Properties

Mining Concessions

In Mexico, mineral concessions from the Mexican government can only be held by Mexican nationals or Mexican-incorporated
companies. The concessions are valid for 50 years and are extendable provided the concessions are kept in good standing. For
concessions to remain in good standing a semi-annual fee must be paid to the Mexican government and an annual report describing
the work accomplished on the property must be filed. These concessions may be cancelled without penalty with prior notice to the
Mexican government. MLS is the concession holder of a series of claims titles granted by the Mexican government. The rights to certain
concessions are held through exploration agreements with purchase options, as discussed below:

Santa Valeria Concession
The Company was required to make monthly payments through 2020 to continue exploration activities and obtain ownership of

the Santa Valeria concessions. If production commences, the Company is required to make a production royalty payment of 1 % of the
net smelter returns. The Company may terminate the agreement upon prior notice.

The Company made and expensed mineral lease payments of $ 24 and $ 414 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

5. Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020

Accounts payable $ 196 $ 560

Accrued expenses 623 1,240

Accrued compensation 587 1,964

Other — 260

Total accounts payable and other current liabilities $ 1,406 $ 4,024
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6. Related-Party Convertible Notes

During the second quarter of 2020, the Company entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with Electrum Silver
US LLC, an affiliate and large shareholder, for the issuance of an aggregate of $ 15,000 of convertible notes. The convertible notes
incurred an annual interest of 5 %. On October 30, 2020, the outstanding $ 15,000 in convertible notes and $ 187 in accrued interest
were converted into 2,712,003 shares of common stock of the Company as a result of the IPO in accordance with the conversion
terms, and the Company incurred non-cash interest expense of $ 3,984 .

7. Related-Party Transactions
LGJIV

Under the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement, the Company provides certain management and administrative services.
The Company earned $ 5,000 and $ 3,900 under this agreement for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and
received $ 5,367 and $ 766 in cash from the LGJV under this agreement for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The Company had receivables under this agreement of $ 833 and $ 1,200 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The Company also incurs certain LGJV costs that are subsequently reimbursed by the LGJV. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, $ 5,850 of receivables under this agreement, as well as other outstanding receivables to be reimbursed by the
LGJV, were converted to capital of the LGJV, increasing Investment in affiliates.

SSMRC

The Company had a Management Services Agreement with Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation (“SSMRC”) (f.k.a
SOP), pursuant to which the Company provided certain limited executive and managerial advisory services to SSMRC until terminated
by either party. SSMRC reimbursed the Company for costs of such services. The Company earned $ 16 and $ 41 from SSMRC under
this agreement during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This agreement was terminated effective
December 31, 2021.

8. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company is authorized to issue 700,000,000 shares of $ 0.001 par value common stock and 50,000,000 shares of $ 0.001
par value preferred stock. As of December 31, 2021, 69,162,223 shares of common stock are outstanding, and no shares of preferred
stock are outstanding.

Common Stock Transactions

On July 19, 2021, the Company completed a follow-on public offering of 8,930,000 shares of common stock at a price of $
14.00 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $ 118,894 , after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. On August 18, 2021,
the Company issued an additional 286,962 shares of common stock at a price of $ 14.00 per share, through the exercise of the over-
allotment option, with net proceeds from the additional issuance of $ 3,837 , after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions.
Additionally, the Company incurred an additional $ 1,700 in other costs related to the offering.

During October 2020, in connection with the Reorganization, each share of common stock was exchanged for approximately
0.39406 shares of the Company’s common stock (subject to rounding to eliminate fractional shares). In October 2020, the Company
completed an IPO of 21,430,000 common stock shares, and in November 2020, the Company issued an additional 3,214,500 common
stock shares through the underwriters’ over-allotment option, each at $ 7.00 per share raising an aggregate of $ 172,512 . Underwriting
fees incurred in conjunction with the IPO and issuance of additional common stock are recorded as a reduction to Paid-in Capital. In
October 2020, the Company also issued 47,061 common stock shares to executive officers for deferred salary compensation incurred
in 2020 and converted the outstanding convertible notes into 2,712,003 common stock shares, each at $ 7.00 per share.
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Stock-Based Compensation
Equity Compensation Plan

The Company has a Long-Term Incentive Plan under which options and shares of the Company’s common stock are
authorized for grant or issuance as compensation to eligible employees, consultants, and members of the Board of Directors. Awards
under the plan include stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, deferred stock units, and performance awards. Stock
options, performance awards and deferred stock units have been granted by the Company in different periods. As of December 31,
2021, approximately 8.1 million shares of common stock were available for grant under the plan. The Company recognized stock-based
compensation expense as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Stock Options $ 7,162 $ 4,368
PSUs 22 _
$ 7,184 $ 4,368

Stock Option Transactions

The Company'’s stock options have a contractual term of 10 years and entitle the holder to purchase one share of the
Company’s common stock. The options granted to the Company’s employees and LGJV personnel prior to 2020 have a requisite
service period of four years and vest in equal annual installments. Starting in 2020, the options granted to the Company’s employees
and LGJV personnel have a requisite service period of three years. The sign on options granted to the Company’s President in June
2021 vest in three equal tranches, the first of which vested immediately, and the remainder on the first and second anniversaries of
employment with the Company, subject to continued employment on such vesting dates. The options granted to non-employee
directors prior to 2020 have a requisite service period of one year and vest in equal monthly installments. The options granted to non-
employee directors in January 2020 have a requisite service period of one and a half years and vest in monthly installments. The
options granted to non-employee directors in June 2021 have a requisite service period of one year and vest in semi-annual
installments. On December 31, 2021, there was $ 10,346 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

The following table summarizes the respective vesting start dates and number of options granted to employees and directors in
2021 and 2020:

Recipient

Options Granted

Vesting Start Date

Grant Date

Directors 197,666 January 20, 2020 January 20, 2020
Employees 416,000 January 20, 2020 January 20, 2020
Employees 164,000 January 30, 2020 January 30, 2020
Directors 20,667 March 1, 2020 March 1, 2020
Employees 12,000 July 31, 2020 July 31, 2020
Employees 1,127,500 October 27, 2020 October 27, 2020
Employees 100,000 March 31, 2021 May 14, 2021
Directors 7,253 May 14, 2021 May 14, 2021
Directors 32,466 June 1, 2021 June 22, 2021
Employees 283,333 June 1, 2021 June 22, 2021
Employees 66,667 June 22, 2021 June 22, 2021
Employees 589,500 December 27,2021 December 27, 2021
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The following assumptions were used to compute the fair value of the options granted using the Black-Scholes option valuation

model:
Grant Date

Jan. Mar. Jul. Oct. May Jun. Dec.

2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021
Risk-free interest rate 1.63 % 1.63 % 1.63 % 0.51 % 1.06 % 1.05 % 1.34 %
Dividend yield — — — — — — —
Estimated volatility 62.20% 62.20% 62.20 % 62.50 % 6259% 6253%  60.88 %
Expected option life 6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share was $ 7.54 and $ 5.65 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

The following assumptions were used to compute the fair value of the LGJV Personnel options using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:

December 31,

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate 1.35% 0.51 %
Dividend yield — —
Estimated volatility 60.86 % 62.09 %
Expected option life 6 years 6 years

The Company'’s estimated volatility computation was based on the historical volatility of a group of peer companies’ common
stock over the expected option life and included both exploration stage and development stage companies. Prior to our IPO in October
2020, our common stock was not publicly traded. As a result, the expected volatility assumption was based on peer information due to
insufficient market trading history required to calculate a meaningful volatility factor. The computation of the expected option life was
determined based on a reasonable expectation of the option life prior to being exercised or forfeited. The risk-free interest rate
assumption was based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity yield at the date of the grant over the expected life of the option. No
dividends were expected to be paid.

The following tables summarize the stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Aggregate Average

Exercise Intrinsic Remaining

Employee & Director Options Shares Price Value Life (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 5,411,930 $ 12.52 — —
Granted 1,079,219 $ 13.30 — —
Exercised (602,181) $ 8.30 — —
Forfeited (15,000) $ 7.00 — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 5,873,968 $ 1311 $ 8,107 5.70
Vested at December 31, 2021 3,817,271  $ 1427 $ 4,560 411
Weighted- Weighted-

Average Aggregate Average
Exercise Intrinsic Remaining
LGJV Personnel Options Shares Price Value Life (Years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 43,676 $ 7.23 — —
Exercised (11,283) $ 7.00 — —
Outstanding and vested at December 31, 2021 32,393 % 731 $ 99 4.27

The total fair value of stock options vested during the year ended December 31, 2021, was $ 5,712 . The total intrinsic value of
stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2021, was $ 4,548 . For the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company received cash payments from the exercise of stock options totaling $ 4,996 .
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Performance Share Unit Transactions

Performance share units granted are reported as equity awards at fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model.
On December 17, 2021, 119,790 PSUs were granted to the Company’s employees with a weighted average grant date fair value per
share of $ 14.22 . The PSUs are based on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to a peer group over a three-year
performance period. The number of PSUs awarded can range from 0 % to 200 % of the initial award granted, depending on the TSR
percentile rank of the Company relative to the peer group, and are payable in common stock or cash, at the Company’s discretion, at
the end of their performance period.

Compensation expense is recognized ratably from the grant date over the requisite three-year vesting period. On December
31, 2021, unrecognized compensation expense related to the PSUs was $ 1,682 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 3.0 years.

The following assumptions were used to compute the fair value of PSUs granted during 2021:

Risk-free interest rate 0.95 %
Dividend yield —
Estimated volatility 63.0 %

Deferred Stock Unit Transactions

Deferred stock units are awarded to directors at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The DSUs are fully vested on the grant
date and each DSU entitles the holder to receive one share of the Company’s common stock upon the director’s cessation of
continuous service. In addition, senior executives are eligible to elect to defer receipt of any portion of cash compensation or equity
compensation awards other than from the exercise of stock options and take payment in the form of DSUs. Non-employee directors are
eligible to elect to defer receipt of any portion of annual retainers or meeting awards and take payment in the form of DSUs. The DSU
entitles the holder to receive one share of the Company’s common stock at either a date specified in the deferral election or cessation
of service, whichever comes first. The fair value of DSUs are equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date.
The Company recognized DSU expense of $ 879 for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The following table summarizes the DSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Director DSUs Shares Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 182,714 —
Granted 112,803 $ 11.45
Converted (148,721) $ 8.67
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 146,796 $ 10.88

The total fair value of DSUs vested for the year ended December 31, 2021, was $ 1,292, and the total intrinsic value of DSUs
converted during the year ended December 31, 2021, was $ 861 .

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Company establishes a framework for measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities in the form of a fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes the inputs into valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. This hierarchy gives the highest
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Further, financial assets and
liabilities should be classified by level in their entirety based upon the lowest level of input that was significant to the fair value
measurement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the
measurement date.
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Level 2: Quoted prices in inactive markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets, or other observable inputs either directly related to the asset or liability or derived principally from corroborated observable
market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs due to the fact there is little or no market activity. This entails using assumptions in models which
estimate what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
accounts payable and other current liabilities are carried at amortized cost, which approximate fair value due to their short maturities
and are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value of the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility (the “Credit
Facility”) entered into on July 12, 2021 approximates fair value due to its variable short-term interest rate, which is updated every one
to three months to correlate with current market rates and is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company had a $
13,000 outstanding balance under its Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

The Company discloses and recognizes its non-financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis and makes
adjustments to fair value, as needed (for example, when there is evidence of impairment).

The Company recorded its initial investment in affiliates at fair value within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, as the valuation
was determined based on internally developed assumptions with few observable inputs and no market activity. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded impairment charges associated with the investment in the LGJV, and reduced the carrying
amount of such asset subject to the impairment to their estimated fair value. See Note 15 — Investment in Affiliates for additional
information on the impairment.

10. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

In determining its accruals and disclosures with respect to loss contingencies, the Company will charge to income an estimated
loss if information available prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred
at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal expenses associated with the
commitments and contingencies are expensed as incurred. If a loss contingency is not probable or reasonably estimable, disclosure of
the loss contingency is made in the combined financial statements when it is at least reasonably possible that a material loss could be
incurred.

Environmental Contingencies

The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws, regulations and permits governing the protection
of the environment. These laws, regulations and permits are continually changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. The
Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws, regulations and permits, but cannot
predict the full amount of such future expenditures.

Legal

On February 22, 2022, a purported Gatos stockholder filed a putative class action lawsuit in the United States District Court for
the District of Colorado against the Company, certain of our former officers, and several directors. An amended complaint was filed on
August 15, 2022. The amended complaint, allegedly brought on behalf of certain purchasers of Gatos common stock and certain
traders of call and put options on Gatos common stock from December 9, 2020 through January 25, 2022, seeks, among other things,
damages, costs, and expenses, and asserts claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as well as
Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. The amended complaint alleges that certain individual defendants and Gatos,
pursuant to the control and authority of the individual defendants, made false and misleading statements and/or omitted certain material
information regarding the mineral resources and reserves at the Cerro Los Gatos mine. Gatos and all defendants filed a motion to
dismiss this action on October 14, 2022. That motion was fully briefed as of December 23, 2022.
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By Notice of Action issued February 9, 2022 and subsequent Statement of Claim dated March 11, 2022 |zabela Przybylska
commenced a putative class action against Gatos Silver, Inc. (“Gatos”), certain of its former officers and directors, and others in the
Ontario Superior Court of Justice on behalf of a purported class of all persons or entities, wherever they may reside or be domiciled,
who acquired securities of Gatos in both the primary and secondary markets during the period from October 28, 2020 until January 25,
2022. The action asserts claims under Canadian securities legislation and at common law and seeks unspecified monetary damages
and other relief in respect of allegations the defendants made false and misleading statements and omitted material information
regarding the mineral resources and reserves of Gatos. The plaintiff filed motion materials for leave to proceed in respect of her
statutory claims and for class certification on March 3, 2023. The court has tentatively set dates in late March of 2024 for the hearing of
the plaintiff's motions.

There can be no assurance that any of the foregoing matters individually or in aggregate will not result in outcomes that are
materially adverse for us.

Dowa Debt Agreements

In July 2017, the LGJV Entities entered into a loan agreement (the “Term Loan”) with Dowa whereby the LGJV Entities could
borrow up to $ 210,000 for LGD development, with a maturity date of December 29, 2027. Interest on the Term Loan accrued daily at
LIBOR plus 2.35 %, with the interest added to the amount borrowed until commencement of production. During 2018, the LGJV paid
Dowa a $ 4,200 closing fee. Commencing June 30, 2021, 14 consecutive semi-annual equal payments of the aggregate principal and
capitalized interest began. The Company was required to pay an arrangement fee on the borrowing, calculated as 2 % per annum of 70
% of the outstanding principal balance, payable in semi-annual installments, on that date, which was two business days prior to
June 30 and December 31 each fiscal year until maturity, commencing after the initial drawdown, which occurred in July 2018. The
Term Loan also required additional principal payments equal to 70 % of excess cash flows (as defined).

On July 26, 2021, the Term Loan was repaid in full through capital contributions made to the LGJV by the Company and Dowa
in amounts equal to their pro-rata ownership in the LGJV of 70 % and 30 %, respectively. In conjunction with the repayment, the
Company paid a fee to Dowa of $ 10,000 .

On January 23, 2018, the LGJV entered into a loan agreement (the “Dowa MPR Loan”) with Dowa whereby the LGJV could
borrow up to $ 65,700 to continue LGD development. Interest on this loan accrued daily at LIBOR plus 1.5 % and was added to the
amount borrowed. The amount borrowed plus accrued interest was due the earlier of June 30, 2019, or upon LGD'’s substantial
completion. If the Dowa MPR Loan was not repaid in full on or before the due date, Dowa could elect to convert all or a portion of the
principal amount into additional LGJV ownership at a favorable conversion rate.

In connection with entering into the WCF (as defined below), the Company contributed $ 18,200 to the LGJV in May 2019 to
provide funding for partial repayment of principal and interest related to the Dowa MPR Loan. In late May 2019, the Dowa MPR Loan
was fully extinguished with a cash payment of $ 18,200 and the conversion of the remaining $ 50,737 of principal and interest. The
conversion of the remaining principal and interest increased Dowa'’s ownership in the LGJV entities by 18.5 % to 48.5 %. On March 11,
2021, the Company repurchased the 18.5 % interest from Dowa, for a total consideration of $ 71,550, increasing the Company’s
ownership in the LGJV to 70.0 %. These transactions resulted in a $ 47,400 higher basis than the underlying net assets of the LGJV
Entities. This basis difference is being amortized as the LGJV Entities’ proven and probable reserves are processed.

On May 30, 2019, the LGJV entered into a working capital facility agreement (the “WCF”) with Dowa whereby the LGJV could
borrow up to $ 60,000 to fund the working capital and sustaining capital requirements of the LGD. Interest on this loan accrued daily at
LIBOR plus 3.0 % and all outstanding principal and interest was to mature on June 28, 2021. The Company was required to pay an
arrangement fee on the borrowing, calculated as 15.0 % per annum of 70.0 % of the average daily principal amount outstanding under
the WCF during such fiscal quarter. On March 11, 2021, the $ 60,000 outstanding under the WCF was extinguished using funds
contributed to the LGJV. The Company'’s pro-rata capital contribution to the LGJV was $ 42,000 .

The Company guarantees the payment of all obligations, including accrued interest, under the LGJV equipment loan

agreements. As of December 31, 2021, the LGJV had $ 6,011 outstanding under the LGJV equipment loan agreements, net of
unamortized debt discount of $ 14 , with varying maturity dates through August 2023.
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11. Debt

On July 12, 2021, the Company entered into a Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provides for a revolving line of credit in a
principal amount of $ 50,000 and has an accordion feature which at the time allowed for an increase in the total line of credit up to $
100,000 , subject to certain conditions. Loans under the Credit Facility bears interest at a rate equal to either the LIBOR rate plus a
margin ranging from 3.00 % to 4.00 % or the U.S. Base Rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00 % to 3.00 %, as selected by the
Company, in each case, with such margin determined in accordance with the Company’s consolidated net leverage ratio as of the end
of the applicable period. The Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants that are customary for credit agreements of this
nature. The affirmative covenants consist of a leverage ratio, a liquidity covenant and an interest coverage ratio. The negative
covenants include, among other things, limitations on asset sales, mergers, acquisitions, indebtedness, liens, dividends and
distributions, investments and transactions with affiliates. Obligations under the Credit Facility may be accelerated upon the occurrence
of certain customary events of default. The Company complied with all covenants under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.

On July 19, 2021, the Company borrowed $ 13,000 under the Credit Facility at a rate of LIBOR plus 3 %. Debt issuance costs
of $ 442 were to be amortized through July 31, 2024, prior to the amended and restated Credit Facility (see terms below). The current
balance outstanding on the Credit Facility is $ 9,000 , following a $ 4,000 principal repayment in December 2022.

The Company recognized interest expense of $ 185 and $ 62 for amortization of debt issuance cost, for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The Company paid interest of $ 168 for the year ended December 31, 2021.

On March 7, 2022, the Company amended the Credit Facility with the lender, Bank of Montreal (“‘BMQ”), to address potential
loan covenant deficiencies. The amendment included the following revisions:

e audited financial statements were to be provided prior to November 15, 2022;

e the credit limit was reduced to $ 30,000, until the Company delivered a new LOM CLG financial model with updated
mineral reserves;

e upon assessment of the new CLG financial model, BMO, in its sole discretion, may increase the credit limit up to the
original $ 50,000 ;

e requirement to provide updated financial projections for the CLG by September 30, 2022. The financial projections were
provided by the required date and it was used as the basis for the amendment entered into on December 19, 2022
discussed below; and

e waivers of certain defaults, events of default, representations and warranties and covenants arising out of the facts that led
to the potential reduction in metal content of the Company’s previously stated mineral reserve figures.

On December 19, 2022, the Company entered an amended and restated Credit Facility with BMO extending the maturity date
and re-establishing a credit limit of $ 50,000 , with an accordion feature providing up to an additional $ 25,000 . Key terms of the
amended Credit Facility include:

e audited financial statements for fiscal years 2021 are to be provided no later than April 15, 2023, and audited financial
statements for fiscal year 2022 and unaudited financial statements for the first three fiscal quarters in fiscal year 2022 are
to be provided no later than April 30, 2023;

e $ 50,000 revolving line of credit with an accordion feature, which allows for an increase in the total line of credit up to $
75,000, subject to certain conditions;
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e The maturity date is extended from July 31, 2024 to December 31, 2025;
e A change in the benchmark interest rate from LIBOR to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”); and

e Loans under the Revolver bear interest at a rate equal to either a term SOFR rate plus a margin ranging from 3.00 % to
4.00 % or a U.S. base rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00 % to 3.00 %, as selected by the Company.

12. Income Taxes

The components of loss from continuing operations before income taxes were as follows for the years ended December 31:

2021 2020
u.s. $(39,559) $(32,964)
Mexico (3,879)  (2,063)
Total $(43,438) $(35,027)

The consolidated income tax benefit from continuing operations consisted of nil and nil , for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

A reconciliation of the actual income tax benefit and the tax computed by applying the applicable U.S. federal rate of 21 % to
the loss before income taxes is as follows for the years ended December 31:

2021 2020

Tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations $ 8307 $ 7,356
State tax benefit from continuing operations (2) 1,577
Nondeductible Expenses (8,368) (773)
Change in Valuation Allowance (3,942) (8,707)
Effect of Change in Tax Rates (9,223) 2,991
US/Foreign Tax Rate Differential — 49
True-up MLS at 30% MX tax rate (3,059) —
Current Year NOL Utilization — (2,186)
True-up LGV 15,303 —
True-up Stock Options 1,025 —
Other (41) (307)
Total income tax benefit $ — 3 —
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The components of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are summarized as follows for the year ended:

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets
Accrued compensation $ 29 % 457
Deferred share unit awards 427 218
Investment in affiliate 27,800 —
Other accrued liabilities 21 26
Mineral properties 2,057 2,487
Operating loss carryforward 22,340 30,729
Foreign branch tax benefit — 14,091
Stock Options 8,399 8,182
Loan Fees — 1,303
Other 22 27
Valuation allowances (60,262) (56,320)
Total deferred tax assets $ 833 $ 1,200
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment (229) (276)
Exploration and Development (19) (16)
Prepaid expenses (585) (908)

Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)

(833) $ (1,200)
—_ % —

$
$

Based upon the level of taxable income (loss) and projections of future taxable income (loss) over the periods in which the
deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of
these deductible differences, and thus has recorded a valuation allowance from continuing operations against the United States and
Mexico net deferred tax asset balances of $ 60,262 . If the Company is profitable for a number of years, and the prospects for the
realization of the deferred tax assets become more likely than not, the Company will then reverse all or a portion of the valuation
allowance that could result in a reduction of future reported income tax expense.

At December 31, 2021, the Company had $ 103,796 of net operating loss carryforwards from continuing operations in the
United States. Of the total net operating loss from continuing operations, $ 84,866 expire at various dates through 2037, and $ 18,930
may be carried forward indefinitely. There are also $ 7,574 of net operating loss carryforwards (net of inflation adjustments) in Mexico
which expire at various dates through 2031. No assets have been recognized for net operating loss carryforwards where the Company
believes it is more likely than not that the net operating losses will not be realized. The Company will monitor the valuation on an
ongoing basis and will make the appropriate adjustments as necessary should circumstances change.

The Company has adopted the provisions of ASC 740-10, Income Taxes. The Company files income tax returns in the U.S.,
Mexico, Colorado, Idaho, Montana and Utah. The Company’s foreign assets and operations are owned by entities that have elected to
be treated for U.S. tax purposes as corporations and, as a result, the taxable income or loss and other tax attributes of such entities are
not included in the Company’s U.S. federal consolidated income tax return. The statute of limitations for tax returns filed in the U.S. and
Mexico is three years and five years, respectively, from the date of filing. The Company’s 2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019 U.S. tax returns
are subject to examinations by U.S. tax authorities until 2025, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The Company is no longer subject to
examinations by Mexico tax authorities for years prior to 2017.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has not recognized any increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits, as it is

more likely than not that all tax positions will be upheld by the taxing authorities. The Company reports tax penalties in income tax
expense. No such penalties were recognized during the periods presented.
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13. Discontinued Operations

On October 30, 2020, in conjunction with the IPO, Gatos Silver, Inc. (f.k.a. Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation prior
to October 30, 2020) completed the distribution of its reportable U.S. segment, which was comprised of SOP. SOP holds an interest in
the Sunshine Complex located in the Coeur d’Alene Mining District in Idaho and is comprised of the Sunshine Mine and the Sunshine
Big Creek Refinery. To effect the distribution, the Company distributed, on a pro rata basis, all equity interest of SOP to its stockholders
of record immediately prior to completion of the IPO. Shareholders received approximately 0.10594 shares of common stock of SOP for
every share of the Company’s common stock held. SOP became a wholly owned subsidiary of a newly created Delaware corporation
named Silver Opportunity Partners Corporation, subsequently renamed to Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation.

The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the consolidated statements of operations. The results of

operations for this entity for the period ended October 30, 2020, have been reflected as discontinued operations in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, and consist of the following:

December 31,

2020
OPERATING EXPENSES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Exploration $ 352
Pre-development 1,700
General and administrative 1,431
Amortization 1,935
Total expenses 5,418
Other Income of Discontinued Operations
Other income (4)
Net Loss of Discontinued Operations $ 5,414
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The Company has separately reported the cash flow activity of the discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
cash flows. The cash flow activity from discontinued operations for the period ended October 30, 2020, have been reflected as
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and consist of the
following:

December 31,

2020
Discontinued Operating Activities
Net loss $ (5414)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:
Amortization 1,935
Stock compensation expense 195
Accretion expense 91
Other —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (256)
Materials and supplies inventory (2)
Other current assets (2)
Net cash used by operating activities of discontinued operations (3,453)
Investing Activities of Discontinued Operations
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (22)
Transfers of restricted cash to cash 40
Net cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations 18
Financing Activities of Discontinued Operations
Related-party convertible notes 500
PPP Loan proceeds 307
Net cash provided by financing activities of discontinued operations 807

14. Segment Information

The Company operates in a single industry as a corporation engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of
primarily silver mineral interests. The Company has mineral property interests in Mexico. The Company’s reportable segments are
based on the Company’s mineral interests and management structure and include Mexico and Corporate segments. The Mexico
segment engages in the exploration, development and operation of the Company’s Mexican mineral interests and includes the
Company'’s investment in its LGJV. Financial information relating to the Company’s segments is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Year Ended December 31, 2020
Mexico Corporate Total Mexico Corporate Total
Exploration $ 1,657 $ —  $ 1657 $ 785 $ — 3 785
General and administrative 1,424 19,469 20,893 549 7,216 7,765
Amortization — 89 89 — 30 30
Arrangement fees — 195 195 — 4,843 4,843
Interest expense — 185 185 — 4,047 4,047
Equity (income) loss in affiliates (35,883) — (35,883) 17,585 — 17,585
Impairment of investment in affiliates — 51,564 51,564 — — —
Other (income) expense 40 4,698 4,738 9 (37) (28)
Total assets 74,637 292,474 367,111 38,326 227,084 265,410
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15. Investment in Affiliates

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized income of $ 35,883 and a loss of $ 17,585,
respectively, on its investment in the LGJV Entities, representing its ownership share of the LGJV Entities’ results. The equity income or
loss in affiliate includes amortization of the carrying value of the investment in excess of the underlying net assets of the LGJV Entities.
This basis difference is being amortized as the LGJV Entities’ proven and probable reserves are processed.

On November 10, 2022, the Company provided an updated technical report, the Los Gatos Technical Report. The Los Gatos
Technical Report indicated a significant decrease in the mineral reserve and mineral resource from the previously issued technical
report in 2020. The Company considered this reduction in the mineral reserve and mineral resources as an indicator of a possible
other-than-temporary impairment and as a result compared the carrying value of the LGJV on December 31, 2021 to the fair value of
the LGJV.

The fair value of the LGJV was estimated based on the net present value (“NPV”) of the expected cash flows to be generated
by the LGJV on 70 % basis. The discount rate used was 5.00 %. The fair value of the investment in the LGJV was estimated to be $
355,310 and the carrying value at December 31, 2021 was $ 406,874 . Since the carrying value is exceeding the fair value, an
impairment charge of $ 51,564 was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2021. See Note 9 — Fair Value Measurements for additional
detail of the assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the long-lived assets tested for impairment.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company contributed $ 260,039 to the LGJV to repurchase 18.5 % of the
ownership of the LGJV, to retire the WCF and the Term Loan and in support of exploration activities. For the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company contributed $ 17,227 to the LGJV in support of continued operations in the form of cash and receivables converted
to capital of the LGJV, as described in Note 7 — Related-Party Transactions.

In April 2022, July 2022 and November 2022, the Company received dividends from the LGJV in the amount of $ 5,936, $
9,975 and $ 13,300, respectively.

The LGJV Entities’ combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and combined statements of income (loss)
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, are as follows:
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ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
VAT receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-Current Assets
Mine development, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Net deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ CAPITAL
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Related party payable
Accrued interest
Unearned revenue
Income taxes
Equipment loans
Term Loan
Working Capital Facility
Total current liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Term Loan
Equipment loans
Asset retirement obligation
Total non-current liabilities
Owners’ Capital
Capital contributions
Paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Total owners’ capital
Total Liabilities and Owners’ Capital

LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

December 31,

December 31,

2021 2020

$ 20280 $ 1,676
11,263 3,988

11,062 10,315

46,242 50,732

4,515 2,891

93,362 69,602
229,076 202,874
190,896 196,942

9,226 —

429,198 399,816

$ 522,560 $ 469,418
$ 33179 $ 35,767
1,609 1,703

51 101

1,714 3,276

6,315 —

5,534 7,084

= 31,826

— 60,000

48,402 139,757

- 187,767

478 6,120

14,706 12,162

15,184 206,049
540,638 271,368
18,370 16,366
(100,034) (164,122)
458,974 123,612

$ 522,560 $ 469,418
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Revenue $ 249,194 $ 121,470
Expenses
Cost of sales 97,710 65,005
Royalties 4,781 2,148
Exploration 5,383 841
General and administrative 13,345 9,718
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 52,402 44,904
Other — 3,416
Total expenses 173,621 126,032
Other income (expense)
Interest expense (5,542) (12,484)
Loss on Term Loan extinguishment (4,359) —
Arrangement fee (2,090) (8,888)
Accretion expense (924) (849)
Other income 222 109
Foreign exchange loss (749) (1,042)
Total other expense (13,442) (23,154)
Income (loss) before taxes 62,131 (27,716)
Mining tax expense (954) —
Income (loss) before income taxes 61,177 (27,716)
Income tax benefit 2,911 —
Net income (loss) $ 64,088 $ (27,716)
16. Subsequent Events

The LGJV paid its first dividend of $ 20 million to its partners in April 2022. After withholding taxes and payment of the initial $
10.3 million priority dividend to Dowa, we received $ 6 million. In July 2022 and November 2022, the LGJV paid additional dividends in
the amount of $ 15 million and $ 20 million, respectively, to its partners. The Company'’s share, after withholding taxes, was $ 10 million
and $ 13.3 million, respectively, for the July 2022 and November 2022 dividend payments.

On December 19, 2022, we entered into an amended and restated Credit Facility with BMO extending the maturity date and
re-establishing a credit limit of $ 50 million, with an accordion feature, as further described above.
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Report of Independent Auditors
To Board of Managers of Los Gatos Joint Venture
Opinion

We have audited the combined financial statements of Los Gatos Joint Venture , which comprise the combined balance sheet as of
December 31, 2021, and the related combined statements of income (loss), of owners’ capital and cash flows for the year then ended,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “combined financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying combined financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Los
Gatos Joint Venture at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Combined Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Los Gatos Joint Venture and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Other Matter

The combined financial statements of the Los Gatos Joint Venture for the year ended December 31, 2020, were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those combined financial statements on March 29, 2021.

Responsibilities of Management for the Combined Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free of material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the combined financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered
in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Los Gatos Joint Venture’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after
the date that the combined financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Combined Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as a whole are free of material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the combined financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
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e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the combined financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Los Gatos Joint Venture’s internal
control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the combined financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt
about Los Gatos Joint Venture’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

/sl Ernst and Young LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
March 8, 2023
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
VAT receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-Current Assets
Mine development, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Net deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ CAPITAL
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Related party payable
Accrued interest
Unearned revenue
Income taxes
Equipment loans
Term Loan
Working Capital Facility
Total current liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Term Loan
Equipment loans
Asset retirement obligation
Total non-current liabilities
Owners’ Capital
Capital contributions
Paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total owners’ capital

Total Liabilities and Owners’ Capital

See accompanying notes to the combined financial statements.
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Notes 2021 2020
$ 20280 $ 1,676
11,263 3,988
4 11,062 10,315
46,242 50,732
5 4,515 2,891
93,362 69,602
229,076 202,874
6 190,896 196,942
15 9,226 —
429,198 399,816
$ 522560 $ 469,418
7 $ 33179 $ 35767
1,609 1,703
51 101
3 1,714 3,276
15 6,315 =
14 5,534 7,084
9 — 31,826
9 — 60,000
48,402 139,757
9 — 187,767
14 478 6,120
11 14,706 12,162
15,184 206,049
540,638 271,368
18,370 16,366
(100,034) (164,122)
458,974 123,612
$ 522560 $ 469,418
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars)

Revenue
Expenses
Cost of sales
Royalties
Exploration
General and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Other
Total expenses

Other income (expense)
Interest expense
Loss on Term Loan extinguishment
Arrangement fee
Accretion expense
Other income
Foreign exchange loss
Total other expense

Income (loss) before taxes

Mining tax expense

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit

Net income (loss)

See accompanying notes to the combined financial statements.

Notes 2021 2020
3 249,194 $ 121,470
97,710 65,005
4,781 2,148
5,383 841
8 13,345 9,718
52,402 44,904
— 3,416
173,621 126,032
(5,542) (12,484)
9 (4,359) —
(2,090) (8,888)
11 (924) (849)
222 109
(749) (1,042)
(13,442) (23,154)
62,131 (27,716)
(954) —
61,177 (27,716)
15 2,911 —
64,088 $  (27,716)
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OWNERS’ CAPITAL

(In thousands of United States dollars)

Balance at December 31, 2019
Contributions

Costs paid by investor

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2020
Contributions

Costs paid by investor

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2021

Capital Accumulated

Contributions Paid-in Capital Deficit Total
$ 237,905 $ 7,400 $ (136,406) $ 108,899
33,463 — — 33,463
— 8,966 — 8,966
— — (27,716) (27,716)
$ 271,368 $ 16,366 $ (164,122) $ 123,612
269,270 — — 269,270
— 2,004 — 2,004
— — 64,088 64,088
$ 540,638 $ 18,370 $ (100,034) $ 458,974

See accompanying notes to the combined financial statements.
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(In thousands of United States dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Accretion

Arrangement fee

Deferred taxes

Unrealized loss on foreign currency rate change

Term Loan closing fee

Loss on Term Loan extinguishment

Interest Expense

Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

VAT receivable

Receivables

Inventories

Unearned revenue

Other current assets

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities

Payables to related parties

Accrued interest

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Mine development
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Materials and supplies inventory
Net cash used by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Capital contributions
Equipment loan payments
Working Capital Facility extinguishment
Term Loan closing fee
Term Loan payment
Term Loan retirement
Related party borrowing

Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Interest paid

Supplemental dislosure of noncash transactions:

Conversion of capital advances to equity

Conversion of related party capital advances to equity

Conversion of Term Loan to equity

Conversion of related party accrued interest to debt
Materials and supplies included in accrued liabilities

Mine development costs included in accrued liabilities
Property, plant and equipment included in accrued liabilities

See accompanying notes to the combined financial statements.

Notes 2021 2020
$ 64,088  $ (27,716)

51,969 44,905

2,544 849

2,090 8,888

(2,912) —

2,875 4,696

9 1,585 —
9 2,775 —
— 111

347 77
2,077 (6,071)

(7,275) 1,667

(2,055) 5,055

(1,562) 3,276
(1,918) (1,781)

5,318 9,569

(109) 4,276

(51) 71

119,787 47,872
(58,125) (50,618)
(20,052) (14,249)

(868) 431
(79,045) (64,436)

207,209 5,000
(7,040) (6,966)

9 (60,000) =
9 (1,585) —
9 (15,913) =
9 (144,809) —
= 18,904

(22,138) 16,938

18,604 374

1,676 1,302

$ 20280 § 1,676

$ 6,189 $ 7,406

$ — 3 9,448

$ — 3 18,904

$ 62,061 $ —

$ — 3 854

$ 2177 $ 4,428

$ 6,191 $ 11,229

$ 943 % 8,917
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LOS GATOS JOINT VENTURE
NOTES TO THE COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands of United States dollars, except share, per share and option amounts, tonnes or as otherwise noted)

1. Description of Business and Basis of Preparation

These combined financial statements represent the combined financial position and results of operations of the Los Gatos Joint
Venture (“LGJV"). Unless the context otherwise requires, references to LGJV mean the Los Gatos Joint Venture. The combined
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).

On January 1, 2015, the LGJV was established to develop the Cerro Los Gatos Mine (“CLG”) in northern Mexico. The LGJV
consists of Minera Plata Real S. de R.L. de C.V. (“MPR"), Operaciones San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V (“OSJ"). and Servicios
San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V. (collectively the “LGJV Entities™), until Servicios was merged into MPR, effective July 15, 2021.
Upon completion of their $50,000 funding to the LGJV, Dowa Metals & Mining, Ltd. (‘Dowa”) acquired a 30% interest in the LGJV
Entities and the right to purchase future zinc-concentrate production at market rates. The remaining 70% interest in the LGJV entities
was owned by Gatos Silver, Inc. (“Gatos Silver”) (Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation prior to October 30, 2020). Gatos
Silver contributed $18,200 to OSJ in May 2019 to provide funding for a partial repayment of principal and interest related to the Dowa
MPR Loan. In late May 2019, the Dowa MPR Loan was fully extinguished with a cash payment of $18,200 and the conversion of the
remaining $50,737 of principal and interest. The conversion of the remaining principal and interest increased Dowa’s ownership in the
LGJV entities by 18.5% to 48.5%. On March 11, 2021, Gatos Silver repurchased the 18.5% interest from Dowa. The current ownership
of the LGJV Entities is 70% Gatos Silver and 30% Dowa.

On September 1, 2019, the CLG commenced commercial production of its two concentrate products: a lead-silver concentrate
and a zinc-silver concentrate. The Company’s concentrates are currently sold to third-party customers.

On January 25, 2022, we announced that during our mineral resource and mineral reserve update process for the LGJV, we
concluded that there were errors in the technical report for the Cerro Los Gatos Mine (“CLG") with an effective date of July 1, 2020, as
well as indications that there may be an overestimation in the existing resource model. On November 10, 2022, a new technical report
was filed updating the mineral reserve, mineral resource, and life of mine plan of the CLG.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Risks and uncertainties

As a mining business, the LGJV'’s revenue, profitability and future rate of growth are substantially dependent on prevailing
prices for silver, zinc, lead and gold. Historically, the commodity markets have been quite volatile, and there can be no assurance that
commodity prices will not be subject to wide fluctuations in the future. A substantial or extended decline in commodity prices could have
a material adverse effect on the LGJV'’s financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and the quantities of reserves the LGJV can
economically produce. The carrying value of the LGJV'’s property, plant and equipment, mine development, inventories and stockpiles
are particularly sensitive to the outlook for commaodity prices. A substantial or extended decline in the LGJV's price outlook could result
in material impairment charges related to these assets. Additionally, changes in other factors such as changes in mine plans, increases
in costs, geotechnical failures, and changes in social, environmental or regulatory requirements can adversely affect the LGJV's ability
to recover its investment in certain assets and result in impairment charges.

Calculations of mineral reserves are only estimates and depend on geological interpretation and statistical inferences or
assumptions drawn from drilling and sampling analysis, which might prove to be materially inaccurate. There is a degree of uncertainty
attributable to the calculation of mineral reserves and mineral resources. Until mineral reserves and mineral resources are actually
mined and processed, the quantity of metal and grades must be considered as estimates only and no assurance can be given that the
indicated levels of metals will be produced. In making determinations about whether to advance any of our projects to development, we
must rely upon estimated calculations for the mineral reserves and mineral resources and grades of mineralization on our properties.
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The estimation of mineral reserves and mineral resources is a subjective process that is partially dependent upon the judgment
of the persons preparing the estimates. The process relies on the quantity and quality of available data and is based on knowledge,
mining experience, statistical analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Valid estimates made at a given time may significantly
change when new information becomes available.

Estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources may have to be recalculated based on changes in metal prices, further
exploration or development activity or actual production experience. This could materially and adversely affect estimates of the volume
or grade of mineralization, estimated recovery rates or other important factors that influence mineral reserves and mineral resources
estimates. The extent to which mineral resources may ultimately be reclassified as mineral reserves is dependent upon the
demonstration of their profitable recovery. Any material changes in volume and grades of mineralization will affect the economic viability
of placing a property into production and a property’s return on capital. We cannot provide assurance that mineralization can be mined
or processed profitably.

Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates have been determined and valued based on assumed future metal prices, cut-
off grades and operating costs that may prove to be inaccurate. Extended declines in the market price for silver, lead and zinc may
render portions of our mineralization uneconomic and result in reduced reported volume and grades, which in turn could have a
material adverse effect on our financial performance, financial position and results of operations.

The LGJV has considered and assessed the risk resulting from its concentrate sales arrangements with its customers. In the
event that the LGJV'’s relationships with its customers are interrupted for any reason, the LGJV believes that it would be able to locate
other customers to purchase its metals concentrates; however, any interruption could temporarily disrupt the LGJV's sale of its
products and adversely affect operating results.

Our business could be adversely affected by the widespread outbreak of a health epidemic, communicable disease or any
other public health crisis. For example, the outbreak of COVID-19 in the United States, Mexico and elsewhere has created significant
business disruption and adversely affected our business and operations. In late March 2020, the Mexican government declared a
national health emergency due to increasing infection rates from the COVID-19 pandemic. Pursuant to the health emergency
declaration, the Mexican government ordered a temporary suspension of all “non-essential” operations nationwide in Mexico, including
mining operations, in order to help combat the spread of COVID-19. In late May 2020, the Mexican government designated mining an
essential service and allowed mines to resume production, subject to deploying COVID-19 prevention protocols. We believe we have
taken appropriate steps to minimize the risk to our employees and to maintain normal business operations. We may take further actions
as may be required by government authorities or as we determine are in the best interests of our employees and business partners
which may cause additional temporary suspension of some or all of our operations in the future.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the combined
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The LGJV bases its estimates on
historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable given the specific circumstances. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include receivables; inventories; mine
development; reclamation and closure obligations; valuation allowances for deferred tax assets; depreciation, depletion and accretion
and the fair value of financial instruments.

Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies

The U.S. dollar is the LGJV's functional currency. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, with the resulting gains or losses reported in foreign
exchange gain (loss) in the computation of net income (loss). Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at
historical exchange rates. Expenses and other income and expense items in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at
average or historical exchange rates.
Cash and cash equivalents

The LGJV considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.
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Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivable balances are reported at outstanding principal amounts, net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts, if deemed necessary. Management evaluates the collectability of receivable account balances to determine the
allowance, if any. Management considers the other party’s credit risk and financial condition, as well as current and projected economic
and market conditions, in determining the amount of the allowance. If management determines a receivable balance is uncollectible,
the uncollectable portion will be recognized as a loss.

Metal and materials inventories

The LGJV's inventories include ore, concentrate and operating materials and supplies. The classification of ore and concentrate
inventories is determined by the production stage of the ore. All inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost
is determined using the average cost method for all inventories and includes applicable taxes and freight. Ore inventory represents
stockpiled ore that is available for processing. Concentrate inventory represents stockpiled lead or zinc concentrate that is available for
shipment or in transit to customers. Ore and concentrate inventories include applicable operating and overhead costs.

Mine development

Mine development costs incurred subsequent to initial establishment of CLG’s proven and probable mineral reserves in early
January 2017 were capitalized as mine development assets until September 1, 2019 when the CLG achieved commercial production.
Subsequent to September 1, 2019, costs incurred to further develop the mine including the building of access ways, ventilation shafts,
lateral access, drifts, ramps and other infrastructure are capitalized to mine development assets. Upon the commencement of
production, capitalized costs are charged to operations as depletion expense using the units-of-production method in the period the
applicable mineral reserves are processed over the estimated proven and probable mineral reserve tonnes directly benefiting from the
capital expenditures. The Los Gatos Technical Report dated November 10, 2022 provides an update to the estimated mineral reserves
and mineral resources since the technical report issued in 2020. The new estimate was applied starting in the fourth quarter of 2021.
The decrease in the mineral reserves and resources and the life of mine resulted in an additional $2,255 of depletion expense incurred
during the fourth quarter of 2021. The LGJV incurred $25,732 and $19,117 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, in depletion expense.

Upon abandonment or sale of a mineral property, any remaining capitalized mine development costs relating to such property
will be removed from the balance sheet and a gain or loss recognized.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of plant and equipment and infrastructure range between three years
and the end of the proven and probable reserves mine life. The Los Gatos Technical Report dated November 10, 2022 provides an
update to the estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources since the technical report issued in 2020. The new estimate was
applied starting in the fourth quarter of 2021. The decrease in the mineral reserves and resources and the life of mine resulted in an
additional $1,064 of depreciation expense incurred during the fourth quarter of 2021. The estimated useful lives of furniture, fixtures and
computers range from three to ten years.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as mine development, property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived
asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, the LGJV first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated
by that asset or asset group to its carrying value. If the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an
undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
determined through various valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party
independent appraisals, as considered necessary. At December 31, 2021, the LGJV tested for possible impairment and determined
that there was not an impairment at December 31, 2021. There were no impairments recognized for 2021 or 2020.
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Value added tax receivable and payable

Value added taxes (“VAT”) are assessed on purchases of materials, services and sales of products. The LGJV is entitled to
recover the taxes they have paid related to purchases of materials and services. The LGJV collects VAT when certain products are sold
to customers. VAT receivables represent refundable value-added taxes paid to the Mexican government on certain transactions in
Mexico. The LGJV records the VAT cash flows as operating activities in the combined statement of cash flows, given the short-term,
refundable and operating characteristics of these cash flows.

Reclamation and remediation costs (asset retirement obligations)

The LGJV has asset retirement obligations (“ARQO”) arising from regulatory requirements to perform certain property and asset
reclamation activities at the end of the respective asset life. An ARO is recognized when incurred and is initially measured at fair value
and subsequently adjusted for accretion expense and changes in the amount or timing of the estimated cash flows. The corresponding
asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and amortized over the asset’s
remaining useful life. The ARO is based on timing of expected spending for an existing environmental disturbance. The LGJV reviews
its ARO every reporting period or when deemed necessary.

Revenue recognition

The LGJV generates revenue by selling silver-bearing lead and zinc concentrates. Concentrate sales are initially recorded
based on the provisional sales prices, net of estimated treatment and refining charges, when it satisfies the performance obligation of
transferring control of the concentrate to the customer. Concentrate revenue is initially recorded on a provisional basis based on
historical prices and provisional assays. Final settlement is based on the final assays and an applicable price as determined by the
quotational period at the time of sale, typically one to three months. Market changes in the prices of metals between the delivery and
final settlement dates will result in adjustments to revenues related to previously recorded sales of concentrate.

Income taxes

The LGJV's income tax jurisdiction is Mexico. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The LGJV recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if
those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is
greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in
judgment occurs. The LGJV recognizes tax penalties in income tax expense.

Recently issued accounting standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02 which will
require lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by most leases on the balance sheet. These
changes become effective for the LGJV's fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022. The LGJV is still assessing the impact of the standard but does not expect a material impact to the
Combined Balance Sheet, Combined Statement of Income (Loss) or the Combined Statements of Cash Flows as a result of the
adoption of ASU 2016-02. The LGJV will provide additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to its leasing arrangements
upon adoption for fiscal year 2022.

In December 2019, ASU No. 2019-12 was issued to simplify accounting for income taxes. This update is effective in fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and early
adoption is permitted. The LGJV does not expect the adoption of ASU 2019-12 to have a material impact on our financial position and
results of operations. The LGJV will provide additional disclosures upon adoption of this guidance in fiscal year 2022.
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3. Revenue

The LGJV’s concentrate sales for the year ended December 31, are summarized below:

2021 2020
Lead Concentrate $ 181,949 $ 90,883
Zinc Concentrate 67,245 30,587

$ 249,194 $ 121,470

During 2021, the LGJV entered into an agreement with a customer for a $9,000 prepayment on future sales, to be satisfied
through the delivery of concentrate through December 31, 2021. The remaining balance of the $9,000 prepayment was repaid in
August 2021. During 2020, the LGJV entered into an agreement with a customer for a $6,000 prepayment on future sales, to be
satisfied through the delivery of concentrate through March 31, 2021. Interest on the prepayment was incurred at 7% per annum, due
monthly. The prepayment balance, presented as unearned revenue on the balance sheet, was $3,276 at December 31, 2020 and was
relieved in March 2021.

As silver, zinc and lead can be sold through numerous market traders worldwide, the LGJV is not economically dependent on a
limited number of customers for the sale of its products. As of December 31, 2021, our total accounts receivable was concentrated with
the following customers: Ocean Partners USA, Inc. (41%), Trafigura Mexico (34%) and MK Metals (18%). The LGJV enters into
contracts with institutions management deems credit worthy. The Company does not anticipate non-performance by any of its
counterparties.

4. Inventories

The LGJV’s inventories as of December 31, are summarized below:

2021 2020
Ore stockpiles $ 777 $ 1,178
Concentrate stockpiles 1,308 590
Material & supplies 8,977 8,547

$ 11,062 $ 10,315

5. Other Current Assets

The LGJV's other current assets as of December 31, are summarized below:

2021 2020
Prepaid expenses $ 4169 $ 2,179
Deposits and other 346 712
Total other current assets $ 4515 $ 2,891
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment, net

The LGJV's property, plant and equipment as of December 31, are summarized below:

2021 2020
Mineral properties $ 853 $ 853
Plant & equipment 72,574 69,297
Land 14,422 14,422
Infrastructure & improvements 169,756 152,942
Furniture, fixtures & computers 609 509
Property, plant & equipment at cost 258,214 238,023
Less accumulated amortization (67,318) (41,081)
Property, plant & equipment, net $ 190,896 $ 196,942

Mineral Properties
The LGJV conducts exploration activities under mining concessions in Mexico.

The LGJV is required to make mineral and concession lease payments to various entities to secure its claims or surface rights.
One of these agreements also requires royalty payments based on the production and sale of minerals.

Mining Concessions and Agreement

In Mexico, mineral concessions from the Mexican government can only be held by Mexican nationals or Mexican-incorporated
companies. The concessions are valid for 50 years and are extendable provided the concessions are kept in good standing. For
concessions to remain in good standing, a semi-annual fee must be paid to the Mexican government and a report must be filed
each year which covers the work accomplished on the property during the previous year. These concessions may be cancelled without
penalty with prior notice to the Mexican government.

MPR is the concession holder of a series of mineral concessions granted by the Mexican government. The rights to certain
concessions are held through exploration agreements with purchase options or a finder's fee agreement, as discussed below:

La Cuesta International S.A. de C.V. (La Cuesta)

The LGJV is required to pay a production royalty of a) 2% net smelter return on production from the concession until all
payments reach $10,000 and b) 0.5% net smelter return on production from the concession after total payments have reached $10,000
and c) 0.5% net smelter return on production from other property within a one-kilometer boundary of the Los Gatos concession. After
total payments reach $15,000, the Los Gatos concession ownership will be transferred to the LGJV. The agreement has no expiration
date; however, the LGJV may terminate the agreement upon a 30-day notice. The agreement was revised in 2019 to allow a portion of
production royalty payments to be deferred. Under the terms of the revised agreement, the LGJV was to pay $500 quarterly through
2021, while incurring interest at 4.5% annually on the outstanding balance, with the balance of the production royalty due in the first
quarter of 2022. The agreement was revised further in September 2021, which allowed for payment of the production royalty due and
elimination of the interest on the unpaid portion of the production royalty. Following the payment of the balance due in September 2021,
the LGJV made its first quarterly payment of the production royalty in October 2021. The LGJV paid $5,312 and $600 for this obligation
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, resulting in $6,447 paid through December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, the LGJV’s minimum remaining production royalty obligation is summarized in the table below:

2022 $ 100
2023 100
2024 100
2025 100
2026 100
Thereafter 8,053
Total $ 8,553
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7. Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities

The LGJV's accounts payable and other accrued liabilities as of December 31, are summarized below:

2021 2020
Accounts payable $ 18,641 $ 25,022
Accrued expenses 11,253 9,408
Accrued payroll & taxes 3,285 1,337
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 33,179 $ 35,767

8. Related-Party Transactions

Under the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement Gatos Silver provides certain management and administrative services to
the LGJV. The LGJV incurred $5,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021, for these services, and paid $5,367 to Gatos Silver for
the year ended December 31, 2021. The LGJV had payables under this agreement of $833 as of December 31, 2021. Certain
expenses incurred by the owners on behalf of the LGJV are reimbursed.

9. Related Party Debt

On July 11, 2017, the LGJV entered into a loan agreement (“Term Loan”) with Dowa whereby the LGJV could borrow up to
$210,000 for CLG development, with a maturity date of December 29, 2027. Interest on this loan accrued daily at LIBOR plus 2.35%,
with the interest added to the amount borrowed until commencement of concentrate production. A $4,200 fee was paid to Dowa during
2018 upon the loan closing. Commencing June 30, 2021, 14 consecutive semi-annual equal payments of the aggregate principal plus
accrued interest on the payment date began. The Term Loan also required accelerated principal payments equal to 70% of excess cash
flows (as defined) from the CLG. Subsequent to the commencement of production, interest was expensed. Interest expense for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $3,292 and $8,007, respectively. On July 26, 2021, the Term Loan was repaid in full
through capital contributions made to the LGJV by Gatos Silver and Dowa in pro-rata amounts equal to their ownership in the LGJV of
70% and 30%, respectively. In conjunction with the repayment, the LGJV paid a closing fee to Dowa of $1,585. The closing fees paid to
Dowa, along with $2,775 of remaining Term Loan deferred financing costs are presented as Loss on Term Loan extinguishment in the
Combined Statements of Income.

On January 23, 2018, the LGJV entered into a loan agreement (“Dowa MPR Loan”) whereby the LGJV could borrow up to
$65,000 for CLG development. Interest on this loan accrued daily at LIBOR plus 1.5% and was added to the amount borrowed. All
interest was capitalized to Mine Development or Property, Plant and Equipment. The amount borrowed, including accrued and unpaid
interest, was due the earlier of June 30, 2019, or upon substantial completion of the CLG development. If the Dowa MPR Loan was not
repaid by the maturity date, Dowa could elect to convert all or a portion of Gatos Silver’s portion of the outstanding Dowa MPR Loan,
including accrued interest, to additional equity in the LGJV Entities at 170% of Gatos Silver’s portion of the outstanding balance
(“Additional Equity”). If Gatos Silver’s ownership in the LGJV Entities was diluted, for two years from the maturity date, Gatos Silver
could repurchase the Additional Equity for 170% of such value plus all costs and expenses incurred by Dowa to acquire and hold the
Additional Equity. In May 2019, Gatos Silver contributed $18,200 to OSJ to provide funding for a partial repayment of principal and
interest related to the Dowa MPR Loan. In May 2019, the Dowa MPR Loan was fully extinguished with a principal and interest payment
of $18,200 and the conversion of the remaining principal and interest of $50,737 to additional Dowa ownership in the LGJV entities.
Subsequent to this transaction the ownership of the LGJV entities was 51.5% Gatos Silver and 48.5% Dowa. On March 11, 2021,
pursuant to the definitive agreement between Gatos Silver and Dowa, Gatos Silver repurchased an additional 18.5% interest from
Dowa, increasing Gatos Silver’s interest in the LGJV to 70%.

On May 30, 2019, the LGJV entered into a working capital facility agreement (“WCF”) with Dowa whereby the LGJV could
borrow up to $60,000 to fund the working capital and sustaining capital requirements of the CLG. Interest on the WCF accrued daily at
LIBOR plus 3.0%. The maturity date of the WCF was June 28, 2021. The LGJV paid interest of $369 and $2,530 under this facility for
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. On March 11, 2021, the full $60,000 amount outstanding under the WCF
was extinguished through capital contributions made to the LGJV by Gatos Silver and Dowa in pro-rata amounts equal to their
ownership in the LGJV of 70% and 30%, respectively.
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Gatos Silver incurred certain fees on behalf of the LGJV entities related to the Term Loan and WCF. Prior to production, these
fees were capitalized. Subsequent to production, these fees were expensed. See Note 10—Commitments, Contingencies and
Guarantees in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of Gatos Silver for additional information.

10. Owners’ Capital

During 2021, Gatos Silver and Dowa, contributed $188,489 and $80,781, respectively, as owners’ capital to the LGJV to retire
the WCF and Term Loan and for exploration activities. During 2020, Gatos Silver and Dowa, contributed $17,227 and $16,236,
respectively, as owners’ capital to the LGJV to support limited operations during the temporary, government-mandated COVID-19
suspension. A portion of Gatos Silver contributions resulted from conversion of $9,448 of LGJV payables to capital contributions in the
LGJIV.

11. Asset Retirement Obligations

In 2015, the LGJV recognized an ARO related to the work performed at the CLG. The LGJV estimated the present value of the
estimated future cash flows required to revegetate the disturbed areas and perform any required monitoring. The LGJV used a discount
rate and inflation rate of 9% and 1%, respectively, to calculate the present value of this obligation, related to the disturbance of land
around the mine portal, waste rock dump and road to the explosives storage area.

In 2018, the LGJV recognized an ARO related to the additional development work performed at the CLG. The LGJV estimated
the present value of the estimated future cash flows required to reclaim the disturbed areas and perform any required monitoring. The
LGJV used a discount rate and inflation rate of 7.5% and 3%, respectively, to calculate the present value. The Los Gatos Technical
Report dated November 10, 2022 provides an update to the estimated mineral reserves and mineral resources since the technical
report issued in 2020, which changed the expected timing of our asset retirement obligations. The revised estimate was applied starting
in the fourth quarter of 2021.

The following table summarizes activity in the LGJV's ARO as of December 31:

2021 2020
Balance, beginning of period $ 12,162 $ 11,314
Accretion expense 2,544 848
Balance, end of period $ 14706 $ 12162

12. Fair Value Measurements

The LGJV establishes a framework for measuring the fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on a recurring (annual) basis in the form of a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs into valuation techniques used to
measure fair value into three broad levels. This hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Further, financial assets and liabilities should be classified by level in their entirety based
upon the lowest level of input that was significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as
follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the
measurement date.

Level 2: Quoted prices in inactive markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets, or other observable inputs either directly related to the asset or liability or derived principally from corroborated observable
market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs due to the fact there is little or no market activity. This entails using assumptions in models which
estimate what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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Financial Assets and Liabilities

At December 31, 2021, the LGJV's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other current
assets, accounts payable and other current liabilities. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate fair value due to
their short maturities and are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table details the fair value of the LGJV'’s debt obligations as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and are classified
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Term Loan was carried at amortized cost. The fair value of the WCF approximated
carrying value as the liability was secured, had a variable interest rate, and lacked credit concerns. The carrying value of the equipment
loans approximate fair value as the liability is secured by the underlying equipment, guaranteed by Gatos Silver, and lacks significant
credit concerns. The fair value of the Term Loan was estimated using inputs directly related to the obligations. The following table
summarizes the fair value as of December 31:

2021 2020
Term Loan 1 $ — $ 219,593
WCF — 60,000
Equipment Loans 6,011 13,204

$ 6,011 $ 292,797

1) Net of unamortized debt discount of $3,190 as of December 31, 2020.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

In determining accruals and disclosures with respect to loss contingencies, the LGJV will charge to income an estimated loss if
information available prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the
date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal expenses associated with the
commitments and contingencies are expensed as incurred. If a loss contingency is not probable or reasonably estimable, disclosure of
the loss contingency is made in the combined financial statements when it is at least reasonably possible that a material loss could be
incurred.

The LGJV's mining, development and exploration activities are subject to various laws, regulations and permits governing the
protection of the environment. These laws, regulations and permits are continually changing and are generally becoming more
restrictive. The LGJV has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws, regulations and permits, but
cannot predict the full amount of such future expenditures.

From time to time, the LGJV may be involved in legal proceedings related to its business. Management does not believe that
adverse decisions in any pending or threatened proceeding or that amounts that may be required to be paid by reason thereof will have
a material adverse effect of the LGJV’s combined financial condition or results of operations.

14. Equipment Loans

During 2021 and 2020, the LGJV Entities entered into equipment loan agreements, with repayment over four years at interest
rates ranging from 5.76% to 8.67%, to finance a portion of mining equipment purchases. As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the LGJV
had outstanding loans of $6,025 and $13,237, respectively, net of unamortized debt discount of $14 and $33, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, the LGJV incurred $738 and $1,289 of interest on these loans, respectively. Prior to
production in September 2019 all interest was capitalized to Property, Plant and Equipment. Subsequent to production, all interest on
equipment was expensed. Gatos Silver has guaranteed the payment of all obligations, including accrued interest, under the equipment
loan agreements.

15. Income Taxes
The combined income (loss) before taxes in Mexico was $62,131 and $(27,716) for the years ended December 31, 2021 and

2020, respectively. The combined current and deferred income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
were a benefit of $1,957 and nil, respectively.
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A reconciliation of the actual income tax expense (benefit) and the tax computed by applying the Mexico federal rate (30%) to
the loss before taxes for the year ended December 31, is as follows:

2021 2020
Tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations 18,639 (8,315)
Nondeductible Expenses 1,778 6,049
Change in Valuation Allowance (50,110) 543
Deferred MMT 58 —
Current MMT 954 —
NOL inflation adjustment 56 8,876
MX NOL expiration 25,922 1,454
NOL Utilization (23,668) (1,785)
True-up ltems 24,414 (6,822)
Total income and mining tax benefit $ (1957) $ —

The net operating loss (NOL) inflation rate adjustment relates to historical net operating loss carryforwards in Mexico from
2012 to 2020. These historical carryforwards have been inflation-adjusted based upon an inflation factor published by the central bank
of Mexico, as any inflationary adjustment will impact the LGJV's basis in the net operating losses during the carryforward period.

A summary of the components of the net deferred tax assets for the year ended December 31, is as follows:

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets
Accrued expenses 3,798 2,468
Unearned revenue — 990
Fixed assets 2,870 3,033
Reclamation obligations 672 3,649
Exploration and development — 9,958
Operating loss carryforward 12,067 26,422
NOL, inflation adjustment (6,947) 4,675
Valuation allowances — (50,110)

$ 12460 $ 1,085
Deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid expenses (1,250) (1,085)
Deferred mining tax (58) —
Fixed assets (1,926) —
(3,234) (1,085)

Net deferred income tax assets $ 9226 $ —

As of December 31, 2021, the LGJV'’s deferred tax assets primarily consist of fixed asset costs, accrued expenses not
currently deductible and net operating losses. Management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could affect its
view of the future realization of deferred tax assets. Based upon the level of taxable income in 2021 and projections of future taxable
income over the periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the LGJV will
realize the benefits of these deductible differences, and thus has fully reversed the valuation allowance against the net deferred tax
asset balance in 2021.
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At December 31, 2021, the LGJV had $17,065 of net operating loss carryforwards in Mexico (including inflation adjustments)
which expire at various dates through 2031. The statute of limitations for tax returns filed in Mexico is five years from the date of filing.
The tax returns of the LGJV are no longer subject to examinations by Mexican tax authorities for years prior to 2017.

As of December 31, 2021, the LGJV has not recorded any unrecognized tax benefits, as it is more likely than not that all tax
positions have a high probability of being upheld by the taxing authorities. The LGJV recognizes penalties and accrued interest related
to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties in operating expenses. No such interest or penalties were recognized.
16. Subsequent Events

In April 2022, the LGJV paid its first dividend of $20,000 to its partners. After withholding taxes and payment of the initial
$10,300 priority dividend to Dowa, Gatos Silver received $6,000. In July 2022 and November 2022, the LGJV paid additional dividends
in the amount of $15,000 and $20,000, respectively, to its partners.

There are no other events or transactions requiring recognition in these combined financial statements through March 20,
2023, the date which the financial statements were issued.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On September 28, 2022, KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) resigned as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The
audit committee of our board of directors accepted KPMG's resignation.

KPMG's resignation was prompted by its conclusion that KPMG is unable to serve as our principal auditor for the year-ended
December 31, 2021 due to the previously announced changes in the composition and location of our executive team and its
understanding of the Organization of Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia Bylaws, which it concluded would require
KPMG to be licensed in British Columbia.

KPMG’s audit reports on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 do not
contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting
principles.

During the two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period preceding KPMG's resignation, there were no (i)
disagreements with KPMG on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or
procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of KPMG, would have caused it to make reference to the subject
matter of the disagreements in connection with its report, or (ii) “reportable events” as such term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of
Regulation S-K..

On November 14, 2022, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the Company appointed Ernst and Young LLP (“EY”)
as the Company'’s independent registered public accounting firm.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC'’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us
in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2021,
due to the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that
involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal
control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations,
there is a risk that material misstatements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting.
However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the
process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013).
Based on this assessment, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, due to the identification of the material weaknesses discussed below.
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A “material weakness” is defined under SEC rules as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In connection with our review of the internal control structure related to the preparation of the financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021, we identified the following material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting:

e We did not demonstrate the appropriate tone at the top including failing to design or maintain an effective control
environment commensurate with the financial reporting requirements of a public company in the United States and
Canada. In particular, we did not design control activities to adequately address identified risks or operate at a sufficient
level of precision that would identify material misstatements to our financial statements and did not design and maintain
sufficient formal documentation of accounting policies and procedures to support the operation of key control procedures.

e We failed to design and maintain effective controls relating to our risk assessment process as it pertained to the
assessment of key assumptions, inputs and outputs contained in our 2020 Technical Report.

These control deficiencies did not result in errors that were material to our historical financial statements. However, these
control deficiencies could result in a misstatement in our accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to our
financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, we determined that these control deficiencies constitute
material weaknesses.

After giving full consideration to these material weaknesses, and the additional analyses and other procedures that we
performed to ensure that our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, our management has concluded that our consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods disclosed in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

Remediation Efforts

We are in the process of implementing measures designed to improve our internal control over financial reporting and
remediate the control deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses described above. To date, we have:

e hired a new executive leadership team, including hiring a new CEO, CFO and senior executive responsible for technical
services, each of which has appropriate experience and has demonstrated a commitment to improving the Company’s
control environment;

e hired additional personnel with accounting and technical expertise, including hiring new accounting staff in connection with
the relocation of the Company’s headquarters to Vancouver;

e enhanced the procedures and functioning of our disclosure committee relating to the appropriate reporting of information
and review and approval of the Company’s public disclosures;

e engaged a new independent third-party subject matter specialist to perform a technical review of the 2022 mineral resource
and mineral reserve estimates; and

e enhanced our procedures, including implementing appropriate controls, relating to management verification of the inputs
and assumptions for our Technical Reports.

We have engaged a third-party expert to assist management in documenting key processes related to our internal control
environment, designing and implementing an effective risk assessment and monitoring program to identify risks of material
misstatements and ensuring that our internal controls have been appropriately designed to address and effectively monitor identified
risks.
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Management of the Company and the Board of Directors take the control and integrity of the Company’s financial statements
seriously and believe that the remediation steps described above are essential to maintaining a strong internal controls environment.
We have identified and implemented, and continue to identify and implement, actions to improve the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting and to review such actions and progress with the Audit Committee. In addition, we have taken, and continue to
take, the actions described above to remediate the identified material weaknesses. As we continue to evaluate and work to improve our
internal controls over financial reporting, our senior management may determine to take additional measures to address control
deficiencies or determine to modify the remediation efforts described in this section. Management, with the oversight of the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors, has made meaningful progress to enhance our internal control over financial reporting and to
address these material weaknesses as further described above.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
quarter-ended December 31, 2021 that materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over
financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Further,
the design of a control system must reflect resource constraints, which require management to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people or by management'’s override of the control.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART I
Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Board of Directors

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) consists of eight directors. Information about each of our directors can be
found below. The term of office of each person elected as a director will continue for one year, or until their successor is duly elected
and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal. Each director has served continuously since the date of his or her
appointment.

Janice Stairs, 63, has served as a member of our Board since October 2019, including as Chair of the Board since October
2020 and as Lead Director of our Board from January 2020 to October 2020. In addition to our Board, Ms. Stairs also serves on the
board of directors of Trilogy Metals Inc. and Marathon Gold Corporation. Ms. Stairs has more than 30 years of experience in the
resources sector. From 2011 until 2019, Ms. Stairs served as general counsel and corporate secretary at Namibia Critical Metals Inc.
Previously, Ms. Stairs served as general counsel at Endeavour Mining Corporation, as vice president and general counsel at Etruscan
Resources Inc., and as partner at the law firm Mclnnes Cooper (formerly Patterson Palmer). In addition, Ms. Stairs has served on the
board of directors of Gabriel Resources Ltd., Namibia Critical Metals Inc., AuRico Gold Inc. and AuRico Metals Inc. Ms. Stairs holds a
LL.B. from Dalhousie University and an M.B.A. from Queen’s University. Ms. Stairs is a resident of Halifax, Nova Scotia. We believe
that Ms. Stairs’ academic training in law and business and her extensive experience in the resources sector make her a valuable
addition to our Board.

Dale Andres, 54, has served as our Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our Board of Directors since April 2022. Mr.
Andres joined the Company in June 2021 and previously served as President before being appointed to the CEO position. Mr. Andres
has more than 30 years of executive and operations management experience in the resource industry. From June 2016 to March 2021,
Mr. Andres served as Senior Vice President, Base Metals at Teck Resources Limited responsible for both the Copper and Zinc
business units globally, and previously served at Teck as Senior Vice President, Copper; as Vice President, Copper Strategy and North
American Operations; as Vice President, Gold and International Mining; and as General Manager, Underground Mines. Mr. Andres
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Mining Engineering from Queen’s University in Kingston, Ontario, and a Graduate Diploma in Business
Administration from Simon Fraser University in Burnaby, British Columbia. We believe that Mr. Andres’ extensive experience in the
resources sector make him a valuable addition to our Board of Directors.

Ali Erfan, 56, has served as a member of our Board since May 2019. In addition to our Board, Mr. Erfan serves on the board of
directors of Electrum Ltd., Augustus Ltd., Gabriel Resources Ltd., Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation and Minera Adularia
International Ltd. Mr. Erfan was a board member of Reebonz Holding Limited until July 2019. Mr. Erfan has more than 20 years of
experience in senior roles in the venture capital and private equity industry. Since 2007, Mr. Erfan has served as a director of The
Electrum Group, a privately held global natural resources investment management company, and since 2017, Mr. Erfan has served as
vice chairman of The Electrum Group. Previously, Mr. Erfan served as a senior partner at 3i Group, Plc. Mr. Erfan founded the Cogito
Scholarship Foundation, a U.K. charity. Mr. Erfan holds an M.B.A. from the London Business School and a B.A. and an M.A. in Politics,
Philosophy and Economics from Oxford University. Mr. Erfan is a resident of Monaco. We believe that Mr. Erfan’s extensive experience
in finance and our industry makes him a valuable addition to our Board.

Igor Gonzales, 67, has served as a member of our Board since June 2020. In addition to our Board, Mr. Gonzales serves on
the board of directors of Hudbay Minerals Inc. and Harte Gold Corp. Mr. Gonzales has more than 30 years of experience in the mining
industry. Since June 2020, Mr. Gonzales has served as the chief operating officer at Appian Capital Advisory, a leading investment
advisor in the metals and mining industry. From June 2017 to May 2020, Mr. Gonzales served as the president and chief executive
officer at Sierra Metals Inc. From November 2014 to April 2017, Mr. Gonzales served as the chief operating officer at Compafiia de
Minas Buenaventura. Previously, Mr. Gonzales served as the executive vice president and chief operating officer at Barrick Gold
Corporation and in various roles with Southern Peru Copper Corporation. In addition, Mr. Gonzales has served on the board of directors
of Compafiia de Minas Buenaventura and Cia Minera EIl Brocal. Mr. Gonzales holds a B.S. in Chemical Engineering from the University
of San Antonio Abad in Cusco, Peru, and an M.S. in Extractive Metallurgy from the New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology,
where he was a Fulbright Scholar. Mr. Gonzales is a resident of Lima, Peru. We believe that Mr. Gonzales’ extensive experience in our
industry makes him a valuable addition to our Board.
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Karl Hanneman, 64, has served as a member of our Board since October 2019. In addition to our Board, Mr. Hanneman also
serves on the board of directors of International Tower Hill Mines, Ltd., Usibelli Coal Mine, Inc. and Northrim BanCorp, Inc. Mr.
Hanneman has more than 35 years of mining industry management and technical experience as an executive, manager, mining
engineer, mine operator and entrepreneur. Since February 2017, Mr. Hanneman has served as chief executive officer of International
Tower Hill Mines, Ltd., where he leads a team advancing a 10-million-ounce gold resource in Alaska through project optimization. From
March 2015 to February 2017, Mr. Hanneman served as chief operating officer of International Tower Hill Mines, Ltd. Previously, Mr.
Hanneman served as general manager and project manager of International Tower Hill Mines, Ltd. and as director, corporate affairs,
Alaska and as Alaska regional manager at Teck Resources Ltd., including being responsible for overseeing the $350 million Pogo Gold
project throughout the period of underground exploration, feasibility study, project design and permitting. Mr. Hanneman holds a B.S. in
Mining Engineering, magna cum laude, from the University of Alaska. Mr. Hanneman is a resident of Fairbanks, Alaska. We believe that
Mr. Hanneman's extensive experience in our industry makes him a valuable addition to our Board.

Charles Hansard, 73, has served as a member of our Board since October 2020. In addition to our Board, Mr. Hansard also
serves on the board of directors of Baker Steel Resources Trust Limited, Electrum Limited and JJJ Moore Ltd. He previously served on
the Board of Moore Global Investors Ltd. from 1996 until 2020. Mr. Hansard has more than 25 years of experience in corporate
governance at the board of directors level. Mr. Hansard served as the chairman of African Platinum Plc, which he led through
reorganization and feasibility prior to its acquisition by Impala Platinum Ltd. and has served on the board of directors of AIG Asset
Management (Europe) Ltd., Apex Silver Mines Limited and Deutsche Global Liquidity PLC. Mr. Hansard holds a B.B.S. from Trinity
College Dublin. Mr. Hansard is a resident of London, U.K. We believe that Mr. Hansard’s extensive experience in corporate governance
makes him a valuable addition to our Board.

David Peat, 70, has served as a member of our Board since September 2011. In addition to our Board, Mr. Peat also serves on
the board of directors of Nickel Creek Platinum Corp. Mr. Peat has more than 35 years of experience in financial leadership in support
of mining corporations. Mr. Peat previously served as vice president and chief financial officer at Frontera Copper Corporation, as vice
president and global controller at Newmont Mining Corporation and as vice president of finance and chief financial officer at Homestake
Mining Company. In addition, Mr. Peat has served on the board of directors of Gabriel Resources Ltd., Electrum Special Acquisition
Corporation, AQM Copper Inc., Fortune Bay Corp. and Brigus Gold Corp. Mr. Peat is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario. Mr. Peat holds a B.Com., Honors in Business Administration from the University of Windsor and a
B.A. in Economics from the University of Western Ontario. Mr. Peat is a resident of Fernandina Beach, Florida. We believe that Mr.
Peat's academic training in business and economics and his extensive experience in corporate finance and accounting make him a
valuable addition to our Board.

Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla, 48, has served as a member of our Board since April 2021. In addition to our Board, Mr. Mufiiz
serves on the board of directors of Hudbay Minerals Inc. and Brookfield Infrastructure Partners. Mr. Mufiiz is a highly accomplished
mining executive whose previous experience includes a 12-year tenure with Grupo Mexico, SAB de CV and its subsidiaries, Americas
Mining Corp. and Southern Copper Corp., where he served in a variety of leadership roles, including Managing Director (CEO) and
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Mufiiz holds a Master’'s Degree in Financial Law from Georgetown University Law Center in Washington
D.C., a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Instituto de Empresa in Madrid, Spain, and a Law Degree from the
Universidad Iberoamericana in Mexico City, Mexico. Mr. Mufiiz is a resident of Mexico City, Mexico. We believe that Mr. Mufiiz's
experience in the mining industry makes him a valuable addition to our Board.

Executive Officers

The following biographies describe the business experience of each of the Company’s executive officers, except for Dale
Andres, our Chief Executive Officer, whose biography is provided under the heading “Board of Directors.”

André van Niekerk, 46, has served as our Chief Financial Officer since July 2022. Mr. van Niekerk has more than 20 years of
international experience in the mining industry. Previously, Mr. van Niekerk served as Chief Financial Officer at Nevada Copper Corp
from July 2020 to May 2022; he spent 14 years at Golden Star Resources in various roles including Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer from April 2014 to March 2020; and in various advisory and audit roles at a Big Four audit firm prior to 2006. Mr. van
Niekerk holds bachelor's degrees in accounting from both the University of South Africa and University of Pretoria. Mr. van Niekerk is a
Certified Public Accountant.
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Tony Scott, 46, has served as our Senior Vice President, Corporate Development and Technical Services since November
2022. Previously Mr. Scott was our Vice President of Evaluations and Technical Services from January 2022. Mr. Scott has more than
20 years of experience in the resource industry. Prior to joining the Company, from August 2014 to January 2022, Mr. Scott worked for
Macquarie Metals and Energy Capital (Canada) Ltd, a subsidiary of Macquarie Group Limited. From July 2016 to January 2022 at
Macquarie he held the position of Managing Director within the Mining Finance group. His responsibility in this role was to perform
technical due diligence on operating or development mining companies for the purpose of providing debt finance or derivatives to those
organizations. Prior to joining Macquarie, Mr. Scott was employed as Director, Long Term Asset Planning and as Manager, Reserve
Evaluations at Teck Resources Limited; and as a geologist in multiple positions at Teck Resources Limited, Placer Dome Gold, and
Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines. Mr. Scott holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mining Geology Engineering from Curtin University,
Western Australia School of Mines.

Stephen Bodley, 55, has served as our General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer since October 2022. Mr. Bodley has
more than 30 years of legal and business leadership experience in resources and other industries. Mr. Bodley served as the Chief
Legal Officer of Aleafia Health Inc, a health and wellness company, from September 2021 to October 2022. From September 2017 to
September 2021, Mr. Bodley was the President and CEO of Minmurph Inc. and Minmurph Consulting Limited., business and legal
consulting firms focused primarily on the resource industry. Previously, Mr. Bodley was the Chief Legal Officer of Ma’aden and Sherritt
International, large international mining companies, and held senior legal and business positions at the North American subsidiaries of
Centrica plc, a large UK-based energy company, including as the Head of Mergers and Acquisitions. Mr. Bodley started his career at
Blakes, a leading Canadian business law firm, and was partner of the firm before he moved to industry. Mr. Bodley holds a Juris
Doctor/LLB degree from Osgoode Hall Law School and is licensed to practice law in the Province of Ontario, Canada.

Luis Felipe Huerta, 51, has served as our Vice President Mexico since October 2020 and previously served as our Project
Director of the Cerro Los Gatos Mine from 2015 to 2020. Mr. Huerta has more than 25 years of project management experience in the
mining industry. From 2012 to 2014, Mr. Huerta served as project manager at Continental Gold Inc. Previously, Mr. Huerta served as
project manager at Fortuna Silver Mines Inc. and as project superintendent at Compafiia Minera Milpo. Mr. Huerta holds a Bachelors in
Engineering Science and a Masters in Project Management from ESAN Graduate School of Business. Mr. Huerta is a resident of
Chihuahua, Mexico.

Nicolas Vachon, 51, has served as our Vice President, Finance since May 2022. Mr. Vachon has more than 20 years of
financial and corporate development experience in the mining industry. Previously, Mr. Vachon held several senior positions at Teck
Resources Limited in the corporate finance, treasury and corporate development areas including serving as Director and Finance
Business Partner for the Technology and Innovation group focused on business transformation. Prior to that, he held financial
management and engineering positions with Placer Dome Inc. and Golder Associates. Mr. Vachon holds Bachelor of Applied Science
(Geological Engineering)from Laval University and Master of Engineering degree and an MBA from the University of British Columbia.

James Woeller, 35, has served as our Vice President, Corporate Development and Business Improvement since July 2022.
Mr. Woeller has more than 10 years of progressive experience in the mining industry. Previously, Mr. Woeller served as Director,
Strategy and Business Analysis; as Business Development Manager; and in various strategic, commercial, financial planning and
corporate development roles at Teck Resources Limited. Mr. Woeller holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Mining) from Queen’s
University and a Master of Science in Mineral Economics from the Colorado School of Mines. Mr. Woeller holds a Chartered Financial
Analyst designation.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Our directors, executive officers, and owners of more than 10% of our common stock must file reports with the SEC under
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act regarding their ownership of and transactions in our common stock and securities related to our
common stock. Based solely upon a review of these reports filed electronically with the SEC and certain written representations
provided to us by such persons, we believe that all reports required to be filed by our directors, executive officers and holders of more
than 10% of our common stock pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during 2021 were filed on a timely basis except for the
following forms, each of which reported one transaction: one Form 4 filed by Stephen Orr; one Form 3 filed by Rodrigo Monroy; and one
Form 4 filed by Rodrigo Monroy.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors and all employees, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at
https://investor.gatossilver.com/governance/governance-documents. We intend to satisfy the requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K
regarding disclosure of amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such
information on our website.

Board Committees
Our Board has the following four committees: Audit Committee; Compensation and Nominating Committee; Executive
Committee; and Technical, Safety and Sustainability Committee. Our Board has adopted charters for each of these committees.

Charters for our Audit Committee and our Compensation and Nominating Committee are available on our website at
https://investor.gatossilver.com/governance/governance-documents.

Current committee memberships are as follows:

Compensation and Technical Safety and
Audit Committee Nominating Committee Executive Committee Sustainability Committee
David Peat* Karl Hanneman* Janice Stairs* Igor Gonzales*
Janice Stairs Ali Erfan Dale Andres Dale Andres
Charles Hansard Igor Gonzales Karl Hanneman

Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla

*  Committee Chair
Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee met six times during 2021 and seven times during 2022. Our Audit Committee is responsible for, among
other things: approving the engagement of our independent public auditor and the scope of the audit to be undertaken by such auditor;
reviewing with management and the independent auditor the financial information to be included in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K;
reviewing all proposed related person transactions for the purpose of recommending to the disinterested members of the Board that the
transaction should be ratified and approved; and assisting the Board in its oversight of our major investments and financial risk
management programs, policies and processes.

The Board has determined that that all members of our Audit Committee are independent directors under SEC and NYSE rules
applicable to audit committee members. Additionally, the Board has determined that (i) Mr. Peat qualifies as an “audit committee
financial expert” as defined under the rules of the SEC and (ii) each member of our Audit Committee is financially literate as specified in
the rules of the NYSE.

Compensation and Nominating Committee

Our Compensation and Nominating Committee met four times during 2021 and four times during 2022. Our Compensation and
Nominating Committee is responsible for, among other things: recommending and advising the independent directors of the Board with
respect to the compensation for our Chief Executive Officer; recommending and advising the Board with respect to the compensation of
directors and other executive officers; making recommendations to the Board regarding the establishment and terms of our employee
equity-based incentive plans and administering such plans; identifying and recommending director nominees for approval by the Board;
developing and recommending to the Board corporate governance principles applicable to us; and overseeing the annual evaluation of
the Board’s performance.

The Board has determined that all members of our Compensation and Nominating Committee are independent directors under

NYSE rules applicable to compensation committee members. Additionally, the Board has determined that each member of our
Compensation and Nominating Committee meets the non-employee director requirements of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act.
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Our Compensation and Nominating Committee has primary responsibility for determining our compensation programs for
executive officers and directors. In evaluating the level of executive officer and director compensation, our Compensation and
Nominating Committee takes into consideration advice from the independent consultant, which during 2021and 2022 was FW Cook
and recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to the Chief Executive Officer's compensation). From
April 2021, FW Cook has been retained by the Company and reports directly to the Compensation and Nominating Committee. Prior to
April 2021, FW Cook was retained by the Company but solely provided services to the Compensation and Nominating Committee. Our
Compensation and Nominating Committee may delegate any of its responsibilities to a subcommittee comprised of one or more
members of the committee.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the compensation committee (or other
committee performing equivalent functions) of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our compensation
committee. No interlocking relationship exists between any member of the compensation committee (or other committee performing
equivalent functions) and any executive, member of the Board of Directors or member of the compensation committee (or other
committee performing equivalent functions) of any other company.

Executive Committee

Our Executive Committee was established in October 2020 and met informally throughout 2021 and 2022. Subject to certain
limitations, our Executive Committee has the responsibility and authority (i) to take any action referred to the Committee by the Board of
Directors, and (i) to take action required to be taken by the Board of Directors in emergency situations where there is insufficient time or
opportunity to convene the full Board of Directors.

Technical Safety and Sustainability Committee

Our Technical, Safety and Sustainability Committee met twice during 2021 and nine times during 2022. The Committee is
responsible for the review of our technical, environmental, health and safety performance, and mineral resources, resource and reserve
reporting. An update to the Committee’s mandate was approved by the Board of Directors on November 21, 2022. In addition to
simplifying the name of the Committee, the update provides more granularity on the Committee’s oversite role in relation to capital
projects, reserves and resources reporting, environmental health and safety, security and sustainability.

Item 11.Executive Compensation

Our named executive officers (“NEOs”), which consist of our principal executive officer during 2021 and the two other most
highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers at December 31, 2021, in addition to an individual who
was highly compensated during the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2021 but was not serving as an executive officer at
December 31, 2021 are:

Named Executive Officer Title

Stephen Orr(1) Former Chief Executive Officer

Dale Andres(1) Current Chief Executive Officer and Former President
Roger Johnson(2) Former Chief Financial Officer

John Kinyon(3) Former Chief Operating Officer

(1) Mr. Orr was the Company’s Chief Executive Officer through April 7, 2022. We appointed our then President, Dale Andres, as our
Chief Executive Officer, effective April 8, 2022.

(2) Mr. Johnson was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer through May 21, 2022. We appointed our current Chief Executive Officer,
Dale Andres, as our Interim Chief Financial Officer, effective May 22, 2022, and ending on July 1, 2022, upon appointment of André
van Niekerk as Chief Financial Officer.

(3) Mr. Kinyon departed the Company effective August 16, 2021.
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Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the total compensation earned by each NEO in fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Non-Equity
Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other
Salary Awards Awards Compensation Compensation Total
NEO Year (%) ($)(1) ($)(2) ($)E) (9)4) (%)
Stephen Orr(6) 2021 619,000 473,953 962,382 — — 2,055,335
2020 619,000 — 2,012,000 710,000 — 3,341,000
Dale Andres(7) 2021 335,417 338,578 4,286,450 402,500 10,150 5,373,095
2020 — — — — — —
Roger Johnson(8) 2021 350,000 203,346 414,972 — 17,400 985,718
2020 350,000 — 1,187,509 204,232 18,433 1,760,174
John Kinyon(9) 2021 264,037 — — — 693,332 (5) 957,369
2020 370,000 — 1,212,000 295,000 14,600 1,891,600

(1) Represents the grant date fair value of performance share unit awards granted to the NEOs in 2021, assuming target performance
at 100% payout based on the 55t percentile relative TSR versus the constituents of the GDXJ and determined in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718. The grant date fair value of
performance share unit awards assuming maximum performance was (i) for Mr. Orr, $947,905, (ii) Mr. Andres, $677,156, and (iii)
Mr. Johnson, $406,692. For additional information, see “—Performance Share Units” below. Additionally, see Note 8 in our
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of assumptions used for computing

@

(©)

(©)
(©)

(©)
@)
@®
©

the fair value of stock awards.

Represents the grant date fair value of stock options granted to the NEOs in 2020 and 2021, determined in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718. For additional information,
see “—Stock Option Grants” below. Additionally, see Note 8 in our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K for a discussion of assumptions used for computing the fair value of stock option award grants.

Represents performance-based cash bonuses under our Annual Incentive Plan in 2020 and 2021. For additional information, see

“—Annual Incentive Plan” below.

Represents our pension contributions to NEO's including any matching payments to 401(k) accounts.

Includes $675,932 in severance payments. For additional information, see “—Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in

Control” below.

Mr. Orr retired on April 8, 2022.

Mr. Andres joined the Company on June 1, 2021.
Mr. Johnson retired on May 21, 2022.

Mr. Kinyon departed the Company on August 16, 2021.
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Executive Employment Agreements
The time period for the information reflected in Item 11 of this report is the period up to and ending December 31, 2021.
Employment Agreement with Mr. Orr

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Orr, dated as of May 3, 2011. He commenced employment as our
Executive Chairman effective as of May 4, 2011, and was our Chief Executive Officer from June 2011 until his retirement as Chief
Executive Officer and as a member of our Board of Directors effective April 7, 2022.

Base Salary. Effective January 1, 2020, Mr. Orr received an annual base salary of $619,000, which was subject to review on
an annual basis and subject to adjustment in accordance with the procedures set forth by our Compensation and Nominating
Committee.

Annual Bonus. Mr. Orr was eligible to participate in a bonus plan pursuant to which his target bonus was 100% of his base
salary upon achievement by him and the Company of certain targets determined by our Board of Directors based on the
recommendation of the Compensation and Nominating Committee. The amount of bonus attainment in any given year was determined
by our Board of Directors based on the recommendation of Compensation and Nominating Committee, and the amount of annual bonus
actually paid (if any) depended on the actual performance of the Company and Mr. Orr as determined by our Compensation and
Nominating Committee. See “—Annual Incentive Plan.”

Stock Options.  Mr. Orr was eligible to receive equity awards under our compensation programs. See “—Stock Option
Grants.”

Benefits and Perquisites.  Mr. Orr was entitled to participate in the various employee benefits plans that are, from time to
time, made generally available to our employees.

Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation.  Mr. Orr agreed to maintain the confidentiality of our information and not to use or allow
or help another to use or access such information at any time during or after his employment with us. Mr. Orr also agreed not to solicit
any of our employees, consultants or service providers during his employment and for one year after termination of his employment.

Termination and Change in Control.  Payments and benefits to which Mr. Orr was entitled upon termination of his
employment, whether or not in connection with a change in control, are discussed below under “—Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.”

Employment Agreement with Mr. Andres

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Andres, dated as of June 1, 2021, and he commenced employment as our
President and Chief Executive Officer for the Company’s wholly owned Mexican subsidiary, Minera Luz del Sol, effective as of June 1,
2021. Effective April 7, 2022, Mr. Andres was named Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the terms of his employment
changed from those previously in effect. On August 1, 2022, Mr. Andres commenced employment with our wholly owned subsidiary
Gatos Silver Canada Corp. As noted above, the time period for the information reflected in Item 11 of this Report is the period up to
and ending December 31, 2021.

Base Salary. Effective June 1, 2021, Mr. Andres received an annual base salary of $575,000, which was subject to review
on an annual basis and may be adjusted in accordance with the procedures set forth by our Compensation and Nominating Committee.

Annual Bonus.  Mr. Andres was and is eligible to participate in a bonus plan pursuant to which his target bonus is 100% of his
base salary upon achievement by him and the Company of certain targets determined by our Board of Directors based on the
recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating Committee. The amount of bonus attainment in any given year is determined by
our Board of Directors based on the recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating Committee, and the amount of annual
bonus actually paid (if any) will depend on the actual performance of the Company and Mr. Andres as determined by our Compensation
and Nominating Committee. See “—Annual Incentive Plan.”
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Stock Options.  Mr. Andres was and is eligible to receive equity awards under our compensation programs. See “—Stock
Option Grants.”

Benefits and Perquisites.  Mr. Andres was and is entitled to participate in the various employee benefits plans that are, from
time to time, made generally available to our employees.

Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation. Mr. Andres has agreed to maintain the confidentiality of our information and not to use or
allow or help another to use or access such information at any time during or after his employment with us. Mr. Andres has also agreed
not to solicit any of our employees, consultants or service providers during his employment and for one year after termination of his
employment.

Termination and Change in Control. ~ Payments and benefits to which Mr. Andres will be entitled upon termination of his
employment, whether or not in connection with a change in control, are discussed below under “—Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.”

Employment Agreement with Mr. Johnson

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Johnson, dated as of February 28, 2011, pursuant to which he
commenced employment in his role as our Chief Financial Officer as of March 9, 2011. Mr. Johnson retired effective May 21, 2022.

Base Salary.  Effective January 1, 2020, Mr. Johnson received an annual base salary of $350,000, which was subject to
review on an annual basis and subject to adjustment in accordance with the procedures set forth by our Compensation and Nominating
Committee.

Annual Bonus.  Mr. Johnson was eligible to participate in a bonus plan pursuant to which his target bonus was 70% of his
base salary upon achievement by him and the Company of certain targets determined by our Board of Directors based on the
recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating Committee. The amount of bonus attainment in any given year was determined
by our Board of Directors based on the recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating Committee, and the amount of annual
bonus actually paid (if any) depended on the actual performance of the Company as determined by our Compensation and Nominating
Committee. See “—Annual Incentive Plan.”

Stock Options.  Mr. Johnson was eligible to receive options to purchase our common stock under our compensation
programs. See “—Stock Option Grants.”

Benefits and Perquisites. ~ Mr. Johnson was entitled to participate in the various employee benefits plans that are, from time
to time, made generally available to our employees.

Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation.  Mr. Johnson agreed to maintain the confidentiality of our information and not to use or
allow or help another to use or access such information at any time during or after his employment with us. Mr. Johnson also agreed
not to solicit any of our employees, consultants or service providers during his employment and for one year after termination of his
employment.

Termination and Change in Control.  Payments and benefits to which Mr. Johnson was entitled upon termination of his
employment, whether or not in connection with a change in control, are discussed below under “—Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.”

Employment Agreement with Mr. Kinyon

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Kinyon, dated as of April 1, 2016, pursuant to which he commenced
employment in his role as our Executive Vice President of Operations as of April 1, 2016. Immediately prior to the completion of our IPO
in October 2020, Mr. Kinyon's title was changed to Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Kinyon departed the Company effective August 16,
2021.

Base Salary. Effective January 1, 2020, Mr. Kinyon received an annual base salary of $370,000, which was subject to review
on an annual basis and may be adjusted in accordance with the procedures set forth by our Compensation and Nominating Committee.
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Annual Bonus.  Mr. Kinyon was eligible to participate in a bonus plan pursuant to which his target bonus was 70% of his base
salary upon achievement by him and the Company of certain targets determined by our Board of Directors based on the
recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating Committee. The amount of bonus attainment may range 0% to 100% of base
salary in any given year as determined by our Board of Directors based on the recommendation of our Compensation and Nominating
Committee, and the amount of annual bonus actually paid (if any) depended on the actual performance of the Company and Mr. Kinyon
as determined by our Compensation and Nominating Committee. See “—Annual Incentive Plan.”

Stock Options.  Mr. Kinyon was eligible to receive options to purchase our common stock under our compensation programs.
See “—Stock Option Grants.”

Benefits and Perquisites.  Mr. Kinyon was entitled to participate in the various employee benefits plans that are, from time to
time, made generally available to our employees.

Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation.  Mr. Kinyon agreed to maintain the confidentiality of our information and not to use or
allow or help another to use or access such information at any time during or after his employment with us. Mr. Kinyon also agreed not
to solicit any of our employees, consultants or service providers during his employment and for one year after termination of his
employment.

Termination and Change in Control. ~ Payments and benefits to which Mr. Kinyon was entitled upon termination of his
employment, whether or not in connection with a change in control, are discussed below under “—Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.”

Stock Option Grants

On January 20, 2020, we granted annual stock option awards to key employees, including our NEOSs, in recognition of services
performed in fiscal year 2019. The number of shares of our common stock underlying these options granted to our NEOs are detailed in
the following table (as adjusted for our 1-for-2 reverse stock split in October 2020 (the “Reverse Stock Split”)). These stock option
awards vest ratably over a three-year period, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant. These stock option awards each have an
exercise price of $12.00 per share (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split).

NEO Option Shares
Stephen Orr 126,000
Dale Andres —
Roger Johnson 75,000
John Kinyon 78,500

On October 27, 2020, upon the pricing of our IPO, we granted stock option awards to key employees, including our NEOs, in
recognition of services performed in fiscal year 2020 and in connection with the IPO. The number of shares of our common stock
underlying these options granted to our NEOs are detailed in the following table. These stock option awards vest ratably over a three-
year period, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant. These stock option awards each have an exercise price of $7.00 per share,
which was equal to the public offering price in the IPO.

NEO Option Shares
Stephen Orr 290,000
Dale Andres _
Roger Johnson 170,000
John Kinyon 170,000
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On June 22, 2021, we granted Dale Andres stock option awards following commencement of employment and as a one-time
sign on option. The number of shares of our common stock underlying these options granted is detailed in the following table. The sign
on options vest in three equal tranches, the first of which vested immediately, and the remainder on the first and second anniversaries
of employment with the Company. The other stock option awards vest ratably over a three-year period, beginning on the first
anniversary of the grant. These stock option awards each have an exercise price of $18.03 per share, which is equal to the fair market
value of a share of common stock on the grant date.

NEO Option Shares
Dale Andres 150,000
Dale Andres sign on 200,000

On December 27, 2021, we granted stock option awards to key employees, including our NEOs, in recognition of services
performed in fiscal year 2021. The number of shares of our common stock underlying these options granted to our NEOs are detailed in
the following table. These stock option awards vest ratably over a three-year period, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant.
These stock option awards each have an exercise price of $10.47 per share, which is equal to the fair market value of a share of
common stock on the grant date.

NEO Option Shares
Stephen Orr 163,500
Dale Andres 117,000
Roger Johnson 70,500
John Kinyon —

Upon Mr. Orr and Mr. Johnson’s retirement, all unvested options terminated immediately and all vested options terminated 30
days following the date of their respective separation. Upon Mr. Kinyon’s departure, all options fully vested and remained exercisable
until October 13, 2022.

Performance Share Units

On December 17, 2021, we granted performance share unit awards to key employees, including our NEOSs, in recognition of
services performed in fiscal year 2021. The number of shares of our common stock underlying these performance share units (“PSU”)
granted to our NEOs are detailed in the following table, assuming target performance at 100%. The performance share units are based
on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to a peer group over a three-year performance period beginning on
December 13, 2021 and ending on December 13, 2024. The number of performance share units awarded can range from 0% to 200%
of the initial award granted, depending on the TSR percentile rank of the Company relative to the peer group, and are payable in
common stock or cash, at the Company’s discretion, at the end of their performance period. These performance share units each have
a grant date value of $14.22 per share. Upon Mr. Orr's and Mr. Johnson’s retirements, their PSUs were automatically forfeited.

NEO Performance Share Units
Stephen Orr 33,330
Dale Andres 23,810
Roger Johnson 14,300
John Kinyon —

Long Term Incentive Plan

We have adopted the Amended and Restated Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), which allows us to grant a range of equity-
based awards to our NEOs, other employees, consultants and non-employee directors. The purpose of the LTIP is to recognize the
contributions made by our employees, consultants and directors, and to provide these individuals with an additional incentive to use
maximum efforts for the future success of the Company. All stock options granted to Messrs. Orr, Andres, Johnson and Kinyon, as
disclosed above, were granted under the LTIP.
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Annual Incentive Plan

We have adopted the Annual Incentive Plan (“AlP”), under which our NEOs and other employees are eligible to receive annual
cash bonuses. The purpose of the plan is to incentivize our executives and other employees to attain annual performance objectives,
thereby furthering our best interests and those of our shareholders.

With respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, each of our NEOs was eligible for an annual cash bonus under the
AIP; however, it was determined by our Compensation and Nominating Committee that Mr. Andres was the only NEO who would
receive a cash bonus.

With respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, each of our NEOs was eligible for an annual cash bonus under the
AIP. Our Compensation and Nominating Committee approved seven performance milestones related to safety, cost management,
project completion and governmental and community relations, which were used to determine bonus payouts to the NEOs. The level of
achievement of the performance milestones, as well as an individual performance adjustment factor, were used by our Compensation
and Nominating Committee to determine the actual bonus payouts as a percentage of the target bonus.
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2021 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The table below provides information on the equity awards held by the NEOs as of December 31, 2021. The number of shares
and exercise price of our common stock underlying the options granted to our NEOs are adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equity
Incentive Incentive
Market Plan Plan
value Awards: Awards:
Number of Number Market or
of shares of payout
shares or unearned value of
Number of Number of or units units shares, unearned
Securities Securities of stock of units or shares,
Underlying Underlying that stock other units or
Unexercised Unexercised Option have that rights that  other rights
Options Options Exercise Option not have not  have not that have
#) *#) Price Expiration vested vested vested not vested
Name and Principal Position Exercisable Unexercisable ($) Date (#) ($) (#) (%)
Stephen Orr(9) 300,000 — 27.66 10/30/2022 — — 33,330 (7) 345,965 (8)
300,000 — 27.66 2/16/2023
145,000 — 7.00 2/8/2025
114,437 — 7.00 12/23/2025
125,000 — 9.00 12/15/2026
126,000 — 9.00 12/5/2027
94,500 31,500 (1) 12.00 12/13/2028
42,000 84,000 (2) 12.00 1/20/2030
96,667 193,333 (3) 7.00 10/27/2030
— 163,500 (4) 10.47 12/27/2031
Dale Andres 66,667 133,333 (5) 18.03 6/22/2031 — — 23,810 (7) 247,148 (8)
— 150,000 (6) 18.03 6/22/2031
— 117,000 (4) 10.47 12/27/2031
Roger Johnson(10) 69,375 — 27.66  10/30/2022 — — 14,300 (7) 148,434 (8)
69,375 — 27.66 2/16/2023
85,000 — 7.00 2/8/2025
67,084 — 7.00 12/23/2025
72,500 — 9.00 12/15/2026
75,000 — 9.00 12/5/2027
56,250 18,750 (1) 12.00 12/13/2028
25,000 50,000 (2) 12.00 1/20/2030
56,667 113,333 (3) 7.00 10/27/2030
— 70,500 (4) 10.47  12/27/2031
John Kinyon(11) 22,500 — 27.66  10/30/2022 — — — —
22,500 — 27.66 2/16/2023
17,123 — 7.00 2/8/2025
31,569 — 7.00 12/23/2025
17,500 — 7.00 3/18/2026
45,250 — 9.00 12/15/2026
78,500 — 9.00 12/5/2027
78,500 — 12.00 12/13/2028
78,500 — 12.00 1/20/2030
170,000 — 7.00 10/27/2030

(1) The options listed here were granted on May 3, 2019, and vest ratably on each of the first four anniversaries following December

14, 2018.

(2) The options listed here were granted on January 20, 2020, and vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries following the

grant date.

(3) The options listed here were granted on October 27, 2020, and vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries following the

grant date.
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(4) The options listed here were granted on December 27, 2021, and vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries following the
grant date.

(5) The options listed here were granted on June 22, 2021, with one third vesting immediately and the remainder vesting ratably on
each of the first two anniversaries following June 1, 2021.

(6) The options listed here were granted on June 22, 2021, and vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries following June 1,
2021.

(7) The PSUs listed here were granted on December 17, 2021, and vest over a three-year performance period. PSUs are reported
assuming target performance at 100% payout for the 55t percentile relative TSR versus constituents of the GDXJ.

(8) Valuations are based on $10.38 per share, the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2021.

(9) Mr. Orr retired effective April 7, 2022. In accordance with the equity agreements, all unvested options terminated immediately upon
resignation, all vested options terminated on May 7, 2022 (30 days from date of separation) and all PSUs were automatically
terminated upon resignation.

(10)Mr. Johnson retired effective May 21, 2022. In accordance with the equity agreements, all unvested options terminated immediately
upon resignation, all vested options terminated on June 20, 2022 (30 days from date of separation) and all PSUs were
automatically terminated upon resignation.

(12)Mr. Kinyon departed the Company effective August 16, 2021. In accordance with his separation agreement, all options fully vested
upon departure and remained exercisable until October 13, 2022.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Below we describe the payments and benefits to which each NEO will be or was entitled to under his employment agreement if
his employment is or was terminated (i) by us without “cause” or by him for “good reason” (without a “change in control”), (ii) by us
without cause or by him for good reason within one year of a change in control or (iii) due to death or “disability” (such terms as defined
in the applicable employment agreement).

Mr. Orr

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason .  If we terminated Mr. Orr’'s employment without cause or Mr. Orr voluntarily
terminated his employment for good reason, he was entitled to: (i) 12 months of base salary, payable in lump sum, and (ii) if he timely
elected continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA"), payment by us on his
behalf of the portion of the monthly premiums for his group health insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid
immediately prior to his termination for the 12 months following his termination. Any unvested stock options would cease vesting and be
forfeited, and any vested stock options would remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination and (ii) the
expiration of the original option term.

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason in Connection with a Change in Control . If there was a change in control and
(a) within one year following the change in control Mr. Orr's employment was terminated without cause or Mr. Orr voluntarily terminated
his employment for good reason or (b) within three months preceding the change in control we terminated Mr. Orr's employment
without cause and such termination occurred in anticipation of such change in control, he would have been entitled to: (i) 24 months of
base salary, payable in lump sum, and (ii) if he timely elected continuation coverage under COBRA, payment by us on his behalf of the
portion of the monthly premiums for his group health insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid immediately prior to
his termination, for the 18 months following his termination. Any unvested stock options would have ceased vesting and be forfeited,
and any vested stock options would have remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination and (ii) the
expiration of the original option term.

Death or Disability . If Mr. Orr's employment was terminated due to death or disability, he would not have been entitled to any

payments or benefits. Any unvested stock options would have vested in full and remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) one year
following termination due to death or disability and (ii) the expiration of the original option term.
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Mr. Andres

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason.  During the applicable period of this Item 11, if we terminated Mr. Andres’
employment without cause or Mr. Andres voluntarily terminated his employment for good reason, he was entitled to: (i) accrued annual
salary and bonus to the date of termination (ii) twenty-four months of base salary plus his annual bonus for twenty-four months (based
upon the average of the prior two years of bonus payment), payable in a lump sum, (iii) if he timely elected continuation coverage the
Company would also pay, on his behalf, the portion of monthly premiums for his benefits that the Company paid immediately prior to
the date of termination, during the twelve (12) month period following the date of termination, subject to his continued eligibility for
coverage provided that he would continue to be required to pay that portion of the premium for the coverage that he was required to pay
as an active employee immediately prior to the date of termination and (iv) the 200,000 options granted at the commencement of his
employment would, to the extent unvested, vest at the date of termination and be exercisable for a period of one year from the date of
termination, and the 150,000 options granted at the date of the commencement of his employment, to the extent unvested, would
immediately vest, and such options, together with all other vested options would remain exercisable until the earlier of (x) the date one
hundred eighty (180) calendar days following termination of employment or (y) the expiration of the original option.

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason in Connection with a Change in Control . During the applicable period of this
Item 11, if there is a change in control and (a) within one year following the change in control Mr. Andres’ employment was terminated
without cause or Mr. Andres voluntarily terminated his employment for good reason or (b) within three months preceding the change in
control we terminated Mr. Andres’ employment without cause and such termination occurred in anticipation of such change in control,
he was entitled to (i) accrued annual salary and bonus to the date of termination (ii) twenty-four months of base salary plus his annual
bonus for twenty-four months (based upon the average of the prior two years of bonus payment), payable in a lump sum ((iii) if he
timely elected continuation coverage the Company would also pay, on his behalf, the portion of monthly premiums for his benefits that
the Company paid immediately prior to the date of termination, during the twelve (12) month period following the date of termination,
subject to his continued eligibility for coverage provided that he would continue to be required to pay that portion of the premium for the
coverage that he was required to pay as an active employee immediately prior to the date of termination and (iv) the 200,000 options
granted at the commencement of his employment would, to the extent unvested, vest at the date of termination and be exercisable for a
period of one year from the date of termination, and the 150,000 options granted at the date of the commencement of his employment,
to the extent unvested, would immediately vest, and such options, together with all other vested options would remain exercisable until
the earlier of (x) the date one hundred eighty (180) calendar days following termination of employment or (y) the expiration of the
original option.

Death or Disability. During the applicable period of this Item 11, if Mr. Andres’s employment was terminated due to death or
disability, he was entitled to accrued salary and bonus and the 350,000 options granted at the date of the commencement of his
employment would immediately vest and remain exercisable until the earlier of one year following termination of employment or the
expiration of the original option term.

Mr. Johnson

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason . If we terminated Mr. Johnson’s employment without cause or Mr. Johnson
voluntarily terminated his employment for good reason, he was entitled to: (i) 12 months of base salary, payable in lump sum, (ii) a pro
rata annual bonus, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to our other executives, and (iii) if he timely elected
continuation coverage under COBRA, payment by us on his behalf of the portion of the monthly premiums for his group health
insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid immediately prior to his termination, for the 12 months following his
termination. Any unvested stock options would have ceased vesting and be forfeited, and any vested stock options would have
remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination and (ii) the expiration of the original option term.
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Termination without Cause or for Good Reason in Connection with a Change in Control . If there was a change in control and
(a) within one year following the change in control Mr. Johnson’s employment was terminated without cause or Mr. Johnson voluntarily
terminated his employment for good reason or (b) within three months preceding the change in control we terminated Mr. Johnson’s
employment without cause and such termination occurred in anticipation of such change in control, he would have been entitled to: (i)
24 months of base salary, payable in lump sum, and (ii) if he timely elected continuation coverage under COBRA, payment by us on his
behalf of the portion of the monthly premiums for his group health insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid
immediately prior to his termination, for the 18 months following his termination. Any unvested stock options would have ceased vesting
and be forfeited, and any vested stock options would have remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination
and (ii) the expiration of the original option term.

Death or Disability.  If Mr. Johnson’s employment was terminated due to death or disability, he would have been entitled to his
Pro Rata Annual Bonus, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to our other executives. Any unvested stock options
would have vested in full and remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) one year following termination and (ii) the expiration of the
original option term.

Mr. Kinyon

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason . If we terminated Mr. Kinyon's employment without cause or Mr. Kinyon
voluntarily terminates his employment for good reason, he was entitled to: (i) 12 months of base salary, payable in lump sum, (ii) a pro
rata annual bonus, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to our other executives, and (iii) if he timely elects
continuation coverage under COBRA, payment by us on his behalf of the portion of the monthly premiums for his group health
insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid immediately prior to his termination, for the 12 months following his
termination. Any unvested stock options would have ceased vesting and be forfeited, and any vested stock options would have
remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination and (ii) the expiration of the original option term. Pursuant to a
Separation Agreement dated September 1, 2021, the Company made a lump sum payment to Mr. Kinyon consistent with the foregoing,
paid $2,500 in legal fees, and agreed that all Mr. Kinyon'’s stock options would fully vest and remain exercisable until the earlier of the
date of October 13, 2022, or the expiration of the original option term.

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason in Connection with a Change in Control . If there was a change in control and
(a) within one year following the change in control Mr. Kinyon's employment was terminated without cause or Mr. Kinyon voluntarily
terminated his employment for good reason or (b) within three months preceding the change in control we terminated Mr. Kinyon's
employment without cause and such termination occurred in anticipation of such change in control, he would have been entitled to: (i)
24 months of base salary, payable in lump sum, and (ii) if he timely elected continuation coverage under COBRA, payment by us on his
behalf of the portion of the monthly premiums for his group health insurance (including coverage of his dependents) that we paid
immediately prior to his termination, for the 18 months following his termination. Any unvested stock options would have ceased vesting
and been forfeited, and any vested stock options would have remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) 180 days following termination
and (ii) the expiration of the original option term.

Death or Disability . If Mr. Kinyon’s employment was terminated due to death or disability, he would have been entitled to his pro
rata annual bonus, to be paid at the same time as such bonuses are paid to our other executives. Any unvested stock options would
have vested in full and remained exercisable until the earlier of (i) one year following termination and (ii) the expiration of the original
option term.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for Senior Executives and Outside Directors
Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted the Deferred Compensation Plan for Senior Executives and Outside Directors (the
“Deferred Compensation Plan”), under which (i) our senior executives are eligible to elect to defer receipt of any portion of cash

compensation or equity compensation awards other than from the exercise of stock options and (ii) our non-employee directors are
eligible to elect to defer receipt of any portion of annual retainers or meeting awards.
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Participants in the Deferred Compensation Plan are entitled to receive distribution of his or her deferred compensation account
in either (i) a single lump sum distribution of cash or shares of our stock or (ii) annual installments of cash or shares of our stock over a
period of not more than five (5) years after the date payment commences. All distributions under the Deferred Compensation Plan shall
be made or shall commence, as the case may be, on the earlier of (i) the date designated in a participant’s deferral election form and
(i) the date that is six months and one day after the occurrence of (x) the participant’s termination of active service as a senior
executive or non-employee director as applicable or (y) the date of the participant’s death; provided, however, that if a participant is a
“specified employee” within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A (“409A”), payment of any benefits under the Deferred
Compensation Plan shall not commence until six months following a participant’s “separation from service” as such term is defined
under 409A.

Stock Ownership Policy

Our Board believes that, in order to align the interests of our executive officers and non-employee directors with the long-term
interests of the Company’s stockholders, all executive officers and non-employee directors should maintain a minimum level of equity
interests in the Company’s common stock. Accordingly, we have adopted minimum stock ownership guidelines for our executive
officers and non-employee directors as shown in the table below.

Position Stock Ownership Guideline
CEO, President 3x base salary

Other Executive Officers 1x base salary
Non-Employee Directors 3x base board retainer fee

Executives and non-employee directors are subject to a five-year phase in period to meet the applicable ownership
requirements, beginning from the later of (i) the date of the IPO; (ii) employment date or director appointment date; or (iii) promotion
date. Shares, shares in trust, shares in 401k plans, shares owned directly by family members and DSUs count toward satisfying the
guideline, even if unvested. Stock options do not count toward satisfying the guideline until exercised.

Director Compensation
Director Compensation Policy Prior to the IPO

Prior to the completion of our IPO in October 2020, each of our non-employee directors was entitled to receive the following
compensation pursuant to our pre-IPO director compensation policy, as applicable:

e an annual retainer of $35,000 for service on the Board; and

e $1,500 for each Board and committee meeting attended (whether in person or by telephone), provided that non-employee
directors who had to travel intercontinentally from outside of North America to attend a Board or committee meeting in
person were entitled to receive an additional $2,500.

All such compensation was to be paid (prorated for the period from January 1, 2020 through October 31, 2020) in the form of
immediately vested deferred stock units (“DSUs”) that settle upon the director’s cessation of continuous service. On March 31, 2021,
the Company granted DSU awards for Board annual retainers and fees for the period from January 1, 2020 through October 31, 2020,
which immediately vested. In determining the number of DSUs to be awarded to each director for such period, our Compensation and
Nominating Committee considered the timing of the grant and the subsequent increase in the share price of our common stock
following our IPO. Accordingly, on March 31, 2021, our Compensation and Nominating Committee approved an aggregate grant of
85,960 DSUs, to the directors for service for the period from January 1, 2020 through October 31, 2020. Of the DSUs granted on
March 31, 2021, 12,961 were granted to three directors whose service on the Board ended in 2021 and were converted to shares at
that time.
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Director Compensation Policy

Beginning November 1, 2020, each of our non-employee directors is entitled to receive the following compensation pursuant to
our current director compensation policy, as applicable:

an annual retainer of $55,000 for service on the Board of Directors;

$1,500 for each committee meeting attended (whether in person or by telephone), provided that non-employee directors
who travel intercontinentally from outside of North America to attend a Board or committee meeting in person are entitled to
receive an additional $2,500;

an annual retainer of $10,000 for service as the chair of our Audit Committee or as the chair of our Compensation and
Nominating Committee;

an annual retainer of $4,000 for service as the chair of any other standing committee of the Board; and

an annual retainer of $55,000 for service as our non-executive Chair of the Board.

All such compensation will be paid in cash quarterly in arrears. Each non-employee director may also elect to receive DSUs in
lieu of the cash retainer.

Pursuant to our current director compensation policy, at each annual meeting of shareholders, each non-employee director will
be granted an annual equity grant under the LTIP with a fair market value of $90,000. The grant value will be split evenly between
stock options and DSUs. Accordingly, on June 14, 2021, our Compensation and Nominating Committee and our Board approved an
annual equity grant for 2021 under the LTIP for the period July 1, 2021 to May 31, 2022, with a fair market value of $82,500, consisting
of 50% stock options and 50% DSUs.

Directors are permitted to defer all or a portion of their compensation under the Deferred Compensation Plan, pursuant to which
our directors will be able to defer their annual retainers and receive such deferred retainers in cash or in shares of our common stock.
The director compensation policies described above do not apply to our employee directors, including Stephen Orr (whose
compensation is set forth above under “—Summary Compensation Table").

The table below sets forth information concerning compensation of our non-employee directors in 2021:

Fees
Earned
or Paid Stock
in Cash Awards Option Awards Total

Name ($) ($)(1) ($)(2) ($)

Janice Stairs 58,000 213,807 41,247 313,054
Ali Erfan 62,500 158,254 41,247 262,001
Igor Gonzales 68,000 142,272 41,247 251,519
Karl Hanneman 74,000 160,390 41,247 275,637
Charles Hansard 61,000 90,953 83,289 235,242
Igor Levental(3) 29,000 184,212 41,247 254,459
David Peat 76,500 162,527 41,247 280,274
Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla (4) 47,250 52,500 52,740 152,490

(1) DSU awards for Board members electing to receive DSUs in lieu of the cash retainer for the period October 1, 2021 through
December 31, 2021 will be granted in 2023 after the MCTO is lifted. Accordingly, the grant date fair value of such awards are not
reflected in this table. The grant date value of these DSU awards to be included in the director compensation table for 2023 will be
as follows: Ms. Stairs, $14,500 and Mr. Levental, $7,625.
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(2) Represents the grant date fair value of stock options granted to our directors in 2021 determined in accordance with FASB ASC
Topic 718. Non-employee directors who served as directors during 2021 had options (both vested and unvested) to purchase the
following number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2021: Ms. Stairs, 27,263 (25,591 vested); Mr.
Erfan, 27,263 (25,591 vested); Mr. Gonzales, 24,680 (23,008 vested); Mr. Hanneman, 42,763 (41,091 vested); Mr. Hansard,
10,138 (8,466 vested); Mr. Levental, 27,263 (25,591 vested); Mr. Peat, 119,185 (117,513 vested); Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla 5,505
(3,682 vested).

See Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity in our consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” for a discussion of assumptions used for computing the fair value of awards granted.

(3) Mr. Levental passed away in June 2022.

(4) Mr. Mufiiz was appointed to the Board of Directors in April 2021. Mr. Mufiiz’'s annual equity grant for 2021 under the LTIP was for
the period June 1, 2021 to May 31, 2022, with a fair market value of $90,000, consisting of 50% stock options and 50% DSUs.

Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table shows information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of February 23, 2023, by:

e each person or group who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock;

e each member of our Board and director nominee;

e each of our named executive officers (as defined by ltem 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K); and

e all members of our Board and our executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which a
person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Shares of common stock of which a person has the right to acquire
beneficial ownership at any time within 60 days of February 23, 2023, are deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by the person
for the purpose of computing the number of shares and percentage beneficially owned by such person, but are not deemed
outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage beneficially owned by any other person. To our knowledge, except as indicated
in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community property laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and

investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

The percentage of common stock beneficially owned in the table is based on 69,162,223 shares of common stock outstanding
as of February 23, 2023.
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Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each holder listed below is c/o Gatos Silver, Inc., 925 W Georgia Street, Suite 910,

Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 2G3.

Percentage of

Shares of Common Stock
Common Stock Beneficially
Name Beneficially Owned Owned
Greater than 5% Stockholders
Electrum(1):
Electrum Silver US LLC 17,894,672 25.9 %
Electrum Silver US Il LLC 4,109,704 59 %
Total 22,004,376 31.8 %
Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan(2) 6,244,009 9.0 %
FMR LLC(3) 8,922,196 129 %
Directors and Named Executive Officers
Janice Stairs(5)(6) 56,811 *
Ali Erfan(4)(5)(6) 125,744 *
Igor Gonzales(5)(6) 37,100 *
Karl Hanneman(5)(6) 70,779 *
Charles Hansard(5)(6) 16,635 *
David Peat(5)(6) 175,801 =
Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla(5)(6) 8,636 *
Dale Andres(5) 183,334 *
Stephen Orr(7)(8) 165,783 *
Roger Johnson(9) 60,354 *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (16 persons) 907,206 1.5 %

*

M

@

Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

The securities reported are based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 11, 2022 by Electrum Silver US LLC (“ESUS”), Electrum
Strategic Management LLC (“ESM”), Electrum Global Holdings L.P. (“Global Holdco”), TEG Global GP Ltd. (“TEG Global”), The
Electrum Group LLC (“TEG"), Electrum Silver US Il LLC (“ESUS II"), Electrum Strategic Opportunities Fund Il L.P. (“ESOF II"),
Electrum Strategic Opportunities Fund Il GP L.P. (“ESOF Il GP L.P.”) and ESOF Il GP Ltd. (“ESOF Il GP”) (for the purposes of this
section, collectively, “Electrum”). Mr. Erfan is Vice Chairman of TEG.

ESUS directly owns 17,894,672 shares of our common stock. ESM is the manager of ESUS. ESM is wholly owned by Global
Holdco, and TEG Global is the general partner of Global Holdco. TEG acts as an investment advisor to Global Holdco. As a result,
ESM, Global Holdco, TEG Global and TEG may be deemed to beneficially own shares of our common stock held by ESUS.

ESUS Il directly owns 4,109,7104 shares of our common stock. ESOF Il owns 99% of ESUS II, and ESM is the manager of ESUS
Il. ESM is wholly owned by Global Holdco, and TEG Global is the general partner of Global Holdco. The general partner of ESOF I
is ESOF Il GP L.P., and the general partner of ESOF Il GP L.P. is ESOF Il GP. ESOF Il GP is wholly owned by Global Holdco.
TEG acts as an investment advisor to ESOF II. As a result, ESOF Il, ESM, Global Holdco, TEG Global, ESOF Il GP L.P., TEG and
ESOF Il GP may be deemed to beneficially own shares of our common stock held by ESUS II.

The address of the Electrum entities is 535 Madison Avenue, 12th Floor, New York, New York 10022.

The securities reported are based on a Schedule 13G filed on February 16, 2021 by the Municipal Employees’ Retirement System
of Michigan and represents (i) 6,205,259 shares of our common stock held by MERS and (ii) 38,750 shares of our common stock
issuable upon exercise of options that are vested or vest within 60 days of February 23, 2023. The address of MERS is 1134
Municipal Way, Lansing, Michigan 48917.
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The securities reported are based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 9, 2023 by FMR LLC. FMR LLC has sole voting power
with respect to 8,922,196 shares and sole investment power with respect to 8,922,196 shares. Abigail P. Johnson, a Director, the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of FMR LLC, has sole investment power with respect to 8,922,196 shares. Members of
the Johnson family, including Abigail P. Johnson, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting
common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other Series B
shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will be voted in
accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common
shares and the execution of the shareholders’ voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR LLC. Neither FMR LLC nor Abigail P. Johnson
has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned directly by the various investment companies registered under
the Investment Company Act (“Fidelity Funds”) advised by Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC (“FMR Co. LLC"), a
wholly owned subsidiary of FMR LLC, which power resides with the Fidelity Funds’ Boards of Trustees. FMR Co. LLC carries out
the voting of the shares under written guidelines established by the Fidelity Funds’ Boards of Trustees. The address of FMR LLC is
245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

Holdings include 82,262 shares of our common stock held by Ajami Associates Limited, which is owned and controlled by Mr.
Erfan. The address of Ajami Associates Limited is c/o Sphere Management (Maritius) Limited, 6th Floor, Suite 619, Port Louis,
Mauritius. Mr. Erfan disclaims beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock held by Electrum. See footnote (1).

Holdings include the following shares which may be acquired upon the exercise of options outstanding under the LTIP and
exercisable within 60 days of February 23, 2023: Janice Stairs — 27,263 shares; Ali Erfan — 27,263 shares; Igor Gonzales —
24,680 shares; Karl Hanneman — 42,763 shares; Charles Hansard — 10,138 shares; David Peat — 119,185 shares; Daniel Mufiiz
Quintanilla — 5,505 shares; Dale Andres — 222,334 shares; and all current directors and executive officers as a group — 672,497
shares.

Holdings include the following shares which may be acquired upon departure from the Company by settiement of the DSUs
outstanding under the LTIP within 60 days of February 23, 2023: Janice Stairs — 19,548 shares; Ali Erfan — 16,219 shares; Igor
Gonzales — 12,420 shares; Karl Hanneman — 18,016 shares; Charles Hansard — 6,497 shares; David Peat — 52,141 shares;
Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla — 3,131 shares; and all current directors as a group — 127,972 shares.

Holdings include (i) 91,235 shares of our common stock held by Cast Management 401k Trust, in which Mr. Orr is a beneficiary and
(ii) 66,548 shares of our common stock held by Mr. Orr’s spouse. The address of Cast Management 401k Trust is 30 N Gould St,
Suite R, Sheridan, Wyoming 82801. Mr. Orr disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by his spouse.

Mr. Orr departed from the Company effective April 7, 2022.
Mr. Johnson departed from the Company effective May 21, 2022.

Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

The following are summaries of transactions since January 1, 2020 to which we have been a participant, in which the amount

involved in the transaction exceeds or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of the Company’s total assets
at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which any of our directors, executive officers, beneficial owners of more than
five percent of our voting securities or any other “related person” as defined in Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K had or will have a direct or
indirect material interest.
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Services Agreement

Effective January 1, 2015, in connection with our Los Gatos Joint Venture (“LGJV"), we entered into a services agreement with
the LGJV operating entities consisting of Minera Plata Real S. de R.L. de C.V (“MPR”"), Operaciones San Jose del Plata S. de R.L. de
C.V. (“0SJ") and Servicios San Jose del Plata S. de R.L. de C.V. (“SSJ"). SSJ was subsequently merged with MPR. Pursuant to the
agreement, OSJ agreed to provide to the LGJV certain consulting and administrative services, including services necessary to explore,
develop, construct and operate the LGJV and for business development activities. The agreement included indemnification provisions
by MPR, SSJ in favor of OSJ and its indemnitees against all losses, damages, costs, expenses and charges incurred by OSJ arising as
a result of any act or omission with respect to the provision of services pursuant to the agreement, except for willful misconduct or gross
negligence.

Under the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement, we provide management and administrative services to the LGJV. The
Company received $5.4 million from the LGJV under this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2021. The Company had
receivables under this agreement of $0.8 million as of December 31, 2021. The Company also incurred certain LGJV costs that are
subsequently reimbursed by the LGJV.

Management Services Agreement

Upon completion of our IPO, we entered into a management services agreement with Silver Opportunity Partners Corporation
(“SOP™) which was renamed to Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation (“SSMRC”) pursuant to which we provided certain
executive and managerial advisory services to SSMRC until the agreement was terminated on December 31, 2021. SSMRC
reimbursed the Company for costs of such services. The Company earned $0.2 million from SSMRC under this agreement during the
years ended December 31, 2021.

Statement of Policy on Related Party Transactions

The Board has adopted a written related party transaction policy designed to minimize potential conflicts of interest arising from
any dealings we may have with our affiliates and to provide appropriate procedures for the disclosure, approval and resolution of any
real or potential conflicts of interest that may exist from time to time. This policy provides, among other things, that all related persons
transactions will be ratified and approved by disinterested members of our Board after receiving a recommendation from our Audit
Committee that the transaction is fair, reasonable and within our policy. In making its recommendation, our Audit Committee will
consider each related party transaction in light of all relevant factors, including without limitation the benefits of the transaction to us, the
terms of the transaction and whether they are arm’s length and in the ordinary course of our business, the direct or indirect nature of the
related party’s interest in the transaction, the size and expected term of the transaction, and other facts and circumstances that bear on
the materiality of the related party transaction under applicable law and stock exchange standards. For purposes of the policy, a
“related persons transactions” generally consists of a transaction, arrangement or relationship involving the Company and the
Company'’s directors, director nominees or executive officers, any stockholder beneficially owning more than 5% of the Company’s
common stock, or immediate family members of any such persons.

Director Independence

Our Board has determined that each of Ms. Stairs and Messrs. Erfan, Gonzales, Hanneman, Hansard, Peat and Mufiiz is an
independent director within the meaning of the applicable rules of the NYSE.

Item 14.Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit and Audit-Related Fees
Effective September 28, 2022, KPMG resigned as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The

Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors engaged EY to serve as the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm effective November 14, 2022.
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The following table shows the fees billed by EY and KPMG for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Audit fees? - KPMG $ 1,412,703 $ 898,568
Audit fees1 - EY 600,000 —
Audit-related fees — —
Tax fees? 89,385 85,000
All other fees — —
Total $ 2,102,088 $ 983,568
(1) Audit fees relate to professional services rendered in connection with the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements,
quarterly review of financial statements, IPO and audit services provided in connection with other statutory and regulatory
filings.
2) Tax fees relate to professional services rendered relating to tax compliance and planning. Such services included corporate

income tax return preparation and consultation on foreign tax matters.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee has adopted a policy and procedures for the pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services to be
rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm. Under the policy, our Audit Committee generally pre-approves specified
services in defined categories up to specified amounts and limits the types of non-audit services that may be provided by the
independent accountant. Our Audit Committee may delegate authority to the Chair of the Audit Committee or another member of our
Audit Committee to pre-approve any proposed engagement of an independent accountant. However, any engagement of an
independent accountant pre-approved as such must be reported to our Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. All
audit and non-audit services performed by KPMG during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were pre-approved by our
Audit Committee.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

@

@

(©)
3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

Consolidated Financial Statements. For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not
required or not applicable or the information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

Exhibits. The exhibits listed below are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Gatos Silver, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2020)

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Gatos Silver, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2020)

Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 29, 2021)

Shareholders Agreement dated October 30, 2020 among Gatos Silver Inc. and the stockholders that are signatories

thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 30,
2020

Registration Rights Agreement dated October 30, 2020 among Gatos Silver Inc. and the stockholders that are
signatories thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 30, 2020)

Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement effective as of January 1, 2015 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Operaciones San Jose de Plata S de R L de C. V SerV|C|os San Jose de Plata, S. de R. L de C.V.. Los Gato

by reference to Exhlblt 10.5.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

Amendment to Partner Agreement dated June 30, 2017, among Minera Plata Real. S. de R.L. de C.V., Operaciones

10.5.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

Amendment No. 3 to Partner Agreement dated March 30, 2018 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
Operaciones San Jose de Plata S de R L de C. V SerV|C|os San Jose de Plata, S. de R. L de C.V.. Los Gato

by reference to Exhlblt 10.5.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

Amendment No. 4 to Partner Agreement dated March 30, 2019 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Sunshine Silver
Mining & Refining Corporation and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.5 to the
Company’s Reqistration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

Amendment No. 5 to Partner Agreement dated April 29, 2020 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Sunshine Silver
Mining & Refining Corporation and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.6 to the
Company’s Reqistration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

130



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000110465920120067/tm1917157d30_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000110465920120067/tm1917157d30_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000110465921043336/tm211482d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000110465920120067/tm1917157d30_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000110465920120067/tm1917157d30_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000104746920005064/a2242423zex-10_51.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000104746920005064/a2242423zex-10_53.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000104746920005064/a2242423zex-10_54.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000104746920005064/a2242423zex-10_55.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1517006/000104746920005064/a2242423zex-10_56.htm

Table of Contents

10.1.6 Amendment No. 6 to Partner Agreement dated May 25, 2020 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V., Operaciones
San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Sunshine Silver Mining &
Refining Corporation and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.7 to the Company’s
Reqistration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

10.1.7 Amendment No. 7 to Partner Agreement dated June 16, 2020 among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Sunshine Silver
Mining & Refining Corporation and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.8 to the
Company’s Reqistration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

10.1.8* Amendment No. 8 to Partner Agreement dated July 12, 2021, among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Sunshine Silver
Mining & Refining Corporation and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.

10.2.1 Confirmation Agreement, dated March 9, 2021, among Minera Plata Real, S. de R.L. de C.V., Operaciones San Jose de
Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Gatos Silver, Inc. and Dowa Metals and

Mining Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March

12, 2021)

10.2.2 Confirmation Agreement, dated July 12, 2021, among Minera Plata Real. S. de R.L. de C.V., Operaciones San Jose de

Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Servicios San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Gatos Silver, Inc. and Dowa Metals & Mining
Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 12, 2021

10.3.1 Revolving Credit Facility, dated July 12, 2021, between Gatos Silver, Inc. and Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 12, 2021

10.3.2 Amendment and Waiver to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated March 7, 2022, among Gatos Silver, Inc., certain
subsidiaries of Gatos Silver, Inc. from time to time, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch and certain financial institutions
from time to time, as lenders, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as bookrunner and mandated lead arranger, and Bank
of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as administrative agent for and on behalf of the lenders (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 8, 2022)

10.3.3 Amendment No. 2 to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 15, 2022, among Gatos Silver, Inc., certain
subsidiaries of Gatos Silver, Inc. from time to time, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch and certain financial institutions
from time to time, as lenders, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as bookrunner and mandated lead arranger, and Bank
of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as administrative agent for and on behalf of the lenders (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2022)

10.3.4 Wavier No. 3 to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated October 13, 2022, among Gatos Silver, Inc., certain subsidiaries
of Gatos Silver, Inc. from time to time, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch and certain financial institutions from time to
time, as lenders, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as bookrunner and mandated lead arranger, and Bank of Montreal
Chicago Branch, as administrative agent for and on behalf of the lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2022)

10.3.5 Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 20, 2022, among Gatos Silver, Inc., certain
subsidiaries of Gatos Silver, Inc. from time to time, Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch, as administrative agent, BMO
Capital Markets, as bookrunner and mandated lead arranger, and Bank of Montreal, Chicago Branch and certain
financial institutions from time to time, as lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed December 22, 2022)

104.1 Exploration, Exploitation and Unilateral Promise to Sell Agreement dated May 4, 2006 between La Cuesta International,
S.A. de C.V. and Minera Plata Real, S.A. de C.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.1 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)
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10.5.1#

10.6.1#

10.7.1*

10.8.1t

10.8.2t

10.8.3t

10.8.4t

10.8.5t

10.8.6t*

10.9.1t

10.10.11

10.11.11

10.11.21

10.11.41*

10.11.5%

10.11.61

10.12.1

10.15.1*

Adreement dated July 15, 2019, between Ocean Partners USA. Inc. and Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de
C.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October

1, 2020)

Cerro Los Gatos Lead Concentrate Sales Agreement dated April 14, 2019 between Operaciones San Jose de Plata, S.
de R.L. de C.V. and Metagri S.A. de C.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 1, 2020)

Leaching Plant Confirmation Agreement dated March 17, 2022, among Minera Plata Real, S.A. de C.V., Operaciones
San Jose de Plata, S. de R.L. de C.V., Gatos Silver, Inc. and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.

Amended and Restated Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 30, 2020)

Form of Executive Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12.2 to the Company’s
Regqistration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Form of Director Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12.3 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Form of DiSU Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement

on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Form of DSU Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement

on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)
Form of PSU Award Agreement

Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14.1 to the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Employment Agreement dated as of May 3, 2011 between Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation and Stephen

Orr (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October
1, 2020)

Employment Agreement dated as of June 1, 2021, between Minera Luz del Sol S. de R.L. de C.V. and Dale Andres
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2021

Employment Agreement dated as of February 28, 2011 between Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation and
Roger Johnson

Employment Agreement dated as of April 1, 2016 between Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining Corporation and John
Kinyon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
October 1, 2020)

Separation Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2021, between Gatos Silver, Inc. and John Kinyon (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 2, 2021)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed on October 8, 2020)

Assignment, Assumption and Consent Agreement (Amendment No.1) between Dowa Metals and Mining, Operaciones
and Ocean Partners USA, Inc. dated July 14, 2022
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10.15.2* Purchase Sale Contract between Trafigura Mexico S.A. De C.V. and Operaciones San Jose De Plata S. De R.L.de C.V.
dated January 30, 2022

16.1 Letter from KPMG LLP to the SEC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on September 30, 2022)

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

23.2* Consent of KPMG LLP

24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page)

31.1* Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2* Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1** Section 1350 Certification

96.1 Cerro Los Gatos S-K 1300 Technical Report Summary, dated November 10, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

96.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2022)

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained

in Exhibits 101)

* Filed herewith

** Furnished herewith

T Management contract or compensatory plan or agreement

# Portions of this exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) customarily and actually treated by the

Company as private and confidential.

Item 16.Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GATOS SILVER, INC.
March 20, 2023 By: /s/ Dale Andres

Dale Andres
Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Dale Andres and André van Niekerk and each of them, their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution
and resubstitution, for them and in their name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each said attorney-in-fact and agents
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents or either of them or their or his or her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Dale Andres Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dale Andres (principal executive officer) March 20, 2023
/s/ André van Niekerk Chief Financial Officer (principal financial
André van Niekerk officer and principal accounting officer) March 20, 2023

/sl Janice Stairs Chair of the Board of Directors

Janice Stairs March 20, 2023

s/ Ali Erfan Director
Ali Erfan March 20, 2023

/sl Ilgor Gonzales Director
Igor Gonzales March 20, 2023

/s/ Karl Hanneman Director
Karl Hanneman March 20, 2023

/sl Charles Hansard Director
Charles Hansard March 20, 2023

/s/ David Peat Director
David Peat March 20, 2023

/s/ Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla Director
Daniel Mufiiz Quintanilla March 20, 2023
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Exhibit 10.1.8

EXECUTION VERSION
AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO PARTNER AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 8 to Partner Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made and effective as of July 12, 2021 and
amends the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement (“Partner Agreement”) effective as of January 1, 2015, as previously
amended, among MINERA PLATA REAL, S. DE R.L. DE C.V ., a Mexico variable capital company (a “sociedad de
responsabilidad limitada de capital variable” in Spanish) (‘MPR"), OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE PLATA S. DE R.L.
DE C.V., a Mexico variable capital company (“Operaciones”), SERVICIOS SAN JOSE DE PLATA S. DE R.L. DE C.V., a
Mexico variable capital company (“Servicios”) (MPR, Operaciones, and Servicios, collectively, the “LGJV) GATOS SILVER,
INC., a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Delaware (formerly, Sunshine Silver Mining & Refining
Corporation) (“GSI”), and DOWA METALS & MINING CO., LTD., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Japan
(“Dowa” and collectively with GSI and LGJV, the “Parties” and each a “Party”) (Dowa and GSI, each a “Partner”, and
together, the “Partners”).

Background

A. Dowa, GSI and the LGJV previously agreed to jointly explore, develop and operate a silver-zinc- lead mine located in
the State of Chihuahua, Mexico (the “Los Gatos Project”) by entering into the Partner Agreement.

B. The Partners directly and indirectly own all of the equity interests of the LGJV, with Dowa currently owning 30% and
GSI currently owning 70% of such equity interests.

C. The Partners desire to amend the Partner Agreement to increase Dowa’s rights related to Dowa personal seconded
to the Corporation.

D. In connection herewith, the Parties have executed and delivered the Confirmation Agreement (the
“Confirmation Agreement”).

Unless expressly defined in this Agreement or unless context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used herein will have the
meanings specified in the Partner Agreement.

Agreements

For good and valuable consideration, including, without limitation, the entering into of the Confirmation Agreement,
the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Dowa Personnel. Section 5.3 of the Partner Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following Section 5.3(b)
immediately following Section 5.3(a):

“(b) Dowa will have the right to designate one individual to be seconded to the Corporation to hold office as a
Vice President of the Corporation, for the purpose of (i) monitoring the Los Gatos Project's financial situation,
including, without limitation, accounting, tax and cashflow; and (ii) making recommendations with respect to,
and technical advice for mining and processing operations of the Joint Venture Entities to technical and
administrative staff in Chihuahua and to the Corporation Board and OpCo Board, as the case may be. Such
individual will have full access to all information relating to the Los Gatos Project's operations at both the mine
site and the Chihuahua office. The aggregate annual secondment fee payable by the Corporation to Dowa in
connection with such secondment will be fixed at US$200,000, unless otherwise agreed from time to time




between the Partners, and in addition to the secondment fee, the Corporation will be responsible for paying all
local costs connection with such individual's accommodation, local transportation (car and driver) and local
employment benefits.”

Conditions to Effectiveness. The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree the effectiveness of this Amendment is
subject to receipt of approval from the Japan Bank for International Cooperation. Additionally, the Parties hereto
acknowledge and agree the effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the successful consummation of the
transactions contemplated pursuant to the Confirmation Agreement.

General Provisions.

(@) The determination that any provision of this Amendment is invalid or unenforceable will not affect the
validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions or of that provision under other circumstances. Any invalid or
unenforceable provision will be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law.

(b) This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an
original, and all of which together will constitute one agreement.

(c) This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder will be construed in
accordance with and be governed by the internal laws of the state of Delaware without regard to its conflicts of laws
principles.

(d) Each Party will at its own expense do, make, execute or deliver all such further acts, documents and
things in connection with this Amendment as reasonably required from time to time for the purpose of giving effect
thereto, all promptly upon request.

(e) Except to the extent amended hereby, all terms, provisions and conditions of the Partner Agreement,
as it may have been amended from time to time, shall continue in full force and effect and the Partner Agreement
shall remain enforceable and binding in accordance with its terms.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Amendment No. 8 to Partner Agreement as of the date first
set forth above.

DOWA METALS & MINING CO., LTD.

By: /s/ Toshiaki Suyama

Name:Toshiaki Suyama
Title: President




GATOS SILVER, INC.

By: /s/ Stephen Orr

Name:Stephen Orr
Title: Chief Executive Officer




MINERA PLATA REAL, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Roger Johnson

Name:Roger Johnson
Title: Treasurer

OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE PLATA, S. DER.L. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Roger Johnson

Name:Roger Johnson
Title: Treasurer

SERVICIOS SAN JOSE DE PLATA S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Roger Johnson

Name:Roger Johnson
Title: Treasurer




Exhibit 10.7.1
LEACHING PLANT CONFIRMATION AGREEMENT

This Leaching Plant Confirmation Agreement (this “ Agreement”) is made and effective as of March 17, 2022 among MINERA
PLATA REAL, S. DE R.L. DE C.V., a Mexico variable capital company (a “sociedad de responsabilidad limitada de capital variable” in
Spanish) (“MPR”), OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE PLATA S. DE R.L. DE C.V. , a Mexico variable capital company (a “sociedad de
responsabilidad limitada de capital variable” in Spanish) (“Operaciones”) (MPR and Operaciones, collectively, the “LGJV"), GATOS
SILVER, INC., a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Delaware (* GSI'), and DOWA METALS & MINING CO., LTD. , a
corporation incorporated under the laws of Japan (“Dowa”).

Background

A. Reference is made to (i) the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement, dated January 1, 2015 (as amended, the “ Partner
Agreement”), entered into among Dowa, GSI and the LGJV, the (ii) Offtake Agreement, dated June 27, 2019 (as amended, the
“Offtake Agreement”), entered into between Operaciones and Dowa and (iii) the Priority Distribution Agreement, dated May 30, 2019
(the “Priority Distribution Agreement”), entered into among Dowa, GSI, and the LGJV.

B. Operaciones produces zinc concentrates (“Concentrates”). Pursuant to the terms of the Partner Agreement and the Offtake
Agreement, Dowa has the right and obligation to purchase all Concentrates produced by LGJV. The Concentrates were estimated to
have fluorine (“F”) content of 537ppm or less (“ Target”), failing which, Operaciones and Dowa are required to negotiate in good faith
with full disclosure to overcome any financial hardship or technical difficulty which Dowa may suffer. The Parties have acknowledged
that Fluorine levels contained in the Cerro Los Gatos deposit are higher than predicted in the feasibility study. It is difficult to reduce F
content levels using Operaciones’ current processing technology and the actual F content of Concentrates produced by Operaciones to
date exceeds the Target.

C. In an effort to produce Concentrates that meet the Target, the Parties have agreed to cause the LGJV to construct and
operate a leaching plant (“Plant”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

D. LGJV will finance the construction and subsequent operations of the Plant using its cashflow, subject to the Parties’
agreement to suspend certain payments under the Priority Distribution Agreement as set forth in this Agreement.

Agreements
For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Plant. Subject to the LGJV obtaining the necessary environmental permits and authorizations, the Parties hereby agree that
LGJV will own and be responsible for operation and maintenance of the Plant. The Parties agree that it is their objective to
produce Concentrates with F content of 537ppm or less. If such Target can be achieved by mixing leached Concentrates with
Concentrates that have not been processed through the Plant, the LGJV will not be required to process 100% of Concentrates
through the Plant. The Parties agree that the Plant will be constructed substantially in accordance with the Fluorine Leaching
Project dated March 8, 2022 and the Leaching Project Schedule together with the Capex and Opex appendices, together
attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Initial Plan”). The Parties hereby authorize the LGJV to:

(a) proceed to immediately engage engineering advisors to prepare a detailed engineering plan and to immediately
negotiate contracts for the procurement of equipment and materials




(b)
(©

(d)

required for the construction of the Plant based on the Initial Plan as soon as reasonably practicable;

proceed to immediately prepare the corresponding environmental permit applications;

order long lead-time items described in the Initial Plan, such as, but not limited to, the Long Lead-Time Items set forth
below (unless otherwise agreed between GSI and Dowa) as soon as practicable based on detailed engineering plan

progress; and

To the extent practicable, ensure that the procurement contracts described in Section 1(c) above will be on terms and
conditions that include the right to cancel such contracts upon the payment of a reasonable termination fee.

Cost. The Parties agree that LGJV will finance the construction and subsequent operations of the Plant using its cashflow,
subject to Dowa's suspension and/or waiver of the Priority Distribution Amounts as set forth in Section 4 below. The Parties
hereby agree to cause LGJV's 2022 and 2023, if required, Budgets to be revised/prepared to reflect the cost of construction of
the Plant.

Timing. Subject to Force Majeure Events (as defined below), or as otherwise agreed to by the Parties in writing, the Parties
hereby agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve and to accelerate the following milestones in connection with
constructing the Plant:

@

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

Environmental Milestones. The Parties hereby authorize LGJV to submit permit applications in March 2022, with
regulatory approval estimated to occur in May 2022. The Parties hereby authorize LGJV to apply for an updated
environmental license for operations, which the Parties anticipate LGJV receiving approval of the updated
environmental license in October 2022.

Detailed Engineering Milestones. The Parties hereby authorize LGJV to engage M3 Engineering in March 2022 for the
completion of detailed engineering plans of the Plant, with the Parties estimating that M3 Engineering will be able to
complete the detailed engineering plans in June 2022.

Procurement Milestones. The Parties hereby authorize LGJV to purchase the following equipment (collectively, the
“Long Lead-Time Items”) on the following terms: (i) filter press to be ordered in March 2022, with expected arrival on
site in January 2023; (ii) heat exchanger to be ordered in March 2022, with expected arrival on site in October 2022;
and

(iii) clarifier to be ordered in March 2022, with expected arrival on site in October 2022.

Construction and Commissioning Milestones . The Parties hereby agree to the following milestones, which the Parties
agree are preliminary and will be revised and optimized as detailed engineering is completed: (i) LGJV will commence
construction of the Plant in June 2022, and (ii) LGJV will commission the Plant in March 2023. Notwithstanding
anything contained herein to the contrary, the construction of the Plant shall at all times be subject to LGJV's receipt of
all environmental and other necessary licenses and permits.

Force Majeure Event. The term “Force Majeure Event” as used herein will mean failure or delay in fulfilling or
performing any action relating to construction of the Plant or implementation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, when and to the extent such failure or delay is caused by or resulting from acts beyond the affected
Party’s reasonable control, including, without limitation, the following: (i) acts of God; (ii) flood, fire, earthquake, or
explosion; (iii) war, invasion, hostilities (whether war is declared or




not), terrorist threats or acts, riot, or other civil unrest; (iv) government order or law; (v) actions, embargoes, or
blockades in effect on or after the date of this Agreement; (vi), the effects of a pandemic; (vii) action by any
governmental authority; and (viii) indigenous or other community social activism.

Dowa Contributions.

(@) Capital Expenses. To compensate GSI for a portion of the capital expenditures required to construct the Plant, Dowa
hereby agrees to waive its right to receive $4,200,000 of the Priority Distribution Payment (as defined in the Priority
Distribution Agreement) (“Capex PDP Reduction”). Such waiver will be effective upon the earlier of: (a) LGJV incurring
an equivalent amount of construction costs for the Plant, and (b) completion of construction of the Plant. For greater
certainty, (i) there will be no Capex PDP Reduction if the LGJV does not proceed with construction of the Plant; and (ii)
if construction of the Plant is interrupted without completion or is less than $4,200,000, the amount of Capex PDP
Reduction will be equal to the amount of capital expenditures actually incurred by the LGJV as of the date of
suspension of construction.

(b) Operating Expenses. To compensate GSI for a portion of the annual expenses required to operate the Plant, for the
initial five years of operation of the Plant (“Term”), Dowa agrees to waive its right to receive a portion of the Priority
Distribution Payments up to a maximum amount of $5,500,000 and equal to the lesser of: (a) $22/tonne of
Concentrates processed by the Plant, or (b) actual Plant operating costs during the Term (“Opex PDP Reductions”),
up to the maximum amount of $5,500,000, effective upon the earlier of completion of the Term and the date on which
the maximum Opex PDP Reductions are confirmed used. LGJV will provide Dowa with annual notice of the amount of
Opex PDP Reductions generated within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year during the Term until the maximum
amount of Opex PDP Reductions is reached.

(c) Initial Outlay Expenses. If the LGJV decides not to proceed with construction of the Plant for any reason, including a
Force Majeure Event (but excluding only by reason of GSI's withdrawal of its support and withdrawal of the support of
its nominees to the LGJV Board of Managers unless there is a commercially reasonable basis for doing so), then Dowa
will compensate GSI for the costs incurred by LGJV pursuant to Section 1(a) above, by waiving its right to receive a
portion of the Priority Distribution Payment equal to the amount of such costs (“IOE PDP Reduction”).

Priority Distribution Agreement. The Parties hereby agree to immediately suspend payment of

$9,700,000 of Priority Distribution Payments (as defined in the Priority Distribution Agreement) (* PDA Suspension”). The PDA
Suspension will be terminated immediately after determination and confirmation of completion of the Capex PDP Reduction
and the IOE PDP Reduction, if any, if the construction of the Plant is terminated prior to completion. If construction of the Plant
is completed as contemplated, then suspension of $5,500,000 of Priority Distribution Payments (as defined in the Priority
Distribution Agreement) will continue until final determination and confirmation of completion of the total Opex PDP Reduction
after the end of the Term. If operation of the Plant is suspended during the Term due to a Force Majeure Event, the Term will
be extended for an equivalent period of time. For greater certainty, PDA Suspension does not require the placement of funds in
escrow and if, during the PDA Suspension, the LGJV has cash available for distribution to Dowa and GSI, after Dowa'’s receipt
of $10,300,000 of the Priority Distribution Payments in aggregate, any remaining balance will be paid to and may be retained
by Dowa and GSlI, respectively, in accordance with their ownership interests in the LGJV.




Implementation. The Parties agree that it is their desire and intent for the Plant procurement, construction and operational
planning and status to be discussed on a regular basis at the LGJV’s Technical Committee, Operations Committee and
Management Committee meetings, and LGJV personnel responsible for implementation of the Plant construction and
operations will provide regular updates to the Parties in the normal course at the Technical Committee, Operations Committee
and Management Committee meetings, as the case may be.

Conditions Precedent; Public Announcements.

@

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

Each of the parties hereto (other than Dowa) acknowledges and agrees that: (i) Dowa’'s obligations under and
performance of this Agreement are expressly conditioned upon Dowa’s receipt of (A) the approval from Dowa’s board
of directors of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and (B) the approval from the board of
directors of Dowa’s parent, Dowa Holdings, to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (such
approvals, together the “Dowa Board Approvals ") and (ii) each such board of directors shall make its determination of
whether to approve this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby in its absolute and sole discretion.

Each of the Parties hereto (other than GSI) acknowledges and agrees that: (i) GSl's obligations under and
performance of this Agreement are expressly conditioned upon GSI's receipt of the approval from GSI's board of
directors of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (the “GSI Board Approval”) and (ii) the board
of directors shall make its determination of whether to approve this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby in its absolute and sole discretion.

Each of the Parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that each Party’s obligations under and performance of this
Agreement are expressly conditioned upon such Party’s receipt of approval by each Party’s Mexican local counsel and
tax advisors of this Agreement (in each, case, the “Advisor Approval”).

In the event any Party hereto proposes to issue any press release or public announcement concerning any provisions
of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, such Party shall so advise the other Parties hereto, and
the parties shall thereafter use their reasonable best efforts to cause a mutually agreeable release or announcement to
be issued. No Party will publicly disclose or divulge any provisions of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby without the other Parties’ prior written consent, except as may be required by applicable law. Notwithstanding
the forgoing, in no event shall any such press release or public announcement be made prior to written confirmation
that the Dowa Board Approvals and the GSI Board Approval have both been obtained.

Either before or concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, GSI and Dowa agree to approve the LGJV 2022
Budget in accordance with the Partners Resolution attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.

Termination. This Agreement shall terminate: (i) immediately upon written notice from Dowa to the other parties hereto that
Dowa has not received the Dowa Board Approvals or Dowa Advisor Approval, (ii) immediately upon written notice from GSI to
the other parties hereto that GSI has not received the GSI Board Approval or GSI Advisor Approval, or (i) immediately upon
written notice from either Dowa or GSI to the other parties hereto if for any reason the Closing Date (as defined below) does
not occur by March 31, 2022 (the “Outside Date”), unless the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the Outside Date. If
this Agreement is terminated in accordance with the terms hereof, then the transactions contemplated hereby shall be
automatically abandoned and the




10.

11.

terms and provisions hereof shall be of no force or effect. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Closing Date” means the date
on which the conditions to closing as contemplated by this Section 8 are completed and confirmed by the Parties in writing.

Further Assurances. Each party hereby agrees, at their own expense, to execute and deliver such additional documents and

instruments and to perform such additional acts as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, carry out and perform all of
the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including (a) participating in
a partners’ meeting to confirm and ratify approval by the LGJV of such transactions; and (b) cause the transactions described
above to be recorded in the corporate records of the LGJV.

Representations and Warranties. Each Party hereby represents and warrants to each other Party that, as of the date hereof

and the

@

(b)

(©

Notices.

@
(b)
©

Closing Date:

Such Party has full power, authority and legal right to enter into this Agreement and the other documents contemplated
hereby to which it is a party and to perform all its obligations hereunder and thereunder.

This Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby to which such Party is a party have been duly
executed and delivered by such Party, and this Agreement and the other documents contemplated hereby to which it is
a party constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of such party enforceable in accordance with their terms,
except as such enforceability may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance,
reorganization, moratorium and or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, and subject, as to enforceability, to
general principles of equity.

The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and of the other documents contemplated hereby to which
such party is a party (A) are within such Party’s corporate or company powers, as applicable, have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate or company action, as applicable, are not in contravention of law or the terms of
such party’s organizational and governing documents, (B) will not conflict with or violate any law or regulation, or any
judgment, order or decree of any governmental authority, (C) will not require the approval and/or consent of any
governmental authority or any other person, and

(D) will not conflict with, nor result in any breach in any of the provisions of or constitute a default under the provisions
of any agreement, instrument, or other document to which such Party is a party or by which it or its property is a party
or by which it may be bound.

All notices required or permitted hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed effectively given:

upon personal delivery to the party to be notified;

five business days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or

one day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written
verification of receipt.

All communications will be sent as follows:

If to Dowa and/or Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.
the LGJV, to: 14-1, Sotokanda 4-Chome




Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-0021 Japan
Attn: Hideo Kudo

Resource Development &

Raw Materials Department
kudoh@dowa.co.jp

Telephone: +81 3-6847-1201

with a copy to (which will not constitute notice to Dowa):

Torys LLP

1114 Avenue of the Americas
23rd Floor

New York, NY 10036

Attn: Don Bell
dbell@torys.com

Telephone: +1 (212) 880-6118

If to GSI and/or 8400 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 600

the LGJV, to: Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Attn: Roger Johnson
Telephone: +1 (303) 784-5350
E-mail: riohnson@gatossilver.com

12.

13.

14.

15.

with a copy to (which will not constitute notice to GSI):

Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.

1200 17th St #1900

Denver, Colorado 80202

Attn: Jason B. Brinkley

Email: jbrinkley@swlaw.com
Telephone: +1 (303) 634-2066

Severability. The determination that any provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable will not affect the validity or
enforceability of the remaining provisions or of that provision under other circumstances. Any invalid or unenforceable provision
will be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when executed will be an original, and all of
which, when taken together, will constitute one agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, email or
other means of electronic transmission has the same legal effect as an original signed copy.

Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder will be construed in accordance with
and be governed by the internal laws of the state of New York without regard to its conflicts of laws principles.

Amendments, Assignments. All amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by the parties hereto. No party
may assign its rights hereunder, in whole or in part, without the consent of the other parties.




16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Currency. Unless otherwise stated, all references to currency, monetary values and dollars (including “$") set forth herein shall
mean United States (U.S.) dollars and all payments hereunder shall be made in United States dollars.

Dates. Unless otherwise stated, all dates set forth herein shall mean such date in the United States.

Dispute Resolution. Any dispute arising from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance
with the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Article 21 of the Partner Agreement.

No Guarantee of Success. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the processing of the Concentrates through the Plant is
not a guarantee that LGJV will achieve the Target, but the Parties agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
LGJV to achieve the Target by processing the necessary Concentrates through the Plant.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding among the parties hereto with respect to
the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, inducements and
conditions, express or implied, oral or written, of any nature whatsoever with respect to the subject matter hereof. The
amendments, modifications and waivers contained herein with respect to the agreements expressly referenced herein shall not
be construed as an amendment or modification to, or waiver of any provision of, any other agreement or understanding among
any of the parties hereto, including, without limitation, the Partner Agreement or the Priority Distribution Agreement, which
remain in full force and effect.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Confirmation Agreement as of the date first set forth above.

DOWA METALS & MINING CO., LTD.

By: /s/ Toshiaki Suyama

Name: Toshiaki Suyama




GATOS SILVER, INC.

By: /s/ Dale Andres

Name: Dale Andres




MINERA PLATA REAL, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Roger Johnson

Name: Roger Johnson

OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE PLATA, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Roger Johnson

Name: Roger Johnson




EXHBIT A
Leaching Plant Project Memo and Leaching Plant Schedule

See Attached




Commercially sensitive information redacted from this agreement.




EXHBIT B
Partners Resolution — 2022 Budget Approval

See Attached




CONFIDENTIAL MEMORANDUM

To: Gatos Silver, Inc. and Dowa Metals and Mining Co., Ltd.

From: Roger Johnson

CC: Stephen Orr, Adam Dubas, Phil Pyle, Luis Felipe Huerta, Koji Kuroki, Shinichiro Watanabe, Toshiaki Terao, Harunobu
Arima, Jesus Segura, Rodrigo Monroy

Date: March 15, 2022

Subject: Requisite Partner Approval of the LGJV 2022 Budget

Exhibit | to this Requisite Partner Approval contains the LGJV Budget for 2022. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this
Requisite Partner Approval will have the meanings specified in the Unanimous Omnibus Partner Agreement dated as of January 1,
2015, as amended.

The proposed 2022 Budget includes reference to the payment of certain dividends in the course of fiscal year 2022 which are estimates
and subject to the following:

i) Concurrent with and subject to the execution of the Leaching Plant Confirmation Agreement ( “LP Agreement”) dated March
17, 2022, $9,700,000 of Dowa’s total $20,000,000 Priority Distribution Amount (as defined in the LP Agreement) is
suspended in accordance with the terms of the LP Agreement.

i) The Partners hereby approve the payment of a dividend in respect of 2021 profits of an aggregate amount equal to
$20,000,000 by OpCo, subject to the following:

i. Completion of LGJV financial statements for 2021 (which need not be audited) and written approval of such
statements by the Partners, confirming positive earnings for 2021 in Opco of not less than $20 million;

ii. The first $10,300,000 of such dividend (net of any applicable costs described in Section 4 of the Priority
Distribution Agreement (as defined in the LP Agreement) shall be applied to reduce Dowa's Priority Distribution
Amount (as defined in the LP Agreement) and shall be paid in accordance with the Priority Distribution Agreement
(as defined in the LP Agreement) (for clarity, such payment will be made pro rata to the Parties in accordance with
their Percentage Interests, with GSI's portion paid into escrow and then subsequently immediately paid to Dowa);
and

iii. Notwithstanding the terms of the Priority Distribution Agreement, the $9,700,000 dividend balance shall be
distributed and paid to the Partners pro rata in accordance with their respective Participating Interests.

iii) It is the intention of the Parties to pay additional quarterly dividends in 2022 estimated to be $75 million in aggregate
subject to the following:




i. Completion and approval by the Partners of interim quarterly financial statements (which need not be audited)
showing profits sufficient to allow the payment of such dividends taking into account the previous month’s cash
balance, forecasts for the upcoming quarter, including any unusual budgeted expenditure items, the current
CUFIN balance, if any, and any advance taxes required to be paid in connection with the proposed dividend, and
remaining cash balance for the LGJV which amount will not be less than $15 million after payment of the proposed
dividend and any related taxes (“Minimum Cash Balance”); and

ii. Approval by the Partners of the proposed dividend amount, which will not exceed the amount permitted to be paid
under Mexican law, by Requisite Partner Approval.

The breakdown of such estimated dividend amounts is currently as follows:
o $17,000,000 (Q2)
o $18,000,000 (Q3)
o $20,000,000 (Q4)

iv) Forecasts of projected cash balances and future dividend payments for the current year will be reviewed and considered
on a monthly basis at each Operating Committee meeting.

V) Any changes to the Minimum Cash Balance requirements after 2022 will require additional Requisite Partner Approval and
such limits and dividend policies will be reviewed annually.

The undersigned hereby approve the 2022 Budget as attached, including the initial $20 million dividend payment (subject to the
conditions described above) to be paid as soon as reasonably practicable after such conditions are satisfied.
Gatos Silver, Inc.

By: /s/ Dale Andres
Dale Andres

Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.
By:
Toshiaki Suyama
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iv)

v)

i. Completion and approval by the Partners of interim quarterly financial statements (which need not be audited)
showing profits sufficient to allow the payment of such dividends taking into account the previous month's cash
balance, forecasts for the upcoming quarter, including any unusual budgeted expenditure items, the current
CUFIN balance, if any, and any advance taxes required to be paid in connection with the proposed dividend , and
remaining cash balance for the LGJV which amount will not be less than $15 million after payment of the proposed
dividend and any related taxes ("Minimum Cash Balance"); and

ii. Approval by the Partners of the proposed dividend amount ,which will not exceed the amount permitted to be paid
under Mexican law , by Requisite Partner Approval.

The breakdown of such estimated dividend amounts is currently as follows :
o $17,000,000 (Q2)
o $18,000,000 (Q3)
o $20,000,000 (Q4)

Forecasts of projected cash balances and future dividend payments for the current year will be reviewed and considered on a
monthly basis at each Operating Committee meeting.

Any changes to the Minimum Cash Ba lance requirements after 2022 will require additional Requisite Partner Approval and
such limits and dividend policies will be reviewed annually .

The undersigned hereby approve the 2022 Budget as attached, including the initial $20 million dividend payment (subject to the
conditions described above) to be paid as soon as reasonably practicable afte r such conditions are satisfied.

Gatos Silver, Inc.

By:

Dale Andres

Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.
By:/s/ Toshiaki Suyama

Toshiaki Suyama

CONFIDENTIAL Page 3 of 3
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Exhibit 10.8.6

Performance Share Unit Master Frame Agreement
This Performance Share Unit Master Frame Agreement (this " Master Frame Agreement") is made and entered into as of the date
stated at the bottom of this document by and between Gatos Silver Inc, a Delaware corporation (the "Company") and EMPLOYEE

NAME (the "Grantee").

WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Gatos Silver Amended and Restated Long Term Incentive Plan as amended from time to
time (the "Plan") pursuant to which Performance Awards (“* PSUs”) may be granted.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
1. Capitalized terms that are used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.

2. Structure. This Master Frame Agreement together with a corresponding grant schedule substantially in the form of Exhibit
2 (“Grant Schedule”) duly executed by the Parties shall constitute an individual and independent agreement between the Parties
relative to the particular Award of PSUs in such schedule (“Award Agreement”).

3. Grant of PSUs. Pursuant to Section 7E of the Plan, the Company hereby grants to the Grantee an Award of the number of
PSUs set forth in a Grant Schedule. The following terms shall apply to the PSUs granted under an Award Agreement:

3.1 The Grant Date shall be the date set forth in the corresponding Grant Schedule

3.2 The Vesting Date shall be the date set forth in the corresponding Grant Schedule, unless stated otherwise in

Section 7 below (“Vesting Date”).

4. Performance Period. For purposes of each Award Agreement, the term "Performance Period" shall be the period
commencing on the Grant Date and ending on the Vesting Date.

5. Performance Goals.

5.1 The number of PSUs that shall vest on the Vesting Date shall be determined by the Committee based on the level
of Performance Goals achievement in accordance with Exhibit 1. All determinations of whether Performance Goals have been
achieved, the number of PSUs that shall vest, and all other matters related to this Section 5 shall be made by the Committee in its
sole discretion.

5.2 Promptly following completion of the Performance Period (and no later than thirty (30) days following the end of the
Performance Period), the Committee will review and certify in writing (a) whether, and to what extent, the Performance Goals for
the Performance Period have been achieved, and (b) the number of PSUs that shall vest, if any.. Such certification shall be final,
conclusive and binding on the Grantee, and on all other persons, to the maximum extent permitted by law.

6. Vesting of PSUs. The PSUs are subject to forfeiture until they vest. Except as otherwise provided herein and in the Plan, the
PSUs determined to have vested by the Committee in accordance with Section 5.2 will become nonforfeitable as of the Vesting Date
provided the Grantee has provided Continuous Service from the Grant Date through the last day of the Performance Period.

7. Termination of Continuous Service .

7.1 Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Master Frame Agreement, if the Grantee's Continuous Service
terminates for any reason at any time before the Vesting Date, the Grantee's PSUs shall be automatically forfeited upon such
termination of Continuous Service and neither the Company nor any Affiliate shall have any further obligations to the Grantee under
any Award Agreement.




7.2 Notwithstanding Section 7.1, if the Grantee's Continuous Service terminates during the Performance Period as a
result of:

(a) Grantee's termination by the Company without Cause (as defined in the Employment Agreement between
the Company and the Grantee (the “Employment Agreement”) or the Grantee terminates employment for Good Reason
(as defined in the Employment Agreement), the outstanding PSUs will vest pro-rated for the period of actual employment
during the Performance Period. Specifically, the Committee shall determine the number of PSUs vested in accordance
with Section 5.2 as of the Vesting Date which number will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the period
from the Grant Date to the date of termination of Continuous Service and the denominator of which is the Performance
Period.

(b) Grantee’s death or Disability, it shall be considered that Grantee’s Continuous Service lasted throughout
the entire Performance Period and one hundred percent (100%) of all of Grantee's outstanding PSUs will vest in
accordance with Section 5.2.

(c) If there is a Change of Control during the Performance Period, the Vesting Date for purposes of
determining the Performance Period shall be deemed to be the date of the Change of Control and the Committee shall
calculate the number of PSUs vesting as of that date using the price being paid for Common Stock on the Change of
Control transaction compared to the Comparators (as defined in Exhibit 1)..

8. Payment of PSUs. Payment in respect of the PSUs vested at the end of the Performance Period shall be made in the form
of cash or Common Stock or a combination thereof as determined by the Committee within thirty (30) days following the Vesting Date.
Since no shares of Common Stock can be issued in excess of the maximum Award payable pursuant to Exhibit 1 (i.e 200%), if any
dividend equivalents are earned in excess of such maximum Award payable, they will be paid in cash.

9. Transferability. Subject to any exceptions set forth in this Section 9 (“Transferability”) or the Plan, the PSUs or the rights
relating thereto may not be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or encumbered by the Grantee, except
by will or the laws of descent and distribution or transfers to Grantee’s family trusts, and upon any such transfer by will or the laws of
descent and distribution or to a family trust, the transferee shall hold such PSUs subject to all the terms and conditions that were
applicable to the Grantee immediately prior to such transfer. For purposes of this Section “family trust” shall mean a trust where
Grantee is the settlor and the exclusive beneficiaries are either of or a combination of Grantee's spouse or household partner,
Grantee’s direct descendants or Grantee’s parents.

10. Rights as Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents .

10.1 Except as otherwise provided herein, the Grantee shall not have any rights of a shareholder with respect to any
shares of Common Stock which may underly the PSUs, including, but not limited to, voting rights and dividends except that dividend
equivalents on the underlying Common Stock are accrued during the Performance Period corresponding to the number of PSUs
actually earned during the Performance Period including any dividends that would have been paid shall be deemed to compound in
proportion to the value of the underlaying Common Stock.

10.2 Inthe event of the issuance of Common Stock upon and following the vesting of the PSUs, the Grantee shall be the
record owner of such shares of Common Stock unless and until such shares are sold or otherwise disposed of, and as record
owner shall be entitled to all rights of a shareholder of the Company (including voting and dividend rights).

11. No Right to Continued Service. Neither the Plan, this Master Frame Agreement or any Award Agreement shall confer upon
the Grantee any right to be retained in any position, as an employee, consultant or director of the Company. Further, nothing in the
Plan, this Master Frame Agreement or Award Agreement shall be construed to limit the discretion of the Company to terminate the
Grantee's Continuous Service at any time, with or without Cause.




12.  Adjustments. If any change is made to the outstanding Common Stock or the capital structure of the Company, if required,
the PSUs shall be adjusted or terminated in any manner as contemplated by Section 9 of the Plan.

13.  Tax Liability and Withholding .

13.1 The Grantee shall be required to pay to the Company through withholdings or otherwise, and the Company shall
have the right to deduct from any compensation paid to the Grantee pursuant to the Plan, the amount of any required withholding
taxes in respect of the PSUs and to take all such other action as the Committee deems necessary to satisfy all obligations for the
payment of such withholding taxes. The Committee may permit the Grantee to satisfy any federal, state or local tax withholding
obligation by authorizing the Company to withhold shares of Common Stock from the shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable
or deliverable to the Grantee as a result of the vesting of the PSUs; provided, however, that no shares of Common Stock shall be
withheld with a value exceeding the maximum amount of tax required to be withheld by law.

13.2  Notwithstanding any action the Company takes with respect to any or all income tax, social security, payroll tax, or
other tax-related withholding ("Tax-Related Items"), the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains the Grantee's
responsibility and the Company (a) makes no representation or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in
connection with the grant, vesting or settlement of the PSUs or the subsequent sale of any shares, and (b) does not commit to
structure the PSUs to reduce or eliminate the Grantee's liability for Tax-Related Items.

14. Compliance with Law. The issuance and transfer of shares of Common Stock in connection with the PSUs shall be subject
to compliance by the Company and the Grantee with all applicable requirements of federal and state securities laws and with all
applicable requirements of any stock exchange on which the Company's shares of Common Stock may be listed. No shares of
Common Stock shall be issued or transferred unless and until any then applicable requirements of state and federal laws and regulatory
agencies have been fully complied with to the satisfaction of the Company and its counsel.

15. Notices. Any notice required to be delivered to the Company under this Master Frame Agreement shall be in writing and
addressed to the General Counsel or Chief Financial Officer of the Company at the Company's principal corporate offices. Any notice
required to be delivered to the Grantee under this Master Frame Agreement or any Award Agreement shall be in writing and addressed
to the Grantee at the Grantee's address as shown in the records of the Company. Either party may designate another address in
writing (or by such other method approved by the Company) from time to time.

16. Governing Law. This Master Frame Agreement and any Award Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance
with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflict of law principles.

17.  Interpretation. Any dispute regarding the interpretation of this Master Frame Agreement or any Award Agreement shall be
submitted by the Grantee or the Company to the Committee for review. The resolution of such dispute by the Committee shall be final
and binding on the Grantee and the Company.

18. PSUs Subject to Plan. Any Award Agreement is subject to the Plan. The terms and provisions of the Plan as it may be
amended from time to time are incorporated herein by reference. In the event of a conflict between any term or provision contained
herein and a term or provision of the Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the Plan will govern and prevail.

19.  Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Master Frame Agreement and any Award
Agreement. All Award Agreements will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject
to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein, all Award Agreements will be binding upon the Grantee and the Grantee's beneficiaries,
executors, administrators and the person(s) to whom the PSUs may be transferred by will or the laws of descent or distribution or
corresponding family trusts.




20.  Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of the Plan or any Award Agreement shall not affect the
validity or enforceability of any other provision of the Plan or any Award Agreement, and each provision of the Plan and any Award
Agreement shall be severable and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.

21. Discretionary Nature of Plan. The Plan is discretionary and may be amended, cancelled or terminated by the Company at
any time, in its discretion. The grant of the PSUs in any Award Agreement does not create any contractual right or other right to receive
any PSUs or other Awards in the future. Future Awards, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company. Any amendment,
modification, or termination of the Plan shall not constitute a change or impairment of the terms and conditions of the Grantee's
employment with the Company.

22. Amendment. The Committee has the right to amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or cancel the PSUs, prospectively or
retroactively; provided, that, no such amendment shall adversely affect the Grantee's material rights under an Award Agreement
without the Grantee's consent.

23.  Section 409A. All Award Agreements are intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code or an exemption thereunder
and shall be construed and interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the requirements for avoiding additional taxes or penalties
under Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representations that the payments and
benefits provided under any Award Agreement comply with Section 409A of the Code and in no event shall the Company be liable for
all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may be incurred by the Grantee on account of hon-compliance
with Section 409A of the Code.

24. No Impact on Other Benefits. The value of the Grantee's PSUs is not part of Grantee’s normal or expected compensation
for purposes of calculating any severance, retirement, welfare, insurance or similar employee benefit.

25.  Counterparts. This Master Frame Agreement and any Grant Schedule may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument. Counterpart signature pages to this Master
Frame Agreement or Grant Schedules transmitted by facsimile transmission, by electronic mail in portable document format (.pdf), or by
any other electronic means intended to preserve the original graphic and pictorial appearance of a document, will have the same effect
as physical delivery of the paper document bearing an original signature.

26.  Acceptance. The Grantee hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and this Master Frame Agreement. The
Grantee has read and understands the terms and provisions thereof, and accepts the PSUs subject to all of the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Master Frame Agreement. The Grantee acknowledges that there may be adverse tax consequences upon the vesting
or settlement of the PSUs or disposition of the underlying shares and that the Grantee has been advised to consult a tax advisor prior
to such vesting, settlement or disposition.

27. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Master Frame Agreement as of DATE
Gatos Silver Inc EMPLOYEE NAME
By:
Name:

Title:




EXHIBIT 1
Performance Period
The Performance Period shall be three years commencing on the Grant Date.
Performance Measures
The number of PSUs that shall vest on the Vesting Date shall be determined by reference to the Company's relative Total Shareholder
Return ("TSR") compared to the constituents of the GDXJ mining index on the Grant Date (* Comparators”). A table with the
Comparators shall be included in the corresponding Grant Schedule.
TSR Calculation.
TSR is calculated assuming dividend reinvestment on any ex-dividend date and is measured point-to-point from the closing price on the
Grant Date to the Vesting Date using a twenty (20) trading-day volume weighted average price as the price at the Vesting Date to
neutralize the effect of daily price volatility on the ending outcome. This TSR averaging at the end of any Performance Period shall be
used for both the Company and for Comparators.

Determining PSUs Vested

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Award Agreement, the number of PSUs vested with respect to the Performance Period
shall be determined by the Committee in accordance with Section 5 of this Master Frame Agreement as follows:

PSU’s “cliff-vest” upon the Committee’s determination and certification of the Performance Goals achieved during the Performance
Period. (i.e. no additional vesting requirements)

PSU’s vest at 100% of the grant amount for the 55 th percentile relative TSR versus the constituents of the GDXJ over a three-year
performance period. The actual number of PSU’s that vest will range from 0% to 200% of the PSU’s granted based on the schedule
below (rounded up to the nearest full number.):

Percentile Earnout

85% 200%
75% 167%
[ 55% 1007
50% 97.5%
45% 95.0%
35% 57%
20% 0%

Payout to be proportional between the stated targets as shown graphically below:
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No shares earned if three-year relative TSR is below the 20th percentile

Capped at target if relative TSR is above the 55P, but is also negative.




Performance Peer Set

The Comparators are the GDXJ companies at the beginning of the Performance Period with changes required for the
following events:

Companies acquired during the Performance Period are eliminated from the peer set.
Companies that go bankrupt during the Performance Period are treated with having a negative 100% TSR
New companies added to the GDXJ during the Performance Period are ignored and not added to the peer set

In the event there is a spinoff during the Performance Period, the parent and the spun off company will both be removed
from the GDXJ for purpose of the TSR calculation.




Exhibit 2 - Form of Grant Schedule
This Grant Schedule is entered into by and between Gatos Silver Inc, a Delaware corporation (the " Company") and EMPLOYEE
NAME (the "Grantee"). This Grant Schedule together with the Performance Share Unit Master Frame Agreement executed by the
Parties forms an independent agreement between the Parties in connection with the Award of PSUs in this Grant Schedule.
PSU Award Grant terms:
1.- The Company grants the Grantee NUMBER of PSUs
2.- The Grant Date shall be DATE
3.- The Vesting Date shall be DATE
4.- The Comparators table is attached to this Grant Schedule.

5.- other goals, conditions, if any specific to this Award — otherwise, delete this numeral entirely

Gatos Silver Inc EMPLOYEE NAME

By:
Name:
Title:

(Comparator Table follows)




Relative TSR Peers: GDXJ Constituents

L
r

e There are 71 distinct companies in the GDXJ (including Gatos). Relative TSR can be measured against all of them even if some are foreign
and/or not the right size for direct compensation comparisens (it is normal to have a different list for relative TSR PSUs than for compensation

peers).
Mkt Cap (SMil) Mist Cap (SMil.)
Ticker of 11/17/21 Ticker as of 11/17/21
Endeavour Mining TSREDV 56,714 United Kingdom Osisko Mining TSX.0SK $923  Canada
Pan American Silver TSKPAAS 55849 Canada Victoria Gold TSX:VGCX 8385 Canada
B2Gokl TSX:BTO 54817 Canada DROGOLD NYSEDRD $844  South Africa
‘Yamana Gold NYSE:AUY 54368 Canada Gogald Resources TSX.GGD 8325 Camada
SSR Mining TSX:SSRM £4,196 Canada Aya God & Siver TS)HAYA 8812 Canada
First Mayestic Siver NYSEAG 53487 Canada Sivercor Melals TSKISVM $801  Canada
Hecla Mining NYSEHL 53,385  United States Maverix Metals TSXMMX $758  Canada
Alamos Gold NYSEAG! $3.349 Canada Gold Royalty NYSEAM.GROY $700 Canada
Pretum Resources NYSEFVG 52,603 Canada Skeena Resources TSKSKE 8686 Canmada
Harmany Gold Mining NYSEHMY s2674 South Africa Marathon Gold TSX:MOZ SE46 Canada
NovaGoid Resources TSXNG 52,630 Canada Karora Resources TSXKRR $620  Canada
Equinox Gold TSEQK %2549 Canada 80 Gold TSX:1AU 8574 United States
Centerra Gold TSX:CG 52,503 Canada New Pacific: Metals TSXNUAG $564  Canada
Osiskn Gold Royalties NYSE:OR 52224 Canada Discovery Silver TSXV:DSV 8550 Canada
Lundin Gold TSXLUG $2,174  Canada MeEwen Mining HYSEMUX $528  Canada
MAG Sitver TSKMAG 51890  Canada Sabina Gold & Silver TSX:SBB $478  Canada
Cia De Minas Buenaventura Saa  NYSE:BYN s1824  Peru Calibre Mining TSX.CXB Sa46  Canada
Eldorado Gold NYSEEGO S1817  Canada Gran Colomhia Gold TSX.GCM s442  Camada
Coeur Mining NYSE:CDE S1,718  United States Golden Star Resources TSX.GSC 8430 Canada
AMGOLD NYSEIAG $1616  Canada Wetalla Royalty & Streaming TSXVIMTA $371  Canada
Seabridge Goid TSX:SEA 81,503 Canada Walloridge Mining TSXWM §331  Canada
OceanaGold TSHOGC 51,520 Austraia Alexco Resource TSXAXU 8323 Canada
K92 Mining TSXKNT 51,489 Canada Movo Resaurces TSXNVO §315  Canada
Wesdome Gk Mines TSXWDO 51496  Canada Pure Geld Mining TSXV:PGM $310  Canada
Dundee Precious Metals TSX:DPM 51,419 Canada Jaguar Mining TSKIAG $290 Canada
Sandstorm Gold NYSE:SAND 51336  Canada Liberty Gold TSXLGD 8275 Camada
SiverCrest Metals TSHSL $1,309  Canada GoldMining TSX,GOLD $243  Canada
New Gold TSKNGD 51,210 Canada Gold Standard Ventures TSKGSW $190  Canada
Fortuna Siver Mines NYSEFSM 51,180  Canada Galiana Gald TSX:GAU $189  Canada
Torex Gold Resources TSKTHG $1,101  Canada Caledonia Mining Corp Pic NYSEAMCMCL $169  Jersey
Otla Mining TSXOLA 81,056 Canada Cold Resource NYSEAM.GORO $167  United States
New Found Gold TSXVINFG $1,052 Canada Americas Gold & Siver TSXUSA S164 Canada
[Gatos siver NYSEGATO 5909 Uniled States Great Panther Mining TSXIGPR s122  Canada
Argonaut Gald TSKAR 5083 United States Freegold Yentures TSXFVL $117  Canada
Endeavour Siver NYSEEXK $966 Canada Sulliden Mining Capital TSX;SMC $11 Canada
Great Bear Resources TSAVIGBR 5966 Canada

Few cook ?




Exhibit 10.11.4
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of February 28, 2011, is between SUNSHINE SILVER
MINES CORPORATION (the “Company’) and ROGER P. JOHNSON (the “Executive” and together with the Company, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS:

The Parties wish to enter into the arrangements set forth herein with respect to the terms and conditions of the Executive’'s
employment with the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and covenants contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:
AGREEMENT

1. Employment and Term. The Company agrees to, and does hereby, employ the Executive, and the Executive agrees
to, and does hereby accept, such employment, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement. The
Executive’s employment will begin on March 9, 2011 (the “Start Date”) and continue at will, which means that the Executive or
the Company may terminate the Executive’'s employment at any time for any reason, or for no reason, with or without cause
(the “Term”). If the Company terminates this Agreement and the Executive’s employment, the Company shall provide the
Executive with notice and reason for the termination within ten (10) calendar days of the effective date of such termination.

2. Position and Duties.

(a) During the Term, the Company shall employ the Executive as Chief Financial Officer. The Executive shall
perform the duties and have the responsibilities customarily associated with the position of Chief Financial Officer, which shall
include, without limitation, overseeing the financial operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, and shall render such other
services, and assume such other responsibilities, as may be directed to the Executive by the Chief Executive Officer or such
other person as may be designated by the Board of Directors of the Company.

(b) The Executive shall devote his best efforts and his full business time and attention to the business and affairs
of the Company.

(c) The Executive acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Executive owes the Company a duty of loyalty as a
fiduciary of the Company, and (ii) the obligations described in this Agreement are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the
obligations the Executive owes the Company under the common law.

3. Base Salary, Bonus, Equity/Options, and Benefits .

(a) Base Salary. During the Term, the Executive’s base salary shall be $330,000.00 per annum (“Base Salary”),
which salary shall be payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s general payroll practices. The Base
Salary will be subject to review on an annual basis and may be adjusted in accordance with the procedures set forth by the
Company’s Compensation Committee.

(b) Payment for Forfeited Stock Options. As compensation for forgone stock options from the Executive’s prior
employer, the Company shall pay the Executive a bonus of $600,000 within thirty (30)




days of the Start Date (the “Incentive Bonus”). In the event that the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for
Cause (as defined in Section 4(g) below) or the Executive terminates his employment without Good Reason (as defined in
Section 4(g) below) prior to the first anniversary of the Start Date, the Executive shall promptly repay the Incentive Bonus to
the Company. In the event that the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for Cause or the Executive terminates his
employment without Good Reason after the first anniversary of the Start Date but prior to the second anniversary of the Start
Date, the Executive shall promptly repay a prorated portion of the Incentive Bonus to the Company, with such prorated portion
determined by multiplying the Incentive Bonus by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days that elapsed
between the first anniversary of the Start Date and the date of the Executive’s termination of employment, and the denominator
of which is 365.

(c) Annual Bonus. During the Term, provided that the Executive is employed by the Company on December 31 st
of the applicable year, the Executive will be eligible to participate in a bonus plan pursuant to which he will be entitled to receive
an annual target bonus in the amount of Sixty-seven percent (67%) of his Base Salary for the applicable year, pro-rated for any
partial year (the “Target Bonus”), upon achievement by the Executive and the Company of certain targets as determined
solely in the discretion of the Company’s Compensation Committee (the “Annual Bonus”). The Target Bonus, may be up to
50% lower (33%) or up to 50% higher (100%) of the Executive’s Base Salary in any given year as determined by the
Company’s Compensation Committee, and the Annual Bonus actually paid, if any, will depend on the actual performance of
the Company and the Executive as determined by the Compensation Committee. In all events the Annual Bonus, if earned, will
be paid no later than March 15th following the applicable year for which it is earned.

(d) Options. Effective as of the Start Date, the Company shall grant to the Executive an option to purchase 35,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at its per share value as of the Start Date, which is $13.825 per share (the “Initial
Options™). In addition, effective as of the Start Date and as of February 1, 2012 and February 1, 2013 (provided that the
Executive is still employed by the Company as of the applicable date), the Company shall grant to the Executive an option to
purchase 3,600 shares of the Company’s common stock (subject to the adjustment provisions set forth in the Company’s
Long-Term Incentive Plan) at a purchase price equal to the then current fair market value of the Company’s common stock
(which, at the Start Date, is $13.825 per share as determined by the February 2011 sale of a portion of the Company and the
outstanding shares of the Company; see Appendix |, and shall be adjusted for subsequent changes in the share capital of the
Company as provided in the adjustment provisions of the Company’'s Long-Term Incentive Plan) (the “Subsequent
Options”). The Initial Options shall vest in two equal annual installments on the first and second anniversaries of the Start
Date, and the Subsequent Options shall vest in three equal annual installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of
the applicable grant date (each, a “Vesting Date”), provided in each case that the Executive is employed by the Company on
the applicable Vesting Date. The Initial Options and the Subsequent Options (collectively, the “Stock Options”) shall have a
ten-year term (subject to earlier termination upon termination of employment as described herein and in the applicable option
agreement) and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan and option
agreements, all of which shall be consistent with the Executive’s rights set forth in this Section 3(d). The Executive may receive
additional stock option or other equity compensation grants in the future in the sole discretion of the Company’s Compensation
Committee.

(e) Employee Benefits. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s various
employee benefit plans that are, from time to time, made generally available to the Company’s employees, as such plans are
established and pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans. The Executive acknowledges that the Company currently
has no benefit plans and that the Executive’s initial responsibilities will include researching and overseeing the implementation
of such plans, including the following: group health, vision and dental plan; short-term and long-term disability plan; life
insurance plan; and 401(k) plan.

(f) Vacation. The Executive shall be entitled to four (4) weeks paid vacation time per calendar year, pro-rated for
any partial year of employment, in accordance with the Company’s vacation time policy.




(9) Expense Reimbursement. The Executive shall receive reimbursement for direct and reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses, including those related to maintenance of a license as a Certified Public Accountant, continuing professional
education and membership in National and State Professional Associations, incurred by him in connection with the
performance of his duties hereunder, according to the policies of the Company. All requests for reimbursement of business-
related expenses shall be subject to the Company’s travel policy and requirements with respect to reporting and documentation
of expenses.

4, Compensation Upon Termination, Resignation, Disability or Death .

(a) Termination without Cause . If the Executive’'s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause, the
Company shall pay the Executive any Base Salary and Annual Bonus from the preceding calendar year to the extent accrued
but unpaid as of the effective date of the Executive’s termination; accrued but unused vacation in accordance with Company
policy; and all business expenses that were incurred and not reimbursed but eligible for reimbursement (collectively, the
“Accrued Obligations™). In addition, the Executive will be entitled to a prorated amount of the current calendar year Annual
Bonus, with such prorated portion determined by multiplying the Annual Bonus that would otherwise have been earned by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days that elapsed between the January 1 of the current year and the date of
the Executive’s termination of employment, and the denominator of which is 365, with payment of such prorated Annual Bonus
to be made at the same time as annual bonuses are made to other executives of the Company in the ordinary course (but in no
event later than March 15th of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the termination occurs (the “Pro Rata
Bonus”). In addition, subject to Section 19, the Company will pay the Executive an amount equal to twenty (20) months of the
Executive’s Base Salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination, payable in a lump sum within sixty (60) calendar days of
the date of termination. Provided the Executive timely elects continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”), the Company shall also pay, on the Executive’s behalf, the portion of
monthly premiums for the Executive’'s group health insurance, including coverage for the Executive’'s dependents, that the
Company paid immediately prior to the date of termination, during the twelve (12) month period following the date of
termination, subject to the Executive’'s continued eligibility for COBRA coverage. The Company will pay for such COBRA
coverage for eligible dependents only for those dependents who were emolled immediately prior to the date of termination. The
Executive will continue to be required to pay that portion of the premium for the Executive’s health coverage, including
coverage for the Executive’s eligible dependents, that the Executive was required to pay as an active employee immediately
prior to the date of termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that under applicable guidance the reimbursement
of COBRA premiums causes the Company’s group health plan to violate any applicable nondiscrimination rule, the parties
agree to negotiate in good faith a mutually agreeable alternative arrangement. Upon termination under this Section 4(a), (i) the
Initial Options, to the extent unvested, shall immediately vest, (ii) the Subsequent Options shall cease vesting and (iii) all vested
Stock Options shall remain exercisable until the earlier of (x) the date one hundred eighty (180) calendar days following
termination of employment or (y) the expiration of the original option term.

(b) Resignation for Good Reason. If the Executive resigns for Good Reason, the Company shall pay the
Executive the same sums and in the same manner, and his rights to the Stock Options shall be the same, as to which the
Executive would be entitled if he had been terminated by the Company without Cause, as set forth in subsection (a) above.
The Executive shall provide 30 days’ prior written notice to the Company of his decision to resign for Good Reason.

(c) Termination for Cause. If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, the Company
shall pay the Executive the Accrued Obligations. Upon termination under this Section 4(c), any outstanding Stock Options shall
cease to be exercisable and will be forfeited.

(d) Resignation without Good Reason . If the Executive resigns without Good Reason, the Company shall pay the
Executive the Accrued Obligations. The Executive




shall provide 60 days’ prior written notice to the Company of his decision to resign without Good Reason. The Stock Options, to
the extent exercisable at the Executive’s termination of employment, shall remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) the date
thirty (30) calendar days following termination of employment under this Section 4(d) or (ii) the expiration of the original option
term.

(e) Disability. Subject to any state or federal law or regulation governing employees with disabilities, the Company
may terminate the Executive’s employment upon the Disability of the Executive. In the event the Executive is terminated under
this Section 4(e), the Company shall pay the Executive the Accrued Obligations and the Pro Rata Bonus. In addition, in such
event, the Company shall cause Executive to fully vest in all Stock Options referred to in Section 3(d) of this Agreement, and
the Stock Options shall remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) the date one (1) year following termination of employment
under this Section 4(e) or (ii) the expiration of the original option term.

(f) Death. If the Executive’s employment is terminated due to the Executive’s death, the Company shall pay the
Executive’'s estate the Accrued Obligations and the Pro Rata Bonus. In addition, in such event, the Company, shall cause
Executive’s estate to fully vest in all Stock Options referred to in Section 3(d) of this Agreement, and the Stock Options shall
remain exercisable until the earlier of (i) the date one (1) year following termination of employment under this Section 4(f) or (ii)
the expiration of the original option term.

(g9) For purposes of this Agreement:

(i) “Cause” means the Executive’s (a) conviction of, guilty plea to or confession of guilt of, or plea of nolo
contendere to a felony, or an act involving moral turpitude which could have a material adverse effect on the Company; (b)
willful dishonesty, fraud or conduct that constitutes a felony or an act involving moral turpitude or a breach of fiduciary duty or
any material misrepresentation in connection with the Executive’s employment; (c) action that exposes the Company to a
material risk of legal liability or public disgrace or disrepute including, without limitation, violation of any law, rule or regulation
that could expose the Company to a material legal or monetary fine or penalty; (d) neglect of his duties or substantial failure to
perform duties as reasonably directed by the Chief Executive Officer and/or Board of Directors; (e) gross negligence or willful
misconduct with respect to Company affairs or the Executive’s obligations hereunder; or (f) any other material breach of this or
any other agreement with the Company or any material Company policy, which breach is not cured within at least fifteen (15)
calendar days after receipt by the Executive of written notice from the Company of such breach, but only if such breach is able
to be cured during such fifteen
(15) calendar day period.

(i) “Good Reason” means: (a) a material diminution in the Executive's Base Salary, except where such
reduction occurs as part of an across-the-board reduction in salary affecting all senior executives of the Company; (b) a
material change in the geographic location of the Executive’s principal business office; in order for a change to be material
hereunder, the Executive’s principal business office must be moved to a location more than fifty (50) miles from the Company’s
office as of the Start Date, except for required travel on Company business; or (c) any other action or inaction by the Company
that constitutes a material breach of this Agreement. The foregoing shall constitute Good Reason only if (i) the Executive
provides written notice to the Company of any event(s) alleged to constitute Good Reason within ninety (90) calendar days of
the initial occurrence of the event, with such notice providing a detailed description of the circumstances constituting Good
Reason (a “Good Reason Notice”), (i) any such reduction, change, or breach is not remedied or cured within fifteen (15)
calendar days after the Company’s receipt of a written Good Reason Notice from the Executive (the “Cure Period”) and (iii)
the Executive actually terminates employment within thirty (30) calendar days following the expiration of the Cure Period.

(i) “Disability” shall mean that the Executive is disabled within the meaning of the Company’s group
long-term disability insurance policy. If no long term disability insurance is in place, then Disability shall mean that the
Executive, due to illness, accident, or other physical or




mental incapacity, has been substantially unable to perform his duties under this Agreement for a period of at least six (6)
consecutive months during the Term as established by the written opinion of a licensed independent physician selected by the
Company.

(h) Deemed Resignation. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Company and the Executive prior to the
termination of the Executive’s employment, any termination of the Executive’s employment shall constitute an automatic
resignation of the Executive as an officer of the Company and each affiliate of the Company, and an automatic resignation of
the Executive from the board of directors or similar governing body of the Company or any affiliate of the Company and from
the board of directors or similar governing body of any corporation, limited liability company or other entity in which the
Company or any affiliate holds an equity interest and with respect to which board or similar governing body the Executive
serves as the Company’s or such affiliate’s designee or other representative.

(i) Clawback. The Executive agrees and acknowledges that any and all compensation the Executive receives
pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to clawback by the Company in the event of a financial restatement or in such other
circumstances as may be required by applicable law or as may be provided in any clawback policy that is adopted by the
Company and is generally applicable to senior executives of the Company.

5. Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation .

(a) For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means (i) communications, data, formulae and
related concepts, business plans (both current and under development), profit and loss statements, spreadsheets, contact or
distribution lists, non-public personnel lists, promotion and marketing programs, trade secrets, or any other confidential or
proprietary business information relating to development programs, costs, revenues, marketing, trading, investments, sales
activities, promotions, credit and financial data, financing methods, research, plans or the business and affairs of the Company;
(i) any other information which is to be treated as confidential or non-public because of any duty of confidentiality owed by the
Company to a third party; and (i) any other information which the Company shall, in the ordinary course, use and not release
externally, except subject to restrictions on use and disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information does
not include information that (A) is or becomes generally publicly available other than as a result, directly or indirectly, of the
Executive’s disclosure or (B) is or becomes available to the Executive on a non confidential basis from a source other than
through the Company or its representatives, provided that such source is not bound by a confidentiality agreement with the
Company or otherwise prohibited from transmitting the information to the Executive by a contractual or legal obligation.

(b) The Executive acknowledges the trade secret status of the Confidential Information and that the Confidential
Information constitutes a protectable business interest of the Company. The Executive agrees (i) not to use or allow or help
another to use or access (whether for compensation or not) any Confidential Information for himself or others (other than the
Company); and (ii) not to take any Company material or reproductions (including but not limited to writings, correspondence,
notes, drafts, records, invoices, technical and business policies, computer programs or disks) thereof from the Company’'s
offices at any time during or after the Executive’s employment by the Company, except as required in the execution of the
Executive’s duties to the Company and then conditioned upon the prompt return of all originals and reproductions thereof (in
whatever form).

(c) During the Term and for a period of one (1) year thereafter, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, on
behalf of himself or any other person or entity, without the prior written consent of the Company solicit or induce any employee
of or consultant or service provider to the




Company (each, a “Service Provider”) to leave the employ of or cease performing services for the Company, or engage in
any plan or coordinate with any Service Provider to leave the employ of or cease performing services for the Company, or hire,
participate with or attempt to participate with in any venture for any purpose any Service Provider or any Service Provider who
has left the employment of or ceased to perform services for the Company within one year of the termination of such Service
Provider’s services for the Company.

(d) The Executive acknowledges that any breach of his obligations under this Section 5 cannot be adequately
compensated by damages in an action at law and may cause the Company great and irreparable injury and damage.
Accordingly, in the event that the Executive breaches or threatens to breach any provisions of this Section 5, then in addition to
any other rights which the Company may have, the Company shall be entitled, without the necessity of (i) proving irreparable
harm, (ii) establishing that monetary damages are inadequate or (iii) posting any bond or other security with respect thereto, to
the remedies of injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief to redress any breach, and no proof of special
damages shall be necessary for the enforcement of or for any action for breach of the Executive’s obligations. In the event that
a proceeding is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of this Section 5, the Executive shall not urge as a defense that
there is an adequate remedy at law nor shall the Company be prevented from seeking any other remedies which may be
available. Nothing contained in this Section 5(d) shall be construed as a waiver by the Company of any other rights, including,
without limitation, rights to damages or profits.

(e) The Executive agrees that the period during which the covenants contained in this Section 5 shall be effective
shall be computed by excluding from such computation any time during which the Executive is in violation of any provision of
this Section 5.

(f) The Company and the Executive agree that it was their intent to enter into a valid and enforceable agreement.
The Executive and the Company thereby acknowledge the reasonableness of the restrictions set forth in this Section 5,
including the reasonableness of the duration as to time and the scope of activity restrained. The Executive agrees that if any
covenant contained in Section 5 of this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to contain limitations as to time
or scope of activity that are not reasonable and impose a greater restraint than is necessary to protect the goodwill or other
business interests of the Company, then the court shall reform the covenant to the extent necessary to cause the limitations
contained in the covenant as to time and scope of activity to be restrained to be reasonable and to impose a restraint that is not
greater than necessary to protect the goodwill and other business interests of the Company and to enforce the covenants as
reformed.

(g) If the Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, the Executive agrees to advise
the Company of the name of the Executive’'s new employer. The Executive further agrees that the Company may notify any
person or entity employing the Executive or evidencing an intention of employing the Executive of the existence and provisions
of this Agreement.

6. The Executive's Representations. The Executive represents to the Company that:

(a) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Executive do not and shall not conflict with,
breach, violate or cause a default under any contract, agreement, instrument, order, judgment or decree to which the Executive
is a party or by which he is bound;

(b) upon the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, this Agreement shall be the valid and
binding obligation of the Executive, enforceable against him in accordance with its terms;

(c) as of the Start Date, the Executive will not be a party to any agreement with any person, other than an
agreement with the Company, restricting the use of another person’s confidential




information or restricting the Executive from providing future employment, consulting or other service;

(d) no prior or pending litigation, arbitration, investigation or other proceeding of any kind will prevent or hinder the
Executive from performing his duties under this Agreement; and

(e) the Executive has consulted with independent legal counsel regarding his rights and obligations under this
Agreement and that he fully understands the terms and conditions contained herein.

7. Change in Control.
(a) Definitions.

(i) For purposes of this Section 7, “Change in Control” means (I) any merger or consolidation of the
Company with or into any other corporation or other entity or person, or any other corporate reorganization, in which the
stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation, merger or reorganization, own less than a controlling
interest in the surviving entity immediately after such consolidation, merger or reorganization; (Il) any transaction or series of
related transactions in which control of the Company is acquired by a person or group of persons acting together which would
constitute a “group” for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or any successor
provisions thereto; or (Ill) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; provided that in no
event will a Change in Control include any of the following transactions: (A) any consolidation, merger or similar transaction
effected exclusively to change the domicile of the Company; (B) any transaction or series of transactions in which voting
securities of the Company are issued principally for bona fide financing purposes or any successor or indebtedness or equity
securities of the Company are cancelled or converted or a combination thereof, including, without limitation, an initial public
offering or other offering of the Company’s capital stock; (C) any acquisition of such voting power by an individual or entity that,
directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Company; or (D) any transaction where
control of the Company, the surviving parent entity or the entity to which all or substantially all of the Company’s assets are
transferred in the transaction or series of transactions is controlled directly or indirectly by one or more Kaplan Parties.

(i) “Kaplan Party” means (a) Thomas S. Kaplan or Dafna Recanati Kaplan; (b) any spouse, parent,
sibling or descendant (including by adoption) of either of the persons referred to in clause (a) above; (c) any trust created for
the benefit of any of the persons described in clauses (a) or (b) above or any trust for the benefit of such trust; or (d) any
person controlled by one or more of the persons referred to in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above.

(i) “Control” (including its correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under
common control with”) means, with respect to any person, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause
the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through the beneficial ownership of voting securities, by
contract or otherwise.

(b) Change in Control Severance Benefits. If there is a Change in Control, and within one (1) year of such Change
in Control, the Executive’s employment is terminated under the circumstances described in Sections 4(a) through 4(f) above,
the Executive shall be entitled to the following: (1) if such termination is a termination by the Company without Cause pursuant
to Section 4(a) or the Executive resigns for Good Reason pursuant to Section 4(b), the Company shall pay the Executive the
Accrued Obligations and the Pro Rata Bonus and, in addition, subject to the provisions of Section 19, (A) an amount equal to
twenty-four (24) months of the Executive’s Base Salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination or resignation, payable in
a lump sum within sixty (60) calendar days of the date of termination or resignation; and (B) provided the Executive timely
elects continuation coverage under




COBRA, the Company shall also pay, on the Executive’'s behalf, the portion of monthly premiums for the Executive’s group
health insurance, including coverage for the Executive’s dependents, that the Company paid immediately prior to the date of
termination or resignation, during the eighteen (18) month period following the date of termination or resignation, subject to the
Executive’s continued eligibility for COBRA coverage. The Company will pay for such COBRA coverage for eligible
dependents only for those dependents who were enrolled immediately prior to the date of termination or resignation. The
Executive will continue to be required to pay that portion of the premium for the Executive’s health coverage, including
coverage for the Executive’s eligible dependents, that the Executive was required to pay as an active employee immediately
prior to the date of termination or resignation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that under applicable guidance the
reimbursement of COBRA premiums causes the Company’s group health plan to violate any applicable nondiscrimination rule,
the parties agree to negotiate in good faith a mutually agreeable alternative arrangement; and (Il) if such termination is a
termination or resignation under the circumstances described in Sections 4(c), 4(d), 4(e) or 4(f), the Executive shall be entitled
to the compensation and benefits for which the Executive is eligible under such sections.

(c) Termination Preceding Change in Control. Notwithstanding the provisions of the above subsection 7(b), if the
Executive’'s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause within three (3) months preceding the
occurrence of a Change in Control and such termination without Cause occurred in anticipation of a Change in Control at the
request of the acquirer, the Executive shall be entitled to the payments and benefits described in the above subsection 7(b)(1).

8. Taxes. The Company shall be entitled to withhold from any payment or benefit provided under this Agreement an
amount sufficient to satisfy all federal, state and local income and employment tax withholding requirements.

9. Notices. Any notice provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be either personally delivered, sent by
reputable overnight courier service or mailed by first class mail, return receipt requested, to the recipient at the address below
indicated:

Notices to the Executive:

Roger P. Johnson

[***]

[***]
Notices to the Company::

Sunshine Silver Mines Corporation c/o
Tigris Financial Group Ltd.

535 Madison Avenue, 11th Floor

New York, New York 10022

Attention: Andrew M. Shapiro, Esq.

or such other address or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party shall have specified by prior written notice
to the sending party. Any notice under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given when so delivered, sent or mailed.

10. Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any
other provision or any action in any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement shall be reformed construed and enforced in such
jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.




11. Complete Agreement . This Agreement, together with the agreements referred to herein in Section 3(d), contains the
entire agreement of the Parties hereto with respect to the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the
Company and activities following termination. This Agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings,
whether written or oral, between the Parties with respect to the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the
Company and activities following termination. This Agreement may not be changed or modified except by an instrument in
writing, signed by the Executive and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

12. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original
and all of which taken together constitute one and the same agreement.

13. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is intended to bind and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
Executive, the Company and their respective heirs, personal representatives, executors and administrators, successors and
assigns, except that the Executive may not assign his rights or delegate his duties or obligations hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Company.

14. Choice of Law. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this
Agreement and the exhibits and schedules hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
State of New York and the federal laws of the United States of America, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of
law rules or provisions that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York and the
federal laws of the United States of America.

15. Dispute Resolution and Arbitration. Subject to Section 5(d), the Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any
dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement promptly by negotiation. If the matter has not been resolved within thirty (30)
calendar days of a Party’s request for negotiation, either Party may initiate proceedings or arbitration only as provided herein.
Subject to Section 5(d), if any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach, termination or validity thereof
has not been resolved by negotiation, such dispute shall be settled by binding arbitration in accordance with the then current
rules of JAMS by a single independent and impartial arbitrator who is located in Denver, Colorado. The arbitrator selected must
have an expertise in the matter(s) in dispute. Each party shall bear his/its own fees and costs; the fees, costs and all
administrative expenses of arbitration shall be borne equally by the Company and the Executive. The Parties understand and
agree that the arbitration is subject to the rules of JAMS; that the arbitrator’s decision and award shall be final and binding as to
all claims that were, or could have been, raised in arbitration; and that judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may
be entered in any court having competent jurisdiction. Any award rendered hereunder may include an award of attorneys’ fees
and costs but shall not include punitive damages. The statute of limitations of the state of New York applicable to the
commencement of a lawsuit shall apply to the commencement of an arbitration.

16. Amendment and Waiver. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended or waived only with the prior written
consent of the Company and the Executive, and no course of conduct or course of dealing or failure or delay by any party
hereto in enforcing or exercising any of the provisions of this Agreement shall affect the validity, binding effect or enforceability
of this Agreement or be deemed to be an implied waiver of any provision of this Agreement.

17. Survival. In the event of the Executive’s termination of, or resignation from, employment,




Sections 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14, 15 and 16 shall survive and continue in full force to the extent necessary to enforce their terms.

18. Jobs Act Compliance.

(a) This Agreement is intended to provide payments that are exempt from or compliant with the provisions of
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and related regulations and Treasury
pronouncements (“Section 409A”), and the Agreement shall be interpreted accordingly. Each payment under this Agreement
is intended to be excepted from Section 409A, including, but not limited to, by compliance with the short-term deferral
exception as specified in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-I(b)(4), and the provisions of this Agreement will be administered,
interpreted and construed accordingly (or disregarded to the extent such provision cannot be so administered, interpreted, or
construed).

(b) All reimbursements or provision of in-kind benefits pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in accordance
with Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(I)(iv) such that the reimbursement or provision will be deemed payable at a specified
time or on a fixed schedule relative to a permissible payment event. Specifically, the amount reimbursed or in-kind benefits
provided under this Agreement during the Executive’s taxable year may not affect the amounts reimbursed or provided in any
other taxable year (except that total reimbursements may be limited by a lifetime maximum under a group health plan), the
reimbursement of an eligible expense shall be made on or before the last day of the Executive’s taxable year following the
taxable year in which the expense was incurred, and the right to reimbursement or provision of in-kind benefit is not subject to
liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

(c) For all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive shall be considered to have terminated employment with the
Company when the Executive incurs a “separation from service” with the Company within the meaning of Code Section
409A(a)(2)(A)(i).

(d) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the parties agree that any benefit or benefits
under this Agreement that the Company determines are subject to the suspension period under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)
shall not be paid or commence until the first business day next following the earlier of (i) the date that is six months and one
day following the date of the Executive’s termination of employment, (ii) the date of the Executive’s death or (iii) such earlier
date as complies with the requirements of Section 409A.

19. Release. Any and all amounts payable and benefits or additional rights provided pursuant to Sections 4 and 7, other
than (i) compensation accrued but unpaid as of the effective date of the Executive’s termination; (ii) accrued but unused
vacation in accordance with Company policy; and (iii) all business expenses that were incurred but not reimbursed, shall only
be payable if the Executive executes and delivers to the Company, within 60 days after termination of employment, in the
Company’s standard form, a general release of all claims of the Executive up to the date of such release.




By:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
SUNSHINE SILVER MINES CORPORATION
/s/ Michael Williams

Name: Michael Williams
Title: President

/sl Roger Johnson
ROGER P. JOHNSON - the Executive




Appendix |

Based on the transaction:

Valuation:
a) Financing/ Cash infusion $115,000,000
(for~15%): $766,500,000

b) SSM valuation

Price per share: a/b=c
a) SSM Value based on contemplated merger $766,500,000
b) Post merger Shares and options Outstanding 55,443,038
c¢) Share Price $13.825




Exhibit 10.15.1

ASSIGNMENT, ASSUMPTION & CONSENT AGREEMENT
OF
ZINC CONCENTRATE DELIVERIES

AMENDMENT No. 1

THIS AMENDMENT OF ASSIGNMENT, ASSUMPTION & CONSENT AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment No.1 to the Assignment Agreement") made July 14" | 2022 (the “Effective Date").

AMONG:

Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd.
14-1, Sotokanda, 4-Chome
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-0021
JAPAN

(“Dowa")

AND:

Operaciones San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V.

Av. Valle Escondido 5500 int 404

Complejo Industrial El Saucito

Chihuahua, Chihuahua

CP. 31125 . \
. (i)

(“Assignor”)

L %

AND:

Ocean Partners USA, Inc.

43 Danbury Road

Wilton, CT, USA s T

06897

(“Assignee”)

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a ASSIGNMENT, ASSUMPTION & CONSENT AGREEMENT
dated July 15, 2019 (the "Assignment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Assignor and the Assignee entered into a Zinc Offtake Agreement on July 15,
2019 (the "Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Assignor and the Assignee agreed to the purchase and sale of Z3IEE wmt of
zZinc concentrate under the Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Agreement had a term ending on June 30, 2022 (“Term")

WHEREAS, during the Term, the Parties respectively only bought and sold FEJlED wmt of the
agreed amount, leaving a shortfall of ‘ wmt. ("Shortfall”)

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and conditions set forth
herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:




Amendment No. 1 of Assignment Agreement of Zinc Concentrate Deliveries/ Dowa / OSJ / Ocean Partners
Page 2

1. INTERPRETATION. Any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meaning set forth for such term in the Assignment Agreement.

2. AMENDMENT

The Parties agree to amend Subsection B of the “Witnesses that Whereas” Section of the
Assignment Agreement in its entirety to read as follows:

“WITNESSES THAT WHEREAS:

A

B. The Assignor has requested that Dowa consents fo the assignment of deliveries
under the Agreement to the Assignee, namely contractual deliveries representing
the 2018 unlil the Shortfall has been delivered , which is expected to occur by
March 30, 2023 (the "Assigned Deliveries’);

3.- NO OTHER CHANGE. Except for the changes contemplated in this Amendment No. 1 to the
Assignment Agreement, the terms of the Assignment Agreement remain in full force and effect.

4.- GOVERNING LAW, This Amendment No 1 to the Assignment Agreement shall be
governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of New York,
USA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Amendment No. 1 to the Assignment Agreement has been
executed by the parties hereto as of the Effective Date.

Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Operaciones San Jose de
Ltd.  we o Plata S. de R.L. de C.V,, by its
by its authorized signatory: authorized signatory:

i

mtax /!

Per; . Per:

Ocean Partners USA, Inc., by its authorized
signatory:
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Per:

Brent Omland / Al Paterson




CERRO LOS GATOS ZINC CONCENTRATE LOGISTICS CONTRACT AMENDMENT
NO.1

This zinc concentrate logistics contract Amendment ("Amendment no. 1"), is effective as
of July 14, 2022, between Operaciones San Jose de Plata S. de R.L. de C.V., ("OSJ"), a
joint venture between Gatos Silver, Inc. (filk/a Sunshine Silver Mining and Refining
Corporation, and Dowa Metals & Mining Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan (“Dowa"), a Mexican
corporation, having its principal place of business at .Av. Valle Escondido #5500 Int. 404,
Complejo Industrial "El Saucito”, Chihuahua 31125, Chihuahua.

and

MK METAL TRADING MEXICC S.A. DE C.V having an office at Av. Ejército Nacional
Mexicano No. 769, Torre B Piso 3 Oficina L02, Col. Granada, CP 11520, Ciudad de
México and its contractors (collectively “MK"),

WHEREAS, the parties entered into a Zinc Concentrate Logistics Contract (the "Contract”)
on July 15, 2019;

WHEREAS, the Contract provided for logistics of zinc concentrate for a total amount of
135,000 wmt;

WHEREAS, the Contract had a term ending on June 30, 2022 (*Term”)

WHEREAS, durjhg the Term, only wmt were delivered and warehoused leaving
a shortfall of wmt. (“Shortfall")

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and conditions set
forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. INTERPRETATION_Any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meaning set forth for such termin the Contract.

2. AMENDMENT

The Parties agree to amend the following Sections of the Contract in its enn[\'ety to read
as follows: \

“2 TERM OF THE CONTRACT:
The Contract shall begin July 15, 2019 and shall end on March 30, 2023",

“3. CARGO:

The Shortfall shall be delivered as follows::

jul-22 "/ﬁwmr




ago-22 ~3he vt

sep-22 ST Iwmt
oct-22 Seesvmt
nov-22 S wmt
dic-22 !
ene-23 e wmi
feb-23 =“Bpe wmi
mar-23 <@l wmt

8. SERVICE FEE:

(a) For each delivery and shipment of the Concentrate, OSJ shall pay MK for ALL
services and operations necessary (services that are “if necessary”™ are in bold
below and will be agreed with OSJ before they are performed) to safely and
properly receive the Zinc concentrates at TMC and ship to Akita port in Japarn.

Each delivery to warehouse shall be received al Warehouse in minimum 500 wet
metric tonne lots and each ocean freight shipment is assumed to be on a minimum
basis of 5,000 wel metric tonnes. The material will be stored in 1 pile until the
expected shipment tonnage is reached. If deliveries or ocean freight shipments are
less than 500 wmt or 5000 wmt respectively, certain fees will need to be adjusted

pro-rata.

Payment for services a) to k) shall be made to MK within 10 days from the date of
Ocean Bill of Lading of each shipment following presentation of an invoice by MK,
Payment |) shall be made 5 days before the estimated date of loading following
presentation of an invoice by MK. Payment m) and any additional invoices shall be
made within 5 days of presentation of an invoice by MK to OSJ.

The following services to be provided, including but not limited fo:

fa) Reception and weighing of the Concentrate from the Mine S vmt*

(b) Nomination of a Supervision Company at Manzanilio <age/vmt*
(c) Concentrate Storage for each 30 day period or part thereof

(includes Arrangement of FMP/TML Test) il \wmt
(d) Drying of Concentrate, (if necessary) oG vt

(e) Truck Loading & Tarpaulin Covering to Loading Dock — @#2/wmi

() Customs Clearance At cost per shipment
(g) Loading Concentrate on Board a Carrying Vessel v mt
(h) Assays a8 \vmt*
(i) Homogenization (if necessary) 49T wmt

(i) Material pressing and flattening to dissolve lumps ¥\t
(k) Insurance <LadAvmt
()Management Fee ¢
(m) Ocean Freight At cost per shipment
{n) Arrival costs (Despatch efc. if necessary) At cost per shipment

* Based on minimum 500 wmt lot deliveries. If < 500 wmt lots, costs will need to be
prorated.




** Based on minimum 5000 wmt shipments. If < 5Q0Q wmt shipments, costs will need to
be prorated. s

Costs a) to j) are based on MK’s 2022 local contracfSWith service providers and all service
provider costs are negoliated on a yearly basis and f&-be renegotiated each year. MK wiil
negotiate the rates every year, leveraging on the®aistory, relationship and MK's own
volume of businesses with providers to secure comgelitive rates for OSJ Any Mexican
value added taxes shall be added to the iNvoiCes. saes =

»

Cost k), the management fee of USSE0 per wmmm' coordination of alf the logistics
and the services enlisted above included in clause 8 a) line m). The management fee shall
remain USW wmt throughout the Term of the Contract.

14. FORCE MAJEURE:

(a) If performance or observance by a party (the "Affected Perty”) of all or any of its
obligation under this Contract, other than obligations for payment of money, is prevented,
hindered or delayed by Force Majeure, as defined in Section 14(b) below, then the
Affected Party is excused from performance or observance of those obligations to the

extent and for the period that performance or observance is prevented, hindered or
delayed by Force Majeure, and the other parly is excused from the performance of
obligations dependent thereon and the parties are nat liable to each other for damages

or otherwise o the extent that performance or observance of the obligations is excused

under this Section 14(a). The Affected Party must give nolice to the other party declaring

the event of Force Majeure and, so far as known at the time natice is given, its anticipated

effect, on each case promptly after the event or circumstance occurs and becomes known

to the Affected Party. The Affected Party shall keep the other party informed regularly of, |
any material changes in anticipated effect of Force Majeure previously declared by fhs\t.ﬂﬂ_
Affected Party, and when known to the Affected Party. i \
(b} “Force Majeure” means any cause beyond the reasonable control of a party, that b 5
prevents or interferes with the performance under this Contract, including but not limited \
to any action, regulation or guidance of any government or agency thereof, whether valid

or invalid (including any imposition, act of God, war whether declared or nof, fire,
explasion, ironmental limitation, pandemic, fiood or other natural disasters. Strike,

lockout or r labor or industrial disturbances, loss or damage fo the plant, machinery
caused by accident, power, or fuel shortage, civil disturbance or commotion, riot or armed
confiict, ratigning, allocation or inability to produce adequate supplies, delays in oblaining

labaor, tran ation, energy, ulilities, materials or supplies from normal sources, or other

action or inaction p-@q;ed by a person not party, or affiliate of a party to this Confract, but
excluding lack of money and credit.

{c) If F ajeure lasts for less than 60 consecutive days, then MK or OSJ respectively
resumes ilggbligations under this Contract.

(d} If such%e Majeure continues for more than 60 consecutive days, then the party to

whom notieggf Force Majeure has been given may decline in full or in part to perform its
obligations as a result of Force Majeure.

(e) The Affected Party giving notice of Force Majeure must give notice to the other party
of the termination of the Force Majeure or suspension promptly after termination occurs,




and the party shall resume as promptly thereafter as is practicable the performance and
observance of their obligations under this Contract.

3.- NO OTHER CHANGE. Except for the changes contemplated in this Amendment No.
1, the terms of the Contract remain in full force and effect.

4.- ARBITRATION.

(a) All disputes arising out of or in connection with this Contract, or in respect of any
defined legal relationship associated therewith or derived therefrom, including without
limitation any failure of the parties or to agree upon any matter where agreement is called
for under this Contract, shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the
rules of Conciliation and Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce, Paris,
France. The place of arbitration shall be Denver, Colorado, U.S.A. if such arbitration is
called by OSJ, and Vancouver, B.C., Canada if such arbitration is called by MK. The
arbitrator(s) will be persons qualified by experience and skill in the subject matter of the
disputes. The language of the arbitration shall be the English language.

(b) Any arbitral award made shall be final and binding upan OSJ and MK. Judgment
upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction or application
may be made to such court for a judicial acceptance of the award and an order of
enforcement as the case may be.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Amendment as of the day and
year first above written.

OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE MK METAL TRADING S.A.DE CV.
PLATAS. DERL DECWV.

J i
S A
Cp
B l‘ltr}
by: -

FRANCISCO ESPINDSA - TRADER




OPUSA CONTRACT REFERENCE: OPUS.ZP.70634 - Amendment 1

This Amendment ("Amendment No. 1°) to the Zinc Offtake Agreement, is effective as of
July 14, 2022, between:

OCEAN PARTNERS USA, INC.
43 Danbury Road
Wilton, CT, USA, 06897
(hereinafter called "Buyer")

and
OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE PLATA, 5. DE R.L. DE C.\.
Av. Valle Escondido #5500 Int. 404
Complejo Industrial “El Saucito®
Chihuahua 31125, Chihuahua.
(hereinafter called “Seller”)

WHEREAS, the parties entered into a Zinc Offtake Agreement on July 15, 2019 (the
"Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Parties agreed to the purchase and sale of "ESSg00 wmt of zinc
concentrate under the Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Agreement had a term ending on June 30, 2022 ("Term")

WHEREAS, during the Term, the Parties respectively only bought and sold tE300 wmt
of the agreed amount leaving a shortfall of Zﬁo wmt. (“Shortfall")

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and conditions set
forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

j & INTERPRETATION. Any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meaning set forth for such termin the Agreement,

2. AMENDMENT

The Parties agree to amend the following Sections of the Agreement in its entirety to read
as follows:

“4. DURATION/NEGOTIATION

(a)  This Agreement shall be effective from the dale hereof and shall
remain in full force and effect untif the Shortfall is respectively sald and
purchased by the Parties in accordance with this Agreement, which is
expected to occur by March 30, 2023.

Wl
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(b) Commercial terms, as provided in Clauses 9, 10, 11 and 12, shall be
annually negotiated in good faith and agreed between Dowa and Seller
{with copy to Buyer) taking into consideration the prevailing world
markets, including 1) Bench Mark Terms as published by the Metal
Bulletin of London and 2) the prevailing international terms and
conditions governing delivery of zinc Concentrate to Japan, for zinc
concenlrates, for the period in which Concentrate shipments are
scheduled, or such other time as may be agreed; provided, however,
for 2019 commercial terms are set forth in Appendix A attached hersto,
and provided that the intent of this paragraph (c) is to apply solely to
renegotiation of commercial terms, and not legal terms under this
Agreement, and neither parly shall be liable to the other if they are
unable fo agree on any revisions to the commercial terms currently in
effect.

\
(c)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Dowa and/or Seller (with copy to Buyer) (i

)

may request additional commercial terms beyond those in Clauses 9, | J .\

10, 11 and 12 for negotiation, if such new additional commercial terms
are justified as competitive International and/or Japanese market
conditions for zinc concentrate with volumes, specifications and other
terms and conditions similar to those in this Agreement. The Buyer and
Seller must negotiate and agree such additional commercial terms.

7. TITLE AND RISK

Title deed to, and risk to the Concentrates shall pass from Seller to Buyer upon Seller's
delivery in the warehouse set forth in Section 5 ("Shipment”) of this Agreement. Delivery
shall be final when the Concentrales are unloaded in the above references warehouse.

3.- NO OTHER CHANGE. Except for the changes contemplated in this Amendment No.
1, the terms of the Agreement remain in full force and effect.

4.- ARBITRATION.

Any disputes, controversy or claim arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement or
the breach, termination or validity thereof, which cannot be amicably resclved by the
parties within B0 calendar days after receipt by one party of written notice from the other
party, such a controversy or claim shall be settled by final and binding arbitration
conducted in the English language in New York in accordance with the Rules of
Concentration and Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce by three
arbitrators appointed one by Seller, one by Buyer and the third by the first two arbitrators.

If either or both Seller or Buyer fails to appoint an arbitrator within B0 calendar days after
receiving notice of the commencement or arbitration proceedings, or if the two arbitrators
within 14 calendar days after they have been chosen failed to appoint the third arbitrator,

\

\




the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce shall,
upon request of either or both of Buyer and Seller, appoint the arbitrator or arbitrators
required to complete the arbitral tribunal.

The parties agree that the Arbitration Award of the arbitral tribunal shall be:

(i) conclusive, final and binding upon the parties; and
(i) the sole and exclusive remedy between the parties regarding any and all claims
and counterclaims presented to the arbitral tribunal.

All notices to be given in connection with the arbitration shall be as provided in Clause 23
of this Agreement.

The Arbitration Award shall be made and shall be payable in US$ only. The Arbitration
Award shall also include the fixing of the expense of the arbitration and the assessment
of the same, as is appropriate in the parties hereto. Each party shall otherwise bear its
cost of its respective legal fees, witnesses, depositions and other out-of-pocket expenses
incurred in the course of arbitration.

In the event either party to this Agreement commences legal proceedings to enforce the

Arbitration Award, the expense of such litigation (including reasonable attorney's fees and
costs of court) shall be borne by the party not prevailing therein.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Amendment as of the day and
year first above written.

OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE MK METAL TRADING 8.A.DE CV.

PLATAS.DERL. DE C.V.
A A s
by: /! by: ’

—

FRAMNCISCO ESPINGSA - TRADER




Exhibit 10.15.2

CONTRATO DE COMPRAVENTA No, 203-

22CMX-130-0-P

CONTRATO DE COMPRAVENTA QUE |
CELEBRAN POR UNA PARTE TRAFIGURA

MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V., QUE EN ADELANTE
SE DENOMINARA EL “COMPRADOR",
DEBIDAMENTE  REPRESENTADA  POR
JUAN ANTONIO MORAN Y ZAVALA, Y POR
OTRA PARTE OPERACIONES SAN JOSE
DE PLATA S. DE R.L. DE C.V., QUE [N
ADELANTE SE  DENOMINARA L

“VENDEDOR", DEBIDAMENTE
REPRESENTADA POR  LUIS TFELIPE
HUERTA  CACHA, EN  CONJUNTO

DENOMINADOS COMO LAS “PARTES",
QUIENES ACUERDAN SUJETARSE A LAS
SIGUIENTES DECLARACIONES Y
CLAUSULAS:

DECLARACIONES

. DECLARA EL COMPRADOR:

A. Esunasociedad constituida de conformidad
con las leyes de los Estados Unidos
Mexicanos, tal y como consta en la escritura
nimero 101,659 de fecha 26 de Enero de
1998 otorgada ante la fe del Lic. Miguel
Angel Gutiérrez Vargas, Notario Piblico
numero 206 del Distrilo Federal, misma que
se¢ encuentra debidamente inscrita en el
Registro Piblico de Comercio de la Ciudad
de México en el folioc mercantil nimero
236928.

B. Que las facultades de su representante legal
para suscribir este Contrato constan en la
escritura piiblica nimero 19,893 de fecha 16
de abril de 2019, otorgada ante la fe del
Licenciado Guillermo Escamilla Narviez,
Notario Pablico 243 del Distrito Federal y
que a la fecha esas facultades no le han sido

modificadas, restringidas o revocadas en

forma alguna.

€. Que se encuentra debidamente inscrito en el
Registro Federal de Contribuyentes con
clave CMM-980126-G35 v que sefiala
como domicilio para ofr y recibir
notificaciones ¢l ubicado en la Avenida
Pasco de la Reforma nimero 115-2102,
Colonia,  Lomas de Chapultepee,

PURCHASE-SALE CONTRACT No.

THIS DOCUMENT SETS FORTH THE
PURCHASE-SALE CONTRACT ENTERED
INTO BY AND BETWEEN, ON THE ONE
HAND, TRAFIGURA MEXICO, S.A. DE
C.V., WHICH SHALL BE HEREINAFTER
REFERRED TO AS THE “BUYER", DULY
REPRESENTED HEREIN BY  JUAN
ANTONIO MORAN Y ZAVALA; AND, ON
THE OTHER HAND, OPERACIONES SAN
JOSE DE PLATA S. DE RL. DE C.V,,
WHICH SHALL BE HEREINAFTER
REFERRED TO AS THE “SELLER.” DULY
REPRESENTED HEREIN BY LUIS FELIPE
HUERTA CACHA, COLLECTIVELY
NAMED AS THE “PARTIES,” WHO AGREE
TO BE SUBIJECT TO THE FOLLOWING
STATEMENTS AND CLAUSES:

STATEMENTS

IIl. THE BUYER STATES: |

A, That it is a company organized and |
existing under the laws of the United |
Mexican States, as recorded in public deed
number 101,659, dated January 26, 1998,
made before and witnessed by Auorney-
at-law Miguel Angel Gutiérrez Varpas,
Notary Public number 206, of the Federal
District, which is duly recorded in the
Public Registry of Commerce of Mexico
City, on commercial page number 236928,

B. That the powers of its legal representative
to sign this Contract are recorded in public
deed number 19,893, dated April 16, 2019,
made before and witnessed by Attorney-
at-law  Guillermo Fscamilla Narviiez,
Notary Public 243 of the Federal District;
and that, to date, those powers have not
been modified, restricted or revoked to it
in any manner.

C. That it is duly recorded in the Federal
Registry of Taxpayers with password
CMM-980126-G35 and that il states, as
the address for service of process, the |
address located at Avenida Paseo de In;'
Reforma  ndmero  115-2102, Colonia, |




Delegacién Miguel Hidalgo, C.P. 11000 |

IL

Al

D.F. México.

DECLARA EL VENDEDOR:

Es una sociedad constituida de conformidad
con las leyes de los Estados Unidos
Menxicanos, lal v como consta en ln escritura
piblica nimero 12,880, de fecha 15 de
diciembre de 2014 otorgada ante la fe del Lic.
Guillermo A. Vigil Chapa, Notario Publico
nimero 247 de Ciudad de México, misma
que se encuentra debidamente inscrita en el
Registro Pablico de Comercio de la misma
ciudad bajo el folic mercantil N® 527996,
Que las facultades de su representante legal
son suficientes para suseribir este Contrato
¥ que no le han sido modificadas, limitadas
o revocadas en forma alguna, como consta
en la escritura piblica nimero 14,124, de
fecha 22 de setiembre de 2015, otorgada ante |
la fe del Lic. Guillermo A. Vigil Chapa,
Notario Pablico nimere 247 de Ciudad de
Mexico [ detallada en el punto A
inmediatamente anterior,

Que se encuentra debidamente inscrito en el
Registro Federal de Contribuyentes con clave
OSJ141215828, y que seiiala como domicilio |
para ofr y recibir nolificaciones el ubicado en |
Ciudad de México.

Que el Producto se enceentra libre de todo
gravamen o limitacién de dominio v que es
el anico y legitimo propictario y que
garantiza que ha sido obtenido yfo
procesado legalmente. ]
Qe es el legitimo titular de la Concesidn
Minera nimero 231498 respecto del lote
minero denominado Los Gatos ubicado en
Municipo de Satevo, Chihuahua, del cual se |
extrae el Producto,

Que la suscripcion y el cumplimiento por su
parte, asi como las  transacciones
contempladas en ¢l Contracto (i) no entran
ni entrarin en conllicto con ninguna ley o
reglamente que le sea aplicable; sus
documentos  constitutives; o cualguier
documento que sea vinculante para ella o

cualquiera de sus activos: y (ii) es una |
obligacién legalmente vinculante, vilida y |
exipgible. |

Lomas de _éﬁzipultcbcé.
Miguel Hidalgo, C.P. 11000, D.F. Mexico.

IV. THE SELLER STATES:

A.

That it is a company organized and
existing under the laws of the United
Mexican States, as recorded in public
deed number 12,880, dated December
15, 2014, made before and witnessed
by Attorney-at-law Lic. Guillermo A,
Vigil Chapa, Notary Public number
247, of Mexico Cily, which is duly
recorded in the Public Repistry of
Commerce of Mexico City, on
commercial page number 527996,
That the powers of its legal
representative suflice to sipn  this
Contract and that those powers have
nol been modified, restricted or
revoked to it in any manner, as
recorded in public deed number
14,124, dated September 22, 2015,
made before and  witnessed by
Atlorney-at-law Lic. Guillerma A,
Vigil Chapa, Notarv Public number
247, of Mexico City.

That it is duly recorded in the Federal
Registry of Taxpayers with password
081141215528 and that it states, as
the address for service of’ process, the
address located at calle Valle
Escondido 5500, Punto Alte E-2
Oficina 404, C.P. 31125, Chihuahua,
Chihuahua, México.

That the Product is free from all liens
or limitation of ownership and that it
is the only and legitimate owner and
that it guarantees that the Product has
been  obtained  andfor  processed
legally.

That it has entered into a contract with

the legitimate holder of the Mining |
Concession number 231498 for the |

purchase of 100% of the production
of the mining lot called Los Gatos,
located of Municipo de  Satevo,
Chihuahua, from which the Product is
extracted.

Delegacion |




" G. Que las obligaciones de pago asumidis en |

virnd del Comrato tienen un rango al
menos pari passu con los créditos de todos
sus demds acreedores no garantizados y no
subordinados, salvo las  obligaciones
obligatoriamente  preferentes par ley
aplicable a las empresas en general,

I. DECLARAN CONJUNTAMENTE LAS |

PARTES:

Las Partes declaran que estdn de acuerdo en
llevar a cabo la presente compraventa de
concentrados de plomo (en lo sucesivo
denominado el “Producto™) bajo
términes y condiciones pactadas en las
siguientes:

CLAUSULAS

| PRIMERA. DEFINICIONES.

Las Partes acuerdan que los términos utilizados en
el presente Contrato tendrin, en lo aplicable y de
forma indistinta en plural o singular, Jas siguicntes
definiciones:

a) Los términos Tonelada y Tonelada Méirica
("TM™) equivalen a 1,000 (un mil)
kilogramos (“kilos™ y/o “kg™) o 2,204.62
libras (“Ibs™), en base htmeda (TMH) o
seca (“TMS™)  como  se indique
especificamente en cada caso,

b)  Onza podra ser referido como 0O,

¢) Eltérmino unidad equivale al 1% (uno por
ciento) de una TMS.

d) Eltérmino onza equivale a una onza troy de
311035 (treinta y uno punto uno cero
treinta y cinco milésimas) gramos.

e) El término libra equivale a 453.503
(cuatrocientos  cincuenta Yy tes punlo
quinientas noventa y tres milésimas)
Eramos,

f} Los montos de dinero establecidos en US$

¥ US¢ (Déiares y Centavos de Délar) se |

refieren a la moneda de curso legal de los
Estados Unidos de América.
g) Ensayes: Serdn las muestras del producto
abjeto de este Contrato a fin de verificar las
| calidades solicitadas.

los |

| FIRST: DEFINITIONS

E, That the entry into and performance |
by it of, and the transactions
contemplated by the Contract (i) do
not and will not conflict with any law
or regulation applicable to it: its
constitutional documents; or any
document which is binding upon it or
any of its assets; and (ii) it is a legally

binding, wvalid and enforceable
obligation. |
G. That the payment obligations |

assumed under the Contract rank at
least pari passu with the claims of all
its other unsecured and
unsubordinated ereditors, except for
obligations mandatorily preferred by
law applying to companies generally,

V. THE PARTIES JOINTLY STATE:

That they agree with entering into this
purchase-sale of lead (hereinafler referred
to as the “Product”) under the terms and
conditions agreed on in the following
clauses:

CLAUSES

The Parties agree that the terms used in this
Contract shall have, as applicable and indistinctly
in singular or plural, the following definitions:

a) The terms Ton and Metric Ton {*MT") are
equivalent to 1,000 (one thousand)
kilograms  (“kilos™ andfor “kg™ or
2,204.62 pounds (“1bs.”), in wet (WMT)
or dry ("DMT”) base. as may be
specifically set out in each case.

b) Ounee may be referred to as “0x"

¢} The term unit is equivalent to 1% (one
percent) of a DMT.

d) The term ounce is equivalent to one troy
ounce of 31.1035 (thirty-one point one
ero thirty-five thousandths) grams,

e) The term pound is equivalent to 453.593
(four hundred fifiy-three point five
hundred ninety-three thousandths) grams. [




" h) INCOTERMS: reliere 2 términos de
comercio internacional emitidos por la
Camara de Comercio Intemacional o ICC
en su version emitida en el afio 2010,

iy LME: significa London Metal Exchange;

iy LBMA: London  Bullion  Market
Association

k) Producto: tendrd la definicion estipulada en
¢l punto 111 de las declaraciones de estc
Contrato, y de acuerdo al contexto en el que
sca utilizado podrd referir a una entrepa
especifica o al volumen total estipulado en
la clausula segunda del presente Contrato.

1) Vigencia: tendrd ¢l significado atribuido en
la cldvsula tercera del presente Contrato,
sin embargo esta vigencia se extenderd
mientras permanezcan pendientes
obligaciones de [as Partes.

m) Los términos que inicien con letra
maytscula tendrin el significado que se
pactd para cada uno de ellos en este
Contrato.

n) Filial significa: en relacién con cualquier
compaiiia o corporacion, una Subsidiaria o
Sociedad Maitriz de dicha compafiia o
corporacion o cualquier otra Subsidiaria de
dicha compafila o corporacién o de dicha
Sociedad Matriz;

o) Sociedad Matriz: tiene el significado que se
le da en la definicion de Subsidiaria

p) Subsidiaria significa: una compaiiia o
corporacién que, en relacidn con otra
compaiia o corporacion (una “Sociedad
Matriz”): (a) es controlada, directa o
indirectamente, por la Sociedad Matriz; (b)
mids de la mitad del capital social emitido
sea propiedad, directa o indirectamente de
la Sociedad Matriz; o (c), es una
Subsidiaria de otra Subsidiaria de la
Sociedad Matriz; para ello, una compaiiia o
corporacién serd tratada como si fuera
controlada por una Sociedad Matriz si Ja
Sociedad Matriz es capaz de dirigir sus
asuntos v / o conlrolar la composicion de su
junta dircetiva o entidad equivalente.

SEGUNDA. CANTIDAD Y CALIDAD DEL

PRODUCTO.

Durante la vigencia del presente Contrato, el

Vendedor se obliga a vender v el Comprador a |

)

£)

h)

i)

P
k)

)}

mj

n)

0)

P

I'he amounts of money established inlss
and US¢ (Dollars and Cenis of a Dollar)
are referred to the legal tender of the
United States of America.

Assays: They shall refer to the assays of
the product subject matter of this Contract
in order to verily the qualities requested.
INCOTERMS: It refers to terms of
international  trade  issued by the
International Chamber of Commerce or
ICC, in its version released in 2010,
LME: It means London  Metal
Exchange.

LBMA: It means London Bullion Market
Association,

Product: It shall have the definition set
forth in point II1 of the statements of this
Contract and, according to the context in
which it is used, it may refer to a specitic
delivery or to the total volume sel torth in
the second clause of this Contract.
Effective Term: It shall have the meaning
set forth in the third clavse of this
Contract. However, this effective term
shall extend as long as the obligations by
the Parties are still pending.

The terms starling with a capital letter
shall have the meaning agreed upon for
each of them in this Contract.

Affiliates means: in relation to any
company or corporation, a Subsidiary or
Holding Company of that company or
corporation or any other Subsidiary of that
company or corporation or of that [Holding
Company;

Holding Company: has the meaning given
to it in the definition of Subsidiary;
Subsidiary means: a company or
corporation which, in relation to another
company or corporation {a “Holding
Company™): {a) is controlled, directly or
indirectly, by the Holding Company: (b)
more than half the issued share capital of
which is beneficially owned, directly or |
indirectly by the Holding Company; or (¢) |
which is a Subsidiary of another |
Subsidiary of the Holding Company; and t
for this purpose, a company or corporation |
shall be treated as being controlled by a |
Holding Company if the Holding
Company is able to direet its affairs andfor




comprar ¢l 100% de la produccion de concentrados |

de plomo de enero a junio de 2023, estimada en
3,000 TMS +/~ 10% y el 50% del total de la
produccion del resto del afio estimada en 1,500 |
TMS +/- 10%, a opeion del Vendedor. |

El volumen total del contrato serd de 27,000 TMS
H-10 % y el mismo que deberd de reunir la
sipuicnie calidad de acuerdo a sus contenidos:

Ag: 4,000 - 9,000 g

Auw:35-T0gh

Ph: 50 -55%

| Zn: 11 =14%

F: 5,000 — 9,500 ppm

Se: 189 ppm

Hg: 46 ppm

Ni: 31 ppm

Co: 28 ppm

Te: <20

S:16.98 %

Fe: 8.26 %

Insols: 6.69 %

S102: 5.95%
Cu: 1.38 %

Ca0: 1.3 %
Al203: 33%

Cd: .30%

i Sh:.15%

| As:.14%

| K20:.13 %
Na2(: .10%

MpO: .10%

Mn: 06%

Bi: .01%

El Producto serd de produccion primaria fresca de
sulfuro  flotado, de naturaleza fluida  sin
aglomeraciones visibles, oxidacién o decoloracion
¥ serd homogéneo en condiciones fisicas y ensaves
segin la opinion del supervisor independiente
nominado por el comprador.

En caso de que el concentrade no cumpla con las
especificaciones establecidas en esta cldusula y/o
contenga  residuos o malerial secundario, el
Comprador podrd, a su entera discrecion, (i)
rechazar ¢l concentrado y, tras el rechazo del
Comprador, el Vendedor reembolsard |
inmediatamente al Comprador todas las sumas de |
| dinero desembolsadas por el Comprador en relacion |

to control the composition of its board of |

directors or equivalent body.

SECOND: PRODUCT QUANTITY AND
QUALITY

During the effective term of this Contract, the
Seller undertakes to sell and the Buyer undertakes
to buy 100% of the preduction between January
and June 2023, estimated to be 3,000 DMT +/-
10% plus 50% of the production for the rest of the
calendar year, estimated to be 1,500 DMT /-

| 10%, in Seller's option.

Total volume of 27,000 DMT +- 10% to be
delivered during contract life shall comply with
the following quality according to its contents:

Ag: 4,000 - 9,000 g/t
Au:3.5-7.0 g/t

Pb: 50 - 55 %
nll-14%

F: 5,000 - 9,500 ppm
Se: 189 ppm

Hg: 46 ppm

Ni: 31 ppm

Co: 28 ppm

Te: <20

| §:16.98 %

Fe: 8.26 %
Insols: 6.69 %
§5i02: 5.95%
Cu: 1.38 %
Ca0: 1.3 %
Al203: 33 %
Cd: .30 %
Sb:.15%
As: .14 %
K20:.13%
Ma20: . 10%
MgO: . 10%
Mn: .06%

Bi: .01%

The Product shall be Primary Sulphide floated
coneentrates of fresh production, free flowing in
nature with no visible agglomerations, oxidation
or discoloration and shall be homogeneous in
nature and assays in the sole opinion of the
Buyer's appointed independent surveyor.

|




con el concentrado rechazado v retirard
inmediatamente el concentrado o cualquier parle
del mismo que haya sido entregada al Comprador.
El Vendedor indemnizard al Comprador por
cualquier pérdida o daflo que sufra ¢l Comprador
como consecuencia del rechazo de los concentrados
por parte del Comprador o en relacidn con el
mismo; o (ii) aceptar el material sujeto a un ajusie
de precio que se acordari muluamente entre ¢l
Comprador y el Vendedor.

El Producto serd libre de sulfatos, en caso contrario,
¢l Comprador podri rechuzarlos de pleno derecho,

En easo de que ¢l Concentrado no se ajuste a las
especificaciones anteriormenle mencionadas, el
Comprador tendrdé derecho a rechazar los
concentrados o i aceptar la entrega del Concentrada
sujelo a un descuento en ¢l precio acordado
mutuamente, incluyendo pero no limitdndose a las
penalizaciones especificadas en la Cliusula 4,

El'tamafio de particula debe ser 100% por debajo de
1/8 de pulgada. Cualquicr inconveniente cavsado
por la no conformidad del material serd a cargo y
responsabilidad del Vendedor.

El Vendedor garantiza que el Producto, ademis,
deberd estar libre de radicactividad y de impurezas
perjudiciales para el proceso de fundicion ylo
refinacion, debera resistir el transporte, cualquiera
sca el seleccionado, desde el puerto de carga al
destino requerido por ¢l Comprador. Asimisma,
deberd cumplir con todas las regulaciones locales y
las regulaciones requeridas para cargas a granel por
el Cédigo Maritimo Internacional (IMSBC -
International Maritime Solid Bulk Cargoes Code).

El Preducto que deberi ser entregado al Comprador |

deberd reunir los ensayes aproximados antes
indicados, por lo que la variacién considerable en
dichos ensayes o la existencia de otros elementos
considerados daiiinos, harfan necesaria una revision

| de las condiciones de este Contrato y en caso de que

no llegaran a algin acverdo entre las Partes, ¢l
Comprador podra rechazarlos de pleno derecho y
podri solicitar que dicho Producto sea reemplazado
en un tiempo razonable a ser determinado por el
Comprador. Los gastos penerados por  esta
devolucion serdn cubiertos por el Vendedor.

Should the concentrate not meet the specifications
stated in this clause and/or be found to contain any
wasie or secondary material, the Buyer may at its
sole option either (i) reject the concentrate, and
upon Buyer's rejection, Seller shall forthwith
repay to the Buyer all sums of money expended by
the Buyer in respect of the rejected concentrate
and shall remove the concentrate or any pari

thereof” which has been delivered to the Buyer |

forthwith. The Seller will indemnify the Buyer in
respect of any loss or damage whatsoever and
howsoever sustained by the Buyer arising out of o
in connection with the Buyer's rejection of the
concentrates; or (ii) accept the material subject 1o
price adjustment to be mutually agreed between
Buyer and Seller.

The Product shall be sulfates-free, otherwise the
Buyer may reject them outright.

Should the Concentrate not conform to the above-
listed specifications, Buyer shall have the right to
reject the concentrates or to accept delivery of the
Concentrate subject to a mutually agreed price

discount, including but not limited to the penaltics |

specified in Clause 4.

Particle size shall be 100% below 1/8 inch. Any
issues caused by non-compliant material will be at
cost and responsibility of the Seller.

The Seller warrants that the Product shall
otherwise be free [rom radioactivity and
deleterious impurities harmful to smelting and/or
refining processes, shall be able to withstand any
voyage from the loadport upon any customary
form of transportation 1o the destination intended
by the Buyer, and shall conform to all local

regulations and the International Maritime Solid |

Bulk Cargoes Code (IMSBC Code).

The Product that shall be delivered to the Buyer
shall comply with the approximate a830ys
mentioned above, so the considerable variation in
such assays, or the existence of other elements
considered harmful, would make necessary 1o
review the conditions of this Contract. Moreaver,
in case that the Parties did not reach an agreement,
the Buyer may reject them in full force and effeet
and may request that such Product is replaced,
within a reasonable time 1o be determined by ihe




| EI Vendedor reconoce que el presente contrato
| tendra el primer lugar cn prioridad v prelacién
| respecto de cualquicr otro contrato © compromiso
| comercial que pudiere tener con terceras personas,
| por lo que en caso de que el Vendedor entregue
Producto a terceras paries antes de entregar al
Comprador, se obliga a responder por todos los
dafios y perjuicios que se pudicran generar en
consccucncia.

La cantidad y calidad de Producto estipulada en la
presente cldusula cs aproximada, sin embargo el
Vendedor reconoce v otorga los siguientes derechos
al Comprador respecto de su produecion:

» El Comprador tendra el derecho, mas no la
obligacién, de adquirir del Vendedor
Producto que se encuentre fucra de la
cantidad v calidad antes mencionada. Este
derecho del Comprador séle se entendera
por renunciado, mediante declaracién del
Comprador debidamente emitida por
escrito.

= En caso de que el Vendedor entregue un
volumen menor a 24300 TMS, el
Comprador podra extender la vigencia del
presente  contrato  hasta completar el
volumen remanente; parn ejercilar este
derccho las Partes acuerdan que bastara
emilir una nolilicacién por escrito.

Ficha de Datos de Seguridad (“SDS™ por sus
siglas en inglés)

El Vendedor olorgard al Comprador una copia de la
Ficha de Datos de Seguridad (“SDS") actualizada y
toda la informacion relafiva a los datos
medigambientales. de salud y de seguridad respecto
del  Ppoducto,, de mmidad con los
requerimientos™de las leyes, fiormas v regulaciones
aplicables con el plazo de tn dia habil a partir de la
solicitud del Comprador y en todo caso, antes de la
entrega del Producto. La “SDS” debe encontrarse
redactada en  inglés.” En caso de realizarse
actualizaciones de la SDS en cualquier momento
durante la vigencia del -presente Contrato, el
Vendesw dielerd"propsTemmeT la SDS actualizada
il Coimpradorre—es =
i s S

TERCERA. ENTREGA Y VIGENCIA DEL
CONTRATI.

Buyer. The expenses generated as a result of this
return shall be borne by the Seller.

The Seller acknowledges that this Contract shall
have first priority in relation to any other
commercial contract or commitment thal it may
have with third parties, so in case that the Seller
delivers the Product to third parties before
delivering it to the Buyer, it undertakes to become
liable for all the damages which may be generated
as a consequence thereof,

The Produet quantity and quality set forth in this
clause is approximate. However, the Seller
acknowledges and granis the following rights lo
the Buyer in relation lo ils production:

+  The Buyer shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to acquire, from the Seller, the
P'raduct which is beyond the quantity and
quality mentioned above. This right of the
Buyer shall only be understood as waived
through a statement made by the Buyer.
duly issued in writing.

* In case that the Seller delivers a valume
lower than 24,300 DMT, the Buyer may
extend the effective term of this Contract
until completing the remaining volume.
To exercise this right, the Parties agree
that it shall suffice to issue a notice in
writing,

The Seller shall provide Buyer with the current
safety data sheet (“SDS™), production process
description (Flow chart and any other information
relating to health, safety and environmental data in
connection with the Concentrate in compliance
with the requirements of any applicable law(s),
rules or regulations within 1 Business Day of
Buyer's request and in any event prior to the
delivery of the Concentrate, The SDS must be in
English. If the SDS is revised at any time
thercafter during the term of this contract the
Seller shall promptly provide the updated SDS to
the Buyer.

THIRD: DELIVERY I} EFFECTIVE
TERM OF THE CONTRACT

The Product shall be delivered hy the Buyer,

evenly spread, during January 10 December, 2023,




| El Producto debera ser entregado equitativamente
por el Vendedor entre los meses de cnero a
diciembre de 2023, ambos meses incluidos (en lo
sucesivo fa “Vigeneia™), a opeion del Comprador,
en condiciones DAP (INCOTERMS 2010) o FOB
(INCOTERMS 2010) en el depésito de Impala
Terminals México, S.A. de C.V., designado por el
Comprador, v ubicado en el kilémetro 1.5 de la
| Carretera Manzanillo — Minatitlin, Colonia
Tapeixtles, C.P. 28239, Manzanillo, Colima,
Meéxice o alguna paridad a opeion del Comprador
(“Punto de Entrega™).

Para las entregas en fundiciones locales, el ahorro
de flete frente a las entregas en Manzanillo se
repartird equitativamente entre Jas Partes.

Para las entregas en condiciones FOB, el Vendedor
estd obligado a despachar el Producto para la
exportacidn. Los costos de carga serdn pagados por
¢l Comprador y todas las operaciones deberdn ser
manejadas por impala Manzanillo,

La vigencia del presente contrato estard sujeta a las
disposiciones de la Clausula Segunda,

CUARTA. PRECIO DE COMPRAVENTA.

El precio de Producto por tonelada métrica, seri el
monto que resulte de sumar todos los pagables
menos todas las deducciones que se especifican a
continuacién, de acuerdo con el periodo de
colizaciones:

A. PAGABLES:

| Las Partes acuerdan que los elementos pagables del
Producto se determinardn de la siguicnte forma:

Se pagard el 95% del contenido
final. sujeto a una deduccién
minima de 3 unidades, y ¢l saldo se
pagari a la colizacibn [ME
| Settlement, tal como se publiguen

Plomo:

perfodo de cotizaciones.

Plata: Se pagari el 95 del contenido final,

en el Metal Bulletin, durante el |

| amount resulting from summing all payables

. Lead:

sujeto i wna deduccidn minima de |

both months included (the “Effective Term™) DAP !
(INCOTERMS 2010) or FOB (INCOTERMS
20109 at the warchouse of Impala Terminals
Mexico, S.A. de C.V., designated by the Buyer,
and located at Km. 1.3 of Carretera Manzanillo —
Minatitlin, Colonia Tapeixtles, C.P. 28239, |
Manzanillo, Colima, Mexico, or any parily at the
Buyer’s choice {the “Delivery Point™).

For delivery into local smelters, the inland freight
savings vs deliveries to Manzanillo shall be shared
50/50 between both partics

For deliveries under FOB conditions, Seller shall
clear the Product for export. Deliveries loading
costs will be paid by the Buyer and all operations
should be handled by Impala Manzanillo

The effective term ol this Contract shall be subject
to the provisions set lorth in the Second Clause |
hercof.

FOURTH: PURCHASE-SALE PR

The price of the Product per melric ton shall be the

minus all deductions specified below, according to
the quotational period:

C. PAYABLES:

The Parties agree that the payable elements of the
Product shall be determined as follows:

The Euf‘ the final content,
subject to a minimum deduction
of #Rnits, and the balance shall be
paid at  the =PSRN
== during  the

quotational period.

Silver: The P01 the final content, |

of Beprs/mi shall be paid mt=thres
kI e TR0
ool Z e

L]
during  the

sub‘ﬁl to a minimum deduction (
l

E]uotnli-:mal period.




50 grs/tm v ¢l saldo se pagard a la
cotizacidn- “LBMA Silver Price”
publicade.. en LISE, en
www.lbma.org.uk, durante
periodo de totizaciones,

Sc pagard el 95%#del contenido
final, sujeto a una deduccion
minima de 1 gr/tm, y el saldo se
pagard a la cotizacion AM/PM
“LBMA Gold Price”, publicado cn
USE, en www.lbma.ore.uk, durante
el periodo de cotizaciones.

Fracciones en proporcidén,
| B. DEDUCCIONES:

Las Partes acuerdan que al Producto se le aplicarin
las siguientes deducciones:
i, Gasto de Tratamiento:

Para las entregas DAP:

Se deducirdn por concepto de gasto de
tralamiento del Producto US$54.00 por
TMS de Producto entregades DAP en
Manzanillo, México, de conformidad con
lo pactado en la clusula tercera de este
Contrato.

Este gasto de tratamiento estd basado en un
precio de plomo de US$2,350.00 por TM y
se incrementara en US$0.20 por cada dolar
que el precio final se encuentre por encima
de esta hase.

Para las entregas FOR:

Se deducirdn por concepto de pasto de
tratamiento del Producte LI$$23.00 por
IMS de Producto entrepados FOR en
Manzanillo, México, de conformidad con
lo pactado cn la clausula tercera de este
Contrato.

Este gasto de tratamiento estd hasado en un
precio de plomo de US$2,350.00 por TM v
se incrementard en US$0.20 por cada dolar

¢l |

The W of the final content, |

subject to a minimum deduction
ofPhr/mt shall be paiﬁ-

D. DEDUCTIONS:

Gold:

The Parties agree that the following deductions
shall be applied to the Product;

i.
For DAP deliveries:

' USS-#ggl per DMT of the Product
delivered under DAP  conditions in
Manzanillo, Mexico shall be deducted as
aresult of the Product treatment charge, as
! agreed in the third clause of this Contract,

Treatment Charge:

This Treatment Charge is based on a Jead
price of USSZGEMY per DMT, and shall
increase in BSME® for every dollar that
the copper price may be above this base.

For FOR deliveries:

USS ®Z3 per DMT of the Product
delivered under FOB  conditions in
Manzanillo, Mexico shall be deducted as
a result of the Product treatment charge, as
agreed in the third clause of this Contract,

This Treatment Charge is based on a lead
price of USHEEEM00 per DMT, and shall
increase in USSSMEYor every dollar that
the copper price may be above this base.

In the case of FOB deliveries, lots must be
delivered through Impala. Buyer shall pay all
loading and export costs (0% VAT rate on FOB
| deliveries).

ii.  Refining Charges:

Silver: USKI® shall be deducted per payable I
i ounce.




de esta base.

n
En el caso de entrepas RTJB los lotes deberan
“| e reg,aréeTa través de impala. El comprador correrd
co todos Tos gastos de carga y cxportacion (tipo de
TVATTel 0% en las entregas FOB).

ii.  Gastos de refinacion

Plata:  Se deducirdn US$0.23 por onza pagable.
Fste gasto de refinacion estd basado en un
precio de plata de US$24.50 por onza, ¥ se
incrementard en US$0.10 por cada dolar
por TM que el precio final se encuentre por
encima de esta base.

Oro:  Se deducirin USS15.00br onza pagable,

i, Penalidades por calidad.

No aplican penalidades si el Concentrado estq
dentro del mngo mencionado en la Clausula
Segunda. -

QUINTA. PERIODOBRCOTIZACIONES.

Para efectos de la determinacion del precio del
Producto, el periodo de cotizaciones por cada metal
independientemente y por cada cuglp serd, a opeidn
del Comprador: .

A) el promedio del mes siguiente al mes de
entrega en el Punto de Entrega (M-1)

B) el promedio del tercer mes siguiente al mes
de entrega en el Punto de Entrega (M-+3)

Dicha opeitn deberi ser déclaréda antes def inicio
del periodo de cotizaciones™

Cuando se cierre cualquier lote, ¢l Vendedor
comunicard al Comprador el contenido previsto de
Plomo, Plata y Oro. $i la diferencia entre ¢l
contenido aconsejado y el final cs superior al 5%, el
periodo de cotizacidn que se aplicard a dicha
cantidad superiorfinferior se acordard entre el
comprador y el Vendedor en una fecha especifica,
tan pronto como se conozean los ensgyes finales.

que ¢ precio Ggal se i:_nc_lmnl-r_c_pnr_c_l:hama ! * This J'c|1||i||;mrgngasa:;1 a silver |

price of vl per ounce, and shall
increase in Jfi@EMMAfor cvery THENEOR
that the applicable final price may be

above e FRRMcr ounce,

USEISREshal| be deducted per payable
ounce.

Gold:

iii.  Quality Penalties:

No penalties to apply if within specs,

FIETH: QUOTATIONAL PERIOD

For purposes of determining the price of the |
Product, at the Buyer's choice, the quotational
period shall be as follows:

* The average of the month foilowing the
month of delivery (M+1); or

*  The average of the third month following
the month of delivery (M+3)

The Buyer shall state iis option before (M+1)
ends/begins.

When any lot is closed, Seller will advise Bu yer of
the expected content of Lead, Silver and Gold, If
the difference between the advised content and the
final one is more than 5%, the Quotational period
which shall apply to such over/under quantity shall |
be agreed between buyer and Seller at a specific
date, as soon as the final assays are known.

The Seller may set prices with respect to payable
contents, by mutual agreement with the Buyer and
under the procedure that the Parties may agree

upon,

In case that the Product is delivered beyond the
agreed times or specifications, the Buyer shall
have the right to declare a new quotational period.

For the purposes of the application of this clause,
e-mails shall be considereded to be valid between
the Parties provided that they are sent from and to
any of the following addresses:




El 'v'cndeda'rﬂ;odrﬂ realizar fijaciones de precios
respecto de los contenidos pagables, de comun
acuerdo con ¢l Comprador y bajo el procedimiento
que las Partes acuerden.

En caso de que el Producto se entregue fuera de los
tiempos o especificaciones pactadas, el Comprador
tendri el derecho de declarar un nuevo periodo de
cotizaciones.

Para efectos de la aplicacion de la presente clausula,
los correos electronicos serin considerados validos
entre las Partes siempre que sean remitidos desde v
hacia cualquiera de las siguientes direcciones:

- Por el Vendedor:
grodriguez@mprmex.com
jesus. seouraf@mprmex.com

- Por el Comprador:
RMAMVDPricingDeski@trafipura.com

SEXTA. FORMA Y FECHA DE PAGO.

El Precio del Producto deberd de ser pagado
conforme & lo siguiente:

A. Pago Provisional:

El Comprador pagard hasta el 95% del valor
provisional del Producto una vez que se
conozean los resultados de Rayos X, a los 5 dias
hdbiles siguientes a la entrega en ¢l depdsito,
contra la entrega de los signientes documentos:

» [actura Provisional

» Certificado final de pesos y
humedad emitidos de conformidad
con la Clausula Séptima.

+ Certificado provisional de ensayes
debidamente emitido por un
laboratorio reconocido
internacionalmente y aceptado por
las Parles

+ [l presente Contrato debidamente
firmado

- For the Seller:
grodriguez/@mprmex.com

Mexico_ConcsOpsfitrafigura.com

SIXTH: METHOD AND DATE OF
PAYMENT |

The Price of the Product shall be paid as follows:
a. Provisional Payment:

The Buyer shall pay, up to ¥ of the
provisional value of the Product, as of 5
business days following delivery at the |
warchouse, upon delivery of the following
documents:

+ Provisional invoice.

» Final certificate of weights and
moisture issued in accordance with
the Seventh Clause.

+ Provisional certificate of assays
duly issued by an internationally
recognized laboratory and accepled
by the Parties.

+ This duly signed Contract

b. Payment Adjustments:

If at any time following the Buyer’s provisional
payment and prior to presentation of any final
invoice or credit note, the difference between
the provisional payment(s) made and the value
of shipment based on the metal prices averaged
over the previous two calendar weeks (or — if |
the Quotational Period for any metal is already
finished — then, for such metal, over such
Quotational Period), 1s greater than e of the
provisional payment or TSRPS0
(whichever is lower) (the “Difference™), then
the Seller (if the value of such shipment has
increased) or the Buyer (if the value of such
shipment has decrensed) (the “Owed Party™)
shall have the right o request the other Pary |




B. Ajustes de pago

Si en cualquicr momento después de haber
realizado el pago provisional ¥ antes de la
presentacion de cualquier factura final o nota de
crédito, la diferencia entre el page provisional
realizado y el valor del Concentrado basado en
los precios del metal promediades durante las
dos semanas calendario anteriores (0 — si el
periodo de cotizaciones para cualquier metal es
conocido — entonces, para cada metl, durante
dicho periode de cotizaciones), es mayor que el
15% del pago provisional o US$500,000 (lo que
sea menor), entonces el Vendedor (si ¢l valor ha
aumentado) o of Compradoer (si ¢l valor ha
disminuido) (la “Parte Acreedora™) tendrd el
derecho. de:solicitar a la otra Parte (la “Parte
Deudora™} que pague la diferencia dentro de los
3 (tres) dias habiles.

Para ello, la Parte Acreedora deberd emitir a la
Parte Deudora una factura provisional adicional
(nota de débito o crédito) basada en la
informacién mds reciente y los precios de los
metales promediados durante las dos semanas
calendario anteriores {0 precios finales si se
conocen),

C. Pago Final;

El pago final serd realizado por aquella parte que
deba a la otra. a los 3 dias hébiles de conocidos
todos los elementos finales, habiendo sido
descontados todos los pagos previos realizados
al Vendedor y todos los gastos realizados por ¢l
Comprador a cuenta del Vendedor, contra la
presentacion de la factura final, nota de cargo o
crédito,

Todos los pagos que deban ser efectuados por las
| Partes, serdn hechos cn délares de los E.U.A., o en
pesos MLN., conforme al tipo de cambio publicado
por el Diario Oficial de la Federacion el dia en que
deba realin;me el pago correspondiente.

PTIMA.™  PESAJE, MUESTREO Y

DETERMINACION DE HUMEDAD,

Las  operaciones de  pesaje, muestreo y

. _d'e:crminacién dE'_ _humcdad. se c!'eclugran en c_-_l_|_

|

| MOISTURE DETERMINATION

(the “Owing Party™) 1o paﬁlc-lﬁiﬁi:ﬁrw;: ml_d_]
the other Party shall pay such amount within 3
(three) Banking Days.

For this purpose, the Owed Party shall
promptly issue to the Owing Party an |
additional provisional invoice (debit or credit
note) based on latest known information and |
the metal prices averaged aver the two previous
calendar weeks (or final prices if known).

¢. Final Pavment;

The final payment shall be made by that party
which owes the other as of 3 business days after
the final elements have been known, having
deducted all previous payments made to the
Seller and all expenses made by the Buyer at
the expense of the Seller, upon submission of
the final invoice, debit or credit note.

All payments which shall be made by the Parties
shall be made in UL.S, dollars, or in pesos MM, in
accordance with the exchange rate published on
the Official Gazette of the Federation the day on
which the corresponding payment shall be made.

SEVENTH: WEIGHTING, SAMPLING AND

Weighting, sampling and moisture determination
operations shall be performed at the warehouse of |
Impala Terminals Mexico, S.A. de C.V., located
in Manzanillo, Colima, as established and in
accordance with the regulations and standards
applicable to this iype of operations.

The operations mentioned in the above paragraph
shall be performed by personnel of the company
Impala Terminals Mexico, $.A. de C.V. in lots of
approximately 200 wet metric tons.

The Seller may appoint, at its own cost, an |
internationally recognized laboratory as a
representative during weighting, sampling and
moisture determination operations, The fact that
the Seller is not represented during weighting,

S— —— —




| depésito de Impala Terminals México, S.A. de C.V. |

| ubicado en Manzanillo, Colima, conforme a lo
dispuesto v de acuerdo con las regulaciones v
| cstandares aplicables a este tipo de operaciones.

| Las operaciones mencionadas en el parrafo anterior

‘scn‘m clectuadas por el personal de la empresa |

| Impala Terminals México, S.A. de C.V. en lotes de
| aproximadamente 200 TMH.

Ll Vendedor podra nombrar, a su propio costo, un
laboratorio reconocido internacionalmente coma
representante durante las operaciones de pesaje,
muestreo y determinacion de humedad. El hecho de
que el Vendedor no estuviera representado en las
operaciones de pesaje, muestreo v determinacion de
humedad no afectard la validez de las mismas.

La determinacion del peso hiimedo, la preparacion
de muestras y la delerminacién de humedad serd
realizada en el depdsito designado o en el puerto de
embarque y sera final, definitiva, obligatoria e
inapelable para las Partes para todos los efectos del
presente Contrato.

Al peso final se le aplicard una deduccion del 0.25%
del peso neto seco entregado.

OCTAVA. ENSAYES FINALES.

A partir de las muestras tomadas de cada lote antes
mencionado, los ensayes serdn  determinados
independientemente tanto por el Vendedor como
por ¢l Comprador o sus respectivos nominados, de
acuerde con las pricticas estindar peneralmente
reconocidas por la industria minera v de fundicién
en todo el mundo, incluyendo el ajuste de los
ensayes de oro y plata por pérdidas de escoria v
copeln. Los ensayes de plomo, plala y oro se
intercambiardn lote por lote. Los ensayes de lior se
intercambiardn en forma compuesta, Los resultados
de los ensayes para ¢l flior se indicarin en partes
por millén; para el ploma, en porcentaje con dos
decimales, v para ¢l oro v la plata, en gramos por
TMS con dos decimales para el oro y cero
decimales para la plata. Los ensayes de oro y plata

sampling and moisture delermination operations |
shall not affect the validity thereof.

Wet weight determination, sample preparation and
moisture determination shall be condueted at the
designated warehouse or at the shipping port, and

shall be final, definitive. mandatory and
| unappealable to the Parties to all effects of this
Contract.

A deduction of 0.25% of the net dry weight
delivered shall be applied to the final weight.

EIGHTH: FINAL ASSAYS

From the samples taken from each lot aforesaid,
assays shall be determined independently by both
Seller and Buyer or their respective nominees, in
 accordance with standard practices generally
recognized by the mining and smelting industry
throughout the world, including adjustment of
gold and silver assays for slag and cupel losses.
The assays of lead, silver and gold shall be
| exchanged on lot by lot basis. Assays for Fluerine
shall be exchanged on a composite basis. Assay
results for Fluorine shall be reported in parts per
million; for lead in percentage to two decimal
places, and far Gold and Silver in grams per DMT
to two decimal places for gold, and zero decimal
places required for silver. Assays for Gold and
Silver shall be adjusted for slag and cupel losses
and umpires shall be instructed accordingly.

Scller shall exchange assays with Buyer within
60 days following sampling by registered mail,
courier or electronically as mutually agreed on a
date to be agreed upon in advance. Seller and
Buyer undertake to agree on a date for the
exchange of assays as soon as possible.

Should the difference between the results of both |
parties be not more than the following splitting f
limits:

| Pb: 0.50% |
| Ag: 50 pridmt I




| se ajustaran en funcion de las pérdidas de escoria y
copela v los drbilros recibirdn las instrucciones |
correspondientes,

El Vendedor intercambiard los ensayes con el
Comprador dentro de los 60 dias siguientes a [a
toma de muestras por correo certificado, mensajeria
0 por via electrdnica segiin mutuo acuerdo en una
fecha que se acordard previamente. El Vendedor y
¢l Comprador se comprometen a acordar una fecha
para el intercambio de cnsayes lo antes posible.

En caso de que la diferencia entre los resultados de
ambas partes no superc los siguientes limites de
divisidn:

Pb: 0.50%
Ag: 50 gridmt
Au: 1 gridmt

En caso de que la diferencia sea mayor, el ensayo
de arbitraje sera realizado sobre la(s) muestra(s)
reservada(s) a tal electo por un laboratorio(s)
acordado(s) mutuamente por el Comprador y el E
Vendedor, que deberi(n) pertenccer a la siguiente
lista de laboratorios

SGS Laboratory Services
| Malledijk 18 3200 AE Spijkenisse
The Netherlands

4]

Alfred H. Knight International Lid.
Kings Business Park Prescot Knowsley
L34 IPTUK

0
Laboratory Services International B.V.
Pittsburghstraat 9

3047 BL Rotterdam

The Netherlands

0

 Alex Stewart (Intemational) Corporation
Unit 2B Olympic Way Sefion Business Park

Aintree, Liverpool

of the lot in question.

Au: 1 gridmt

The event of greater difference, umpire assaying
shall be performed on the sample(s) reserved for
this purpose by a laboratory(s) to be mutually
agreed upon by Buyer and Seller, which shall be
from the following lisi of laboratories

SGE Laboratory Services
Malledijk 18 3200 AL Spijkenissc
The Netherlands

Or

Alfred H. Knight International Lid.
Kings Business Park Prescot Knowsley
L34 1P UK

Or

Laboratory Services International B.V.
Pittsburghstraat 9

3047 BL. Rotterdam

The Netherlands

Or

Alex Stewart (International) Corporation

Unit 2B Olympic Way Secfion Business Park
Aintree, Liverpool

Merseyside, L30 1RD UK

Or other mutually agreed umpire.

Should one of the parties utilize one of the
mutually agreed upon umpire laboratories above
for parly assays or representation, a replacement
umpire laboratory will be sclected by the other

| party. Umpires shall be used on a rotating basis

for each sampling lot,

Should the umpire assay fall between the results
of the two parties or coincide with either, then the
umpire assay shall be taken as the agreed assay.
Should the wmpire’s assay be the exact mean of

| the Buyer's and the Seller's assay, the umpire’s

assay shall be taken as the agreed assay in respect




| entenderd culminada cuando el Producto haya sido

| tomari como la muestra indicada a efectos del pago

Las Partes acuerdan que cualquier controversia,

U otro laboratorio drbitro acordado mutuamente.

En caso de que una de las partes utilice uno de los |
laboratorios  arbitros  mutuamente  acordados |
anteriormente para los ensayes o la representacion
de la parte, la otra parte seleccionard un laboratario
drbitro de sustitucion. Los drbitros se utilizaran de
forma rolatoria para cada lote de muestreo,

Si el ensayo del drbitro se encuentra entre los
resultados de las dos partes o coincide con
cualquiera de cllos, s¢ tomard el ensayo del drbitro
como el ensavo acordado. Si el ensayo del drbitro
es la media exacta de los ensayes del Comprador y
del Vendedor, el ensayo del rbitro se considerara
el ensayo acordado para ¢l lole en cuestion,

Si la prueba del arbitro fuera otra, se tomari como
prueba acordada para el lote en cuestion la prucha
de la parte mds cercana a la prucha del arbitro,

El coste de la prueba de arbitraje correrd a cargo de
la parte cuyo resultado difiera del del drbitro. EI |
coste serd sufragado a partes iguales por ambas
partes cuando cl ensayo del drbitro sea la media
exacla de los ensayes intercambiados.

Entonces, la medida exacta de los dos resultados se

final,

NOVENA. TRANSFERENCIA DE
PROPIEDAD Y RIESGO DEL PRODUCTO,

El titulo de propicdad y el riesgo del Producto
pasardn del Vendedor al Comprador al culminar la
etregaen el Punto de Entrega. La entrega se

descargado en las facilidades en el Punto de
Entrega.

DECIMA. ARBITRAJE,

disputa o reclamacion proveniente de o relacionada
con este Contrato, asi como cualquier caso de
incumplimiento, rescisién, terminacion o invalidez
del misma, que no pueda ser solucionado de manera

| mutual agreement. If such agreement was not

Should the umpire's assay lall clsewhere, then the
assay of the party nearest to the umpire's assay
shall be taken as the agreed assay in respect of
the lot in question,

The cost of the umpire assay shall be borne by
the party whose result is further from the |
umpire’s, The cost shall be borne equally by both |
parties when the umpire assay is the exact mean
of the exchanged assays.

Then, the exact measure of the two results shall
be taken as the sample indicated for purposes of
the final payment.

NINTH: TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP AND
PRODUCT RISK

Title deed to, and risk over the Product shall pass
from Seller to Buyer upon delivery in the
warchouse designated in the third clause of this
Contract. Delivery shall be considered finalized
when the Product is unloaded in  the
abovementioned warehouse.

TENTH: ARBITRATION

The Parties agree that any controversy, dispute or
claim arising from or related to this Contract, as
well as any ease of breach, rescission, termination
or invalidity thereof, which cannot be resolved
directly and amicably by the Parties, shall be
resolved through an arbitration proceeding, which
shall be carried out by an Arbitration Court subject
to the regulations of the Arbitration Center of
Mexico (“ACM™), which procedural rules shall be
applicable to the arbitration proceeding which
may be filed. The arbitration shall be held in the
city of Mexico, Federal District and shall be
conducted in Spanish.

The Arbitration Court shall be made upof 3 (three)
members with experience in the mining industry.
Each party shall appoint 1 (anc) arbitrator; and the
third arbitrator, who shall chair the court, shall be
appointed by the other 2 (two) arbitrators by

possible in & maximum term of 10 (ten) calendar
days, the third arbitrator shall be appointed by the
ACM,




mediante procedimiento arbitral, mismo que se |
llevara cabo por un Tribunal Arbitral sujeto a la
reglamentacion del Centro de Arbitraje Mexicano [
(“CAM™), cuyas normas procesales sersn de
aplicacion al procedimiento arbitral que se inicie. El
arbitraje se llevard a cabo en la cindad de México,
Distrito Federal y se conducird en idioma espafiol,

El Tribunal Arbitral estard compuesto por 3 (tres)
miembros con experiencia en la industria minera,
Cada parte designard | (un) drbitro y el tereero,
quien presidird el tribunal, serd designado por los
otros 2 (dos) drbitros de comin acuerdo. Si 1al
acuerdo no [uese posible en un plazo méiximo de 10
{diez) dias naturales, el tercer drbitro serd designado
por el CAM.

Para el improbable caso de ser necesaria la
¢jecucion forzada del laudo, sera competente el
Juez del domicilio de la parte vencida. Los gaslos,
| costos y costus del arbitraje serdn a cargo de la parte
no favorecida con el laudo arbitral.

DECIMA PRIMERA. CESION,

El Vendedor no podrd ceder, en todo o en parte, los
derechos u obligaciones derivados del presente
Contrafo sin ¢l consentimiento previo v por escrito
del Comprador.

Por otra parte, ¢l Comprador esti expresamente

facultado a ceder, total o parcialmente, sus derechos

y obligaciones derivados del presente Contrato a

cualquiera de sus filiales o subsidiarias. El

comprador deberd  notificar dicha cesion  al
Vendedor.

DECIMA SEG . INCUMPLIMIENTO Y |

RESCISION DE CONTRATO.

Estrictamente sin perjuicio de los derechos y
recursos de lus Partes que la ley les confiere, Tas
Partes tendrin los siguientes derechos y recursos
adicionales ante la ocurrencia de un evento de
incumplimiento.

Para efectos de la presente cliusula, un evento de
incumplimiento (“Evento _de | Incumplimiento™)

tendrd cualquiera de los siguientes significados:

In the unlikely case that it is necessary to enforce
the arhitration award, the Judge of the domicile of
the losing, party shall be competent. The expenses,
costs and charges of the arbitration shall be borne
by the party not favored by the arbitration award,

ELEVENTH: ASSIGNMENT

The Seller may not assign, in whole or in part, the
rights or obligations under this Contract without
having the previous and written consent of the
Buyer.

On the other hand, the Buyer is expressly
authorized to assign, in whole or in part, the rights
and the obligations derived from this Contract 1o
any ofits affiliates or subsidiaries. The Buyer shall
notify such assignment to the Seller,

TWELFTH: CONTRACT RESCISSION AND
— o o ALl RESLISSION AND
DEFAULT

Strictly without prejudice to the rights and remedics |
of the parties in law, the Parties shall have the
following additional rights and remedies upon the
occurrence of an event of default,

For the purposes of this clause, an event of default
{("Event of Default™) shall mean any of the
following:

(i) The failure of the Seller to comply with
any material terms under this Contract and
such failure remains uncured for 3 (three)
Business Days following wrilten notice
from the Buyer thercof:

(ii) If the Selier incurs or any cause for
termination or early termination oceurs
under any other contract with the Buyer or
any of its Affiliates, especially a Loan
Contract;

(iii) The inability or admitted inability or
declared inability of a Party to pay its

debts as they fall due or if the value of a
Party’s assets is at any time less than the |
amount_of its liabilities (taking into |




(ii

(iiiy La incapacidad, incapacidad admitida o

(iv)

En caso que una de las partes incurra en un Evento
de Incumplimiento (la “Parte en Incumplimienta™),
la otra Parte (la “Parte en Cumplimiento™) pedrs, a
st exclusivo crilerio v sin perjuicio de cualquier i

cualquicra de los términos del presente
Conirato, que persista sin ser subsanado por
tres (3) dias hébiles luego de recibida la
notilicacion por escrito del Comprador al |
respeco;

Si el Vendedor incurre o ocurre cualquier
causal de rescisidn o terminacion anticipada
bajo cualquier otra contrato con ¢l Comprador
o cualquicra de sus Afiliadas, especialmente
un Contrato de Préstamo;

incapacidad declarada de una de las partes para
pagar sus deudas y/o cumplir sus obligaciones
a su vencimiento o si ¢l valor de los activos de

una de las paries es, en cualquier momento,
menor que el monto de sus pasivos (teniendo

en  cuenta los  pasivos contingentes v
prospeclivos);
Si alguna de las partes (z) celebra un convenio

preventivo o cualquier acuerdo general para
beneficio de acreedores; (b} presenta una
peticién o inicia, autoriza o consicnte de
cualquier manera el inicio de un procesa o
causa de accidn conforme a una ley concursal,
de quiebras o similar para la proteccion de los
acreedores. o habiéndose presentado  una
peticion de esta naturaleza, dicha peticion no
se relira o revoca durante los treinta (30) dias
calendario siguientes a dicha presentacion; (c)
entra en concurso mercantil, quiebra u otro tipo
de insolvencia (de cualquier forma que ésta se
evidencie); (d) es incapaz de pagar sus deudas

en su fecha de vencimiento, celebraun acuerdo |

preconcursal con sus acreedores, incurre en
suspensién de pagos o moratoria de sus
obligaciones, entra en concurso mercantil,
quichra, s sometida a un proceso de
liquidacion o disolucion o a la designacion de
un administrador, inspector, concilindor,
sindico, custodio, liquidador, fiduciario u otro
funcionario similar;

(iv)

account confingent and prospective |

liabilities);

If any Party (a) eniers into a preventive
agreement or any general agreement for |
the benefit of creditors; (b) files a petition
or initiates, authorizes or consents in any
way to the initiation of a process or cause
of action under a hankruptey, insolvency
or similar law for the protection of
creditors, or having filed a petition of this
nature, and such petition is not withdrawn
or revoked during the thirty (30) calendar
days following such filling; (c) enters into
bankruptcy  or  other  insolvency
proceedings (in whatever form this
becomes evident); (d) is unable to pay its
debts when due, enters into a a suspension
of payments or moratorium on s
obligations, enters into bankrupicy, is
subject to liquidation or dissolution
proceedings or the appointment of an
administrator,  inspector,  conciliator,
trustee, custodian, liquidator, or other
similar officer;

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default with
respect to a Parly (the “Defaulting Party™), the
other Party (the “Non-Defaulting Party”) may in
its sole and absolute discretion and notwithstanding
any implied terms arising by virtue of prior
contrary course of dealing or rule of law or
doctrine to the contrary:

(i)

{ii)

Notify the Defaulting Party of a delivery
termination date (which shall be no
earlier than the date of such notice and
no later than thirty (30) days after the
date of such notice) on which the
delivery in respect of which the Event of
Default has occurred shall terminate,
without the need for a court or abitral
award, the obligations of the Non-
Defaulting Party with respect 1o a
specific delivery of Product in respect of
which the Event of Default has oecured
(the “Delivery Termination Dale™);
and/or

Notify the Defaulting Party of a contract
termination date (which shall be no carlier




o doctring en contrario:

(i) MNotificar a la Parle en Incumplimiento de una
fecha de extincidn de entrega (la cual no serd
anterior a la fecha de dicha notificacién nj
posterior a los treinta (30) dias luego de Ja
fecha de dicha notificacion) en virtud de la cual
se extinguirdn, sin necesidad de resolucion
judicial o arbitral, las obligaciones de la Parte
en Cumplimiento con relacion a una entrega
especifica de Producto respecto a ln cual se ha
producido el Evento de Ineumplimiento (la

“Eecha de Terminacién de Entrepa™); ylo

ii)
fecha de rescision de contrato (la cual no serd
anterior a la fecha de dicha notificacion ni
posterior a los treinta (30) dias luego de la
fecha de dicha notificacién) en la que se
terminara ¢l presente contrato, sin necesidad de

| resolucion  judicial o  arbitral, y Jas

transacciones y obligaciones contempladas en
el mismo (la “Fecha de Terminacion de

Conirato™); y/o

(iii) El Comprador podrd liquidar y resolver, en
forma inmediata o en cualquier oportunidad
posterior, cualquiera o todoas los contratos que
en esa fecha estuvieran vigentes entre las
Partes, acclerdndose los plazos otorgados y
siendo inmediatamente exigibles todos los
montos que se adeuden en favor del
Comprador en virtud de los mencionados
contratos; y/o

Ei Comprador podra retener cualquier pago
adevdado a el Vendedor hasta la subsanacion
de dicho Evento de Incumplimiento o
permanentemente ¢n caso de rescision del
Contrato; ylo

{iv)

El  Comprador podri  suspender el
cumplimiento de sus obligaciones en virlud del
presente contrato hasta la subsanacion de dicho
Evento de Incumplimiento o permanentemente
en caso de rescision del Contrato.

{v)

En caso que se emita una notificacion de una fecha
de terminacion de entrega o de una fecha de
| terminacion

de

término preducto del curso de negociaciones o ley |

Motificar a la Parte en Incumplimiento de una |

| The applicable Taxes for operations performed

than the date of such notice and no later |
than 30 days afier the date of such notice) |
on which this Contract and the
transactions contemplated hereunder shall
terminate, without the need for a court or
arbitral award, and the wansactions and
obligations referred to  therein (the
“Contract Termination Daie™); and/or
(iii) The Buyer may immediately or at any |
time thereafter seitle and terminate any or |
all of the contracts then in foree between
the Partics, with the time limits granted
being accelerated and all amounts due 1o
the Buyer under such coniracts being
immediately due; and/or
(iv)  The Buyer may withhold any payment due
to the Scller until the cure of such Event
of Defaull or permanently upon
termination of the Contract; and/or
(v) The Buyer may suspend the performanee
of its obligations under this contract ntil
the cure of such Event of Default or
permanently in case of termination of the
Contract.

I a notice of a Delivery Termination Date or a
Contract Termination Date (a “Termination Date™)
is given under this clause: (i) the Termination Date
will occur on the designated date whether or not the
relevant Event of Default is then continuing: and (ii)
any accrued rights or obligations that have arisen |
prior to the Termination Date shall not be affected.

THIRTEENTH: TAXES

The Seller is required to transfer and clearly
express the VAT (Value Added Tax) on the
invoice issued to the Buyer. The Buyer will be
obliged, in accordance with clause fourth, to pay
the price of the Product against presentation by the
Seller of the invoice as the case may be, plus VAT
or any other applicable tax according to applicable
law.

abroad by the Buyer will at its own cosi.

Likewise, the Seller undertakes to comply with its

contralo {(una__ “Fecha _ de | tax oblizations within the deadlines and applicable




Terminacién”) en virtud de la presente clausula; (7)
la Fecha de Terminacién tendrd lugar en la fecha
| designada ya sea que el Evento de Incumplimiento
continie v no; y (ii} los derechos u obligaciones

acumulados que hayan surgido con anterioridad a la |

Fecha de Terminacidn no se verin afectados.

DECIMA TERCERA. IMPUESTOS.

El Vendedor deberd trasladar e indicar claramente
en la factura que expida al Comprador el Impuesto
Valor Agregado (IVA). El Comprador, por su parte
y de conformidad con la clausula cuarta, estard
obligado, contra la presentacion de la factura por
parte del Vendedor, a pagar el valor del Producto,
segiin sca el caso, més el IVA o cualquier impuesto
a su cargo de conformidad con la legislacion
aplicable.

Los TImpucstos aplicables por  operaciones
efectuadas por el Comprador en el exterior, serdn
por su cuenta.

Asimismo, ¢l Vendedor se compromete a cumplir
en los placos y forma aplicables sus obligaciones
fiscales en materia de presentacién y pago de
declaraciones  de  contribuciones  federales,
presentacion  de  declaraciones  informativas,
| expedicion de comprobantes fiscales digitales por
internet. A fin de acreditar esta obligacion, deberd

presentar - mensualmente  al  Comprador  los
siguientes documentos:
l. Opinion  del cumplimiento de

obligaciones fiscales en sentido
positivo expedida por el Servicio
de Administracidn Tributaria en
términos de la regla 2.1.39. de la
Resolucidn Misceldnen Fiseal o
aquella que la sustituya,
“ACUSE DE
DECLARACION
PROVISIONAL O DEFINITIVA
DE IMPUESTOS FEDERALES"
correspondiente al mes inmediato
anterior. En caso de resultar a
impuesto  a  cargo.  deberd
proporcionar Recibo Bancario de
Pago de Contribuciones Federales
expedido por la institucion de
_crédito correspondiente.

RECIEO

form in the matter of filing and payment of federal
tax returns, filing informative returns, issuing
digital tax receipts online. In order to prove this
obligation, the Seller must submit the following
documents to the Buyer monthly:

1. “Positive Certificaic of compliance with
Tax  obligation™  (“Opinidn del
cumplimignto de obligaciones fiscales en
sentido posilive™ issued by the Tax
Administration  Service (Servicio de
Administracion Tributaria) in accordance
with rule 2.1.39. of the Miscellancous
Fiscal Resolution or any resolution that
replaces il.

“ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT
PROVISIONAL OR  DEFINITIVE
FEDERAL. TAX DECLARATION"
("ACUSE DE RECIBO
DECLARACION PROVISIONAL O
DEFINITIVA DE IMPUESTOS
FEDERALES") for the immediately
preceding month. In the event of a
chargeable tax, the Seller shall pravide a
Federal Tax Payment Receipt issued by
the corresponding credit institution.
Acknowledgment of Acceptance of the
Informative Declaration of Operations
with Third Parties (Acuse de Aceptacion
de la  Declaracién Informativa de
Operaciones con Terceros) for the
immediately preceding month including
the registration made in such declaration
that corresponds to the operations carried
out with the Buyer in said month.

Online Digital Tax Vouchers
{Comprobantes Fiscales Digitales por
Internet) issued in accordance with the
applicable regulations, including the
Proof of Receipt of Payment.

FOURTEENTH: ACT OF GOD OR FORCE

MAJEURE

Neither party shall be responsible before the other
for the breach of any of its obligations acquired
pursuant to this Contract, when it is directly
derived from an event of act of God or force
majeure, including but not limited to the cases of:
| fires,  carthquakes, mudslides, landslides,
| looding, or  any  natural catastrophe,
|_expropriation, Jabor sirikes, wars, any lype of




Declaracion  Informativa  de
Operaciones con Terceros
correspondiente al mes inmediato
anterior. incluyendo el registro
realizade en tal declaracion que
corresponda a las  operaciones
realizadas con el Comprador en

dicho mes,

4. Comprobantes Fiscales Digitales
por  Internet  expedidos  de
conlormidad con la normatividad
aplicable, incluyendo el
Comprobante de Recepcidon de
pagos.

DECIMA CUARTA. _ CASO FORTUITO 0

FUERZA MAYOR.

Ninguna parte serd responsable frente a la otra por
el incumplimiento de alguna de sus obligaciones
adquiridas conforme al presente Contrato, cuando
se derive directamente de un evento de caso fortuito
o fuerza mayor, quedando comprendido entre estos,
de manera enunciativa mds no limitativa, los casos
de: incendios, lerremotos, deslaves, derrumbes,
inundaciones, o cualguier catistrofe natural,
expropiacién, paros laborales, guerras, cualquier
tipo de bloqueos, huclgas de cualquier clase que
afecten las instalaciones y operaciones de las Partes,
asi como nuevas regulaciones, decretos, leyes o
cualquier tipo de normna, que restrinja o afecte ¢l
cumplimiento de este Contrato o la exportacion y
trédmite aduanero del Producto por parte del que de
conformidad con este Contrato le corresponda
hacerlo. Asi como otras causas similares a
cualquiera de las anteriores que estén Fuera de
control de |a parte afectada.

[Los términos del presente Contrate y las
obligaciones de cada una de las Puartes, se
suspenderdn por el tiempo que dure el evento de
caso fortuito o fuerza mayor, en el entendido de que
el presente Contrato se extenderd por un periodo
igual al de la duracién de dicho evento. En el caso
de que la suspension cxceda el término de 90
(novema) dias naturales, la parie que no haya
declarado formalmente el incumplimiento por
causas de fuerza mayor, tendri el derecho de dar por

rescindido el presente Contrato y de cancelar en su |
| the determination of the price of the Product stops |

blockage, strikes of any kind which may affect the |
facilities and operations of the Parties, as well as
new regulations, decrees, laws or any type of rule,
which may restrict or affect the compliance wilh |
this Contract or the export and cusioms paperwork
of the Product by the corresponding Party in
accordance with this Contract, as well as other
causes similar to any of the above which may he
beyond the control of the affected party.

The terms of this Contract and the obligations of
each one of the Parties shall be suspended for us
long as the event of act of God or force majeure
may last, on the understanding that this Contract
shall be extended for a period equal to that of the
duration of such event. In case that the suspension
exceeds the term of 90 (ninety) calendar days, the |
party which has not formally stated the breach duc
1o causes of force majeure shall have the right (o
rescind this Contract and to cancel, in whole or in
part, the pending Product volume,

In case that the Seller, duc to an event of act of
God or force majeure, is compelled to slop
producing or acquiring the Product from its
supplier, it commits to shipping all the Produel
that it may have al that time and to delivering it to
the Buyer if so requested by the latter, Moreover,
it commits to refunding any debt that it may have
pending with the Buyer. in a period not above 15
(fifteen) calendar days.

Incase that an event of act of God or force majeure
oceurs, the Parties shall notify its start and end 1o
the other party within 48 (forty-eight) hours afler
occurrence of one or the other, in writing, Besides,
the Parties shall clearly describe the respective
event and the measures to remedy it.

No act of God or force majeure may be declared
for those tonnages for which the prices of the
respective contents have already been set.

The Seller’s economic inability to comply with its
obligations, as well as the adverse variation of
prices, shall not be considered as events of force
majeure,

FIFTEENTH: QUOTATION SUSPENSION

In case that any of the quotation sources used for




[totalidad o en parte, ¢l volumen de Producio
pendiente.

! En el caso de que ¢l Vendedor. debido a un evento

dejar de producir o adquirir de su proveedor el
Producto, sc compromete a embarcar todo aquel
que tenga en dicho momento v entregarlo al
| Comprador, si asi io solicitare éste; Asimismo, se
compromete a rembolsar cualquier adeudo que
tenga pendiente con ¢l Comprador, en un periodo
noe mayor a 15 (quince) dias naturales.

En el caso que se produzea un evento de caso
foriito o de luerza mayor las Partes deberdn de
notificar su inicio y término a la otra parte dentro de
las 48 (cuarenta y ocho) horas de ocurrido uno u
otro, en forma cscrita, debiendo describir
claramente el evento de que se trate v las medidas
para remediar el mismo.

No se podra declarar caso fortuito o fuerza mayor
para aquellos tonelajes para los cuales ya se hayan
fijado los precios de los respectivos contenidos.

La incapacidad econémica del Vendedor para
cumplir con sus obligaciones, asi como la variacién
| adversa de precios, no serdn consideradas como
| eventos de fuerza mayor.

ECIMA NSION DE

A
COTIZACIONES,

En ¢l caso que alguna de las fuentes de cotizacion
utilizadas para la determinacion del precio del
producto dejara de existir, publicar, o pierda de
manera considerable reconocimiento o credibilidad,
las Partes se reuniran para acordar de buena fe una

base. El objetivo basico serd asegurar la continuidad
de un precio justo,

DECTMA SEXTA. RELACION LABORAL.

Queda expresamente cstablecido por las Partes que

existe vinculo laboral alguno entre el Comprador y
los trabajadores, ni personal del Vendedor, por
consiguiente las relaciones contracluales se regirdn

de caso fortuito o fuerza mayor, se vea obligado a |

| employees that it may hire to obtain the Product

SEVENTEENTH: MODIFICATIONS

nueva base de precios y la fecha para jecutar dicha |

cagree and in writing such medification or

las relaciones entre ellas, que derivan del presente |
Contrato, son exclusivamente comerciales, que no |

existing or being published, or stops bciﬁl
recognized as the basis for concentrate contracts, |
with the requirement of any of the Partics, Buyer
and Seller shall meet to agree on a new price base
and the date to execute such base. The basic
objective shall be to ensure the continuity of a fair
price.

SIXTEENTH: LABOR RELATIONS

It is expressly established by the Parties that the
relationships between them, derived from this
Contract, arc exclusively commercial. and that
there is no labor relationship between the Buyer
and the workers, or the personnel of the Seller,
Therefore, contractual relationships shall only be
governed by the rules of the Civil and Commercial
Codes.

The Seller shall be solely responsible for the labor
and social security obligations with the workers or

subject matter of this Contract. Thercfore, it shall
in no case allow the Buyer to be considered an
intermediary. The Seller shall release and hold the
Buyer harmless from any claim or lawsuit which
may be filed against it.

Furthermore, the Seller js solely responsible for
the labor obligalions of the personnel that it may
hire. Therefore. in case that such personnel file any
claim or lawsuit through these proceedings, the
Seller undertakes to hold the Buyer harmless from
and to cover all the expenses that the latter may
generate for this purpose.

Any modification to the terms and conditions of
this Contract shall only be valid and come into
effect to the extent that both Parties previously

modifications through the entering into of a
Modifying Agreement or Addendum, which shall
be added to this Contract so that it forms an
integral part thereof, duly signed by cach one of
the Parties.




solamente por las normas de los Cédigos Civil y de
Comercio.

El Vendedor serd el dmico responsable de las
oblipaciones en materia laboral y seguridad social
con los trabajadores o empleados que contrate para
obtener ¢l Producto objeto del presente Contrato,
| por lo que en ningdin caso permitird que se considere
intermediario al Comprador, debiéndolo liberar v
sacar en paz de cualquier reclamacion o demanda
que se intente en su contra.

Asitambién, ¢l Vendedor ¢s el tnico responsable de
las obligaciones en materia laboral del personal que
este mismo contrate, por lo que en caso de que este
personal realice algin reclamo o demanda por esta
via, ¢l Vendedor sc abliga a sacar libre v en paz al
Comprador y cubrir todos los gastos que este dllimo
erogue por este conceplo,

DECIMA SEPTIMA. MODIFICACIONES.
Cualquicr modificacién  a los  términos v
condiciones del presenie Contrato, (nicamente
tendrd validez y surtird sus efectos en la medida en
| que ambas Partes convengan previamente y por
escrito  dicha  modificacion o  modificaciones
mediante  la celebracion de un  Convenio
Modificatorio o Addendum, que se agregara al
presente Contrato para que forme parte integrante
| del mismo, debidamente firmado por cada una de
las Paries.

DECIMA __OCTAVA, ¥

AUTORIZACIONES,

LICENCIAS

El Vendedor manifiesta que cuenta con todos
aquellos permisos, licencias, v/o aulorizaciones
nceesarias para la  extraccidn, procesamiento,
beneficio, y/o la comercializacién, importacidn,
| exportacion ¥ transporte del Producto, incluyendo
sin limitar y en lo aplicable:

El o los titulos de concesion minera
vigentes para la exploracion y explotacion
del lote o lotes mineros de los cuales se
extrae el Producto, o en su caso. ¢l contralo
con el titular del mismo para la exploracién,
explotacién  y/o comercializacidn  del
Producto.

| NINETEENTH:

EIGHTEENTH: ___ LICENSES _ AND

AUTHORIZATIONS

The Seller states that it has all those permits,
licenses, andfor authorizations necessary 1o the
extraction, processing, beneficiation, andfor
commercialization, impori,  export and
transportation of the Product, including but not |
limited to;

The mining concession title(s) in lorce for
the exploration and exploitation of the
mining lot or lots, from which the Product
is extracted, or in its case, the contract
with the holder of the mining concession
for the exploration, exploitation and/or
commercialization of the Product.

* Title deed or any legal act by which the
Seller is granted the use and enjoyment,
temporary or permanent, of the surface
land in which the mining lot, from which
the Product is extracted, is located.
Environmental impact manifestations and
all kinds of permits and licenses from
environmental authorities applicable to
the activitics that they Seller may carry
out.

Operating licenses, explosive permit,
special import and/or export lists, and all
the other licenses and permits which may
be applicable.

The Seller also undertakes to keep in force and in
order the permits, licenses and authorizations, in
accordance with this clause.

On the other hand, the Buyer states entering into
this Conteact in good faith, under the assumption
that the Seller is fully complying with all
applicable regulations,

RESPONSIBILITY F

THE PRODUCT

In accordance with the previous clause, the Seller
states that it is duly authorized to sell the Product
subject matter of this Contract, so under oath, the
Seller states that:




I_t Titulo de propiedad. o cualquier acto

juridico mediante ¢l cual se le otorga ol uso

y disfruie, temporal o permanente, del

terreno superficial en el cual estd ubicado el
lote minero del cual se extrue el Producto,

*  Manifestacioncs de impacto ambiental y
todo tipo de permisos v licencias de parte
de autoridades ambientales aplicables a las
actividades que realice ¢l Vendedor.

* Licencias de  operacién, permiso de
explosivos, padrones  especiales  de
imporiacién y/o exportacion y todas las
demis licencias y permisos que pudieran
ser aplicables.

El Vendedor se obliga a su vez a mantener vigentes
¥ en orden los permisos, licencias y autorizaciones,
de conformidad con la presente cldusula.

Por su parte el Comprador manifiesta celebrar el
presente Contrato de buena fe, bajo el supuesto de
gque ol Vendedor se encuentra en cabal
cumplimiento de toda regulacion aplicable.

POR EL PRODUCTO.

De acuerdo a la clausula anterior, ¢l Vendedor
manifiesta que estd debidamente autorizado para
vender el Producto objeto del presente Contrato por
lo que bajo protesta de decir verdad, manifiesta que:

a.  El Producto es de su propiedad v ha sido
obtenido y/o procesado legalmente

b. Consecuentemente, asume ante ¢l
Comprador toda Responsabilidad Legal v
Econdmica derivada de cualquier ilicitud
en el origen, extraccion, procesamiento,
beneficio, calidad, cantidad,
comercializacion, transporte y demas, que
puedan afectar al Producto en virtud de este
Contralo,
Responsabilidad ~ derivada de 1a
contravencion de cualquier disposicion
contenida en la Ley Minera o cualesquiera
otras disposiciones legales aplicables en los
Estados Unidos Mexicanos,

¢ Se compromete a sacar en paz y a salvo al
Comprador de cualquier reclamacicn,

DECIMA NOVENA. RESPONSABILIDAD

asumiendo a su vez todu |

ivicio o demanda, asi como al pago de

e.  The Product is of its properly and has been
obtained and/or processed legally.

f.  Consequently, it assumes, before the
Buyer, all the Legal and Economic
Responsibility derived from any illegality
in the origin, extraction, processing,
beneficiation, quality, quantity,
commercialization, transporlation  and
athers, which may affect the Produet by
virtue of this Contract, assuming in turn

all Responsibility derived from the |

violation of any provision contained in the
Mining Law or whichever other legal
provisions applicable in the United
Mexican States,

& It commits to holding the Buyer harmless
from any claim, lawsuit or suit, as well as
to the payment of damages and to
relunding it any expense that it may incur
and which may result in relation to the
defense that the Buyer should make, of its
rights as the owner of the Product.

ho It undertakes to provide, without
restrictions, all the documentation which
may be required to it to solve any
assumption mentioned above,

TWENTIETH:

LIMITATION OF

| LIABILITY

None of the Parties shall be liable for any indirect
or conseyuential effect for the damages, losses or
prejudices of any nature, not in connection with

the Parties and with what was agreed upon in this

Confract.

The Parties agree that the Buyer's liability shall in
no case exceed the value of the Product at the time
of the delivery thercof.

TWENTY-FIRST: LACK OF VICES

The Parties state and recognize that, in this

Contract, there is no fraud, error, bad faith, injury |

or mental mistakes, and that they have stated their
free consent with regard to the purpose of the
Contraet, as well as all the stipulations agreed
upon in il.

TWENTY-SECOND: COMPENSATIONS

— ¥
g




cualquier gasto en que incurra y que resulte
en relacion con la defensa que deba hacer el

Comprador, de sus derechos como
propietario del Producto.

d. Se obliga a proporcionar sin restricciones
toda la documentacidn que le sea requerida
para solventar cualquier supuesto antes
mencionado.

VIGESIMA. LiMITE DE

RESPONSABILIDAD.

Ninguna de las Parics serd responsable de cualquier
efecto indirecto o consecvencial, por los dafios,
pérdidas o perjuicios de cualquier naturaleza, ajenos
4 las Partes y a lo pactado en el presente Contrato.

Lus partes acuerdan que de ninguna manera la
responsabilidad del Comprador excederd ¢l valor
del Producto al momento de la entrega del mismo.
VIGESIMA_PRIMERA. ___AUSENCIA_DE
VICIOS.

Las Partes manifiestan y reconocen que en el
presente Contrato no existe dolo, error, mala fe.
lesién o vicios del consentimicnto, y que han
manifestado su libre consentimiento sobre ¢l objeto
del contrato, asi como todas las estipulaciones que
en ¢l se han pactado.

VIGESIMA SEGUNDA. COMPENSA 1ONES

El Vendedor autoriza expresamente al Comprador
o a cualquicra de sus empresas filiales v subsidiarias
para compensar cualquier deuda a cargo del
Vendedor o de sus respectivas empresas filiales o
subsidiarias. derivada de esie o cualquier contrato o
acto jurfdico existente,

VIGESIMA TERCERA. NOTIFICACIONES,

Todas lus comunicaciones, avisos y notificaciones
entre las Partes se consignardn por escrito y serdn
dirigidas a los domicilios establecidos para tal
clecto en las declaraciones del presente Contrato,
salvo que mediante previa comunicacién escrita se

| notifique del cambio de estos domicilios,

daffos y perjuicios y a reembolsarle |

The Seller hereby expressly authorizes the Buyer
or any of its alfilistes and subsidiaries to
compensate any debt by the Seller or its respective
affiliates or subsidiaries, derived from it or from
any existing contract or legal act.

TWENTY-THIRD: NOTICES

All communications, notices and notifications I
between the Parties shall be made in writing, and
shall be sent to the addresses established for such
purpose in the statements of this Contract, except
that the chanpe of these addresses is notified
through a written notice.

TWENTY-FOURTH: HEADINGS

The headings of the different clauses of this
Contract are for reference purposes only and do
not modify, define or limit in any manner the

| terms, conditions or provisions contained herein,

TWENTY-FIFTH: INDEPENDENCE

In case that any provision of the Contract is
considered invalid or could not be fulfilled, such
event shall not be a reason to interpret that any
other provision of this Contract is invalid or
impossible to RIfill. Therefore, all the other
provisions shall remain in full force and effect,
exeept that those provisions considered invalid or
impossible to fulfill shall substantially affect the
rights or obligations of each one of the Parties.

| TWENTY-SIXTH: PRIORITY

The Parties agree that the provisions contained in
this Contract shall prevail over these stipulations,
conditions, commitments and terms established in
any other document or annex that could exist in
relation to this instrument, in case that there was
any discrepancy or contradiction between one and
the others,

TWENTY-SVENTH: LANGUAGES

The Parties sign and approve this Contract in

| English and | Spanish languages. The Parli-::s__agrqc |




o

Los encabezados de las distintas clausulas de este
Contrato son solamente para conveniencia de
referencia y no modifican, definen o limitan de
modoe  alguno  los  términos, condiciones o
disposiciones que aqui se contienen.

VIGESIMA QUINTA. INDEPENDENCIA.

En el caso de que cualquier disposicidn del Contrato

sea considerada invélida o no pudiera cumplirse, tal |

hecho no serd causa para interpretar que cualquier
otra disposicién del presente Contrato os invélida o
imposible de cumplir, por lo que todas las demds
disposiciones permanecerdn en plena fuerza y
cfecto.  salvo que aquellas  disposiciones
consideradas invdlidas o imposibles de cumplir
afectardn  sustancialmente  los  derechos o
obligaciones de cada una de las Partes,

VIGESIMA SEXTA. PRIORIDAD.

Las Partes convienen que las disposiciones
contenidas en el presente Contrato prevalecerdn
sobre  aquellas  estipulaciones,  condiciones,
compromisos y términos establecidos en cualquier
otro documento o anexo que pudiera existir res pecto
del presente instrumento, en caso de que entre uno
¥ otros hubiere discrepancia o contradiccién,

VIGESIMA SEPTIMA. IDIOMA.

Las Partes firman y aprueban el presente Contrato
en los idiomas espafiol ¢ inglés. Las Partes acuerdan
que en caso de discrepancia entre las dos versiones,

| la versién en espafiol prevalecerd,

VIGESIMA OCTAVA. LEY APLICABLE Y

JURISDICCION,

Para la interpretacion, cumplimiento o ejecucion del
presente Contrato las Partes manificslan que se
someten expresamente a las leyes Mexicanas, y en
lo que respecte a la validez v nulidad de la cliusula
arbitral, las partes acuerdan someterse a los
tribunales de la Ciudad de México, Distrito Federal,
por lo que igualmente renuncian expresamente a
cualquier otro fuero que pudiera corresponderles en

VIGESIMA CUARTA. ENCABEZADOS.

that in the event of discrepancy between the two
versions, the Spanish version shall prevail.

TWENTY-EIGHTH: APPLICABLE LAW
NDJURISDICTION

For the interpretation, compliance or exceution of
this Contract, the Parties statc that they expressly
submit themselves to the laws of Mexico, and in
relation to the validity and annulment of the
arbitration clause, the Parties agree to submil
themselves to the courts of Mexico City, Federal
District. Therefore, they expressly waive any other
Jurisdiction that may correspond to them based on
their domicile, present or future, or for any other
reason.

TWENTY-NINTH: _ANTI-BRIBERY _AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION

Seller and Buyer respectively warrant and
undertake to the other that in connection with this
Contract:

a it has implemented adequate internal
procedures designed to ensure it shall not

authorise the giving or offering of any .

financial or other advantage with the
intention of inducing or rewarding an
individual or entity to improperly perform
an activity undertaken in the course of an
individual’s employment or connected to
an entity’s business activities (the “Anti-
Corruption Controls™); and

b. it has not authorised and it will not
autharise, in  connection with  the
performance of this Contract, any fimancial
or other advantage to or for the benefit of
any public official, civil servant, political
party, political party official, candidate for
office, or any other public or private
individual  or entity where such
authorisation would violate the Anti-
Corruption Controls,

—_— — — —J
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razon de su domicilio presente o futuro o por
cualguiera otra razon.

VIGESIMA NOVENA. ANTISOBORNO Y
ANTICORRUPCION

El  wvendedor v el comprador  afirman
respectivamente uno al otro que en relacion con este |
contralo que:

4. Han implementado procedimientos
internos adecuados disefiados para ascpurar
{ue no autorizarin que se proporcione o se
ofrezca ninguna ventaja econdmica o de
otre tipo con Ia intencion de inducir o
recompensar a una persona o entidad para
que realice una actividad de forma
inapropiada durante el periodo de empleo
de una persona o en relacidn con las
actividades pertinentes de una entidad (los
“controles anticorrupeion”™); y

b. No han autorizado ¥ no autorizardn, en
relacion con ¢l cumplimiento de este
contralo, ninguna ventaja econdmica o de
oro  tipo  en  beneficio de  ningiln
funcionario del gobierno, funcionario
pliblico, partido politico, lider de partido
politico, candidato a un cargo priblico, o
cualquier otra persona o entidad pablica o
privada si dicha aulorizacion violara los
controles anlicorrupcion,

¢ En el caso de que se incumpla con lus
afirmaciones de los literales o y b, la parte no
incumplidora podri rescindir este contrato con
cfecto inmediato al presentar una notificacion
escrita a Ja otra parte. Fsle serd ¢l tnico recurso

disponible ante un  incumplimiento de las
afirmaciones de los literales a y b,
TRIGESIMA. SANCIONES

A. Las Partes acuerdan que todas las

actividades contempladas en ¢l presente
Contrato serin realizadas en conformidad
con las Sanciones y/o leyes en la medida en
que sean aplicables, y nunca en forma que
se encuentre prohibida por éstas.

Sin perjuicio de cualquier cliusula o |
_disposicion en_contrario en del Contrato, |

In the event of any breach of the warranties and
undertakings in clavses a. and b, above, the non-
breaching party may terminate this Contract with
immediate effect upon written notice to the other
party. This shall be the sole remedy available for a
breach of the warrantics and undertakings in
clauses a. and b, above,

THIRTIETH: SANCTIONS

A, Itis agreed that all activities contemplated
by the Parties pursuant to this Contract
will be performed in conformity with and
shall not be prohibited by Sanctions

and/for laws il and to the extent applicable.

Motwithstanding any other provision of
this clause or any other clause or provision
to the contrary in this Contract, neither
Party shall be required {0 do anything
under this Contract which constitutes a
violation of, or would be in contravention
of, or would expose it to the risk of
designation pursuant to any Sanction
applicable to it.

If, at any time during the term of this
Contract any Sanclions are changed, or
new Sanctions are imposed or become
effective, or there is a change in the
interpretation of Sanctions, which would:

(a) expose a Party to the risk of
designation or 1o ather punitive
measures by  a  Sanctions
authority; or

{h) materially  affest a  Pary's

performance of this contract

including but not limited to:

(i) its ability to take or make

delivery or make or

receive any payments as
may be required in the
performance  of  this

Contract or o insure or

transport the poods to be

delivered by the seller ta
the buyer; or




—

realizar ninguna aecion bajo este Contrato
que constituya una violacién o pucda
suponer una contravencion de cualquiera de
las Sanciones que le sean aplicables, o que
la expongan a ser sancionada o designada
bajo las mismas,

Si, en cualquier momento durante el plazo
de este Contrato, alguna Sancién es
modificada, o nuevas Sanciones son
impuestas o entran en vigencia, u ocurre un
cambio en la interprelacion de las sanciones
que pueda: |

{a) cxponer a una Parte al riesgo de
desipnacion u otras medidas punitorias
por parle de una autoridad de
Sanciones; 0

(b) afectar malerialmente el cumplimiento
del Contrato por una de las Partes,
incluyendo, pero sin limitarse a;

(i) su capacidad de recibir o
electuar la entrega, realizar o
recibir pagos de acuerdo a lo
sefialado en el Contrato, asegurar o
transportar el producto a  ser
entregado por el Vendedor al
Comprador; o

(ii) importar ¢l producto en ¢l pais
de destino; o

(c) causar ya sea:

(i) una restriccion, reduccion, |
interferencia, fracaso o cese en la
entrega o suministro del producto |
por parte de la fuente de
abastecimiento del Vendedor o de |
los proveedores del Vendedor: o
(i} el rechazo de cualguicra de los
proveedores a entregar o suministrar ¢l
producto,

entonces, sin  perjuicio de cualquier

cldusula o disposicion en contrario en el |

presente  Contrato, dicha Parte podrd,
mediante notificacion por escrito a la otra

Parte (i) suspender las prestaciones a su

cargo hasta que la Parte que envia la

notificacion pueda cumplir legalmente con

“(iiy _ importing the goods into

the country of

destination; or
(c) cause ¢ither:

(i) a curtailment, reduction in,
interference with, failure or
cessation of supply of goods
from any of the Seller’s or
Seller's suppliers’ sources of
supply: or

(i} arefusal to supply such goods
by any such supplier,

then notwithstanding any clause or
provision to the contrary in this Contract,
such Party may, by writlen nofice to the
other Party. (i) suspend performance until
such time as the notifying Party may
lawfully perform this Contract and/or (ii)
terminate this Contract, in each event,
without any further obligation or liability
by either Party, save for any accrued rights
and remedies.

C. Obligations to make or rcceive payment
which arose before, or as a consequence

of termination shall remain in effect but |
shall be subject 10 suspension to the extent |

required by part A of this clause.

“Sanctions” means economic or financial
sanctions or trade embargoes or trade restrictions
or similar or cquivalent restriclive measures
imposed, administered, enacted or enforced from
time to time by the UN, EU or US or other
applicable sanctions autherity.

THIRTY-FIRST: NOTICES

Any notice, communication or notification given
by the Parties under this Contract, shall be deemed
valid and sufficient if delivered personally by
mail, courier or e-mail, to the address set forth
below or such other address as either party may
inform the other in writing. All notices shall be
effective upon receipt.

e >




presente  Contrato, en cada caso, sin
ninguna obligacién o responsabilidad
adicional para cualguiera de las Partes.
salvo por los derechos ya adquiridos.
Las obligaciones de efectuar o recibir pagos
que se hayan generado con anterioridad o
como consccuencia de la terminacion
seguirdn vigenles pero su exigibilidad

C.

quedard suspendida en la medida requerida |

por la parte A de la presente cldusula,

“Sanciones” significa las sanciones econdmicas o
financieras o embargos o restricciones al comercio
u otras medidas restrictivas similares o equivalentes
impuestas, adminisiradas o gjecutadas
periddicamente por la ONU, UE, EEUU u otra
autoridad pertinente en materia de sanciones.

TRIGESIMA. AVISO Y COMUNICACIONES

Cualquier aviso, comunicacidn o notificacién
dirigida por las Partes bajo el presente Contrato,
serd considerada valida y suficiente si es entregada
.| personalmente  por correo, courier o correo
clectronico, a la direccion establecida lineas abajo o
aotradireccién que cualquicra de Ins partes informe
a la contraparte por escrito. Todos los avisos serdn
efectivos a su recibo.

Las personas de contacto, designadas por las partes
son:

Por el COMPRADOR: TRAFIGURA MEXICO,
SA.DECV.

Direccion: Avenida Paseo de la Reforma niimero
115-2102, Colonia, Lomas de Chapultepec,
Delegacion Miguel [lidalgo, C.P. 11000, D.F.
México

| Juan Antonio Moran v Zavala, correo electrénico:
| juanantonio.moran@trafigura.com

Por el PRODUCTOR: OPERACIONES SAN
JOSEDEPLATA S.DER.L. DEC.V.

Valle Escondido 5500, Punto Alto E-2 Oficina
404, C.P. 31125, Chihuahua,

Chihuahua, México

Gabriela Rodriguez Melendez

| grodrigues@mprmex.com

Jesus Segura jesus.segura@mprmex.com

| December 30™, 2022,

All nulicg,_reﬁesﬂa and other communications
hereunder shall be addressed:

TRAFIGURA MEXICO, S.A. DE
C.v.

Av. Reforma, No. 116, Despacho
2102 |
Lomas de Chapultepec |
Delegacion Miguel Hidalgo

México D.F. 11000, México

Juan Antonio Moran y Zavala, email:
Juanantonio.moran@trafigura.com

I o
Buyer:

OPERACIONES SAN JOSE DE
PLATA 8. DE R.L. DE C.V.

Valle Escondido 5500, Punto Allo E-2
Oficina 404, C.P. 31125, Chihuahua,
Chihuahua, México

Gabriela Rodripuez Melendez
grodriguesf@mprinex.com

Jesus Segura
Jesus.segura@mprmex. com

I to
Seller:

After this Contract was read by the Parties
intervening in it and afler being informed about the
legal scope of its conient, they proceed to ratify
and sign it in duplicate at the bottom of each one
of its pages, in Mexico City, Federal District, on |

OPERACIONES
SAN JOSE DE

TRAFIGURA PLATA S. DE R.L.
MEXICO, DE C.V.
S.A. DE C.Y.
& |
i

Juan Antonie .uis Felipd Hucrta

Moran y Zavala Cadha
Legal Legal

Representative Representative




vi.

vii.

los trabajadores y las medidas de
sepuridad del sitio.

b. Cuando sea apropiado, el
recorrido también puede abarcar
areas relevantes fuera del sitio,
como dreas de abastecimiento /
comercio de minerales,
campamentos de alojamiento de
trabajadores o proyeclos de
inversién en la comunidad local.

¢.  Entrevistas con la direccion v el
personal clave’ para comprender
los procesos y procedimientos de
la perencia; riesgos relevantes,
impactos y desempefio; desafics
relevantes v éxitos relacionados
con los requisitos.

d. Revision de documentos, datos v
registros clave de acuerdo con el
alcance de la evaluacion.

Cuando corresponda, el Vendedor se

compromete a dar aviso al Comprador

en caso de que pretendan adquirir
minerales de un proveedor externo
con la intencién de revender esos
mismos minerales al Comprador, En
1al caso, el Vendedor se compromete

a realizar esfuerzos razonables para

apoyar los esfuerzos de diligencia del

Comprador, como se describe

anteriormente.

En caso de incumplimiento de las
leyes aplicables (ver i) arriba), o de
los Lineamientos de la OCDE durante
la gjecucion de este Contrato, las
Partes pueden acordar, después de
consultarse entre si, suspender las
entregas con efecto inmediato hasta
que se hayan adoptado medidas de
mejora a satisfaccion del Comprador
o rescindir ¢l Contrato sin mds
responsabilidad para ninguna de las
partes.

vi.

d. Review of key documents, data
and records in line with the
assessment scope.

Where applicable, Scller commits o

advise Buyer in the event that they

intend to procure minerals from a

third party supplier with the intention

of reselling those same mincrals to
the Buyer. In such an event, Seller
commits o make reasonable efforts to
support Buyer's diligence efTorts, as
outlined above.

In the event of either a breach of
applicable laws (see i) above), or of
the OECD Guidance during the
performance of this Contract, the
Parties can agree, after consultation
with each other, to suspend deliveries
with immediate effect until
improvement measures have been put
in place to the Buyers satisfaction or
to terminate the Contract with no
further liability for any of the partics.

" Donde el persanal incluird, por ejemple, representantes de las siguientes dreas: Produccién y operaciones;
abastecimiento de mineral; almacenamiento y logistica; seguridad, salud, medio ambiente, y relaciones con las
comunidades; relaciones pablicas / relaciones con el gobierno; seguridad; recursos humanos; finanzas,

—



d. Expectativas de Abastecimiento |
Responsable y  Cadena de |
Suministro de Trafipura para |
Metales y Minerales® .

¢. Guia de Debida Diligencia de la
OCDE  para  Cadenas de
Suministro  Responsables  de
Minerales en Areas Afectadas por
Conflictos vy Arcas de Allo
Riespo® {en adelante:
"Lincamicntos de la OCDE").

El Vendedor se compromete a
respaldar los esfucrzos de diligencia
del Comprador en lo que respecta a
los Requisitos, incluyendo. sin
limitarse, a responder oportunamente
a las solicitudes de informacion, es
decir, responder a preguntas y
proporcionar documentos, datos ¥
regisiros clave de acuerdo con el
aleance de la evaluacion,

El Vendedor se compromete a
proveer asistencia al Comprador en
caso de que, con una notificacién
previa razonable, el Comprador
solicite realizar inspecciones en el
lugar, ya sea directamente o a travéds
de un tercero designado, en
instalaciones propiedad del Vendedor
viu operadas por el mismo y dichas

inspecciones en el lugar podrian
incluir:

a. Un recorrido por el (los) sitio (s),
incluidos todos los aspectos
operativos clave del mismo, como
las areas de produccion,
procesamiento v almacenamiento
/ distribucidn, asi como las
instalaciones proporcionadas para

and High-Risk Areas'" (hereafier:
‘OECD guidance’)

Seller commits to support Buyer's
diligence efforts as they pertain Lo the
Requirements, including but not
limited to responding in a timely
manner to requests for information
i.¢. by responding to questions and
providing key documents, data and
records in line with the assessment
scope.

Seller commits to assist Buyer in the
event that, with reasonable notice,
Buyer requests to conduct on-site
inspections, either directly or through
a nominated third party, at scller-
owned and/for operated facilities and
where onsite inspections might
include:

a. A tour ol the site(s), including all
the key operating aspects of the
site such as production,
processing and
storage/distribution areas, as well
as facilities provided for workers
and site security arrangements,

b. Where appropriate, the site tour
may also encompass relevant off-
site areas, such as mineral
sourcing/trading areas, workers
accommodation camps or local
community investment projects.

¢. Interviews with management and

key personnel™ to understand
management processes and
procedures; relevant risks,
impacits and performance;
relevant challenges and successes
pertaining 1o the requirements.

* hitps://www. trafigura com/brochure/responsible-sourcing-and-supply-chain-expectations

6 https:Mfwww oeed argfdaffinv/mne/mining htm

B https:/ferww.oecd org/daffinv/mne/mining.htm

% where personnel include, for example, representatives of the following functions: Production and Operations,
Mineral procurement, Warchousing and Logistics, Health, Safety and Environment, Community Engagement,
External Affairs / Government Affairs, Security, Human Resources, Finance




ii.

ANEXO 1

El Vendedor se compromete a
mantener todas las licencias,
permisos, autorizaciones y registros
requeridos conforme a las leyes
aplicables para propdsitos de
produccion, procesamiento, transporle
v manipulacion de productos, segin
corresponda.

El Vendedor reconoce que, de acuerdo

con los “Principios comerciales en |

materia de HSEC™' del Comprador, el
Comprador respalda los "Principios
rectores de las Naciones Unidas sobre
Negocios ¥y Dercchos Humanos" y
reconoce  los  derechos  humanos
acordados internacionalmente,
incluidos los derechos laborales, como
se describe en la "Carta Internacional
de los Derechos Humanos” ¥ la
“Declaracion relativa a los principios
fundameniales v derechos en el
trabajo” de la  Organizacidn
Internacional del Trabajo.

El Vendedor reconoce que el
Comprador se basa en las siguientes
politicas y principios para informar sus
propios esfuerzos de diligencia cuando
esos esfuerzos puedan extenderse al
Vendedor (en  adelante:  “los
Requisitos"):

a. Céddigo de conducta empresarial

de Trafigura’
b. Politicas de  responsabilidad
corporativa de Trafigura’

¢. Principios comerciales de HSEC
de Trafigura®

ANNEX 1

Seller agrees to maintain all licenses,
permils, authorisations and _
registrations required to be held under |
applicable Laws for purposes of
producing, processing, transporting
and handling of products, as
applicable.

Seller  acknowledges  that, in
accordance with Buyer's ‘HSEC
Business Principles', Buyer supporis
the “UN Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights™ and
recognises  internationally  agreed
luman rights, including labour rights,
as outlined in the “International Bill of
Human Rights” and the International
Labour Organisation’s “Declaration
on Fundamental Principles and Rights
at Waork'.

Seller acknowledges that Buyer uses
the following policies and principles to
inform its own diligence eftorts where
those efforts may extend to the Seller
(hereafter: ‘the Requiremenis’):

a. Trafigura Code of Business
Conduct’

b. Traligura Corporate
Responsibility Policy™

¢. Trafigura  HSEC  Business
Principles"'

d. Trafigura Metals and Minerals
Responsible Sourcing and Supply

Chain Expectations'?

e, OECD Due Diligence Guidance
for Responsible Supply Chains of
Minerals from Conilict-AfTected |

hi

52 trafigura.com/hsec-resource-contre/

? https:/fwww.trafigura.com/brochureftrafigura-code-of-business-conduct

ttps:f e trafigura.

my/brochure/trafigura-corporate-responsibility-policy

A hitps:/www trafigura com/brochure/trafigura-hsec-business-principles
® hitps://www.trafigura.com/hsec-resource-centre/
% https:/fwww.trafigura.com/brochure/trafipura-code-of-business-conduct

0 https;//www.trafipura.com/brochure/trafigura-corporate-responsibility-policy

U hitps:/fwww. trafizura.com/brochure/trafipura-hsec-business-grinciples

2 https:/fwww.trafigura.com/brochure/responsible-sourcing-and-supply-chain-expectations r\l

/




Lefdo que fue el presente Contrato por las Partes
que en €l intervienen y enteradas del alcance legal
de su contenido, lo ratifican v firman por duplicado
al calce de cada una de sus paginas, en la Ciudad de
México, Distrito Federal el 30 de diciembre de
2022,

OPERACIONES
SAN JOSE DE
TRAFIGURA PLATA S. DE R.I.
MEXICO, DE C.V.

S.A.DECY.

Lys Felipe erm
Moran y Zavala Cachia

Apoderado Representante legal







EXHIBIT 21.1

List of Subsidiaries
Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Minera Luz del Sol, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Gatos Silver Canada Corporation Canada




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1. Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-261081) of Gatos Silver, Inc., and
2. Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-249781 and 333-249782) of Gatos Silver, Inc.

of our report dated March 2, 2023 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Gatos Silver, Inc. included in this Annual
Report on (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants Toronto, Canada
March 20, 2023




EXHIBIT 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-261081) on Form S-3 and registration statements

(Nos. 333-249782 and 333-249781) on Form S-8 of our report dated March 29, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Gatos Silver, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 20, 2023




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dale Andres, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Gatos Silver, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 20, 2023 By: /s/ Dale Andres
Dale Andres
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, André van Niekerk, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Gatos Silver, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’'s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 20, 2023 By: /s/ André van Niekerk
André van Niekerk
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Gatos Silver, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Dale Andres, as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and André van Niekerk, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to and
solely for the purpose of 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ Dale Andres

Dale Andres

Chief Executive Officer
March 20, 2023

/s/ André van Niekerk
André van Niekerk
Chief Financial Officer
March 20, 2023




